

# Scientific Research on Laughter Yoga

Original Research Studies on Laughter Yoga Methods

## Contents

What are the effects of Laughter Yoga on stress in the workplace?(Bangalore Study)	4
Effect of Laughter Yoga in the Workplace on Personal Efficacy (US Study)	19
Laughter yoga activities for older people living in residential aged care homes: A feasibility study	23
Evaluation of a Laughter-based Exercise Program on Health and Self-efficacy for Exercise (US Research)	27
Laughing: A Demanding Exercise for Trunk Muscles (German Research)	39
The impact of laughter yoga on subjective well-being: A pilot study (Austrialian Study)	45
Effect of laughter therapy on level of stress: A study among nursing students (Chandigharh, India)	55
The Effects of Laughter Therapy on General Health of Elderly People Referring to Jahandidegan Community Center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: A Randomized Controlled Trial	60
Feasibility of a group-based laughter yoga intervention as an adjunctive treatment for residual symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress in people with depression (Hong Kong Study)	68
The effectiveness of stress management training program on depression, anxiety and stress of the nursing students (Iranian Research)	78
Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among communitydwelling elderly in Japan: randomized controlled trial (Japanese Study)	86
Laughter and Stress Relief in Cancer Patients: A Pilot Study (Korean Study)	87
Laughter therapy as an intervention to promote psychological well-being of volunteer community care workers working with HIV-affected families (South Africa Study)	93
Psychological, immunological andphysiological effects of a Laughing QigongProgram (LQP) on adolescents (Taiwan Study)	104
Improving the experience of patients on dialysis through intradialytic laughter therapy (US Study)	113
Effect of Laughter Yoga on Psychological Well-being and Physiological Measures (US Study)	. 123

# Contents

Effect of laughter yoga on morale of old age home residents (India Study)	132
Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling	
elderly (Korean Study)	. 139
The effect of laughter Yoga on general health among nursing students (Iranian Research)	. 147
Effect of laughter therapy on happiness and life satisfaction among elderly (Indian Study)	. 155
A comparison of the cardiovascular effects of simulated and spontaneous laughter (New Zealand Study)	158
Communicational method of impact of "Exercise of Laughter Yoga" on the elderly behaviour	
(Slovenian Study)	. 165
Effectiveness of laughter therapy on blood pressure among patients with hypertension (India Study)	. 175
The effect of laughter therapy on the quality of life of nursing home residents (Turkish Study)	180
Laughter and humour interventions for well-being in older adults: A systematic review and intervention	
classification (UK Study)	189
Effect of Laughter Yoga on Mood and Heart RateVariability in Patients Awaiting Organ Transplantation:	
A Pilot Study (US Study)	. 196
Embodied Emotion Modulates Neural Signature of Performance Monitoring, (German Study)	202
Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India	. 208
The Impact of Laughter Yoga on the Stress of Cancer Patients before Chemotherapy (Iranian Study)	. 217
The inhibitory effect of laughter yoga on the increase in postprandial blood glucose in type	
2 diabetic patients (Slovinian Study)	. 222
The effect of laughter yoga exercises on anxiety and sleep quality in patients suffering from	
Parkinson's disease (Iranian Study)	227
Workplace laughter and personal efficacy (US Study)	. 244

# The Question: What are the effects of Laughter Yoga on stress in the workplace?

# THE RESEARCH INSTITUTE

SVYASA in Bangalore India is one of the world's leading Yoga Research Organizations.

They are recognized as "Scientific & Industrial Research Organization, (SIRO)" by the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, Ministry of Science & Technology, Government of India.

Their work includes studies on the effects of yoga on computer users, diabetes, cancer and more.

They regularly collaborate with the Indian government and institutions including the Center for Integrative Medicine at the University of California, the University of Houston Wellness Center and more. They have affiliate centers in USA, Germany, Japan Singapore, Turkey, Australia, Czech Republic and other countries.





# **PREVIOUS STUDIES**

While countless studies have shown the beneficial effects of laughter, especially regarding stress, most of these have used humor – normally funny movies – to stimulate subjects to laughter.

This humor technique is not reliable as different people will laugh at different things on different days, so it could never be prescribed.

# **UNCONDITIONAL LAUGHTER**

Laughter Yoga is unique in that it stimulates laughter without jokes, humor or comedy.

This leads to the same laughter that young children enjoy 300-400 times a day – we call it 'unconditional laughter'.

Normal adult laughter is 'conditional' – we only laugh if the trigger meets our conditions, for example 'is it funny?', 'is it appropriate to laugh here?', 'is it appropriate to laugh with these people?' and so on.

Conditional laughter requires humor, jokes or comedy as a trigger.

Unconditional laughter can be easily induced as required, so it can be prescribed for persons who will benefit from laughing more.

# SVYASA designed a scientific study to determine the effects of Laughter Yoga on stress in the workplace.

200 participants were randomly selected from 3 Bangalore IT companies.

All were non-smokers aged 20-50 yrs with normal weight, no infections, no alcohol consumption within 4-6 days, not on medications, without high BP, diabetes or other clinical conditions, and had not



previously tried or practiced Laughter Yoga.



Participants were divided into two groups.

One group had laughter yoga sessions every 2-3 days for 18 days, while the other group was told they would have laughter yoga sessions later.

Both groups were tested again after the laughter sessions.

# The tests.

### PHYSIOLOGICAL

• Autonomic & respiratory variables by Polygraph

### BIOCHEMICAL

• Salivary Cortisol: early morning test

### **PSYCHOLOGICAL**

- PANAS: Positive & Negative Affect Scale
- PSS: Perceived Stress Scale
- TAS: Toronto Alexythemia Scale

Tests were carried out by trained technicians and researchers at the company premises.







# The Laughter Yoga.

### **DEEP BREATHING & STRETCHING**

Prepares body for laughter yoga exercises.



### **CLAPPING & CHANTING**

Bring out our natural child-like playfulness.



### LAUGHTER YOGA

Exercises include elements of role-play and improvisation.

Many are designed to reduce stress and provide tools to deal with future stress more effectively.



# **Results: Heart Rate**

	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP			CONTROL GROUP		
VARIABLES	PRE	POST	CHANGE	PRE	POST	CHANGE
HEART RATE	82.15 ± 8.56	80.28 ± 8.35	-2.33%	<b>80.28</b> ± 9.23	<b>80.46</b> ± 9.80	0.22%
RESPIRATORY RATE	15.58 ± 3.33	1 <b>6.71</b> ± 4.03	6.76%	15.58 ± 3.33	16.71 ± 4.03	6.76%
LOW FREQ. (n.u.)	<b>54.79</b> ± 16.97	<b>54.82</b> ± 18.10	0.05%	<b>59.58</b> ± 18.67	<b>58.64</b> ± 18.16	-1.60%
HIGH FREQ. (n.v.)	<b>45.2</b> ± 16.97	<b>45.16</b> ± 18.13	-0.09%	<b>40.41</b> ± 18.67	<b>41.35</b> ± 18.16	2.27%
RATIO LOW/HI FREQ.	<b>1.72</b> ± 1.81	2.06 ± 2.7		<b>2.5</b> ± 2.41	<b>2.01</b> ± 1.56	

There was no significant change in low or high frequency HRV.

The group means values ± standard deviations of the autonomic and respiratory variables for laughter yoga and control groups.

After seven sessions over 18 days a downward trend in heart rate is apparent, indicating that heart rate might continue to reduce.

This indicates a relaxation from stress and could also indicate improvement in fitness levels. A longer study is required to further investigate this extremely interesting result.



# **Results: Blood Pressure**

BLOOD PRESSURE	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP	CONTROL GROUP
PRE SYSTOLIC (mm/Hg)	128.24 ±14.99	125.89 ±13.13
POST SYSTOLIC (mmHg)	120.78 <sup>bC</sup> ±14.42	125.96 <sup>NS</sup> 12.80
CHANGE	-6.18%	0.06%
PRE DIASTOLIC (mm/Hg)	82.37 ±9.18	82.34 ±8.28
POST DIASTOLIC (mm/Hg)	<b>79.34</b> <sup>A</sup> ±8.64	81.81 <sup>NS</sup> ±8.50ns
CHANGE	-3.82%	-0.65%

Values Mean ± SD

A P < 0.05 Paired t-test pre- compared to post intervention.

B P < 0.001 Paired t-test pre- compared to post intervention.

C P< 0.05 Independent t-test comparison between LY and WLC groups.

NS Not significant, mmHg= millimeter of mercury

The 6% reduction in Systolic BP is significant & suggests reduced sympathetic nervous system activity or reduced stress levels.

The 4% reduction in Diastolic BP is also significant and suggests relaxation from stress.

There was no change in the control group.

The significant reductions in BP indicate that Laughter Yoga helps reduce stress and improves ongoing stress management.



# **Results: Cortisol**

Cortisol is a stress hormone that accurately reflects perceived stress levels. Early morning cortisol levels were measured in both groups before starting and after completing the laughter interventions.

CORTISOL	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP	CONTROL GROUP
PRE CC(µg/dL)	0.25 ± 0.14	<b>0.24</b> ± 0.16
POST CC(µg/dL)	0.18 <sup>A,NS</sup> ±0.11	<b>0.20</b> ± 0.12ns
CHANGE	<b>-28</b> % (P<0.001)	-16.6% (P<0.190)

Values Mean ± SD

A P < 0.05 Wilcoxon signed ranks test - pre-compared to post (LY group)

NS Not significant between groups-Mann Whitney test.

There was a 28% reduction in cortisol levels in the Laughter Yoga Group and a less significant change in the control group.



This demonstrates that Laughter Yoga is effective in reducing stress.

# **Results: PANAS**

The PANAS (Positive Affectivity and Negative Affectivity Scale) test assesses the "emotional style" a person uses to cope with events in their life.

PANAS TEST	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP	CONTROL GROUP
PRE POSITIVE	33.15 ±10.42	30.79 ±9.11
POST POSITIVE	38.87 <sup>B</sup> ±9.30	32.64 ±7.69
CHANGE	17.25 %	6.0 %
PRE NEGATIVE	16.59 ±11.93	17.82 ±9.86
POST NEGATIVE	12.07 <sup>A,C</sup> ±9.34	17.64 ±11.23
CHANGE	- 27.2 %	1.0 %

Values Mean ± SD

A P < 0.05 Paired t-test pre- compared to post

B P < 0.001 Paired t-test pre- compared to post

C P < 0.000 independent t test comparing LY group and WLC group

NS Not significant, mmHg= millimeter of mercury

Negative emotions like fear, disappointment, distress, upset, sadness, guilt, nervousness, shame, and misery have decreased by 27% after the Laughter Yoga sessions.

There were no significant changes in the control group.



This strongly indicates that Laughter Yoga removes negative emotions and increases positive emotions. This results in improved communication skills, better workplace motivation and a more positive mental outlook.

# **Results: Perceived Stress Scale**

The PSS test measures an individual's perceived stress.

Both groups were measured before starting and after completing the laughter interventions.

PSS TEST	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP	CONTROL GROUP
PRE PSS	17.79 ±6.89	19.33 ±5.04
POST PSS	15.80 <sup>A,B</sup> ±5.28	18.14 ±5.78
CHANGE	11.1 %	6.1 %

Values Mean ± SD

- A P < 0.05 Paired t-test pre- compared to post
- B P < 0.05 independent t test comparing LY group and WLC group.



There was an 11% reduction in perceived stress in the Laughter Yoga group, against a small change in the control group.

This indicates significant stress release, and that individuals were now able handle new stressful events better.

# **Results: Alexithymia**

Alexithymia is a serious condition in which people have difficulty in identifying and expressing emotions.

People with a high Alexithymia scale tend to fight with other people frequently, be cold & distant in their behavior, be socially inhibited, experience anxiety in the presence of others, show a lack of initiative, and have difficulty coping with social challenges.

TAS TEST	LAUGHTER YOGA GROUP	CONTROL GROUP
PRE TAS	<b>50</b> ±13.17	<b>49.25</b> ±12.35
POST TAS	<b>45.58<sup>A,NS</sup> ±</b> 11.20*ns	<b>49.33</b> ±11.36
CHANGE	-8.84 %	0.16 %

Values Mean ± SD

- A P < 0.05 Paired t-test pre- compared to post
- NS Not significant between groups
- TAS Toronto Alexithymia Scale

Alexithymia is strongly inverse to 'Emotional Intelligence'.

It reduces empathy, communication skills, creativity and innovation – all skills that are identified as critical for success in the workplace.



Our tests showed a significant 8% decrease in Alexithymia within the Laughter Yoga group after seven sessions against no change in the control group.

# Answers: What are the effects of laughter yoga on stress in the workplace?

<b>HEART RATE:</b>	Down. Indicates reduced stress.
BLOOD PRESSURE:	Down. Indicates lower stress and improved stress management.
CORTISOL:	Down. Indicates reduced stress levels.
PANAS TEST:	Increase in positive emotions & decrease in negative emotions that will lead to improved work performance.
PSS TEST:	Down. Perceived stress is reduced.
TAS TEST:	Down. Alexithymia is reduced, Emotional Intelligence is increased.



# Conclusion.

There can be no doubt that Laughter Yoga significantly reduces stress levels in the workplace.

Physiological, biochemical, and psychological tests all indicate reductions in stress and improvements in the subjects' abilities to cope with stress. This will result in improved physical and mental health. We observed the Laughter Yoga participants develop of a deep sense of physical, mental and emotional well-being.

Reduced stress is an indicator of wellness of the mind and body, and we would expect to see resulting reductions in illness and disease with corresponding drops in absence and sick leave.

We would also expect Laughter Yoga to result in increased productivity and quality of work, better communication and interpersonal relationships, and a more harmonious workplace.

It is remarkable that such significant changes were found after only seven 20-minute sessions of Laughter Yoga over a short period of time.



Dr. M S Chaya – Principal Investigator

# Sponsors.

This study was made possible through the financial support of MAJOR SPONSOR Mr Vishwa Prakash – Entrepreneur and philanthropist of New York.

Additional sponsors include Laughter Club International – India, and Dr Kataria School of Laughter Yoga – India and Liechtenstein.

# **Special Thanks**.

We thank Dr. Madan Kataria, Mr Atmaram Torne, Mr Basavaraj, Mr Vishwanath & his wife for their assistance in conducting the Laughter Yoga sessions.

We thank the staff and management of the participating Bangalore IT companies:

- 1. KYOCERA
- 2. IFLEX SOLUTIONS
- **3. MPHASIS**

Thanks to Bill Gee for the edit & design of this document.

# **Research Team.**

It was a challenge taking our research team and equipment to IT companies across Bangalore and completing scientific research in the field. Thanks to great teamwork it proved an enjoyable experience.

Heartfelt thanks to Dr. Madan Kataria, Dr. H R Nagendra, Dr. Nagarathna, the team, companies, Laughter Yoga leaders and participants for their help and support.

We hope to continue with longer studies to discover how the changes shown in this study continue over longer periods.

Dr M S Chaya – Principal Investigator

### The SVYASA University research team further included:

Dr N K Manjunath	Sri Vinod Kumar
Dr Rao Raghavendra	Sri Rajesh
Dr Vadiraj	Sri Pawan
Dr Sudha Rani Shenoy	Kumari Sneha Shekar
Sri Gopal Krishna	Sister Jija Shantha

### Copyright Laughter Yoga International 2007.

Copies of the entire research document can be requested from info@laughteryoga.org.

For further information please contact Bill Gee at Laughter Yoga International billgee@laughteryoga.org.

# Effect of Laughter Yoga in the Workplace on Personal Efficacy US Study 2007

### **Researchers:**

Heidi Beckman, Ph.D. UWHC-Health Psychology Nathan Regier, Ph.D. Judy L. Young Laughter Links Published: The Journal of Primary Prevention (2007), 28,167-182.

### **Objective of the Study**

This study aimed to measure the impact of a purposeful aerobic laughter intervention on employees' sense of self-efficacy in the workplace as well as on their emotional health.

## **Hypotheses**

The main hypothesis was that participation in regular workplace laughter would increase workers' sense of self-efficacy, especially in four dimensions:

- Self-regulation in managing and controlling thoughts and feelings under stress
- To remain positive about the future even in the face of all obstacles
- To experience and sustain positive emotions
- To feel connected with others

### **Design and Procedure**

The current study used Laughter Links, a program of teaching non-humor dependent, yoga-based, purposeful aerobic laughter (Laughter Yoga) in a group setting.

It is based upon the work of Dr. Madan Kataria, a medical doctor in Mumbai, India who combined medical research, modern science, and yoga breathing to create his own laughter technique.

### Method

Participants were 33 employees of a behavioral health center with average age of 48.

15 minute sessions on a guided program of non-humor dependent laughter for consecutive workdays was administered.

Participants engaged in exercises designed to evoke the physiological act of laughter without relying on humorous stimuli – it was 'laughter without humor'.

### **Capabilities Awareness Profile (CAP)**

The primary outcome was measured by the Capabilities Awareness Profile, a self-report self -efficacy questionnaire of 124 questions, which measured different aspects of self-efficacy and relational competencies. Results showed significant increase in:

**Self-Awareness:** Participants showed an increased ability to assess beliefs, values, expectations, needs and feelings. It also improved the capability to understand the limits and weaknesses and to accept responsibility for own mistakes.

**Self-Acceptance:** Increased the ability to accept both positive and negative aspects of oneself.

**Self-Actualization:** Noticeable rise in the ability to pursue challenging goals, setting high personal standards, and pursuing tasks that take one out of comfort zone.

**Self-Regulation:** There was a rise in perceived competence in controlling thoughts and feelings under stress. It was seen that the group members remained calm and worked effectively under pressure.

**Adaptability:** The ability to solve problems by being flexible, creative, and translating ideas into action perceivably improved.

**Motivation:** There was a noticeable rise in perseverance, and the ability to stick with difficult situations and tasks.

**Optimism:** There was a significant rise in feelings of optimism about the future even in the face of stress, setbacks, or disappointments.

Assertiveness: The ability to express thoughts and feelings in a nondestructive manner also improved which resulted in better capacity to communicate ideas and feelings.

#### Improvement in Relational Competencies:

**Social Identification:** There was perceived improvement in the capacity to feel connected with others.

**Empathy:** Participants were more sensitive to and appreciative of others' thoughts and feelings, thereby reflecting the ability to respond to others in an understanding and caring manner.

**Positive Emotions:** It was seen that the members were able to sustain positive emotions which would help them to be more content, healthier and live longer.





Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.



Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.



Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.

## Conclusion

Purposeful laughter is a realistic, sustainable and generalizable intervention leading to better work performance by improving the morale, enhancing resilience levels creating an awareness of personal efficacy and beliefs.

### **Brief Report** Laughter yoga activities for older people living in residential aged care homes: A feasibility study

#### Julie M Ellis

School of Nursing and Midwifery, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

#### Ros Ben-Moshe

'Live life, LaughLife'; and School of Psychology and Public Health, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

#### Karen Teshuva

Lincoln Centre for Research on Ageing, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

**Objective:** To evaluate the effects of a laughter yoga activities (LY) program for older people living in residential aged care homes (RACHs).

**Methods:** A 6-week LY program was implemented at three RACHs with twenty-eight residents. A pre-post design was used to measure positive and negative affect, happiness, blood pressure and pulse.

**Results:** Post-session mean scores for positive mood, and happiness were significantly higher than pre-session scores in weeks 1, 3 and 6, and the post-session mean negative mood scores were significantly lower than pre-session scores in weeks 3 and 6. Post-session readings for mean systolic blood pressure were significantly lower than pre-session readings in weeks 1 and 6.

**Conclusion:** This study demonstrates the potential for using LY to improve mood and lower blood pressure of older people living in RACHs.

**Policy Impact:** Laughter yoga should be considered by Management and Lifestyle coordinators/activities staff in residential aged care homes to be included in their regular activities program for residents. By incorporating LY into the culture of the RACHs, a sense of fun and happiness will be achieved for both residents and staff. **Practice Impact:** Laughter yoga improves happiness and positive mood and decreases negative mood in older people living in residential aged care homes, and has the potential to lower blood pressure. It also provides opportunities for residents to exercise, have fun and enjoy themselves, so should be incorporated into lifestyle programs.

**Key words:** happiness, laughter therapy, laughter yoga, nursing homes, older people.

#### Introduction

Older people in residential aged care are at elevated risk of depression [1–3]. A range of therapies have been implemented to reduce depression and anxiety and improve emotional well-being [4]. One such therapy is laughter yoga (LY), which combines simulated laughter exercises with deep breathing and clapping. It is conducted in a group setting which helps break down barriers between people, as it is believed that people are more likely to laugh in groups than when alone and that laughter is contagious, so in a group if one person laughs others will follow [5].

A growing body of evidence indicates the health benefits of laughter. These include reducing stress [6,7], blood pressure and stress hormones; increasing muscle flexion and triggering the release of endorphins – the body's natural painkilling chemicals that produce a general sense of wellbeing [7]. Laughter yoga is an aerobic activity, providing benefits such as stimulating circulation and pulmonary ventilation [8,9].

Research literature indicates that LY can improve the quality of life of older people and result in physiological and psychological health-related benefits [3]. Small but significant effects of laughter on sleep quality and depression have been demonstrated for older persons [10]. Laughter yoga combined with exercise has been associated with improved self-rated health, higher bone density levels and increased activity in older people [11]. The positive impacts of LY on well-being of older people with depression have also been reported. Studies with older adults have shown improvements in quality of life, mood and depression scores, and in their activities of daily living [12–14].

Research indicates an association between affect (including apathy) and activity participation among nursing home residents [3,15,16] and between engagement in therapeutic activities and improvements in apathy, suggesting that it is worthwhile to encourage residents with high apathy to engage in more activities to reduce apathy. Involving residents in active participation is good for both their mental and physical health. Despite evidence indicating the measurable benefits of laughter for older people, activity programs in residential aged care have rarely incorporated LY [3,10–14].

The aim of this study was to identify the effects of a LY program on the well-being of older people living in

Correspondence to: Dr Julie M Ellis, School of Nursing and Midwifery, La Trobe University. Email: j.ellis@latrobe.edu.au

residential aged care homes (RACHs). The study tested the hypotheses that LY can improve participants' mood, blood pressure and pulse.

#### Methods

#### Sampling

Residents from a convenience sample of three RACHs participated in this study. A LY session was conducted for the activities staff at the three RACHs to promote support for the program. These staff were asked to identify residents who met three inclusion criteria, namely, being capable of providing informed consent, actively participating in the LY program and answering follow-up questions. Of the 302 residents in the three selected homes, activities' staff identified 60 eligible residents. The first author visited these residents, explained the project, provided the participant information statement and collected signed consent forms. Twenty-eight residents agreed to participate in the study (a response rate of 47%) – six in Group 1, ten in Group 2 and twelve in Group 3.

#### Participants

Most participants were women (23 women, 5 men). The mean age was 84 years, and the age range was 61 to 96 years with eight residents in their 90s. Thirteen of the participants had a diagnosis of dementia.

#### Intervention

Six weekly LY sessions of 30 minutes duration were conducted at each site by a trained laughter therapist (second author). Residents were seated in a circle to maximise eye contact with each other and with the LY facilitator. Each session began with 10 minutes of breathing and stretching exercises: deep belly breathing; body stretching, gentle neck and shoulder stretches, and smiling to loosen up face muscles. This was followed by fifteen minutes of LY, which consisted of a physical activity and chanting ho, ho, ho, ha, ha, ha. An example is the 'Tapping body laugh' where participants use the left hand to tap five times from the shoulder to the wrist on the right side and repeat for left side and tap five times down both legs. As the participants tap, they repeat the chanting, which progressively becomes quicker. These exercises included a variety of laughs to stimulate vocal skills, fine and gross motor skills and a sense of play. Each session followed the same format. The final five minutes consisted of body relaxation, smiling and deep breathing.

#### Measures

The Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) [17] was used to measure mood (or self-rated affect), and The General Happiness Scale (GHS) [18] was used to measure levels of happiness. Both measures have been tested for

validity and reliability [17,18]. Data were collected before and after the LY session at three time points during the 6week period: in weeks 1, 3 and 6. Each participant's blood pressure and pulse were measured just before and immediately after each session by the first author (a nurse researcher). At the end of each LY session, participants were asked the following: Did you enjoy the laughter group session? If yes, what aspects did you enjoy? If no, tell me why? Their comments were written down verbatim by the researcher.

#### Data analysis

Data were analysed using SPSS Version 22. The impact of the intervention was assessed by (i) comparing mood, happiness, blood pressure and pulse measures before and after the sessions in weeks 1, 3, and 6; and (ii) comparing preprogram scores for mood, happiness, blood pressure and pulse measures (measured at baseline before the first session), with postprogram scores (measured after the final session in week 6). Paired-sample *t*-tests were used to test statistical significance. Residents' feedback on the experience of participating in LY was collated.

#### Ethics

Ethics approval for this study was obtained from a University Human Research Ethics Committee (approval number UHEC 11-090) following organisational approvals from the participating RACHs.

#### Results

Mean score increased on the GHS in weeks 3 and 6 and on the positive aspects of the PANAS in weeks 1 and 3 (Table 1). Postprogram mean scores on the GHS and the positive aspects of PANAS were significantly higher than the baseline scores, and negative aspects of the PANAS were significantly lower at the end of the six-week program. Mean readings decreased slightly between baseline and the end of the LY program for systolic blood pressure (from 137.5 preprogram to 133.4 postprogram) (Table 2).

Most participants indicated that they enjoyed participating in the LY program, and 24 stated that they would like to do it again. Participants identified the following benefits of the program: relaxation, socialising, being happy and laughing at oneself, as illustrated by the following comments: 'It was fun to laugh and see others laugh', 'It was nice having everyone laughing', 'The whole place feels joyful', 'It makes me feel good, 'Everyone is happy and me too', and 'It relaxes me'. Aspects of the program that participants reported enjoying the most were the breathing, exercises and interactions with others. Only one resident indicated that he did not enjoy the activity and did not return. Four residents stated it was 'childlike', but attended all sessions and did join in the laughter.

Session and measure	Mean	SD	t	df	Sig
General Happiness Scale					
Pre-session 1	5.2	0.973	-2.905	27	0.007
Post-session 1	5.6	0.685			
Pre-session 3	5.4	0.907	-3.827	27	0.001**
Post-session 3	5.8	0.621			
Pre-session 6	5.4	0.848	-3.356	27	0.002**
Post-session 6	5.9	0.744	0.000	07	0.001.00
Pre-session 1 and			-3.682	27	0.001**
post-session 6					
GHS mean scores	0				
Positive and Negative Affect a	Scale	7 507	4 000	07	0 000***
Positive pre-session 1	27.30	7.597	-4.338	27	0.000***
Positive post-session 1	30.3Z	1.199	1 720	07	0.005
Nogative pre-session 1	12 80	4.000 3.775	1.730	21	0.095
Positive pre-session 3	27.64	7 310	_1 153	27	0 000***
Positive post-session 3	21.04	7 783	-4.400	21	0.000
Negative pre-session 3	14.32	4 092	2 954	27	0.006
Negative post-session 3	12.89	3.326	2.001	21	0.000
Positive pre-session 6	28.14	6.422	-2.897	27	0.007
Positive post-session 6	31.39	7.908	2.007		0.000
Negative pre-session 6	14.14	4.034	2.555	27	0.017
Negative post-session 6	12.93	3.126			
Pre-session 1 and			-3.576	27	0.001**
post-session 6 PANAS					
mean scores – Positive					
Pre-session 1 and			2.259	27	0.032*
post-session 6 PANAS					
mean scores – Negative					

Table 1: Mean GHS and PANAS scores before and after three LY sessions (n = 28)

\*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.001, \*\*\*P < 0.001. GHS, General Happiness Scale; LY, laughter yoga; PANAS, Positive and Negative Affect Schedule.

# Table 2: Mean systolic blood pressure and pulse rate readings before and after three LY sessions and pre-post LY program (n = 28)

Session and measure	Mean	SD	t	df	Sig
Blood pressure					
Pre-session 1	137.5	21.4	2.334	27	0.027*
Post-session 1	128.4	18.1			
Pre-session 3	142.0	23.5	1.432	27	NS
Post-session 3	136.4	19.8			
Pre-session 6	140.5	23.5	2.469	27	0.020*
Post-session 6	133.4	18.1			
Pulse					
Pre-session 1	71.2	9.5	2.897	27	0.007*
Post-session 1	69	7.8			
Pre-session 3	72	10.7	1.089	27	NS
Post-session 3	70	9.9			
Pre-session 6	72	11.3	0.902	27	NS
Post-session 6	71	8.5			
Blood pressure					
Pre-session 1 – BP	137.5	21.4	2.334	27	0.027*
Post-session 6 – BP	133.4	18.1			
Pulse					
Pre-session 1 – Pulse	71.2	9.5	0.902	27	NS
Post-session 6 – Pulse	71	8.5			

\*P < 0.05. BP, blood pressure; LY, laughter yoga; NS, not significant; SD, standard deviation.

#### Discussion

Consistent with previous research that showed the positive impacts of LY on patients' mood [19], this pilot study indicates that a LY program has health and emotional

Australasian Journal on Ageing, Vol ●● No ●● ● 2017 ●●●● © 2017 AJA Inc. well-being benefits for older people living in RACHs. The program resulted in measurable improvements in happiness scores, positive and negative mood scores, and in blood pressure. The drop in blood pressure was an expected result of the physical activity [8]. Most residents enjoyed the LY as it induced a sense of well-being and helped them feel connected with each other. These findings support research evidence [7] that indicates LY can result in a sense of well-being brought on by the release of endorphins.

The main limitations of this study were the use of a convenience sample, the small sample size, the non-experimental design and potential for gatekeeper bias to affect recruitment of participants. Including a comparison group in the study design was beyond the scope of this pilot project. Activities staff in this study could have denied access to some residents who might have been willing to take part, as nursing home staff members can be protective towards those they care for and sometimes block access to researchers [20]. Finally, attention given to the participants from the Laughter Therapist and the Nurse Researcher may have contributed to the participants increase in positive mood and happiness levels.

#### Conclusion

Despite its limitations, this pilot study contributes to a growing body of evidence that indicates that LY has physical, social and emotional health benefits for older people living in RACHs. Future research using an experimental design would enable researchers to (i) test Meeks et al.'s (2007) hypothesis that positive affect is linked to activity participation; and (ii) separate the effects of activity from the effects of LY. Laughter yoga provides opportunities for residents to have fun, enjoy themselves and to be involved in low-intensity physical aerobic activity in a safe and accessible way.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the residents for their willingness to participate in this study. No research funding was received for this project. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Cole M, Dendukuri N. Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2003; 160: 1147–1156.
   Davison T, McCabe MP, Mellor D, Ski C, George K, Moore K. The
- 2 Davison T, McCabe MP, Mellor D, Ski C, George K, Moore K. The prevalence and recognition of major depression among low-level aged-care residents with and without cognitive impairment. *Aging* and Mental Health 2007; 11: 82–88.
- 3 Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: A narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine* 2011; 19: 170– 177.
- 4 Wells Y, Bhar S, Kinsella G et al. What Works to Promote Emotional Wellbeing in Older People: A Guide for Aged Care Staff Working in Community or Residential Care Settings. Melbourne: beyondblue,

2014. [Cited 1 June 2017.] Available from URL: http://resources. beyondblue.org.au/prism/file?token=BL/1263A

- 5 Provine RR. The science of laughter. *Psychology Today* 2000; 33: 58–62.
- 6 Bennett MP, Zeller JM, Rosenberg L, McCann J. The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine* 2003; 9: 38–44.
- 7 Berk LS, Felten DL, Tan SA, Bittman BB, Westengard J. Modulation of neuroimmune parameters during the eustress of humor-associated mirthful laughter. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine* 2001; 7: 62–72.
- 8 Mahoney DL, Burroughs WJ, Lippman L. Perceived attributes of health-promoting laughter: A cross-generational comparison. *The Journal of Psychology* 2002; 136: 171–181.
- 9 Miles C, Tait E, Schure MB, Hollis M. Effect of laughter yoga on psychological well-being and physiological measures. Advances in Mind – Body Medicine 2016; 30: 12–20.
- 10 Ko H-J, Youn C-H. Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. *Geriatrics and Gerontology International* 2011; 11: 267–274.
- 11 Hirosaki M, Ohira T, Kajiura M et al. Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: Randomized controlled trial. *Geriatrics and Gerontology International* 2013; 13: 152–160.
- 12 Falkenberg I, Buchkremer G, Bartels M, Wild B. Implementation of a manual-based training of humor abilities in patients with depression: A pilot study. *Psychiatry Research* 2011; 186: 454–457.

!

- 13 George JR, Jacob V. A study to assess the effectiveness of laughter therapy on depression among elderly people in selected old age homes in Mangalore. *International Journal of Nursing Education* 2014; 6: 152–154.
- Walter M, Hänni B, Haug M et al. Humour therapy in patients with late-life depression or Alzheimer's disease: A pilot study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2007; 22: 77–83.
   Ferrero-Aras J, Gonu-Imizcoz M, Gonzalez-Bernal J et al. The
- 15 Ferrero-Aras J, Gonu-Imizcoz M, Gonzalez-Bernal J et al. The efficacy of nonpharmacological treatment of dementia-related apathy. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders* 2011; 25: 213–219.
- 16 Meeks S, Young CM, Looney SW. Activity participation and affect among nursing home residents: Support for a behavioural model of depression. Aging and Mental Health 2007; 11: 751–760.
- 17 Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS Scales. *Journal* of *Personality and Social Psychology* 1988; 54: 1063–1070.
- 18 Lyubomirsky S, Lepper HS. A measure of subjective happiness: Preliminary reliability and construct validation. *Social Indicators Research* 1999; 46: 137–155.
- 19 Bennett PN, Parsons T, Ben-Moshe R et al. Intradialytic laughter yoga therapy for haemodialysis patients: A pre-post intervention feasibility study. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 2015; 15: 176.
- 20 Groger L, Mayberry P, Straker J. What we didn't learn because of who would not talk to us. *Qualitative Health Research* 1999; 9: 829–835.



The Gerontologist cite as: Gerontologist, 2016, Vol. 00, No. 00, 1–12 doi:10.1093/geront/gnw105 Advance Access publication August 4, 2016

OXFORD

**Research Article** 

# Evaluation of a Laughter-based Exercise Program on Health and Self-efficacy for Exercise

Celeste M. Greene, MA,<sup>1,3,\*</sup> Jennifer Craft Morgan, PhD,<sup>1</sup> LaVona S. Traywick, PhD,<sup>2</sup> and Chivon A. Mingo, PhD<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Gerontology Institute, Georgia State University, Atlanta. <sup>2</sup>Cooperative Extension Service, University of Arkansas, Little Rock. <sup>3</sup>Present address: LaughActive, LLC, Atlanta, GA.

\*Address correspondence to Celeste M. Greene, MA, LaughActive, 245 North Highland Avenue NE, Suite 230-423, Atlanta, GA 30307-5509. E-mail: celeste@laughactive.com

Received February 3, 2016; Accepted May 27, 2016

Decision Editor: Rachel Pruchno, PhD

#### Abstract

**Background:** Despite health benefits of physical activity (PA) and risks of physical inactivity, many older adults do not accumulate sufficient levels of PA to achieve associated health benefits. Lack of PA enjoyment may be a barrier to PA participation. Combining simulated laughter and PA for strength, balance, and flexibility is a potential solution for helping older adults maintain independence in activities of daily living through enjoyable participation in PA.

**Purpose of the study:** The purpose of this study is to assess whether combining simulated laughter exercises with a moderate-intensity strength, balance, and flexibility PA program (i.e., *LaughActive*) increases participation in PA, health, and self-efficacy for PA among older adults residing in 4 assisted living facilities (ALFs).

**Design and methods:** The 12-week wait list control pilot study used pre- and 6-week post-intervention comparisons within and between groups identified by paired sample *t*-test results among those who participated in twice-weekly *LaughActive* classes (n = 27).

**Results:** Significant improvements (p < .05-.10) were observed in mental health (SF-36v2), aerobic endurance (2-minute step test), and self-efficacy for exercise (OEE).

**Implications:** PA programs that elicit positive emotions through simulated laughter have the potential to improve health, physical performance, and self-efficacy for PA among older adults and may positively influence participant adherence.

Keywords: Physical activity, Exercise intervention, Assisted living, Laughter, Simulated laughter

Regular physical activity (PA) is needed throughout the life course. Sufficient PA in older adult populations is associated with lower all-cause mortality and reduced risk of a number of chronic conditions, including coronary heart disease, high blood pressure, stroke, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, osteoporosis, colon cancer, breast cancer, anxiety, and depression (Nelson et al., 2007). Regular PA reduces the impact of age-related declines in aerobic endurance and the degenerative loss of muscle mass, quality, and strength, which prevents or mitigates functional limitations (Vogel et al., 2009). These benefits are crucial in the maintenance of older adults' ability to perform activities of daily living (ADLs). Modest evidence supports the association of PA with enhanced sleep quality and health-related quality of life (HRQOL), whereas strong evidence supports the association between PA and higher levels of functional health, reduced risk of falls and lower incidence of hip fracture, and improved cognitive function (Nelson et al., 2007; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [USDHHS], 2008).

Despite the health benefits of PA and the risks of physical inactivity, many older adults are not physically active and therefore do not accumulate sufficient levels of PA to obtain the associated health benefits. The 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines recommend that all adults participate in a minimum of 30 minutes of PA at least 5 days per week to counter the negative effects of inactivity and achieve desirable health outcomes (USDHHS, 2008). Acquiring sufficient levels of PA according to these guidelines requires that adults maintain motivation to adhere to regular PA, which often presents a particular challenge for the older adult population (Brawley, Rejeski, & King, 2003).

Enjoyable exercise programming may serve as a mediator to PA in older adults (Phillips & Flesner, 2013). Mullen and colleagues claimed, "Enjoyment is both a predictor and outcome of physical activity participation" (2011, p. 1). Participants that anticipate enjoyment as a part of PA can improve their commitment and adherence to exercise activities, due to anticipated positive emotions associated with the activities (Mullen et al., 2011).

It seems plausible that if participants who anticipate enjoyment as a part of PA can improve their commitment and adherence to exercise activities, then a program that specifically targets exercise enjoyment through eliciting positive emotions would motivate participants to participate in the program both initially and on a continuing basis. Laughter may be a valid part of the solution. The pleasant associations with laughter may add enjoyment to an exercise program and increase program adherence (Hirosaki et al., 2013).

Not only is laughter generally considered to be an enjoyable activity; laughter itself is associated with improved physiological and psychological functioning. Physiologically, laughter positively impacts the central nervous, muscular, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, immune, and cardiovascular systems (Fry, 1986, 1992). The physical act of laughter shares many common benefits associated with exercise (Fry, 1994). A recent literature review confirmed the following physiological benefits of laughter: (1) exercises and relaxes muscles; (2) improves respiration; (3) stimulates circulation; (4) decreases stress hormones; (5) increases immune system defense; (6) elevates pain threshold and tolerance; and (7) enhances mental functioning (Mora-Ripoll, 2011). The physical benefits of laughter are complemented by the scientifically validated psychological effects of laughter, which are summarized as follows: (1) reduces stress, anxiety, tension, and counteracts depressive symptoms; (2) elevates mood, self-esteem, hope, energy, and vigor; (3) enhances memory, creative thinking, and problem solving; (4) improves interpersonal interaction and relationships and increases feelings of bonding; (5) increases friendliness, helpfulness, and builds group identity, solidarity, and cohesiveness; (6) promotes general psychological well-being; (7) improves quality of life and patient care; and (8) intensifies joy and is contagious (Mora-Ripoll, 2011).

It is important to distinguish between humor and laughter. "Humor and laughter are distinct events (although often associated): while humor is a stimulus and can occur without laughter, laughter is a response and can occur without humor" (Mora-Ripoll, 2011, pp. 173-174). Simulated laughter techniques such as laughter yoga achieve the health benefits of laughter without relying on humor to elicit the laughter stimulus. Simulated laughter techniques are based on knowledge that the body cannot distinguish between genuine and self-initiated laughter (Kataria, 2011). Although the laughter used in simulated laughter techniques is initially self-initiated, the laughter exercises facilitate the act of making eye contact and enacting playful behaviors with other participants, which generally transitions the laughter itself from laughter that is simulated to genuine laughter. Simulated laughter may lead to increased intensity and duration of laughter, both through intentionally self-initiating deep and prolonged laughter at will, and through transitioning into genuine and spontaneous laughter triggered through the eye contact and playful behaviors shared among participants. These two effects have the potential to result in increased physiological responses (Mora-Ripoll, 2011).

Simulated laughter may be an ideal means for older adults with functional or cognitive impairments to access the health benefits of laughter. Humor may lead to laughter, but it is elicited through a mental stimulus and therefore requires a high degree of mental functioning including attention, working memory, flexible thinking, extraction of word meaning, and a positive mood state in order to perceive and appreciate humor (Takeda et al., 2010). However, when laughter is self-initiated as bodily exercise, older adults do not need to rely on cognitive skills to "get the joke," or a positive mood state to reap the benefits of laughter. Furthermore, laughter is universal. Nearly everyone enjoys laughing, and laughter is almost always positive; whereas, humor can sometimes be misjudged and elicit negative emotional responses. These benefits are especially relevant to older adults with moderate dementias (Takeda et al., 2010). Because simulated laughter exercises can be facilitated while seated and are suitable for a wide range of physical abilities, they may serve as a cardiovascular exercise program for sedentary individuals who cannot, or will not, participate in more traditional forms of exercise.

Although both humor-based and simulated laughter are associated with positive health outcomes, the doseresponse relationship to outcomes, long-term effects, and the underlying mechanisms and processes of laughter require further clarification (Mora-Ripoll, 2011, Proyer, Ruch, & Rodden, 2012). To the best of our knowledge, laughter has only been used as an additional behavioral modification to positively impact exercise adherence in one intervention (Hirosaki et al., 2013).

The purpose of this exploratory pilot study was to assess whether a novel PA program that incorporates simulated laughter exercises within a moderate-intensity strength, balance, and flexibility PA program would increase participation in PA, overall health and self-efficacy for PA among older adults residing in assisted living facilities (ALFs). Although simulated laughter has potential as an accessible, sustainable, and enjoyable modality to improve older adults' PA program adherence and associated outcomes, no studies have examined the impact of simulated laughter as part of a dedicated PA program. The specific research aims and corresponding hypotheses that guided this research are as follows:

Aim 1: Increase overall health among older adults residing in ALFs.

- The LaughActive intervention will improve subjective health outcomes, or heath-related quality of life (HRQOL) measures of older adults residing in ALFs.
- (2) The *LaughActive* intervention will improve objective health outcomes, or physical performance measures of older adults residing in ALFs.

Aim 2: Increase self-efficacy for PA, or the confidence to engage in PA, among older adults residing in ALFs.

(1) The LaughActive intervention will be positively associated with aspects of improved self-efficacy for PA among older adults residing in ALFs, including (a) physical, social, and self-evaluative outcome expectations for exercise; (b) increased perceived facilitators and reduced perceived barriers to exercise; and (c) exercise enjoyment.

#### **Design and Methods**

The 12-week study used a wait list control design with baseline and 6-week post-intervention comparisons within and between intervention groups. Researchers collected data from the intervention group at two points in time: Time 1 (pre-intervention baseline) and Time 2 (6-week intervention conclusion). Researchers collected data from the wait list comparison group members at three points in time: Time 1 (pre-intervention baseline), Time 2 (6-week waiting period conclusion; wait list comparison group intervention baseline), and Time 3 (6-week intervention conclusion). Each group engaged in one 6-week *LaughActive* intervention (described *Intervention*).

#### Participants and Recruitment

The study used a convenience sample of four comparable ALFs in terms of environmental variables (i.e., facility type, average monthly cost of residency, services offered, number of apartments, and number and types of PA activities offered in the facilities). The ALFs were for-profit with average monthly fees ranging from \$3,675 to \$4,895. Number of apartments ranged from 46 to 75. In addition to other activity programming, the facilities provided exercise classes twice a day, six times per week. A study of ALF facilities suggested that individual factors such as older age, comorbid conditions, reported ADL impairment, and moderate-to-severe cognitive impairment were more likely than facility factors to predict negative physical function (Giuliani et al., 2008). Facility names were randomly drawn to determine the intervention and control groups.

To identify individuals who were interested in study participation, 45-minute *LaughActive* resident demonstration sessions were conducted in place of the regularly scheduled morning exercise class at each site. Site Activity Directors selected residents with no more than moderate levels of cognitive impairment and placed the resident demonstration session flyers into eligible residents' mailboxes. Session participants received a brief overview of the *LaughActive* program and forthcoming research study, followed by an interactive demonstration.

Participant recruitment sessions were conducted at each facility within 2 weeks following the demonstration sessions. Individuals who expressed interest in study participation were screened to determine if they were Englishspeaking, at least 60 years of age, and were able to get around with or without assistance from devices or one caregiver. Six of 43 potential participants screened were not eligible for further consideration, as the research team found that they were unable to perform the preliminary screening procedures due to attention or memory issues.

The American Heart Association (AHA)/American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) Health/Fitness Facility Pre-participation Screening Questionnaire was used to determine participants' risk stratification for experiencing a cardiovascular event while engaging in moderateintensity exercise programming (ACSM, 2014). Based on participants' responses to this interview-assisted questionnaire, participants were classified as low, moderate, or high risk for experiencing a cardiovascular event during exercise participation. According to the screening protocol, participants with one or more symptoms of, or who had been diagnosed with cardiovascular, pulmonary, and/or metabolic disease were considered to be at high risk and were advised to obtain physician's clearance before beginning the LaughActive program (Balady et al., 1998). Regardless of participants' risk status for experiencing a cardiovascular event while engaging in moderate-intensity exercise, all study participants were given a copy of a medical release form in order to consult with their physicians before participating in the LaughActive intervention. The study was approved by the Georgia State University Institutional Review Board, and all study participants provided written informed consent.

#### Intervention

This *LaughActive* intervention is a 6-week exercise program delivered twice weekly for 45 minutes each session using two progressive exercise routines. *LaughActive* is a moderate-intensity exercise program for older adults that combines simulated laughter exercises with a dedicated strength, balance, and flexibility exercise program. Laughter exercises and deep breathing techniques are interspersed throughout the exercise program and are positioned to participants as "laughter and deep breathing breaks."

The strength, balance, and flexibility components of the intervention coincide with the ACSM/AHA PA recommendations for older adults (Nelson et al., 2007). In developing the two exercise routines that were used for the intervention, these older adult–specific guidelines were followed in terms of the session format, the selection of exercises for the program, the progressive advancement of exercise difficulty from the first to second routine (weeks 1–3 and weeks 4–6, respectively). Each session included 5–10 minutes of warm-up exercises, before concluding with 5–10 minutes of cool down and stretching.

Although LaughActive is not a dedicated endurance program, it may have elements of aerobic benefit. The physical act of laughter is comparable with mild cardiovascular exercise and shares many common physiological benefits associated with exercise (Fry, 1994). Facial, respiratory, and laryngeal muscles are all used to produce laughter, which creates changes in lung volume and muscle compression in the airways. This may cause physiological changes that necessitate increased oxygen consumption and in turn, raise the heart rate (Buchowski et al., 2007). Intense laughter elicited through laughter exercises used in LaughActive may be equivalent to the short aerobic bursts that occur in interval training, in which the exercise intensity is varied within a single bout of exercise (Garber et al., 2011). The interval training model consists of a series of maximal effort sprints with a period of lower-intensity active recovery between each series (Metcalfe, Babraj, Fawkner, & Vollaard, 2012). Interval durations have been evaluated that range from 15 seconds to several minutes (Arnardóttir, Boman, Larsson, Hedenström, & Emtner, 2007). Interval and continuous duration endurance training produce similar effects in healthy adults (Garber et al., 2011). Some studies have demonstrated similar efficacy of interval training and traditional continuous duration endurance training in a number of cardiorespiratory fitness and cardiometabolic biomarkers in participants with metabolic, cardiac, or pulmonary disease (Beauchamp et al., 2010; Earnest, Blair, & Church, 2010; Guimarães et al., 2010; Rognmo, Hetland, Helgerud, Hoff, & Slørdahl, 2004; Warburton et al., 2005; Wisløff et al., 2007). The laughter exercises incorporated rhythmic movement of the major muscle groups while laughing. For instance, a laughter exercise might engage the biceps and triceps muscles by inviting participants to clean out limiting thoughts with "mental floss." In this exercise participants imagine a giant string of floss passing in and out through the ears as participants flex and extend the arms out to the side, all while laughing. The LaughActive sessions included, on average, 8-10 laughter exercises lasting 30-60 seconds each. A laughter exercise was typically incorporated into

the workout routine after every 2–4 strength, balance, and flexibility exercises.

The *LaughActive* intervention used dumbbell weights for upper body strengthening exercises and resistive body weight for lower body strengthening exercises. In accordance with industry recommendations, sessions included one set of 8–10 exercises with 10–15 repetitions for each exercise (Nelson et al., 2007). So that the intervention continued to remain at moderate intensity for each participant as gains were made in muscle strength, resistance was gradually progressed over the course of the intervention, ranging from 1 to 3 lb dumbbell weights and progressive body weight exercises, as tolerated by individual participants.

The first author facilitated all *LaughActive* exercise sessions and is qualified to facilitate safe and effective exercise sessions. Fitness-related certifications include Group Fitness Instructor (American Council on Exercise [ACE]); Senior Fitness Specialist (ACE); Laughter Yoga Teacher (Laughter Yoga International); and CPR/AED/ First Aid (AHA). The two exercise routines that comprised this intervention were developed in partnership with the third author, an associate professor of Gerontology and a certified Personal Trainer and Group Fitness Instructor (National Exercise Trainers Association [NETA]). The intervention was supported by written protocol for both routines, and each session was facilitated according to its protocol with minimal variation from the written protocol between groups.

Strength exercises targeted the muscles of the shoulders, chest, back, biceps, triceps, forearms, wrists, abdominals, inner and outer thighs, hips, glutes, quadriceps, hamstrings, and the supporting tissues of the ankles. Due to functional limitations of study participants and the associated risk of falls, balance exercises were completed while seated. Balance exercises focused on strengthening key muscles involved in balance, such as the abdominals, quadriceps, hamstrings, calves, and the supporting tissues of the ankles. Static stretching techniques were incorporated into the cool down segment. Per industry recommendations, static stretches were held for 10-30 seconds and were repeated 3-4 times for each stretch (Nelson et al., 2007). Muscles that were stretched included the neck, shoulders, chest, back, hamstrings, calves, shins, and the supporting tissues of the ankles.

#### **Outcome Measures**

Data on the following measures were collected at baseline only:

#### **Exercise Risk Stratification**

The participants' risk stratification for engaging in moderate-intensity exercise was determined using the AHA/ ACSM Health/Fitness Facility Pre-participation Screening Questionnaire (ACSM, 2014).

#### Sociodemographic Variables

The sociodemographic variables included in the study are as follows: age, gender, race, education level, marital status, and physical activity participation frequency and type, height (inches), body weight (lb), and body mass index (BMI). Physical measurements were obtained using a standard measuring tape and scale. BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was determined using a BMI calculator.

Outcome measures were assessed at three points in time. Data were collected using paper and pencil interviewassisted questionnaires and an observational fitness test.

#### Subjective Health or HRQOL

Subjective health status was assessed using the SF-36v2 Health Survey Standard Form (4-week recall), a widely used, comprehensive, and validated measure of HRQOL (Ware et al., 2007). The SF-36v2 measures eight domains of health, including Physical Functioning ([PF] 10 items); Role-Physical or role participation with physical health problems ([RP] 4 items); Bodily Pain ([BP] 2 items); General Health [GH] 5 items); Vitality ([VT] 4 items); Social Functioning ([SF] 2 items); Role-Emotional or role participation with emotional health problems ([RE] 3 items); and Mental Health ([MH] 5 items). The SF-36v2 generates two types of summary scores for physical and mental health. All domains and the component scores use norm-based scoring.

#### **Objective Health**

Objective physical performance was measured using the Senior Fitness Test ([SFT] Rikli & Jones, 1999). The SFT assesses lower and upper body strength, aerobic endurance, lower and upper body flexibility, and agility/dynamic balance. Respectively, test items that measure these functional fitness domains include chair stand (repetitions/30 seconds); arm curl (repetitions of 5 lb weight for women and 8 lb weight for men/30 seconds); 2-minute step (steps/2 minutes); chair sit-and-reach (inches); back scratch (inches); and 8-foot up-and-go (seconds).

### Perceived Physical, Social, and Self-evaluative Outcome Expectations for Exercise

Outcome expectations for exercise were assessed using the Outcome Expectations for Exercise (OEE) scale (Resnick, Zimmerman, Orwig, Furstenberg, & Magaziner, 2000). The OEE was developed to assess older adults' perceived consequences of exercise behavior. The scale consists of nine statements regarding the benefits of exercising with high reliability (Resnick et al., 2000). For each statement, participants indicate the degree to which they agree with each statement (e.g., "Exercise makes my muscles stronger") on a scale of 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The numerical ratings for each response are tallied and then divided by the number of responses. Higher scores indicate higher levels of outcome expectations for exercise.

#### Perceived Facilitators and Barriers to Exercise

The Self-Efficacy for Exercise (SEE) scale measured perceived facilitators and barriers to exercise (Resnick & Jenkins, 2000). The SEE is a 9-item scale designed to measure participants' perceived confidence in their ability to exercise three times per week for 20 minutes despite the presence of commonly identified barriers to participation among older adults, such as pain or fatigue. For each item, participants indicate their confidence to execute exercise behavior on a 10-point scale ranging from 0 (*not confident*) to 10 (*very confident*). The score is obtained by summing the numerical ratings for each response and then dividing by the number of responses. Higher scores indicate stronger levels of self-efficacy expectations for exercise. This measure has been shown to have high reliability (Resnick & Jenkins, 2000).

#### PA Enjoyment

Participants' feelings of enjoyment in response to PA were assessed using the Short Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale (8-Item PACES; Mullen et al., 2011). Respondents are asked to rate "how you feel at the moment about the physical activity you have been doing" using a 7-point bipolar rating scale. Higher PACES scores reflect greater levels of enjoyment. The measure has been shown to have high reliability (Mullen et al., 2011).

#### Program Adherence/Participant Adherence

Participant adherence was measured by the percentage of participant program attendance. These measurements were tracked via a roll sheet in which the exercise instructor documented attendance. Participation was tallied according to percentage of each class attended (i.e., 100% for full class, 75% if participant arrived after the warm-up, 50% for half of class, and 25% if participant arrived for stretching only). Participant adherence was calculated by summing the total number of classes attended and dividing by 12 total sessions.

#### **Program Satisfaction**

The Satisfaction Questionnaire included open- and close-ended questions asking participants to assess the *LaughActive* program.

Measurements were collected by the first author (*LaughActive* instructor), second author, and a team of six graduate research assistants. In order to reduce participants' response bias, members of the research team who were not involved in facilitating the *LaughActive* exercise sessions assessed program satisfaction.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Independent samples t tests were used to determine baseline differences between the intervention and wait list comparison groups. Paired sample t tests were used to assess change between pre- and post-test results on intervention participants and wait list comparison group members. Individuals with missing data on outcomes were excluded pairwise; no imputation was done. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0 (IBM Corp., 2012) was used to calculate the variations in all pairs of determined study variables. Given the relatively small sample size of this pilot study, the relatively large effect sizes needed to achieve statistical significance in a small sample and the targeted number of variables compared over time, the decision was made to set the alpha level to less than .10 with no Bonferroni adjustment made.

The SF-36v2 Health Survey was scored using the QualityMetric Health Outcomes Scoring Software 2.0. The SFT was scored using the Senior Fitness Test Scoring Software 2.0.

#### Results

Thirty-seven participants from across four recruited sites were included in the study (see Figure 1 for participant flow diagram). A total of 34 participants were initially recruited at the Time 1 baseline recruitment sessions. Two sites participated in the intervention from Time 1 to Time 2. The other two sites, during this Time 1 to Time 2 period, provided the wait list comparison group members. From Time 2 to Time 3, the latter two sites contributed intervention participants. The majority of these participants from the original control sites had been wait list comparison group members. Three participants, who had not been wait list comparison group members, were added at Time 2.

Three participants did not receive the allocated intervention due to fewer than 50% program participation. Six participants were lost to follow-up. Reasons for loss to follow-up were fall or medical condition since baseline assessment prohibiting exercise participation and observational fitness test evaluation (n = 2), significant cognitive decline since pre-intervention measurement (n = 1), moved out of the ALF (n = 2), and refusal to complete follow-up measurements (n = 1). No participants withdrew from the study for reasons directly related to the LaughActive program and no adverse events were reported. Of the 28 study participants who completed measurements, one participant was excluded from the final analyses due to high inconsistencies in responses, as determined by the SF-36v2 Health Survey Response Consistency Index (RCI) data quality indicator.

The mean number of classes attended was 9.85 (SD = 2.09; range = 4–12). The majority of participants (22 or 81.4%) who were included in the final analyses (n = 27) attended at least 75% of the *LaughActive* program. The *LaughActive* participant adherence rate is consistent with



Figure 1. LaughActive intervention participant recruitment and participation.

other findings of exercise program attendance in older adult populations ranging from 60 to 90% (Resnick, Luisi, & Vogel 2008). In fact 48.1% of the sample attended more than 90% of the program, whereas only 14.8% attended less than 60% of the program.

Descriptive characteristics of the sample (n = 27) are presented in Table 1. The mean age was 81.55 years (SD = 7.48)and the mean BMI (n = 25) was 27.40 (SD = 4.93). The majority of study participants were Caucasian (88.9%), women (81.5%), not married or living with a partner (84.6%), and college educated (74.1%) and exercised at least 5 days per week (55.5%). Independent samples *t* tests indicated that there were no significant differences in sociodemographic variables between the intervention and wait list comparison groups at baseline.

Table 2 shows the baseline and end point retest scores for the health and self-efficacy measures for all participants during their intervention period. We observed statistically significant within-group improvements in mental health (p = .056), aerobic endurance (p = .036), and outcome expectations for exercise (p = .006) in the intervention participants. We observed statistically significant within-group declines (p = .026) in agility and dynamic balance (8-foot

 Table 1. Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants

 Who Completed the LaughActive Intervention

	Completed $(n = 27)$ $n \binom{9}{2}$
Age (years)	
60-70	3 (11.1)
71-80	3 (11.1)
81–90	19 (70.3)
91–100	2 (7.4)
Gender	
Male	5 (18.5)
Female	22 (81.5)
Race	
White (not Hispanic)	24 (88.9)
Black/African American (not Hispanic)	3 (11.1)
Education	
Some high school/high school graduate	7 (25.9)
Some college/college graduate	16 (59.3)
Graduate education	4 (14.8)
Partnership status	
Married/living with partner	4 (15.4)
Other	23 (84.6)
Exercise class participation	
Do not participate	2 (7.4)
1 day per week	5 (18.5)
2 days per week	2 (7.4)
3 days per week	1 (3.7)
4 days per week	2 (7.4)
5 days per week	3 (11.1)
More than 5 days per week	12 (44.4)
, 1	. ,

up-and-go test). The wait list comparison group also significantly declined (p = .053) in this measure during the control period.

Satisfaction scores for participants (n = 27) are presented in Table 3. Unanimously, participants were satisfied with the program and enjoyed being in class. Respondents indicated that they found laughter to be an enjoyable addition to a traditional exercise program (96.2%). Moreover, 88.9% of respondents stated that the laughter helped to make exercise more accessible, and the same proportion also found that the program enhanced their motivation to participate in other exercise classes or activities. All participants stated that they felt better overall, and 92.6% found more joy in their lives as a result of the *LaughActive* program. Furthermore, 88.9% of respondents wanted to continue the program two times per week.

Several themes emerged from analysis of participants' responses to the open-ended questions. These responses included appreciation of the following aspects of the LaughActive intervention: interaction with peers; mood benefits; enjoyment/fun; laughter; the program as different; and appreciation of the instructor's equating the exercises with functional movements needed to perform ADLs. Respondents specifically referenced the laughter aspect of LaughActive, as well as their appreciation of the idea of integrating laughter into an exercise program. Examples of these statements include "I love to laugh and this gives me more of a chance to do that"; "I don't laugh enough. I appreciated the program"; "It's a great idea, combining laughter with the exercise"; and "Laughing is a good thing for the geriatric population. This needs to be offered at senior centers."

#### Discussion

In assessing the impact of a 6-week laughter-based PA program, we found statistically significant improvements in mental health, aerobic endurance, and outcome expectations for exercise in the intervention participants. Aim 1 was partially supported in that statistically significant within-group improvements were observed in mental health (MH) and aerobic endurance (2-minute step test). The 5-item MH domain measures the four major mental health dimensions of anxiety, depression, behavioral/emotional control, and psychological well-being. Higher scores indicate improved states of peace, happiness, calmness, and behavioral/emotional control (Ware et al., 2007). These significant improvements in mental health are supported by Satisfaction Questionnaire findings.

The improvements in aerobic endurance require further exploration because *LaughActive* could not be considered an endurance program in the traditional sense because the program did not incorporate activities that increase the heart rate and breathing for a continuous period of at least 10 minutes (Bauman et al., 2016). Instead the heart and breathing rate were increased through the 30- to 60-second

	Baseline	End point	<i>p</i> Value
Outcomes	M(SD)	M (SD)	
Subjective health $(n = 27)$			
SF-36v2			
PCS	46.76 (9.09)	47.05 (8.05)	.844
PF	42.72 (10.07)	42.58 (10.52)	.942
RP	47.67 (9.51)	48.75 (8.62)	.529
BP	52.51 (9.62)	53.15 (9.02)	.692
GH	53.36 (8.80)	54.27 (8.21)	.386
MCS	56.12 (8.32)	57.59 (6.86)	.262
VT	56.11 (9.95)	57.87 (10.46)	.332
SF	51.95 (9.00)	52.32 (8.45)	.864
RE	50.88 (8.15)	50.88 (7.25)	1.000
МН	54.35 (8.91)	56.68 (5.68)	.056*
Objective health			
SFT			
Chair stand $(n = 23)$	6.78 (3.04)	7.04 (3.03)	.756
Arm curl $(n = 27)$	10.40 (4.05)	9.92 (3.48)	.589
2-Minute step $(n = 25)$	55.66 (21.34)	64.33 (23.66)	.036**
Chair sit-and-reach <sup>a</sup> $(n = 26)$	-3.42 (3.61)	-4.26 (3.97)	.114
Back scratch <sup>a</sup> ( $n = 25$ )	-6.80 (5.41)	-6.51 (5.01)	.687
8-Foot up-and-go <sup>b</sup> ( $n = 25$ )	13.53 (6.48)	15.10 (7.38)	.026**
Self-efficacy $(n = 27)$			
OEE	4.09 (.60)	4.35 (2.34)	.006**
SEE	6.43 (2.34)	6.85 (2.12)	.404
PACES	20.18 (9.81)	17.44 (8.84)	.227

Table 2. Within-group Change of Outcomes From Baseline to End Point for LaughActive Participants

*Notes:* BP = Bodily Pain; GH = General Health; MCS = Mental Component Summary; MH = Mental Health; OEE = Outcome Expectations for Exercise Scale; PACES = Physical Activity Enjoyment Scale; PCS = Physical Component Summary; PF = Physical Functioning; RE = Role-Emotional; RP = Role-Physical; SEE = Self-Efficacy for Exercise Scale; SF = Social Functioning; SFT = Senior Fitness Test; VT = Vitality.

<sup>a</sup>Scores further from 0 in the negative direction indicate worse outcomes.

<sup>b</sup>Higher scores indicate worse outcomes

p < .10; p < .05 indicate significance of group difference from baseline (paired sample *t* test, two-tailed).

aerobic bursts throughout the session in the form of laughter exercises. Given that this was a multimodal strength, balance, and flexibility program that included laughter, it is difficult to differentiate which mode(s) of exercise contributed to the increase in aerobic endurance. As Bauman and colleagues (2016) state, "Notably, aerobic capacity improves after isolated resistance training in older adults, because strength and muscle mass contribute to aerobic capacity, and thus resistance training may subsequently result in increased ability to engage in endurance activities like walking" (p. S275).

The *LaughActive* program aimed to improve self-efficacy for PA by improving outcome expectations for exercise, increasing perceived facilitators and reducing perceived barriers to exercise, and enhancing exercise enjoyment. Aim 2 was partially supported in that statistically significant within-group improvements (p = .006) were observed in outcome expectations related to exercise (OEE). Outcome expectations play an important role in influencing older adults' exercise adoption and maintenance of exercise behaviors, and in fact may be better predictors of exercise behavior than beliefs regarding the ability to continue exercising despite perceived barriers (Resnick et al., 2008).

LaughActive was intended to serve as a program that would improve outcome expectations for exercise by both educating participants on the benefits of exercise and helping them to experience enjoyment through laughter. Throughout the sessions, the instructor narrated the health benefits of engaging in regular exercise (e.g., exercise strengthens muscles and bones), as well as the benefits of each exercise on functional performance (e.g., this exercise helps us to get in and out of a chair more efficiently). Given the statistically significant increase in MH domain scores and feedback on the Satisfaction Questionnaire, it is clear that participants experienced enhanced joyful affective states during this program, which in turn could have positively impacted outcome expectations (Jette et al., 1998; Resnick & Jenkins, 2000; Resnick et al., 2008).

Simulated laughter interventions have been shown to positively impact mental health outcomes in older adults (Ko & Youn, 2011, Shahidi et al., 2011). In our study, we observed statistically significant increases in mental health

Table 3.	Satisfaction	Questionnaire	Results for	LaughActive	Participants
----------	--------------	---------------	-------------	-------------	--------------

Description		<i>n</i> = 27
Outcome variables (4-point scale, where strongly agree = 4)	M (SD)	Agree or strongly agree (%)
I am satisfied with the LaughActive program	3.56 (.506)	100
As a result of the LaughActive program, I feel better overall	3.41 (.501)	100
As a result of the LaughActive program, I find more joy in my life	3.19 (.557)	92.6
The LaughActive program was appropriate for my physical fitness level	3.44 (.577)	96.2
I found the laughter aspect of the <i>LaughActive</i> program to be an enjoyable addition to a traditional exercise program	3.44 (.577)	96.2
The laughter aspect of the <i>LaughActive</i> program helped to make exercise more accessible for me	3.19 (.622)	88.9
The <i>LaughActive</i> program enhanced my interaction with my classmates during the exercise classes	3.30 (.724)	85.1
The <i>LaughActive</i> program enhanced my interactions with others outside of class	3.00 (.734)	81.5
The <i>LaughActive</i> program enhanced my motivation to participate in other exercise classes or activities	3.26 (.656)	88.9
I would like to continue participating in the LaughActive program	3.37 (.688)	88.8
I would like to continue participating in the <i>LaughActive</i> program <i>two</i> times per week	3.26 (.656)	88.9
I would like to continue participating in the <i>LaughActive</i> program <i>three</i> times per week	2.67 (.734)	51.8
I would recommend the LaughActive program to a friend	3.44 (.577)	96.2
Outcome variables (3-point scale, where <i>often</i> = 3)	M(SD)	Sometimes or often (%)
I felt comfortable approaching my instructor with questions or comments	2.67 (.555)	96.3
I liked the instructor's teaching approach	2.89 (.320)	100
I was satisfied with the way my instructor taught the classes	2.93 (.267)	100
I enjoyed being in class	2.93 (.267)	100
I felt that I was a valued and respected member of the class	2.85 (.362)	100

and outcome expectations for exercise that may have motivated continued participation. However, we did not see a significant impact on enjoyment, or a relationship between the number of classes attended and mental health (MH), outcome expectations (OEE), or enjoyment (PACES). Therefore, it is unclear in our study what role these outcomes play in exercise adherence. This unclear pathway warrants future research.

#### Limitations

Despite the study's strengths, there were several limitations. The findings of the study are limited by small sample size and selectivity. Although the sample of participants included in the final analyses (n = 27) met the requirements of power calculation (n = 21), it was relatively small, given the number of study outcomes. Future studies would likely benefit from a larger probability sample and a randomized rather than wait-listed control group. We used a convenience sample, which may be biased by overrepresentation or underrepresentation of particular groups of people. Although this sample was likely representative of the average ALF resident in terms of age, gender, race, and education, the sample was fairly homogenous, as the majority of the study

participants were Caucasian, women, and well educated. Furthermore, the ALF sites selected for this intervention all had established exercise programs with twice-daily exercise classes 6 days per week. Therefore, these findings cannot be generalized to a more heterogeneous sample of older adults, or to other ALFs without established exercise programs.

This intervention was designed to improve participant adherence to PA programming. However, we were not able to obtain data on participants' regular exercise class attendance other than baseline and follow-up self-report measures, nor could we control for exercise attendance outside of the LaughActive program. It is possible the results of the study could be partially attributed to attendance in other exercise programs, but it is not likely. Participants were residing in ALFs that provided exercise programming that met twice daily, 6 days per week. We substituted two morning classes with the LaughActive programming. We assume that the level of other exercise participation remained constant before, during, and after the intervention. This should be a conservative assessment of LaughActive programming impact because the majority of participants were already engaged in exercise programming at the onset of the intervention.

The lack of additional statistically significant findings in physical performance measures may be related to the instrument selected to measure efficacy of this intervention for this study population. Although the SFT is suitable for use with dependent older adults who need assistance with basic ADLs, the instrument was designed to assess the physical performance capacity of independent, communitydwelling adults (Rikli & Jones, 2013). The instrument uses continuous-scale scores, which can accommodate a wide range of physical ability levels. However, many of the fitness tests were too difficult for this study population to perform, resulting in the need for modifications in performance of the tests. The frequent use of modifications was problematic for scoring the SFT and, subsequently, measuring change over time.

Due to the exploratory nature of this study, the first author facilitated the *LaughActive* class sessions and collaborated in both data collection and analysis. The impact of this potential bias is mitigated, as a team that included the first author, second author, and six graduate research assistants collected measurements.

#### **Future Research**

PA experts contend that further well-designed research is needed to clarify varying levels of dose–response across diverse populations, medical conditions, and risk factors; establish minimum and maximum thresholds for activity; and measure varying intensities of PA (Hughes et al., 2011). Future laughter studies are needed to better outline underlying laughter mechanisms and processes and derive theoretical models for testing (Proyer et al., 2012). These substantial contributions would provide a framework for evaluating the dose–response relationships of laughter on outcomes.

#### Implications

It is well demonstrated that exercise is important for maintaining health and independence, yet many older adults are not sufficiently active to gain the associated health benefits, and inactivity remains a major public health concern. Programs are needed that promote optimal physical functioning and prevent or delay deficits that lead to increased disability and loss of functional independence, and in the case of ALF residents, costly and unwanted transfer to nursing homes (Giuliani et al., 2008). PA interventions that emphasize enjoyment through eliciting positive emotions among program participants have potential to motivate a largely sedentary older adult population to adopt and adhere to exercise behaviors that contribute to maintaining functional independence. Simulated laughter as part of a dedicated PA program may transform exercise into an enjoyable experience for older adults by helping them to laugh unconditionally, experience positive emotions, and associate these positive emotions with their experience of exercise participation. These joyful affective experiences may influence outcome expectations for PA and predict ongoing adherence.

Further well-designed research is needed to better understand the underlying mechanisms of laughter and substantiate the dose–response relationship of laughter and its associated health benefits. This research is one of few studies to evaluate the potential of simulated laughter in improving health outcomes among older adults, and the first evaluation of a dedicated PA program that incorporated simulated laughter. This pilot study demonstrated promising results and may spark more research to evaluate the potential of simulated laughter in conjunction with PA as a viable technique for enhancing the health and adherence outcomes of PA programs.

#### Acknowledgments

Many thanks to the assisted living facility staff, study participants, and research assistants who dedicated their time and energy to this evaluation. The authors report no conflict of interest and declare no financial interest.

#### References

- American College of Sports Medicine. (2014). ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription (9th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health.
- Arnardóttir, R. H., Boman, G., Larsson, K., Hedenström, H., & Emtner, M. (2007). Interval training compared with continuous training in patients with COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, 101, 1196–1204. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2006.11.004
- Balady, G. J., Chaitman, B., Driscoll, D., Foster, C., Froelicher, E., Gordon, N., ... Bazzarre, T. (1998). Recommendations for cardiovascular screening, staffing, and emergency policies at health/ fitness facilities. *Circulation*, 97, 2283–2293. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.97.22.2283
- Bauman, A., Merom, D., Bull, F. C., Buchner, D. M., & Singh, M. A. F. (2016). Updating the evidence for physical activity: Summative reviews of the epidemiological evidence, prevalence, and interventions to promote "active aging". *The Gerontologist*, 56(Suppl. 2), S268–S280. doi:10.1093/geront/ gnw031
- Beauchamp, M. K., Nonoyama, M., Goldstein, R. S., Hill, K., Dolmage, T. E., Mathur, S., & Brooks, D. (2010). Interval versus continuous training in individuals with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease–A systematic review. *Thorax*, 65, 157–164. doi:10.1136/thx.2009.123000
- Brawley, L. R., Rejeski, W. J., & King, A. C. (2003). Promoting physical activity for older adults: The challenges for changing behavior. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 25(Suppl. 2), 172–183. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(03)00182-X
- Buchowski, M. S., Majchrzak, K. M., Blomquist, K., Chen, K. Y., Byrne, D. W., & Bachorowski, J. A. (2007). Energy expenditure of genuine laughter. *International Journal of Obesity*, **31**, 131– 137. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803353
- Earnest, C. P., Blair, S. N., & Church, T. S. (2010). Age attenuated response to aerobic conditioning in postmenopausal
women. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 110, 75-82. doi:10.1007/s00421-010-1472-0

- Fry, W. F., Jr. (1986). Humor, physiology, and the aging process. In L. Nahemow, K. A. McCluskey-Fawcettt, & P. E. McGhee (Eds.), *Humor and aging* (pp. 81–98). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Fry, W. F., Jr. (1992). The physiologic effects of humor, mirth, and laughter. Journal of the American Medical Association, 267, 1857–1858. doi:10.1001/jama.267.13.1857
- Fry, W. F., Jr. (1994). The biology of humor. HUMOR: International Journal of Humor Research, 7, 111–126. doi:10.1515/ humr.1994.7.2.111
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I.- M., ... Swain, D. P. (2011). Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: Guidance for prescribing exercise. *Medicine* & Science in Sports & Exercise, 43, 1334–1359. doi:10.1249/ MSS.0b013e318213fefb
- Giuliani, C. A., Gruber-Baldini, A. L., Park, N. S., Schrodt, L. A., Rokoske, F., Sloane, P. D., & Zimmerman, S. (2008). Physical performance characteristics of assisted living residents and risk for adverse health outcomes. *The Gerontologist*, 48, 203–212. doi:10.1093/geront/48.2.203
- Guimarães, G. V., Ciolac, E. G., Carvalho, V. O., D'Avila, V. M., Bortolotto, L. A., & Bocchi, E. A. (2010). Effects of continuous vs. interval exercise training on blood pressure and arterial stiffness in treated hypertension. *Hypertension Research*, 33, 627–632. doi:10.1038/hr.2010.42
- Hirosaki, M., Ohira, T., Kajiura, M., Kiyama, M., Kitamura, A., Sato, S., & Iso, H. (2013). Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: Randomized controlled trial. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 13, 152–160. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00877.x
- Hughes, S. L., Leith, K. H., Marquez, D. X., Moni, G., Nguyen, H. Q., Desai, P., & Jones, D. L. (2011). Physical activity and older adults: Expert consensus for a new research agenda. *The Gerontologist*, 51, 822–832. doi:10.1093/geront/gnr106
- IBM Corp. (2012). *IBM SPSS statistics for Windows, Version 21.0.* Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Jette, A. M., Rooks, D., Lachman, M., Lin, T. H., Levenson, C., Heislein, D., ... Harris, B. A. (1998). Home-based resistance training: Predictors of participation and adherence. *The Gerontologist*, 38, 412–421. doi:10.1093/geront/38.4.412
- Kataria, M. (2011). *Laugh for no reason* (4th ed.). Mumbai, India: Madhuri International.
- Ko, H. J., & Youn, C. H. (2011). Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 11, 267–274. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010.00680.x
- Metcalfe, R. S., Babraj, J. A., Fawkner, S. G., & Vollaard, N. B. (2012). Towards the minimal amount of exercise for improving metabolic health: Beneficial effects of reduced-exertion high-intensity interval training. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **112**, 2767–2775. doi:10.1007/s00421-011-2254-z
- Mora-Ripoll, R. (2011). Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: A narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 19, 170–177. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2011.05.003

- Mullen, S. P., Olson, E. A., Phillips, S. M., Szabo, A. N., Wójcicki, T. R., Mailey, E. L.,...McAuley, E. (2011). Measuring enjoyment of physical activity in older adults: Invariance of the physical activity enjoyment scale (paces) across groups and time. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8, 103. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-103
- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C.,...Castaneda-Sceppa, C. (2007). Physical activity and public health in older adults: Recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, **116**, 1094–1105. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185650
- Phillips, L. J., & Flesner, M. (2013). Perspectives and experiences related to physical activity of elders in long-term-care settings. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 21, 33–50. Retrieved from http://journals.humankinetics.com/japa
- Proyer, R. T., Ruch, W., & Rodden, F. A. (2012). Letter on Shahidi et al. (2011): "Laughter Yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: A randomized controlled trial" I—First things first! Caveats in research on "laughter yoga". International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 27, 873–874. doi:10.1002/gps.2793
- Resnick, B., & Jenkins, L. S. (2000). Testing the reliability and validity of the self-efficacy for exercise scale. *Nursing Research*, 49, 154–159. doi:10.1097/00006199-200005000-00007
- Resnick, B., Luisi, D., & Vogel, A. (2008). Testing the Senior Exercise Self-efficacy Project (SESEP) for use with urban dwelling minority older adults. *Public Health Nursing*, 25, 221–234. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2008.00699.x
- Resnick, B., Zimmerman, S. I., Orwig, D., Furstenberg, A. L., & Magaziner, J. (2000). Outcome expectations for exercise scale: Utility and psychometrics. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 55, S352–S356. doi:10.1093/geronb/55.6.S352
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Development and validation of a functional fitness test for community-residing older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 7, 129–161. Retrieved from http://journals.humankinetics.com/japa
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (2013). *Senior fitness test manual* (2nd ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Rognmo, Ø., Hetland, E., Helgerud, J., Hoff, J., & Slørdahl, S. A. (2004). High intensity aerobic interval exercise is superior to moderate intensity exercise for increasing aerobic capacity in patients with coronary artery disease. *European Journal* of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, 11, 216–222. doi:10.1097/01.hjr.0000131677.96762.0c
- Shahidi, M., Mojtahed, A., Modabbernia, A., Mojtahed, M., Shafiabady, A., Delavar, A., & Honari, H. (2011). Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26, 322–327. doi:10.1002/gps.2545
- Takeda, M., Hashimoto, R., Kudo, T., Okochi, M., Tagami, S., Morihara, T.,...Tanaka, T. (2010). Laughter and humor as complementary and alternative medicines for dementia patients. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, **10**, 28. doi:10.1186/1472-6882-10-28
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2008). 2008 physical activity guidelines for Americans: Be active, healthy, and happy! (ODPHP Publication No. U0036). Washington, DC:

Government Printing Office. Retrieved from http://health.gov/ paguidelines

- Vogel, T., Brechat, P. H., Leprêtre, P. M., Kaltenbach, G., Berthel, M., & Lonsdorfer, J. (2009). Health benefits of physical activity in older patients: A review. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 63, 303–320. doi:10.1111/j.1742-1241.2008.01957.x
- Warburton, D. E., McKenzie, D. C., Haykowsky, M. J., Taylor, A., Shoemaker, P., Ignaszewski, A. P., & Chan, S. Y. (2005). Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training for the rehabilitation of patients with coronary artery disease. *The*

American Journal of Cardiology, 95, 1080–1084. doi:10.1016/j. amjcard.2004.12.063

- Ware, J. E., Jr., Kosinski, M., Bjorner, J. B., Turner-Bowker, D. M., Gandek, B., & Maruish, M. E. (2007). User's manual for the SF-36v2<sup>TM</sup> Health Survey (2nd ed.). Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric Incorporated.
- Wisløff, U., Støylen, A., Loennechen, J. P., Bruvold, M., Rognmo, Ø., Haram, P. M.,...Skjaerpe, T. (2007). Superior cardiovascular effect of aerobic interval training versus moderate continuous training in heart failure patients: A randomized study. *Circulation*, 115, 3086–3094. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.675041

# German Research



## Journal of Motor Behavior



ISSN: 0022-2895 (Print) 1940-1027 (Online) Journal homepage: http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/vjmb20

# Laughing: A Demanding Exercise for Trunk Muscles

#### Heiko Wagner, Ulrich Rehmes, Daniel Kohle & Christian Puta

To cite this article: Heiko Wagner, Ulrich Rehmes, Daniel Kohle & Christian Puta (2014) Laughing: A Demanding Exercise for Trunk Muscles, Journal of Motor Behavior, 46:1, 33-37, DOI: 10.1080/00222895.2013.844091

To link to this article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00222895.2013.844091



Published online: 18 Nov 2013.

		-	-		
r				1	٩,
н			1		۶
		1	3		
ι			v	ч	
	-	-	-	-	

Submit your article to this journal 🗹

Article views: 351



🚺 View related articles 🗹



View Crossmark data 🗹

## **RAPID COMMUNICATION** Laughing: A Demanding Exercise for Trunk Muscles

Heiko Wagner<sup>1,2</sup>, Ulrich Rehmes<sup>1</sup>, Daniel Kohle<sup>1</sup>, Christian Puta<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Motion Science, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Germany. <sup>2</sup>Center for Interdisciplinary Prevention of Diseases Related to Professional Activities, Friedrich Schiller Universität Jena, Germany. <sup>3</sup>Department of Sports Medicine and Health Promotion, Friedrich Schiller Universität Jena, Germany.

ABSTRACT. Social, psychological, and physiological studies have provided evidence indicating that laughter imposes an increased demand on trunk muscles. It was the aim of this study to quantify the activation of trunk muscles during laughter yoga in comparison with crunch and back lifting exercises regarding the mean trunk muscle activity. Muscular activity during laughter yoga exercises was measured by surface electromyography of 5 trunk muscles. The activation level of internal oblique muscle during laughter yoga is higher compared to the traditional exercises. The multifidus, erector spinae, and rectus abdominis muscles were nearly half activated during laughter yoga, while the activation of the external oblique muscle was comparable with the crunch and back lifting exercises. Our results indicate that laughter yoga has a positive effect on trunk muscle activation. Thus, laughter seems to be a good activator of trunk muscles, but further research is required whether laughter voga is a good exercise to improve neuromuscular recruitment patterns for spine stability.

Keywords: laughing, motor control, EMG, Exercise, muscles, trunk

Laughing is one of the basic capacities that sets humans apart from most animals (Askenasy, 1987). Laughter has been investigated concerning social, psychological as well as physiological aspects (e.g., the positive effects on the hormonal, pulmonary, and cardiovascular systems; Askenasy, 1987; Bennett & Lengacher, 2008; Filippelli et al., 2001; Miller & Fry, 2009) and the muscular activity of facial and laryngeal muscles (Bloch, Lemeignan, & Aguilera, 1991; Hoit, Plassman, Lansing, & Hixon, 1988; Luschei, Ramig, Finnegan, Baker, & Smith, 2006). To our knowledge, there are no studies that investigated the trunk muscle activations during laughter.

Given that the local and global trunk muscles have a stabilizing effect on the spine (Bergmark, 1989; El-Rich, Shirazi-Adl, & Arjmand, 2004; Gardner-Morse & Stokes, 1998; Granata & Wilson, 2001; Grenier & McGill, 2007; Kavcic, Grenier, & McGill, 2004a; Liebetrau, Puta, Anders, de Lussanet, & Wagner, 2013; McGill, Grenier, Kavcic, & Cholewicki, 2003; Panjabi, 1992a; 1992b; Richardson, Jull, Hodges, & Hides, 1999; Wagner et al., 2005; Wagner, Liebetrau, Schinowski, Wulf, & de Lussanet, 2012), we expect that laughing may be beneficial to stimulate trunk muscles during physiotherapy and rehabilitation especially in cases where traditional exercises can not be applied (e.g., due to physical handicaps).

For a scientific investigation of laughter, a standardized exercise was necessary where laughing can be stimulated reliably. Based on the scientific research in gelotology (the science of laughter), laughter yoga was invented as a method to attain an authentic laughing through artificial laughing exercises, under the aphorism "Fake it until you make it!" The aim of this study was to quantify the activation of trunk muscles during laughter yoga in comparison to crunch and back lifting exercises regarding the mean levels of trunk muscle activity.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

Seven male and seven female students participated in this study, with an average age of  $24.9 \pm 1.3$  years and an average body mass index of  $21.5 \pm 2.5$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Average weight and body height was  $66 \pm 12.19$  kg and  $174.3 \pm 7.4$  cm, respectively. Prior to the study, all participants gave written informed consent.

#### Laughter Yoga

Because laughter yoga should be performed in groups, additional subjects attended the sessions, when the subjects were recorded. During the laughter yoga recording session, several different standardized laughter exercises were performed. For statistical analysis, the climax laughter exercises were chosen because here laughing increases gradually from lowest to strongest level. All attendees stood in a circle and after a deep intake of breath everybody started to laugh. This exercise was divided into five levels, growing from one to five, while level five was selected for statistical analysis. Laughing yoga was compared with five traditional trunk stabilization exercises (i.e., forearm bridge, side bridge, backlifting, abdominal curl, back-lifting, and abdominal crunch).

#### **Crunch and Back-Lifting Exercises**

To evaluate muscular activation, traditional low back stabilization exercises were used as references, which have become a standard therapy in rehabilitation and prophylactic care (Kavcic et al., 2004a, 2004b; Stevans & Hall, 1998). For statistical analysis, the symmetric abdominal crunch and the back-lifting exercise were chosen as references for the abdominal and back muscles because they showed the highest muscular activations of the five traditional exercises.

Correspondence address: Heiko Wagner, Motion Science, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Horstmarer Landweg 62b, D-48149 Münster, Germany. e-mail: heiko.wagner@unimuenster.de

#### **Experimental Setup**

During the experiment one or two subjects performed stabilization exercises and laughter yoga successively, while the sequence was randomized. The five stabilization exercises were performed in the same order, three times for 10 s each, with a break of 10 s between each exercise.

#### Surface Electromyography

The muscular activation during laughter yoga and the traditional exercises was measured by surface electromyography (SEMG; Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany; 5–700 Hz, AD conversion rate 2000 Hz, gain 2500; Superlogics, Natick, MA, PCM12 Card: 12-bit, 16 channels) from three abdominal muscles (cf. Table 1; rectus abdominis [RA], obliquus internus abdominis [OI], obliquus externus abdominis [OE]) and two back muscles (cf. Table 1; erector spinae pars longissimus [ES], multifidus pars lumbalis superficial [MF]).

Intervals of 10 s for each stabilization and laughter exercise and each muscle were analyzed and displayed by MATLAB (The Mathworks, Natick, MA). The raw surface electromyography data were centered by subtracting the mean over each trial followed by rectification and smoothing using a moving average filter with a window size of 100 ms. For statistical analysis, the average activations for each muscle and exercise interval were calculated.

#### **Data Evaluation**

According to our aim, we tested for significant differences for the level of muscle activation between laughter yoga and classical exercises. Using the average rectified filtered SEMG levels, repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were calculated. The ANOVAs for trunk muscles were performed separately for the abdominal and back muscles. For the abdominal muscles, we used the within-subject factors exercise (abdominal crunch, climax laughter yoga level 5) and muscle (RA, OI, OE). For the back muscles, a similar ANOVA with the within-subjects factor exercise (back-lifting, climax laughter level 5) and muscle (ES, MF) were used. Results were corrected for violations of sphericity using the Greenhouse-Geisser approach for  $\varepsilon$ -correction of degrees of freedom. Post hoc analyses were performed using Duncan's post hoc test (abdominal muscles) and multiple *t* tests corrected for multiple comparisons (paraspinal muscles).

#### Results

#### **Abdominal Muscles**

Figure 1 shows the average rectified filtered SEMG levels. The ANOVA did not reveal a significant main effect of the factor Exercise, F(1, 13) = 0.48, p = .5. The main effect of factor muscles was significant, F(2, 26) = 4.83, p = .021,  $\varepsilon = .9$ . The main effect of the factor muscle resulted from the significant higher activation for the OI in comparison to the RA (Duncan post hoc test: p = .006). Furthermore, there was a significant interaction between exercise and muscle,  $F(2, 26) = 5.6, p = .025, \varepsilon = .6$  (Figure 1A). Duncan's post hoc test revealed that the intensity of the RA during laughter yoga was lower than during abdominal crunch (p = .03), but still reached 45%. There were no significant differences between the abdominal crunch and the intensive laughter yoga exercise for the activation of OE (p = .5). Remarkably, the mean activation of OI during intense laughter yoga exceeded the activation during abdominal crunch by more than 150%. This latter finding was marginally significant (p = .05).

#### **Paraspinal Muscles**

The ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of the factor exercise, F(1, 13) = 40.5, p < .0001. For the paraspinal muscles (MF and ES) the activation during laughter yoga reached 48% compared with the back-lifting exercise for both back muscles separately. There was no main effect of the factor muscle, F(1, 13) = 0.99, p = .3, and no significant interaction between exercise and muscle, F(1, 13) = 0.01, p = .9. However, when ES and MF SEMG was analyzed separately,

Muscle	Electrode position and orientation
M. rectus abdominis (upper part, RA)	4 cm lateral navel, caudal electrode at navel level, vertical
M. obliquus internus abdominis (OI)	1 cm medial to inguinal ligament, along horizontal line between both anterior superior iliac spines
M. obliquus externus abdominis (OE)	Cranial electrode directly below most inferior point of costal margin, on line to opposite pubic tubercle
M. multifidus (lumbalis, MF)	Caudal electrode at L <sub>4</sub> level, 1 cm medial from line between posterior superior iliac spino and 1st lumbar palpable spinous process, parallel to line
M. erector spinae (longissimus, ES)	Approx. 3 cm lateral midline over palpable bulge of muscle, lower electrode at $L_1$ level, vertical

#### TABLE 1. Electrode Placement for Surface Electromyography



**FIGURE 1.** Average rectified filtered SEMG levels of abdominal (**A**) and paraspinal muscles (**B**) during a traditional stabilization exercise (crunch and back lifting) and climax laughter yoga (level 5). Vertical bars show 95% confidence intervals. Significant differences are marked:  $p \le .05$ ; \*\*\*p < .001. RA = m. rectus abdominis; OE = m. obliquus externus abdominis; OI = m. obliquus internus abdominis; ES = m. erector spinae; MF = m. multifidus pars lumbalis superficialis.

SEMG levels for the back lifting exercise were greater than laughter yoga (*t* tests corrected for multiple comparisons; significance level was set on p = .0125: MF, p < .0001; ES, p < .0001; see Figure 1B).

#### Discussion

The aim of this study was to quantify the trunk muscle activation during laughter yoga in comparison to the levels of activity reached by conventional training exercises (crunch and back lifting) regarding the mean levels of trunk muscle activity. Our results show that the overall mean activity of the measured trunk muscles during the highest intensity of laughter yoga was comparable to that during traditional exercises. Remarkably, the mean activation of OI during intense laughter yoga exceeded the activation during abdominal crunch by more than 150%.

As stated in the introduction, laughter has many positive physiological and psychological side effects and is generally

#### Laughing: A Demanding Exercise for Trunk Muscles

a pleasant activity, so it may have potential as a trunk muscle exercise (Cholewicki and vanVliet, 2002). However, laughter yoga is a very different kind of exercise than the traditional abdominal crunch and back-lifting movements. For example, the higher activity of the OI during laughter yoga compared to stability exercises may be an indication of the specific breathing-related aspect during laughter yoga. Another striking difference is the nature of muscular control. Whereas the traditional exercises are controlled in a cognitive manner, the laughter yoga exercises enable a high degree of internal, selforganized muscular control. However, it may be expected that the stronger emphasis of self-organization may be advantageous if the goal is to focus on neuromuscular contributions to spinal stability (Liebetrau, et al., 2012; van Dieën, Selen, & Cholewicki, 2003; van Dieën, Cholewicki, & Radebold; 2003). The presence or absence of muscular coactivation has influence on spinal stability (Reeves & Cholewicki, 2003; Zeinali-Davarani, Hemami, Barin, Shirazi-Adl, & Parnianpour, 2008).

Laughter yoga seems to be associated with the presence of the co-activation for abdominal and back muscles (Figure 2). This is exemplified by a detailed look at an exemplary 10-s interval during one of the tests. The recorded SEMG traces indicate that a qualitative difference may exist between the activation characteristics. Typically SEMG activation characteristic was a slow change in the activation during the abdominal crunch and the back lifting, whereas the laughter yoga exercises were typically modulated at higher frequencies showing an irregular, phasic pattern (Figure 2). Whereas the traditional physical exercises evoke highly regular and stereotypical muscular activities the patterns recorded during the laughter yoga are rhythmic at higher frequencies and much less stereotypical. Given this difference in activation characteristics and given the different relative mean activation between the performed exercises it will be interesting to test whether the laughter yoga training might have lasting influences on motor control, such as spinal stability. However, in the sense of the movement characteristics, the exercises used in the present study are not optimally comparable, because of the differences in rhythmic characteristics. Instead, if interested in investigating the frequency characteristics, other exercises may be better suited for comparisons to laughter yoga exercises, such as the cyclic upper body movements caused by an oscillating might pole (Anders, Wenzel, & Scholle, 2008; Moreside, Vera-Garcia, & McGill, 2007).

The potential therapeutic value (Granacher, Gollhofer, Hortobágyi, Kressig, & Muehlbauer, 2013; Navalgund, Buford, Briggs, & Givens, 2013) must be investigated in more detail. In this respect the present study is to be regarded as a preliminary result. We expect that further research have promising potential, given the very different activation patterns that occur during the laughter yoga and traditional exercises.

Our results indicate that a positive effect of laughter yoga may exist for quantitative and qualitative trunk muscle



muscle activation characteristics.

activation besides the many positive social, psychological and hormonal effects that have been reported in the literature. Laughter yoga seems to be a good activator of muscles, but not necessarily a good exercise for neuro-musculo-skeletal problems in spine, spine stability, or for improving neuromuscular recruitment patterns. This requires further research.

The specific and typical activation of trunk muscles that we found during laughter evoked by laughter yoga might enable young and old people irrespective of their liking of physical and sports exercises to engender in regular trunk muscle activity.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Marc de Lussanet, Arne Wulf, and Thomas Wulf for critical discussions and reading of the manuscript; and V. Spogis for performing the laughter yoga sessions.

#### FUNDING

Drs. Wagner and Puta were supported by grants of the German Federal Ministry of 250 Education and Research BMBF [01EC1003A, B].

#### REFERENCES

- Anders, C., Wenzel, B., & Scholle, H. C. (2008). Activation characteristics of trunk muscles during cyclic upper-body perturbations caused by an oscillating pole. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 89, 1314–22.
- Askenasy, J. J. (1987). The functions and dysfunctions of laughter. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *114*, 317–334.
- Bennett, M. P., & Lengacher, C. (2008). Humor and laughter may influence health: III. Laughter and health outcomes. *eCAM*, 5, 37–40.
- Bergmark, A. (1989). Stability of the lumbar spine. A study in mechanical engineering. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 230, 1–54.
- Bloch, S., Lemeignan, M., & Aguilera, N. (1991). Specific respiratory patterns distinguish among human basic emotions. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 11, 141–154.
- Cholewicki, J., & vanVliet, J. J. (2002). Relative contribution of trunk muscles to the stability of the lumbar spine during isometric exertions. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 17, 99–105.
- El-Rich, M., Shirazi-Adl, A., & Arjmand, N. (2004). Muscle activity, internal loads, and stability of the human spine in standing postures: Combined model and in vivo studies. *Spine*, 29, 2633–2642.
- Filippelli, M., Pellegrino, R., Iandelli, I., Misuri, G., Rodarte, J. R., Duranti, R., ... Scano, G. (2001). Respiratory dynamics during laughter. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 90, 1441–1446.
- Gardner-Morse, M. G., & Stokes, I. A. (1998). The effects of abdominal muscle coactivation on lumbar spine stability. *Spine*, 23, 86–91.
- Granacher, U., Gollhofer, A., Hortobágyi, T., Kressig, R. W., & Muehlbauer, T. (2013). The importance of trunk muscle strength for balance, functional performance, and fall prevention in seniors: A systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 43, 627–641.
- Granata, K. P., & Wilson, S. E. (2001). Trunk posture and spinal stability. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 16, 650–659.
- Grenier, S. G., & McGill, S. M. (2007). Quantification of lumbar stability by using 2 different abdominal activation strategies. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 88, 54–62.
- Hermens, H. J., Freriks, B., Merletti, R., Stegeman, D. F., Blok, J., Rau, G., & Disselhorst-Klug, C. (1999). European recommendations for surface electromyography, results of the SENIAM project. Roessingh, the Netherlands: Roessingh Research and Development b.v.
- Hoit, J. D., Plassman, B. L., Lansing, R. W., & Hixon, T. J. (1988). Abdominal muscle activity during speech production. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 65, 2656–2664.
- Kavcic, N., Grenier, S., & McGill, S. M. (2004a). Determining the stabilizing role of individual torso muscles during rehabilitation exercises. *Spine*, 29, 1254–1265.
- Kavcic, N., Grenier, S., & McGill, S. M. (2004b). Quantifying tissue loads and spine stability while performing commonly prescribed low back stabilization exercises. *Spine*, 29, 2319–2329.
- Liebetrau, A., Puta, C., Anders, C., de Lussanet, M. H. E., & Wagner, H. (2013). Influence of delayed muscle reflexes on spinal stability. *Human Movement Science*. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2013.03.006
- Liebetrau, A., Puta, C., Schinowski, D., Wulf, T., & Wagner, H. (2012). Is there a correlation between back pain and stability

of the lumbar spine in pregnancy? A model-based hypothesis. *Schmerz*, *26*, 36–45.

- Luschei, E. S., Ramig, L. O., Finnegan, E. M., Baker, K. K., & Smith, M. E. (2006). Patterns of laryngeal electromyography and the activity of the respiratory system during spontaneous laughter. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 96, 442–450.
- McGill, S. M., Grenier, S., Kavcic, N., & Cholewicki, J. (2003). Coordination of muscle activity to assure stability of the lumbar spine. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 13, 353–359.
- Miller, M., & Fry, W. F. (2009). The effect of mirthful laughter on the human cardiovascular system. *Medical Hypotheses*, 73, 636–639.
- Moreside, J. M., Vera-Garcia, F. J., & McGill, S. M. (2007). Trunk muscle activation patterns, lumbar compressive forces, and spine stability when using the bodyblade. *Physical Therapy*, 87, 153–163.
- Navalgund, A., Buford, J. A., Briggs, M. S., & Givens, D. L. (2013). Trunk muscle Reflex amplitudes increased in patients with subacute, recurrent LBP treated with a 10-week stabilization exercise program. *Motor Control*, 17, 1–17.
- Ng, J. K., Kippers, V., & Richardson, C. A. (1998). Muscle fibre orientation of abdominal muscles and suggested surface EMG electrode positions. *Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysi*ology, 38, 51–581.
- Panjabi, M. M. (1992a). The stabilizing system of the spine. Part I. Function, dysfunction, adaptation, and enhancement. *Journal of Spinal Disorders*, 5, 383–9.
- Panjabi, M. M. (1992b). The stabilizing system of the spine. Part II. Neutral zone and instability hypothesis. *Journal of Spinal Disorders*, 5, 390–396.
- Reeves, N. P., & Cholewicki, J. (2003). Modeling the human lumbar spine for assessing spinal loads, stability, and risk of injury. *Critical Reviews in Biomedical Engineering*, 31, 73– 139.
- Richardson, C. A., Jull, G. A., Hodges, P. W., & Hides, J. A. (1999). Therapeutic exercise for spinal segmental stabilization in low back pain: Scientific basis and clinical approach. London, England: Churchill Livingstone.
- Stevans, J., & Hall, K. G. (1998). Motor skill acquisition strategies for rehabilitation of low back pain. *Journal of Orthopedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 28, 165–167.
- Van Dieën, J. H., Selen, L. P., & Cholewicki, J. (2003). Trunk muscle activation in low-back pain patients, an analysis of the literature. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 13, 333–351.
- Van Dieën, J. H., Cholewicki, J., & Radebold, A. (2003). Trunk muscle recruitment patterns in patients with low back pain enhance the stability of the lumbar spine. *Spine*, 28, 834–841.
- Wagner, H., Anders, C., Puta, C., Petrovitch, A., Morl, F., Schilling, N., ... Blickhan, R. (2005). Musculoskeletal support of lumbar spine stability. *Pathophysiology*, *12*, 257–265.
- Wagner, H., Liebetrau, A., Schinowski, D., Wulf, T., & de Lussanet, M. H. E. (2012). Spinal lordosis optimizes the requirements for a stable erect posture. *Theoretical Biology and Medical Modeling*, 9, 13.
- Zeinali-Davarani, S., Hemami, H., Barin, K., Shirazi-Adl, A., & Parnianpour, M. (2008). Dynamic stability of spine using stabilitybased optimization and muscle spindle reflex. *IEEE Transactions*, *Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, *16*, 106–118.

Received November 10, 2012 Revised May 27, 2013 Accepted September 8, 2013

European Journal of Humour Research 1(4) 25-34 www.europeanjournalofhumour.org

## **Austrialian Study**

# The impact of laughter yoga on subjective well-being: A pilot study

### Melissa K. Weinberg, PhD Thomas G. Hammond, Robert A. Cummins School of Psychology, Faculty of Health, Deakin University, Australia

Abstract

Laughter has been associated with a number of physiological and psychological benefits. Laughter yoga (LY) is a contemporary technique that encourages participants to mimic the act of laughing, with the goal of achieving positive psychological outcomes. This paper describes an exploratory pilot study to evaluate the effect of a single LY class on the psychological well-being of people who attended such sessions voluntarily. Forty-four participants (72.7% female, Mean age = 58.86, SD = 14.12) were recruited from LY clubs around Melbourne, Australia, and completed measures of well-being were taken before and after the LY class. Following the LY session, significant improvements in positive emotions and reductions in the severity of symptoms of anxiety and stress were reported. Importantly, the change in well-being was greatest for participants who were experiencing lower wellbeing prior to the class. These findings suggest that LY shows promise as an effective intervention to temporarily increase well-being.

Keywords: subjective well-being; laughter yoga; mood.

#### 1. Introduction

Laughter, in its basic form, is a psychophysiological response to a stimulus that leads to the production of muscle contractions, facial expressions, and other neurophysiological processes (Bennett & Lengacher 2008; Mora-Ripoll 2010; Mora-Ripoll & Garcia-Rodera 2008). In her review of the benefits of laughter, Mora-Ripoll (2010) concluded that the physiological benefits include improved respiration, general muscle relaxation, and enhanced mental functioning. The physiological changes were accompanied by psychological benefits, including increased positive mood and decreased stress.

Typically, laughter has been investigated in terms of its ability to reduce negative emotions like anxiety, stress and depression (Houston, McKee, Carroll & Marsh 1998; Mora-Ripoll 2010; Papousek & Schulter 2008; Shahidi et al. 2011). This property was used to propose a stress-buffering hypothesis by Kuiper & Martin (1998), following their revelation that individuals who reported more frequent laughter experienced less negative affect during stress. In confirmation, Ko & Youn (2011) reported that laughter therapy reduced depressive symptoms and increased sleep quality in a group of elderly people with high rates of depressive vulnerability.

In addition to reducing negative emotions, unsurprisingly, laughing also increases positive emotions (Mannell & McMahon 1982) more than simply smiling (Neuhoff & Schaefer 2002). In his review of the functions of laughter, Askenasy (1987) noted that, while laughing, a person feels free from their cares and worries and experiences prevailing joy. For people who experience more frequent bad moods, laughing may be a good technique to alleviate their negative emotions and restore their well-being to a 'happier' state. Although people in bad moods may not feel as if they have reason to laugh, there is emerging evidence that the laughter does not have to be genuine to elicit positive effects.

In one study, Neuhoff & Schaefer (2002) instructed participants to either laugh, smile, or howl for one minute, and measured their mood before and after each intervention. Their findings revealed that forced laughter enhanced mood more than either forced smiling or howling. In a subsequent study, Papousek & Schulter (2008) used the principles of conditioning to promote Cheerfulness training. Through this intervention, annoying or unpleasant experiences were paired with induced cheerful mood to reduce the adverse effects and encourage re-association with positivity. This study was unique as it provided a therapeutic behavioural framework by which to explain how the induction of positive emotions is effective.

Most recently, Ko & Youn (2011) conducted a laughter therapy programme with community-dwelling elderly people in South Korea. The initial laughter therapy session followed a sequence of relaxation, laughing, clapping, and laughter meditation, and subsequent sessions included dancing and singing to encourage laughter, as well as other laughter exercises. Mean depression scores were reduced for the laughter therapy group following the intervention, whereas no change was evident for the control group. Though the change in depression scores for the laughter therapy group achieved statistical significance, the reduction was just a single point on a 15-point scale. It should also be noted that the depression scores of both groups were elevated at baseline and so the effect of laughter therapy may only apply to those already experiencing low mood levels. Together, these findings provide evidence that forced laughter may be effective at improving positive mood, particularly for those who may be experiencing a reduction in such mood initially.

Laughter yoga (LY) is a specific type of laughter therapy that was developed in India in 1999 by Dr Madan Kataria, and is predicated upon the proposition that simulated laughter can elicit the same physiological and psychological benefits as authentic laughter. Thus, similar to the laughter therapy used in Ko & Youn's (2011) study, people who cannot achieve genuine laughter may benefit by mimicing the overt behaviour of laughter.

In confirmation of this proposition, the few available studies show LY to be promising as a form of therapy. A 2011 study revealed that elderly depressed women who engaged in LY reported increased life satisfaction compared to exercise therapy and control groups, though they failed to show a significant reduction in depressive symptoms (Shahidi et al. 2011). In other recent studies, patients awaiting organ transplants reported increased feelings of activation and cheerfulness following an LY intervention compared to a control group (Dolgoff-Kaspar et al. 2012), while a South African study of stroke survivours reported increased positive emotions following LY (Suraj-Narayan & Surajnarayan 2011). Similar findings have been reported in an organisational context. Employees who completed 15 sessions of laughter yoga reported significant improvements in perceived self-efficacy in the workplace, and experienced sustained positive emotions at a 90-day follow-up (Beckman, Regier & Young 2007).

While these results provide evidence to support the use of laughter yoga as a psychological intervention, they have focused largely on clinical samples and have generally neglected to provide a theoretical framework by which to understand how LY can be an effective agent of change. Further, with the increased adoption of LY in mainstream society, no study has as yet explored the effects of LY for people who attend LY clubs at their own general interest and leisure. The present study seeks to explore the effects of LY in a non-clinical, self-selected sample, and provide a theoretical foundation to explain how LY affects well-being. With this understanding, the benefits of LY for well-being may inform future, larger-scale studies.

The homeostasis theory of subjective well-being (Cummins 2010) offers a sound framework within which to explore the effects of laughter yoga on both positive and negative emotions. Subjective well-being (SWB) refers to an individual's perception of the quality of their life, and is primarily driven by an underlying positive and stable, trait-like mood (Cummins 2010). Accordingly, the capacity of laughter yoga to affect subjective well-being is best understood as being a by-product of its influence on positive mood.

Specifically, homeostasis theory holds that SWB is generally held stable and maintained by bio-psychological mechanisms, analogous to the way that body temperature is managed by autonomic systems. As such, there is a normal level of SWB for each person that defines their set-point, and people only become consciously aware of their well-being when some external stressor threatens the system. Using data collected over a period of 12 years, the normative range for sample mean scores for SWB in Australia is found between 73.6 to 76.6 points on a 0-100 point scale (Cummins et al. 2012).

A key implication of homeostasis theory is that there is a 'ceiling effect', whereby SWB cannot chronically be raised above an individual's set-point-range. Accordingly, the effect of laughter yoga on SWB should be greater for those with SWB scores found below the normal range, when compared to those who are at normal functioning levels. A second implication is that if people function below their normal range, they are more likely to seek ways to increase their well-being than are people with normal functioning. Quite simply, there is no need for those already functioning as normal to enhance their well-being. Following this logic, one reason why people may frequent laughter yoga classes in their spare time could be because they function below the normal range of well-being and are seeking resolution to a happier state.

Based on this theoretical framework, the purpose of this study was to examine the effects of a laughter yoga class on SWB. Given the high prevalence rates of depression and anxiety in Australia, an easily accessible and cost-effective intervention that has the potential to reduce negative emotions and increase positive emotions would be highly desirable. As a pilot study, the findings of this research have the potential to inform larger studies, by providing a basis for understanding how laughter yoga affects SWB. It was hypothesised that participants who attended laughter yoga clubs would be functioning at lower levels of well-being than the general Australian population before their participation in the LY class. It was also hypothesised that LY would be associated with increases in positive emotions, and reductions in negative emotions. Finally, it was hypothesised that the change in SWB would be greater for those initially functioning below the normal well-being range.

#### 2. Method

#### 2.1 Participants

A sample of 44 participants was recruited from seven different Laughter Yoga clubs around Melbourne. Preliminary analyses revealed no differences in initial or subsequent well-being scores based upon which LY club participants attended. The participants ranged in age from 18-87, with a mean age of 58.86 (SD = 14.12). Most were female (72.7%).

A comparative sample of 44 participants was randomly extracted from the  $23^{rd}$  longitudinal survey of the Australian Unity Well-being Index (Cummins & Weinberg 2012). This sample was of comparative age (Mean = 59.50, SD = 13.85) though it contained a more even spread of males (47.7%) to females (52.3%). Since there was no evidence of gender differences for the well-being variables in the data file of origin, the sample was considered an appropriate comparison group.

#### 2.2 Materials

Participants completed a questionnaire that included scales to measure general life satisfaction, subjective well-being, and general positive mood. Negative emotions as depressed mood, stress, and anxiety were also included. In addition, demographic information was collected as part of the Time 1 questionnaire.

*General Life Satisfaction* (GLS): GLS was measured by the single item "How satisfied are you with your life as a whole?". Participants rated their level of satisfaction on an 11-point scale anchored by the terms "Not satisfied at all" to "Completely satisfied".

*Subjective Well-being* (SWB): SWB was assessed using the Personal Well-being Index (PWI; IWBG 2006), a seven-item measure that approximates general life satisfaction. The seven items represent sub-domains of life as standard of living, health, achieving in life, relationships, personal safety, community connectedness, and future security. Each domain contributes unique statistical variance when regressed against GLS. Participants used the same response scale as for GLS. The PWI has strong psychometric properties and the IWBG report adequate test-retest reliability with Cronbach's alpha ranging between .70 and .85. Convergent validity has also been established with the Satisfaction with Life Scale (Diener, Emmons, Larsen & Griffin 1985), giving a correlation of .78 (IWBG 2006).

*Mood*: General positive mood was measured by asking participants how happy, content, and alert they generally feel on an end-defined 11-point scale from 0 (not at all) to 10 (extremely). These three affective adjectives were selected following findings that showed the terms happy, content, and alert explained in excess of 59% of variation in SWB and, thus, best represent HPMood, the type of mood that underlies evaluations of Subjective Well-being (Davern, Cummins & Stokes 2007; Blore, Stokes, Mellor, Firth & Cummins 2011). Responses to these three items were summed together to obtain an overall HPMood score.

*Depression, Anxiety, Stress*: The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) was used to assess self-reported depressed mood, anxiety and stress. The DASS has demonstrated adequate psychometric properties with the scale authors reporting Cronbach's alpha for the subscales ranging from .84 to .91. Participants rated how much each statement applied to them on an 11-point scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely".

#### 2.3 Procedure

Participants in Laughter Yoga clubs were approached during one of their weekly classes and invited to participate in the study. The nature of the study was explained to them and their

confidentiality was assured. Members of the research team returned to the LY club the following week and distributed the initial questionnaire for completion prior to the class (Time 1). Participants were instructed to generate a unique code to ensure anonymity but enable their responses to be matched across the different time points. The Time 2 questionnaire was distributed immediately after the end of the Laughter Yoga class and the questionnaires were returned directly to the research team member upon completion.

The intervention followed the standard structure of a Laughter Yoga session, which involves repetition of three key components: During the 'Laugh' phase, the instructor guides participants through activities to simulate laughter. At the beginning of the session, this usually involves a greeting laugh, whereby participants greet each other by shaking hands and laughing while maintaining eye contact. Following this introduction, the 'Laugh' phase can involve different types of laughing, like the "lion laugh", the "telephone laugh" or the "eating breakfast laugh". In the 'Clap' phase of the class, participants pause to repeat the Laughter Yoga mantra of "Ho, ho, ha, ha, ha" while clapping in rhythm. This is followed by the 'Breathe' phase, where participants focus on relaxing and regulating their breathing. Although laughter games and the time spent in each phase can vary class by class, the 'Laugh, Clap, Breathe' structure is common to all sessions. Each session was 30 minutes in duration.

#### 2.4 Data cleaning and preparation

Data were screened through SPSS Version 21 and checked for missing values. Cases were only included in analyses if they recorded data at both time points. Within each time point, missing values for individual scale items were found to be random and cases were excluded pair-wise where appropriate, following Pallant (2007). Data were screened for outliers at each time point.

One participant recorded the maximum possible score for SWB and HPMood. This was suggestive of an acquiescent response style and the case was removed from the data set prior to analyses. All scores were converted to percentage of Scale Maximum scores (%SM) as described in the PWI manual. This procedure transforms all results to lie on a 0-100 point scale.

#### 3. Results

To test the first hypothesis, i.e. that participants who attended Laughter Yoga clubs of their own interest would be functioning at a lower level than the general Australian population, measures captured at Time 1 were compared to a random sample of 44 participants extracted from the 23<sup>rd</sup> longitudinal survey of the Australian Unity Well-being Index (Cummins & Weinberg 2012). Within this sample, one participant was identified as having outlying scores on multiple variables, and was excluded from analyses. Comparative data were available for all of the well-being variables, and results are shown in Table 1.

 Table 1. Comparison of well-being variables between LY club participants (at Time 1) and a general Australian sample

	LY Clubs	@ Time 1	General Au	stralian pop.		
Variable	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Comparison	Effect size (d)
GLS	68.60	21.56	78.57	14.24	t(73) = 2.521, p=.014	.55

SWB	71.95	17.17	76.55	14.34	t(80) = 1.317, p=.192	.29
HPMood	70.00	19.59	75.35	15.19	t(84) = 1.415, p=.161	.31
Depression	25.02	22.85	14.29	19.09	t(84) = 2.365, p=.020	.51
Anxiety	20.16	18.19	11.03	16.04	t(83) = 2.456, p=.016	.53
Stress	35.23	25.26	22.56	17.47	t(71) = 2.661, p=.010	.58

The figures in Table 1 reveal that the participants who frequented LY clubs reported lower general life satisfaction, with a GLS score of 68.60 being well below the normative range of 76.02 to 79.24 points (Table A2.21, Cummins et al. 2012). Similarly, their SWB score of 71.95 was well below the normal range of 73.78 to 76.68 points. The comparison sample, on the other hand, had a mean score on both variables that lay within their respective normal ranges. Although the difference between groups for SWB and HPMood was not large enough to achieve statistical significance, the small to medium effect size reported indicates that these trends would likely achieve significance in a larger sample (Cohen 1988).

The LY group members also had higher rates of negative emotions (depressed mood, anxiety, and stress) than the general Australian sample. The effect size was highest for the difference in stress levels between the two samples.

The DASS Manual (Lovibond & Lovibond 1995) provides suggested cut-off scores for diagnoses of levels of each of depression, anxiety, and stress. These are based on scores out of a possible 42, and following conversion to percentage of scale maximum scores, the LY group in this study fall within the 'mild' categories on each construct. The general Australian sample, on the other hand, is considered 'normal' by these cut-off scores.

To test the second hypothesis, i.e. that participation in a Laughter Yoga class would be associated with increases in SWB and decreases in negative emotions, repeated-measures t-tests were conducted to compare scores at Time 1 and Time 2 for LY participants.

	Tin	ne 1	Tin	ne 2		
Variable	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Comparison	Effect size (d)
GLS	68.60	21.56	77.21	16.08	t(42) = 3.873, p=.000	.40
SWB	71.93	17.39	77.96	12.14	t(39) = 3.437, p=.001	.35
HPMood	70.00	19.59	75.12	18.39	t(42) = 2.159, p=.037	.26
Depression	23.87	22.40	22.86	20.30	t(40) = .556, p=.581	.05
Stress	35.68	25.42	30.61	24.01	t(39) = 2.347, p=.024	.20
Anxiety	20.23	18.41	16.41	16.61	t(40) = 2.440, p=.019	.21

Table 2. Comparison of well-being variables pre- and post-LY class

Table 2 reveals that participation in a Laughter Yoga class was associated with an immediate improvement in general life satisfaction and subjective well-being. The value for GLS now fell within the normal range, while SWB was above its normal range. While statistically

significant changes were also apparent in mood, stress, and anxiety, these levels of significance are marginal after the application of a Bonferroni correction. The largest effect was apparent for general life satisfaction, and there was no effect of LY to reduce symptoms of depression.

To determine whether participation in Laughter Yoga classes would be more beneficial for participants who reported lower levels of SWB, participants were split according to their SWB scores at Time 1. A cut-off score of 75.00 was used to split the sample into 2 groups, as 75.00 is the mean score for the Australian population (Cummins et al. 2012). A change score for SWB was computed as the Time 2 score minus the Time 1 score. Comparison of the change scores for each group revealed that the magnitude of change was significantly greater for participants initially reporting lower SWB (M = 10.29, SD = 13.67) than participants who were functioning within the normal range (M = 1.79, SD = 5.32), t(25) = 2.592, p<.05.

An indicator of reliability change is useful, in this instance, to provide an indication as to whether the change in SWB scores is practically significant beyond what may be due to unreliability of the measure. The Reliability Change Index (Jacobson & Truax 1991) was calculated; it revealed that over a third of participants in the study achieved a change in SWB score larger than two standard deviations. Further, four times as many participants who achieved a reliable change reported SWB scores below 75 at Time 1. These results provide preliminary evidence to support the effectiveness of laughter yoga as a form of therapy to increase SWB for those whose SWB is below the normal range, but require validation in a larger study.

#### 4. Discussion

Grounded within homeostasis theory, the present study aimed to explore the effects of Laughter Yoga (LY) on Subjective Well-being (SWB) to guide future research in this area. Given the small sample size and absence of a genuine control group, the interpretations made herein are only suggestive, and all findings require further testing and validation before they can be generalised to a wider sample.

Prior to the start of the LY session, it was observed that individuals who attended the LY classes were found to report levels of General Life Satisfaction (GLS) and SWB below normative ranges for the Australian population and to also have higher levels of depression, anxiety, and stress. These findings lend support to the implications of homeostasis theory (Cummins 2010), and the notion that people functioning below the normal range of well-being are more likely to be aware of their affective state, and actively seek out opportunities to improve their well-being.

Following the conclusion of the single LY session, there were improvements in SWB and GLS scores. Mood also increased, though not to the same extent. The finding that positive emotions increase following an induced laughter intervention is consistent with previous research (Dolgoff-Kaspar et al. 2012; Suraj-Narayan & Surajnarayan 2011; Beckman, Regier & Young 2007). Specifically, the increased GLS is consistent with the findings of Shahidi et al. (2011) who found that elderly participants diagnosed with depression also reported increases in GLS. The present study extended these findings, and indicated that a single LY session is associated with increased GLS even for people who are functioning below normal, but have not achieved diagnostic levels of psychopathology.

Following the single LY class, anxiety and stress scores were reduced from mild severity ratings to the normal range based on suggested DASS classifications (Lovibond & Lovibond 1995). However, depression levels remained in the mild range. The statistically significant reduction in anxiety and stress symptoms post-LY may have been related to

physiological changes associated with laughter. The muscle relaxation, reduced heart rate, and improved circulation associated with the induction of laughter (Mora-Ripoll 2010), may have alleviated the somatic symptoms associated with anxiety and stress. Depression, however, is not only characterised by low mood but is also associated with maladaptive cognitions, anhedonia and inertia (Lovibond & Lovibond 1995). As such, although inducing laughter may have the capacity to facilitate improvements in affective states, it may be insufficient to address the cognitive dysfunction and other symptoms that typify depression.

The final hypothesis, i.e. that larger increases in SWB would be observed for participants initially functioning below the normal level, was also supported. The increase in scores on SWB for participants who scored below the 'gold-standard' of 75.00 prior to the LY class was five times higher than for those who were already functioning above 75.00. Further, the change scores for participants who reported SWB below 75.00 reached the clinical reliability standard much more frequently than for those who reported SWB at or above the gold-standard at Time 1. This finding lends support to homeostasis theory (Cummins 2010), and is suggestive of important practical implications for the effectiveness of programmes intended to increase SWB. There appears to be a ceiling effect for SWB. As such, the findings of this study suggest that interventions aimed at improving SWB will be most advantageous for people who are functioning below the optimal level, and are in need of assistance to regain normal functioning. Those people who are operating within the normal range will experience little benefit. This is an important caveat for positive psychology interventions as the potential for increased well-being is not universal. The effectiveness of interventions to consistently increase SWB warrants further investigation with larger samples that include clinical and nonclinical participant groups.

While this study has provided interesting information, its usefulness would be enhanced by longer-term investigations that evaluated the changes in SWB over time. Certainly, of interest would be the duration of the positive effects following LY sessions. In the present study, participants were not attending their LY class for the first time and, thus, the Time 1 score is not a true indicator of baseline functioning. In fact, it implies that the effect of LY is not long-lasting, as participants returning for subsequent classes report lower SWB scores than they did following the LY class. In addition, the present study was unable to control the exact structure of each LY class, so the intervention administered at each location was not identical. It is plausible that there might be some aspects of LY that are more conducive to improving well-being, but were not practised routinely in each different class.

Further, it remains possible that, since participants were attending the LY session with the implied intention of increasing their SWB, they would be more likely to endorse an increase in well-being following the class. This may be of particular concern given the short time frame between the pre- and post-questionnaires. However, the finding that initial wellbeing scores were below the normal range for Australians suggests that these were true scores recorded by the sample, as it is extremely unlikely that they would have had knowledge of the normal ranges, and so could not have intentionally recorded their scores to be lower. Further, if recall effects were evident, then they would be expected to be expressed across each measure. The lack of change in depression scores suggests that participants were not motivated to report that LY was advantageous across the board of measures used.

Finally, the presence of a suitable control group could confirm that the improvement in well-being variables was due to the intervention, rather than representing the statistical phenomenon of regression to the mean. The inclusion of a control group would also enable consideration of whether laughter yoga, as a specific intervention, is more effective at improving SWB than other interventions. The findings of this study do not provide support for the effectiveness of LY over and above any other form of therapy, and it remains unknown

whether the improvements to SWB are due to the intervention itself, or due to participants' benefiting from the social environment that LY classes facilitate.

Despite the clear need for a control group, an appropriate control group is difficult to identify given that LY is such a unique activity. A suitable control group activity should be similar in all aspects to the LY group except for the specific practice of laughter yoga, but there is no conceivable alternative. For example, although participants undertaking regular yoga sounds like an obvious comparison group, the aim of regular yoga is to reduce heart rate and encourage relaxation, whereby the act of laughing necessarily increases heart rate. In the absence of a suitable control group, the Australian normative data were considered an appropriate comparison for this study.

While the benefits of laughter to improve positive emotions and reduce negative emotions are difficult to contend, the results of this study caution that the effectiveness is not universal. People already experiencing a normal level of well-being may not only be less likely to attend LY, but also appear to have less to gain from them. Thus, LY, similar to other positive psychology techniques, is perhaps best described as an intervention more likely to benefit people experiencing lower levels of SWB, and higher levels of anxiety and stress. This study has provided preliminary, albeit cautionary, results for the effectiveness of LY as an intervention to increase SWB, and requires further validation in a larger scale study.

#### Notes

\* All correspondence should be addressed to Melissa K. Weinberg, School of Psychology, Faculty of Health, Deakin University, Australia: melissa.weinberg@deakin.edu.au

#### References

- Askenasy, J. J. M. (1987). 'The functions and dysfunctions of laughter'. *Journal of General Psychology* 114, pp. 317–334.
- Beckman, H., Regier, N. & Young, J. (2007). 'Effect of workplace laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs'. *The Journal of Primary Prevention* 28, pp. 167–182.
- Bennett, M. P. & Lengacher, C. (2008). 'Humour and laughter may influence health III: Laughter and health outcomes'. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 5, pp. 37–40.
- Blore, J. D., Stokes, M. A., Mellor, D., Firth, L. & Cummins, R. A. (2011). 'Comparing multiple discrepancies theory to affective models of subjective well-being'. *Social Indicators Research* 100, pp. 1–16.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences. (2<sup>nd</sup> edition). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cummins, R. A. (2010). 'Subjective well-being, homeostatically protected mood and depression: A synthesis'. *Journal of Happiness Studies* 11, pp. 1–17.
- Cummins, R. A. & Weinberg, M. K. (2012). Australian Unity Well-being Index: Longitudinal Survey ARC23. Melbourne: Deakin University.
- Cummins, R. A., Woerner, J., Weinberg, M. K., Collard, J., Hartley-Clark, L., Perera, C. & Horfiniak, K. (2012). *Australian Unity Well-being Index: Report 28.0 The Well-being of Australians: The Impact of Marriage*. Melbourne: Australian Centre on Quality of Life.
- Davern, M. T., Cummins, R. A. & Stokes, M. A. (2007). 'Subjective well-being as an affective-cognitive construct'. *Journal of Happiness Studies* 8, pp. 429–449.
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J. & Griffin, S. (1985). 'The satisfaction with life scale'. *Journal of Personality Assessment* 49, pp. 71–75.

- Dolgoff-Kaspar, R., Baldwin, A., Johnson, S., Edling, N. & Sethi, G. K. (2012). 'Effect of Laughter Yoga on mood and heart rate variability in patients awaiting organ transplantation: A pilot study'. *Alternative Therapies in Health & Medicine* 18, pp. 61–66.
- Houston, D. M., McKee, K. J., Carroll, L. & Marsh, H. (1998). 'Using humour to promote psychological well-being in residential homes for older people'. *Aging & Mental Health* 2, pp. 328–332.
- International Well-being Group (2006). *Personal Well-being Index*. Melbourne: Australian Centre on Quality of Life, Deakin University.
- Jacobson, N. S. & Truax, P. (1991). 'Clinical significance: A statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research'. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 59, pp. 12–19.
- Ko, H. J. & Youn, C. H. (2011). 'Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly'. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 11, pp. 267–274.
- Kuiper, N. A. & Martin, R. A. (1998). 'Laughter and stress in daily life: Relation to positive and negative affect'. *Motivation and Emotion* 22, pp. 133–153.
- Lovibond, S. H. & Lovibond, P. F. (1995). *Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales*. (2<sup>nd</sup> edition). Sydney: The Psychology Foundation of Australia Inc.
- Mannell, R. C. & McMahon, L. (1982). 'Humour as play: Its relationship to psychological well-being during the course of a day'. *Leisure Sciences* 5, pp. 143–155.
- Mora-Ripoll, R. (2010). 'The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine'. *Alternative Therapies in Health & Medicine* 16, pp. 56–64.
- Mora-Ripoll, R. & Garcia-Rodera, N. C. (2008). 'Therapeutic value of laughter in medicine'. *Med Clin (Barc)* 131, pp. 694–698.
- Neuhoff, C. C. & Schaefer, C. (2002). 'Effects of laughter, smiling, and howling on mood'. *Psychological Reports* 91, pp. 1079–1080.
- Pallant, J. (2007). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using SPSS for Windows. (3<sup>rd</sup> edition). NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Papousek, I. & Schulter, G. (2008). 'Effects of a mood-enhancing intervention on subjective well-being and cardiovascular parameters'. *International Journal of Behavioural Medicine* 15, pp. 293–302.
- Shahidi, M., Mojtahed, A., Modabbernia, A., Mojtahed, M., Shafiabady, A., Delavar, A. & Honari, H. (2011). 'Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: A randomized controlled trial'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 26, pp. 322–327.
- Suraj-Narayan, G. S. & Surajnarayan, S. (2011). *Biopsychosocial Impacts of Laughter Yoga and Therapy on Stroke Survivours*. South Africa: African Laughter Institute.

## Chandigharh, India

## Effect of laughter therapy on level of stress: A study among nursing students

#### Lakhwinder Kaur, Indarjit Walia

**Abstract** : A quasi experimental study was conducted in the National Institute of Nursing Education PGIMER, Chandigarh with an objective to evaluate the effect of laughter therapy on the stress level of nursing students. Total forty two BSc nursing first year students available during the time of data collection constituted the study sample. Data was collected before and after the experimentation. Experimentation involves administering laughter therapy for 15-20 minutes daily. During ten days, laughter therapy has shown positive effect on reducing the stress level of subjects at statistically significant level ( $t_{cal}$  32,df 41, p <0.05) Mean stress score was decreased from 112 to 103 after the laughter therapy.

#### Key words :

Laughter therapy, stress level, nursing students

#### Correspondence at :

*Lakhwinder Kaur* Lecturer, Guru Nanak Mission College of Nursing, Dhahan Kaleran

#### Introduction

In every sphere of life, owing to social complexities or individual's own high aspirations, people are encountering stresses of various degrees very frequently. Stress impacts the health by lowering the resistance to disease and making the person more vulnerable to illness. The effect of stress on health depends heavily upon the severity of stress. Mild stress may actually improve the performance and functional efficiency of individual, where as severe stress tends to impair the integration and effectiveness. Excessive stress eventuates in breakdown of system. Many studies have shown that stressful life situations generate changes, complexities and challenges to which if individual can not respond adequately, illness can result.<sup>1</sup>

Studies by American Medical Association have shown the stress as a major factor causing 75% of all illnesses and diseases today. As stress is experienced by all individuals in various periods of life, nursing students also experience stress related to new living environment, life style, health, academic performance, competition, career selection, and relationship with peer group, high expectations from parents etc. Patty Pits in his study has shown the tension and pressure as the frequent companion of nursing students. This study was conducted in America on the stress level of health professionals and has ranked the nursing students at the top.<sup>2</sup> All students respond differently to these stressors according to their age, sex,' personality, family, social status. Some are unable to cope with these stressors and inadequate coping leads to anxiety, withdrawal, frustration, aggression, lack of motivation, low self-esteem, physical illnesses and poor coping skills such as drug use and alcohol abuse<sup>3</sup>. One longitudinal study also revealed the effect of stress on illness of medical students. The researcher found decrease level of body's natural killer cells, which fight against infections and tumors.<sup>4</sup>

In order to reduce the stress level. number of relaxation techniques and exercise programs have been used. Among these laughter is considered as the best stress busting. Laughter as a therapy is found to lower the blood pressure, relieve stress, increase muscle flexion and boost the immune system by raising the level of infection fighting T cells, disease fighting proteins (gamma interferon) and beta cells. It also triggers the release of endorphins (body's natural pain killer) and produces a general sense of well being. Dr Leeberk studied the beneficial effect of laughter in reducing the stress hormones.<sup>5</sup> Doctor Kataria also cited in his book that Harvert Lefcourt from Waterloo University explored the use of laughter in changing the emotional response to stress. The positive psychological effect of laughter therapy includes mental alertness, increase in concentration, coopereration, creativity and self confidence plus better ability to cope with stress.<sup>4</sup> With personnel experience, investigator realized that nursing students experienced life stressful because of competition, geographical mobility, new life style, and strict disciplinary hostel life, financial burden, conflict with peer group, academic pressure as well as in the clinical area as they have direct exposure with patients. As review of literature revealed the benefits of laughter therapy, but no evidence has shown its effect on nursing students, thus need for conducting the study was recognized. The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of laughter therapy on the level of stress among nursing students.

#### **Hypothesis**

There will be no effect of laughter therapy on the stress level of nursing students.

#### **Material and Methods**

Quasi experimental research design was used in this study. The study was conducted in the nursing hostel of National Institute of Nursing Education, PGIMER, Chandigarh in the month of March 2005. All the BSc nursing first year students were included in the study. Study sample comprised of 42 nursing students.

Data was collected by using assessment proforma. It was comprised of identification data (2 items) and numerical rating scale from 1-5 scores in which 1score indicated no stress,2 rare,3 Sometimes,4 Often and 5 Almost always. This scale was used to assess the level of stress experienced by study subjects on the first day and the last day of the study period. Experimentation included

 Table 1: Age Wise Distribution of Subjects

conducting a session of laughter therapy for 20 minutes daily for ten days. Stress experienced by study subjects was rated as mild, moderate and severe based upon the scores obtained.

For content validity and reliability, suggestions were received from five eminent personalities (nursing educationist, psychologist and research experts) and was found valid and reliable. Ethical considerations were taken by seeking the permission from the higher authorities and also verbal consent of the study subjects. The data was analyzed as per the objectives by applying both descriptive and inferential statistics.

#### Results

Mean age  $\pm$  SD of the subjects was 19  $\pm$  4.2, ranging between17-21 years.Table 1 depicts that 38% study subjects were of 19 years old,equal subjects (57.2%) subjects were of 18 and 20 years. (Table 1)

Ν	=	4	2
---	---	---	---

Age (yrs)	f(%)	
17	01 (02.4)	
18	12(28.6)	Range 17-21
19	16(38.0)	Mean=19±4.2
20	12(28.6)	
21	01 (02.14)	

Regarding the level of stress before experimentation (laughter therapy) twelve (28.6%) subjects experienced mild stress, twenty three (54.7%) experienced moderate level of stress. The number of subjects experienced moderate level of stress was reduced to 18(42.8%) from 23(54.7%) after

the experimentation. Although same number of subjects experienced severe level of stress before and after the laughter therapy. It inferred that laughter therapy has positive effect in reducing the level of stress of study subjects. (Fig 1)





Great variation (418) in the stress score of subjects pre therapy (4740) and post therapy (4322) was observed. As the  $t_{cal}$  (32)> $t_{tab}$  at 5% level of significance. A significant difference in the pre therapy and post therapy stress score was found. Hence

**Table 3 Stress Score Pre and Post Therapy** 

the null hypothesis was rejected i.e. laughter therapy has a positive effect on the level of stress. (Table3)..

Hence the null hypothesis was rejected Le. laughter therapy has a positive effect on the level of stress. (Table3).

N=4	12
-----	----

	Pre therapy	Post therapy	Difference	Level of significance
Total score	4740	4322	418	t = 32
Mean score	112.85	102.9	9.9	df = 41
SD	27.6	29.6	2	P < 0.05
	1			Significant

#### Discussion

Present era is marked as an era of stress. Every person experience different forms of stress throughout the life. It is more likely to be the reflection of interpersonal problems than the physical noxious stimuli for change and growth. Many studies have shown the negative effects of stress on the health. To get relief from stress, numbers of interventions were carried out. Among these, laughter is considered as the best one as it needs no talent. Review of literature has shown the positive impact of laughter in improving the health status. As nursing students are the part of this world, they are not screened from the shadow of stress. Present study reflects the stress level of nursing students at different levels i.e. mild (28.6%), moderate (54.7%) and severe (16.6%). Study conducted by Dr Patty pits also revealed the stress as a companion of nursing students.<sup>2</sup>

Old age saga 'laughter is a best medicine'. Many studies conducted in the medical field revealed the positive effect of laughter in improving the health by improving the immune system. Study conducted by Dr Leeberk also revealed the beneficial effect of laughter in reducing the stress hormones and improving the immune system.<sup>5</sup> Similarly in this study, stress level of study sub j e c t s was decreased at statistically significant level (t 3.2,p.05) following the laughter therapy session. With experimentation, decrease in the moderate level of stress was found from 23 to 18. Mean difference in stress score was 9.9. Hence the positive effect of experimentation (laughter therapy) on reducing the stress level was proved. Although review of literature has shown the positive effect of laughter in reducing the stress level but no related study is found on nursing students.

"Laugh and the world will laugh with you" an ancient old saga said. Laughter as an antidote for stress helps in the pursuit of happiness.<sup>6</sup> One must laugh every day as it has shown many benefits in improving the health status. 'A laugh a day will keep the doctor away", to proof these lines, further research studies on larger sample and for longer duration are highly recommended.

#### References

- 1. Potter PA,Perry AG. Fundamentals of nursing. Harcourt (India) private limited. New Delhi.2001;644.
- 2. Patti pits. Nursing students stress during the initial clinical experience. Journal of Nursing Education.1997;36 (7):323-27.
- 3. Johnston. To the left behind.American Journal of Nursing 1985:937 4. Kataria M. Laugh your way to health. Mumbai; Madhuri international publishers.1999.
- 5. Leeberk.stress and illness. [online] 2005. Available from: htpllwww.stress% 20related % 20 illness, % 20stress.
  - Mathew F M. Laughter is the best medicine:the value of humor in current nursing practice. Nursing Journal of India.2003;7:146-7.

6.

# ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# The Effects of Laughter Therapy on General Health of Elderly People Referring to Jahandidegan Community Center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Fariba Ghodsbin<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Zahra Sharif Ahmadi<sup>2</sup>, BS; Iran Jahanbin<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Farkhondeh Sharif<sup>4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Community Based Psychiatric Care Research Center, Department of Community Health Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran;

<sup>2</sup>Department of Geriatric Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran;

<sup>3</sup>Shiraz Geriatric Research Center, Department of Community Health Nursing, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran;

<sup>4</sup>Community Based Psychiatric Care Research Center, Department of psychiatric Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

#### **Corresponding author:**

Fariba Ghodsbin, MSc; Community Based Psychiatric Care Research Center, Department of Community Health Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Nemazee square, **Postal Code:**71936-13119, Shiraz, Iran **Tel:** +98 71 36474254; **Fax:** +98 71 36474252; **Email:** ghodsbin@sums.ac.ir

Received: 10 September 2014 Revised: 11 October 2014 Accepted: 20 October 2014

#### Abstract

**Background:** Aging and its social-biological process naturally impair the functions of different body organs and cause progressive disabilities in managing personal affairs and performing social roles. Laughter therapy is an important strategy which has been recommended by experts for increasing health promotion in older adults. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the effect of laughter therapy program on public health of senior citizens.

**Methods:** In a randomized controlled trial, we enrolled 72 senior citizens aged 60 and over referring to Jahandidegan (Khold-e-Barin) retirement community center in Shiraz, southwest Iran during January to February 2014. The participants were assigned into experimental (N=36) and control (N=36) groups. Data were collected using General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28) and demographic questionnaire. The participants of experimental group attended a laughter therapy program consisting of two 90-minute sessions per week lasting for 6 weeks.

**Results:** We found a statistically significant correlation between laughter therapy program and factors such as general health (P=0.001), somatic symptoms (P=0.001), insomnia and anxiety (P=0.001). However, there was no statistically significant correlation among laughter therapy, social dysfunction (P=0.28) and depression (P=0.069).

**Conclusion:** We concluded that laughter therapy can improve general health and its subscales in elderly people.

Trial Registration Number: IRCT2014061111691N4

**Keywords:** Elderly; General health; Laughter therapy

**Please cite this article as:** Ghodsbin F, Sharif Ahmadi Z, Jahanbin I, Sharif F. The Effects of Laughter Therapy on General Health of Elderly People Referring to Jahandidegan Community Center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: A Randomized Controlled Trial. IJCBNM. 2015;3(1):31-38.

#### INTRODUCTION

The world's population is rapidly aging and developing countries are more involved with such issue. According to the United Nations' estimates, elderly population is predicted to increase from almost 10.5% of the total population in 2007 to 28.8% by 2050.<sup>1</sup> In 2006, 7.3% of whole Iranian population aged 60 and over.<sup>2</sup>

Aging and its social-biological process naturally impair the functions of different body organs and cause progressive disabilities in managing personal affairs and performing social roles. Such impairments are more evident in social and psychological dimensions of the elderly people's life and may impose limitations on personal and social communications networks. However, social and psychological dimensions of life have been found to influence health significantly.<sup>3,4</sup>

As the elderly population increases, the health problems, especially mental health problems, of such an age group become more important. Accordingly, the elderly's health issues can be investigated in two dimensions of physical and psychological. Physical problems such as different types of cancers, cardiovascular diseases and chronic obstructive pulmonary disorders are more prevalent in older adults than their younger counterparts. Depression, anxiety and dementia are also common psychological problems among this age group.<sup>4</sup> On the other hand, the incidence of psychiatric disorders in senior citizens, who are residents of nursing homes, is approximately 80%. Among the psychological health issues occurring among the aging population, depression has the highest prevalence rate (17%).<sup>5</sup> Public health in the elderly people includes four dimensions: physical health, physical functioning, anxiety and depression.6

For health promotion in older adults, various strategies have been recommended by experts, among which laughter therapy is an important one.<sup>7</sup> Laughter causes synchronized contraction of facial muscles, increases respiratory rate, blood flow and the

release of adrenaline in blood and ultimately leads to joy and happiness. It is the cheapest medicine for preventing many diseases and fighting against them. Laughter also decreases the heart beat rate and blood pressure while it increases oxygen intake in tissues by making the individuals take deep breaths. Hence, laughter can benefit both mental and physical health.<sup>8,9</sup>

On the condition that psychological stressinduced hormone is secreted continuously and in large amounts, the immune system cannot fully perform its normal functions. Therefore, it puts the internal organs of the body under intense pressure and paves the way for various infections and diseases. Research has proved that laughter plays a critical role in strengthening the immune system and maintaining health and wellness.<sup>10</sup> Laughter has been indicated to have several positive physiologic effects, one of the important of which is helping the individual cope with stress and reducting anixity; in addition, that may have a role in reducing the incidence of obesity that may positively effect the physical health.<sup>11</sup>

Currently, there are several laughter therapy clubs in various parts of the world where a group of people gather to practice laughter as a form of exercise. In laughter exercise program, initially the participants laugh "artificially" until, gradually, the fake laughter becomes realandleads to releasing anti-stress and joyful hormones. Moreover, in laughing, the diaphragm and abdominal muscles move and stimulate the parasympathetic nervous system; this reduces stress hormones and ultimately promotes relaxation in individuals.<sup>8, 12</sup>

Since special attention should be paid to physical and mental health in older adults, laughter therapy can be applied as an effective strategy leading to health promotion, vitality and happiness in such age group.<sup>13</sup> Therefore, we aimed to investigate the effect of a 12-week laughter therapy program on public health of the senior citizens referring to Jahandidegan (Khold-e-Barin) retirement community center in Shiraz.

#### **M**ETHODS

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences (Ethics Committee Approval Number: CT-92-6759). In this non-blinded randomized controlled trial (because intervention of laughter the arapycannotbe conducted as blinding), from 1000 records of the elderly registered in Jahandidegan (Khold-e-Barin) 80 were selected through simple random method by their records. The sample size was calculated as 36 in each group based on the data of similar studies and using mean comparison formula (the mean and standard deviatin in the experiment and control groups were  $39.5\pm10$  and  $32.90\pm.9.50$ , respectively with a power of 80% and  $\alpha$ : 0.05).<sup>13</sup>

n = 
$$\frac{\left(Z_{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}} + Z_{1-\beta}\right)^{2} \quad (\delta_{1}^{2} + \delta_{2}^{2})}{(\mu_{1} - \mu_{2})^{2}}$$
$$\frac{(1.96 + 0.85)^{2}(10.4 + 9.5)}{(39.5 - 32.9)^{2}} = 36$$

In addition, based on withdrawal cases in the follow up time, sample size was increased to 40 participants in each group. In this study, 80senior citizens aged 60 and over attended Jahandidegan (Khold-e-Barin) daily community center of aging in shiraz, southwest Iran during January to February 2014. After obtaining written informed consent, balanced block randomization method was used to randomize the participants. In fact, block ranomization was used for selection of samples. All of the four blocks were selected (AABB, ABAB, ABBA, BBAA, BABA, BAAB) and numberd from 1-6 and randomization was done using the tagble of random numbers. Finally 40 elderly people were enrolled in the experimental and control groups. Eight participants were excluded from the study due to different reasons (Four of them were excluded because they did not attend the sessions regularly and 4 of them refused to participate in the study) (Figure 1).

Inclusion criteria were the age of 60 years and over, willingness to participate in the

study, completing written informed consent form, not participating in a similar study simultaneously and lack of mental disability. The exclusion criteria were any experience of social-family crisis during the study, unwillingness to participate in the study, the absence of more than two sessions and any types of respiratory diseases which can be transmitted to other participants.

After explaining the aims and method of the research to the participants, data were collected using General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28) and demographic questionnaire which enquired about age, sex, age, educational, marital and occupational status. GHQ-28 was completed by the participants of the experimental and control groups before and after the intervention.

GHQ-28 is а 28-item self-report questionnaire which contains 4 subscales measuring somatic symptoms, anxiety, insomnia, social dysfunction, and depression. The score for each sub scale ranges from 0 to 21. The total score, which is obtained by summing up the scores of all subscales, ranges from 0 to 84 with lower scores indicating higher general health status. The reliability and validity of the questionnaire were assessed in various studies and were also estimated and confirmed in Iran by Mohammad et al. (2009) and Malakouti et al. (2007) after being translated into Persian. Cronbach's alpha was calculated as 0.9.14, 15

The elderly in the experimental group participated in a laughter therapy program consisting of two 90-minute sessions per week for 6 weeks. The program included performing breathing and physical exercises as well as laughter techniques. However, the participants of the control group received no intervention. The questionnaires were completed again by the participants of both groups immediately after the intervention.

The collected data were analyzed using SPSS software, version 21. Non-parametric tests including Wilcoxon and Mann-Whitney were used. The significance level was set at 0.05. Also, for assessment of normality Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was applied.



#### **CONSORT Flow Diagram**

Figure 1: Diagram of the participants in the study

Analysis

#### RESULTS

The mean $\pm$ SD age of the participants was  $68.55\pm6.24$  and  $67.27\pm5.87$  in the experimental and control groups, respectively. 66.7% of the participants in the control and 72.2% in the experimental groups were women. Table 1 shows demographic variables of the participants.

Discontinued intervention (did not attend the

sessions regularly) (n=2)

• Excluded from analysis (n=0)

Analysed (n=36)

The mean scores of general health and its subscales as well as the correlations between mean scores of subscales before and after the intervention are shown in Table 2. In addition, results of Kolmogorov–Smirnov test (K–S test) showed that data in our study did not have a normal distribution, so non-parametric tests were used for data analysis (P=0.01).

Table 2 shows that the status of general health and all its subscales improved in the experimental group after the intervention. Moreover, the difference between the scores before and after the intervention was statistically significant for all subscales in the experimental group (P=0.05). In the control group, the status of all subscales improved significantly after the intervention (P=0.05), while we found no statistically significant difference between the total mean scores of general health and social dysfunction in such group before and after the intervention.

Discontinued intervention (Did not attend to the

Jahandidegan Center) (n=2)

• Excluded from analysis (n=0)

Analysed (n=36)

The differences in the mean scores of the two groups were compared to specify the correlation between laughter therapy and public health and its subscales (Table 3).

Table 3 shows that the difference between the experimental and control group was statistically significant in terms of the mean scores of general health and other subscales and insignificant in terms of the mean scores of physical dysfunction and depression.

Variables	Classification	Experimental group	Control Group
		Frequency (Percentage)	Frequency (Percentage)
	60-65	12 (33.3)	18 (50)
1 22	65-70	14 (38.9)	8 (22.2)
Age	70-75	4 (11.1)	3 (8.4)
	higher than 75	6 (16.7)	7 (19.4)
	Illiterate	6 (16.7)	4 (11.1)
Ducational	Primary Education	16 (44.4)	20 (55.6)
Status	Secondary Education	8 (22.2)	10 (27.8)
	Higher Education	6 (16.7)	2 (5.6)
	Single	0 (0)	2 (5.6)
Marital Status	Married	14 (38.9)	18 (50)
Maritar Status	Divorced	6 (16.7)	4 (11.1)
	Widow	16 (44.4)	12 (33.3)
	Unemployed	12 (33.3)	4 (11.1)
	Self-employed	4 (11.1)	2 (5.6)
Occupational Status	Clerk	0 (0)	2 (5.6)
	Retired	6 (16.7)	12 (33.3)
	Housewife	14 (38.9)	16 (44.4)
Sov	Male	10 (27.8)	12 (33.3)
Sex	Female	26 (72.2)	24 (66.7)

Table 1: Frequency distribution of demographic variables in the experimental and control groups

Table 2: Comparison of the mean scores of general health subscales before and after the intervention

Groups	Experin	iental group		Control Group		
	Before the	After the	P value*	Before the	After the	P value*
Scales	Intervention	Intervention	_	Intervention**	Intervention***	_
	Mean±SD	Mean±SD		Mean±SD	Mean±SD	
Somatic symptoms	6.86±4.30	3.47±3.44	0.001	7.05±5.83	4.91±3.40	0.02
Anxiety and insomnia	7.83±4.74	3.84±2.77	0.001	6.55±5.06	4.33±3.22	0.01
Social dysfunction	7.66±4.93	5.25±3.25	0.04	$5.72 \pm 5.64$	3.72±3.44	0.09
Depression	9.27±7.98	4.24±4.20	0.01	5.98±6.25	4.44±4.41	0.01
General health	34.94±21.76	18.33±16.16	0.01	36.80±10.41	20.25±16.52	0.83

\*Used from Wilcoxon test; \*\*The same time as before the intervention in the experimental group; \*\*\*The same time as after the intervention in the experimental group

Table 3: Comparison of the difference in the mean scores of gene	eral health and its subscales in the experimen-
tal and control groups before and after the intervention	

Public Health Scales	Groups	Mean Difference	Ζ	P value*
		(Before-after)±SD		
Somatic Symptoms	Experimental group	-3.39±4.97	2.05	0.04
	Control Group	-2.13±4.73	-2.03	
Anxiety and insomnia	Experimental group	-4±5.38	2 21	0.03
	Control Group	-2.12±4.78	-2.21	
Social dysfunction	Experimental group	-3.41±6.54	1.06	0.28
	Control Group	-2±6.09	-1.00	
Depression	Experimental group	-5.08±8.03	1 0 1	0.07
	Control Group	-1.80±6.59	-1.81	
General Health	Experimental group	-16.61±26.19	2 57	0.0001
	Control Group	-16.55±10.43	-3.37	

\*Used from Mann-Whitney test

#### DISCUSSION

We examined the effect of a laughter therapy program on the public health of the senior citizens referring too neoftheretirement community centers in Shiraz. We compared the mean scores of general health subscales in the experimental and control groups before and after the intervention (Table 2). The results showed that the mean score of somatic symptoms'sub scale significantly decreased in the experimental group after the intervention, indicating the positive effect of intervention on the participants of this group (P=0.001). A significant difference was also detected in the control group between the mean scores in this regards before and after the intervention (P=0.02). Our findings also demonstrated that general health and all its subscales had been improved in the experimental group after the laughter therapy intervention and the improvement was statistically significant. However, we found no significant difference in the control group between the scores of social dysfunction (P=0.09) and general health total scores (P=0.83) before and after the intervention. Laughter decreases stress hormones and increases the immune cells and antibodies; thus, it can be considered as a factor that improves the general health.<sup>16-19</sup>

Furthermore, we compared the difference in mean scores of general health and its subscales in the experimental and control groups before and after the intervention. The significant difference between the two groups on each subscale is also reported in Table 3. According to our results, the difference in the mean scores of somatic symptoms was found to be statistically significant in both groups (P=0.04), reflecting the effectiveness of the interventions in improvement of this subscale in the participants. Our finding was consistent with those of Behzadi, Ramezani and Saifie Zarie, explaining the positive effect of laughter therapy in improving such subscale by influencing respiration, improving the immune system, relaxing muscles as well as reducing pain, blood pressure and previous health problems.<sup>7, 10, 16-19</sup>

Besides, we observed that the difference in the mean scores of anxiety and insomnia was statistically significant in both groups (P=0.027), reflecting the effect of the interventions on reducing anxiety and insomnia in our elderly participants. The result was similar to those of Behzadi, Ko et al., Houston et al., Bennett et al., Dixon and and Thorson, signifying the positive effects of laughter therapy on eliminating negative thoughts, changing attitudes and beliefs, creating positive emotional states, discharging dense excitement, and alleviating the symptoms of diseases.<sup>12, 13, 16, 20-23</sup>

However, the difference in the mean scores of social dysfunction subscale was not statistically significant in both groups (P=0.28), confirming the ineffectiveness of the interventions in improvement of such disorder in the participants. This finding was in contrast with those of Behzadi and Shahidi due to differences in the sample size and duration of the interventions.<sup>13, 16</sup>

Also, the difference in the mean scores of depression subscale was not statistically significant in the experimental and control groups (P=0.04), reconfirming the ineffectiveness of the interventions in reducing depression in the participants. The findings of Behzadi, Ko and Youn and Shahidi were different from ours in this regard. Such difference may have resulted from the short duration of our study and the fact that making changes in depression mood is a timely process. If we could continue the study for a longer time, we would probably observe changes in depression mean scores.<sup>12, 13, 16</sup>

The difference in the mean scores of general health was found to be statistically significant in both groups (P=0.001), signifying the positive effect of laughter therapy intervention on the improvement of general health in the elderly people who participated in our study. Several studies found similar results and also mentioned laughter therapy as the simplest and the most cost-effective method of reducing the

mentioned health problems. Our results have also proved the fact that some factors such as participation in group laughter therapy sessions and accompanying peers, sense of solidarity and belonging to the group, creating positive emotional states, changing attitudes and improving relationships with others as well as social relationships could positively affect general health.<sup>16, 22, 24, 25</sup> Besides, improving mood and cell activity, reducing stress, strengthening the immune system, improving attitudes towards self and life, increasing self-confidence, energy, precision and concentration are among other influential factors that can affect general health.<sup>13, 26, 27</sup>

The advantages of present sudy were its design as RCT that removed the confunder variables and sutible attendance of the elderly with low withdrawal in the time of research. However, the intervention (Laughter therapy) was subjective and was implanted in a short period of time (6 weeks); this was the main limitation of this study.

#### CONCLUSION

We can conclude that laughter therapy can improve general health and its subscales in the elderly people. Therefore, the results obtained from the present study can help authorities and experts in the field of geriatric care management to adopt precise plans and policies to increase general health by making the senior citizens and their families aware about the advantages of laughter therapy and establishing laughter therapy clubs.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This manuscript has been extracted from the thesis of Ms. Zahra Sharif Ahmadi for the Master's degree in geriatric nursing with grant number 926752. The authors hereby thank the Vice Chancellor for Research Affairs, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences for their financial support. Also we would like to thank the senior citizens who took part in this investigation.

#### Conflict of Interest: None declared.

#### REFERENCES

- Troisi J. Ageing in the Mediterranean. London: Policy Press; 2013. p. 41-50. Demographic outlook of ageing in the Mediterranean, 1950-2050
- 2 Noorbala AA, BagheriYazdi SA, Yasamy MT, Mohammad K. Mental health survey of the adult population in Iran. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;184:70-3.
- 3 Jones ED, Beck-Little R. The use of reminiscence therapy for the treatment of depression in rural-dwelling older adults. Issues in Mental Health Nursing 2002;23:279-90.
- 4 Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2002;80:245-50.
- 5 Jongenelis K, Pot AM, Eisses AM, et al. Prevalence and risk indicators of depression in elderly nursing home patients: the AGED study. Journal of affective disorders. 2004;83:135-42.
- 6 Tsaousis I, Nikolaou I. Exploring the relationship of emotional intelligence with physical and psychological health functioning. Stress and Health. 2005;21:77-86.
- 7 Bennett MP, Lengacher C. Humor and laughter may influence health: III. Laughter and health outcomes. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2008;5:37-40.
- 8 Low LF, Goodenough B, Fletcher J, et al. The effects of humor therapy on nursing home residents measured using observational methods: the SMILE cluster randomized trial. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2014;15:564-9.
- 9 Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: A narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. Complementary Therapies in Medicine. 2011;19:170-7.

Ghodsbin F, Sharif Ahmadi Z, Jahanbin I, Sharif F

- 10 Capps D. The psychological benefits of humor. Pastoral Psychology. 2006;54:393-411.
- 11 Bast ES, Berry EM. Laugh Away the Fat? Therapeutic Humor in the Control of Stress-induced Emotional Eating. Rambam Maimonides Medical Journal. 2014;5:e0007.
- 12 Ko HJ, Youn CH. Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. Geriatrics & Gerontology International. 2011:267-74.
- 13 Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, et al. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2011;26:322-7.
- 14 Mohammad K, Bagheri Yazdi SA, Noorbala A. The Validation of General Health Questionnaire- 28 as a Psychiatric Screening Tool. Hakim Research Journal. 2009;11:47-53.[InPersian]
- 15 Malakouti SK, Fatollahi P, Mirabzadeh A, Zandi T. Reliability, validity and factor structure of the GHQ-28 used among elderly Iranians. International Psychogeriatrics. 2007;19:623-34.
- 16 Behzadi A .Assessment of laugter therapy on rate of General health in men older in Hasheminezhad Hospital [thesis] Tehran (Iran): School of Psychology,Tabatabaie University; 2010.[In Persian]
- 17 Ramazani S. The effect of education on mental health practices and coping humor oriented nurses working in emergency departments of hospitals of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences[thesis] Shiraz (Iran): Shiraz university of medical Sicence;2005.[In Persian]
- 18 SaifieZarie B. The effect of laughter on

blood pressure in patients with essential hypertension [thesis] Babol (Iran):Babol University of Medical Sciences; 2009.[In Persian]

- 19 Erdman L. Laughter therapy for patients with cancer. Journal of PsychosocialOncology. 1994;11:55-67.
- 20 Houston DM, McKee KJ, Carroll L, Marsh H. Using humor to promote psychological wellbeing in residential homes for older people. Aging & Mental Health. 1998;2:328-32.
- 21 Bennett MP, Zeller JM, Rosenberg L, McCann J. The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. Alternative therapies in health and medicine. 2003;9:38-45.
- 22 Dixon C. Having a Laugh, Having a Fight: masculinity and the conflicting needs of the self in Design and Technology. International Studies in Sociology of Education. 1996;6:147-66.
- 23 Thorson JA, Powell FC. Relationships of death anxiety and sense of humor. Psychological Reports. 1993;72:1364-6.
- 24 Carroll J, Shmidt JL Jr. Correlation between humorous coping style and health. Psychological Reports. 1992;70:402.
- 25 Mora-Ripoll R. The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine. Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine. 2010;16:56-64.
- 26 Goodheart A. Laughter Therapy: How To Laugh About Everything In Your Life That Isn't Really Funny Author: Annette Goodheart. NJ: Less Stress Press; 1994.
- 27 Hasan H, Hasan TF. Laugh yourself into a healthier person: a cross cultural analysis of the effects of varying levels of laughter on health. International Journal of Medical Sciences. 2009;6:200-11.

#### Hong Kong Study

#### Journal of Affective Disorders 248 (2019) 42-51

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Journal of Affective Disorders

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jad

Research paper

# Feasibility of a group-based laughter yoga intervention as an adjunctive treatment for residual symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress in people with depression



Daniel Bressington<sup>a,\*</sup>, Jolene Mui<sup>b</sup>, Clare Yu<sup>a</sup>, Sau Fong Leung<sup>a</sup>, Kin Cheung<sup>a</sup>, Cynthia Sau Ting Wu<sup>a</sup>, Martin Bollard<sup>c</sup>, Wai Tong Chien<sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Nursing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong

<sup>b</sup> Castle Peak and Siu Lam Hospitals, Tuen Mun, Hong Kong

<sup>c</sup> School of Nursing, Midwifery and Health, Coventry University, UK

<sup>d</sup> Nethersole School of Nursing, Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong

#### ABSTRACT

Background: Laughter Yoga (LY) is a group-based intervention involving si-

mulated laughter, gentle stretching, rhythmic breathing and meditation. There is some limited evidence that LY reduces depressive symptoms over the short term. However, the quality of previous LY studies is poor and none involved working-aged people with a clinical diagnosis of depression. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the feasibility and potential efficacy of LY for improving residual mood, anxiety and stress symptoms in adults diagnosed with depression.

*Methods:* Fifty participants were randomised to the group LY intervention (n = 23) consisting of eight sessions over four weeks, or treatment-as-usual (n = 27). Participants completed the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale and the Short Form 12 item Health Survey at baseline (T0), post-intervention (T1) and at 3 months follow-up (T2). LY participants also completed a Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ8) at T1 and eleven participated in individual qualitative interviews at T2.

*Results*: The LY group had statistically greater decreases in depression and improvements in mental health related quality of life compared to the control group from T0 to T1. The CSQ8 scores indicated a favourable level of satisfaction with the LY intervention. The qualitative interviews highlighted aspects of the intervention that were effective and those requiring modification.

Limitations: Limitations include the small sample size and treatment-as-usual control group.

*Conclusions*: A full scale RCT of LY could be feasible if some modifications were made to the protocol/intervention. The intervention may be effective to improve depression and mental health related quality of life immediately post intervention.

#### 1. Introduction

Depression is a relatively common mental health disorder affecting around 350 million people worldwide (Marcus et al., 2012; Kessler and Bromet 2013). The illness is associated with an impaired ability to function on a day-to-day basis (WHO 2016) and hence contributes significantly to the global burden of disease (Reddy 2010). Depression is treated using a range of pharmacological and psychosocial approaches, with outcome being highly influenced by social, environmental, biological and psychological factors (NICE 2009). Although pharmacological treatments are helpful for many people, some studies show that only one in three patients with Major Depressive Disorder reach remission with first-line antidepressant drugs (Rush et al., 2006). Residual symptoms such as depression and anxiety are also common, with numerous studies showing that over 50% of patients in remission report two or more residual symptoms (Miller et al., 1998; Nierenberg

#### et al., 1999; Nil et al., 2016).

Due to the limited effectiveness of pharmacological treatments for some people, alternative treatments for depression are increasingly popular. Consequently, these interventions have attracted the attention of researchers seeking to establish their effectiveness as treatment adjuncts. These treatments are generally well tolerated and include exercise, light therapy, mindfulness-based meditation, omega-3 fatty acids and yoga (Ravindran et al., 2009). A meta-analysis of traditional yoga for depression (Cramer et al., 2013) reported that severity of depressive symptoms reduced significantly over the short term when compared with standard care (a medium-large effect size of SMD = -0.69). Significant positive improvements in depressive symptoms were also observed when comparing yoga to relaxation and exercise interventions (effect sizes of 0.62 and 0.59 respectively). Exercise and yoga have also been shown to have moderately positive effects on anxiety (Saeed et al., 2010). The therapeutic mechanisms of yoga are

\* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* dan.bressington@polyu.edu.hk (D. Bressington).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.01.030

Received 12 November 2018; Received in revised form 14 January 2019; Accepted 19 January 2019

Available online 28 January 2019

0165-0327/ © 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### D. Bressington et al.

thought to relate to positive influences on emotional regulation and a moderation of reactions to stressful events (Streeter et al., 2012). Studies suggest that yoga may improve mental well-being as it increases levels of dopamine, stimulates thalamic GABA release, reduces levels of plasma cortisol and increases serotoninergic activity (Kjaer et al., 2002; Streeter et al., 2012).

Following the encouraging results of the effects of meditational and aerobic types of yoga on well-being (Pilkington et al., 2005) some limited research has been conducted to establish the efficacy of laughter yoga (LY) on psychological and physical well-being. LY was created by Dr Madan Kataria in India in 1995, it is a type of group based laughter exercise involving simulated laughter, gentle movement/stretching, rhythmic breathing and meditation (Bennett et al., 2015; Dolgoff-Kaspar et al., 2012). It has become increasingly popular worldwide and is now promoted as a low cost, low risk, less time-consuming intervention to improve well-being. Dr Kataria suggests that simulated laughter (not reliant on humour) has the same beneficial effects on the human body as genuine laughter, for example by reducing levels of stress related hormones (Kataria, 2005). Although there is a lack of substantial objective evidence for this claim, a recent study (Fujisawa et al., 2018) provides some indication that simulated laughter may have a positive impact on reducing cortisol levels in a similar fashion to that seen resulting from genuine laughter (Berk et al., 1989; Hubert et al., 1993). Fujisawa et al. (2018) controlled study randomised 120 healthy university students to a 30-minute single session of either LY, watching a comedy film or reading a non-humorous book. The results showed that participants who underwent LY had significantly reduced levels of salivary cortisol from baseline to 30 min after the intervention (F = 4.33, p = 0.016), whereas there was no improvement in the book reading group. However, the group of students who watched a comedy movie had higher reductions in cortisol than the LY participants (F = 30.11, p < 0.001) and the effects lasted longer. It is also hypothesised that the therapeutic effects of LY may result through actions on the same body systems as both yoga and genuine laughter; for example, by increasing serotoninergic activity, promoting relaxation and through relieving muscle tension (Bennett and Lengacher, 2008; Shahidi et al., 2011; Bennett et al., 2015). In addition, LY may improve mood by triggering genuine and contagious laughter in a group setting, and through strengthening social bonds by laughing with groupmates (Pan and Yeh, 2016).

Robust clinical studies of LY are scarce, and most focus on the wellbeing of people without a diagnosis of mental illness, or with diagnoses of specific physical illnesses. A recent systematic review of group LY interventions for improving mental health in adults (Bressington et al., 2018) identified six experimental studies conducted with a range of different populations. Only one study has been published which tests the effects of LY in people with diagnosed mental disorders (Shahidi et al., 2011); which compared the effectiveness of LY, group exercise and usual treatment to improve depression and life satisfaction in a group of elderly moderately depressed females. The systematic review (Bressington et al., 2018) concluded that LY has a promising effect on depressive symptoms, with significant medium-large effect sizes in two studies over the short term. However, the reviewed studies were small and generally of poor methodological quality.

Due to popularity of LY and the lack of good quality evidence, there was a need to conduct rigorous studies testing the potential effects of the intervention and the feasibility of conducting a full scale RCT to improve the symptoms of adults diagnosed with depression. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the feasibility, acceptability, satisfaction and potential efficacy of a group-based LY intervention for improving residual symptoms of mood, anxiety and stress in working-aged people with a diagnosis of depressive disorder.

#### 2. Study objectives

• To determine the feasibility of conducting a full scale randomized

controlled trial.

- To examine acceptability and satisfaction of the LY intervention from patients' perspectives.
- To evaluate the potential effects of the group-based LY intervention compared with treatment as usual, on residual symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress.
- To evaluate the potential effects of the group-based LY intervention compared with treatment as usual, on health-related quality of life.

#### 3. Methods

#### 3.1. Study design

This feasibility study used a non-blinded parallel-group randomised controlled trial design. We prospectively registered the study protocol on 18/05/2017 with ClinicalTrials.gov (reference: NCT03163940).

#### 3.2. Study setting

The study was carried out from August 2017 to March 2018 in the Community Psychiatric Service of a large psychiatric hospital in Hong Kong. The service provides comprehensive multidisciplinary community psychiatric case management and treatment for a population of approximately 1.2 million people in the geographical catchment area.

#### 3.3. Participants

All study participants were community-dwelling people who had a diagnosis of depressive disorder and at the point of recruitment were being treated in the community by the Community Psychiatric Service.

Participant inclusion criteria were: (a) male or female aged from 18–60 years; (b) diagnosed with and being treated for a depressive disorder (F32, F33: ICD-10-CM) as confirmed by a psychiatrist; (c) not receiving any other yoga, psychosocial or humour based intervention (currently or within the last three months); (d) able to commit to attend the LY groups; (e) current use of antidepressant and with no plans to change the medication during the next 3 months; (f) able to speak Chinese or English; (g) able to provide written informed consent and considered safe and competent to participate in the study (as suggested by their psychiatrist); (f) with baseline residual symptoms of depression (DASS score  $\geq$ 10), in addition to anxiety (DASS  $\geq$  8) and/or stress (DASS  $\geq$  15).

Exclusion criteria were: (a) a history of bipolar disorder or schizophrenia; (b) physical health problems which may present risks if engaging in LY (i.e. hernia, injuries, etc. determined by their psychiatrist); (c) having co-morbidity of another chronic physical and/or mental health problem such as learning disability, substance misuse disorders and organic brain diseases; (d) receiving any talking therapies at recruitment or throughout the study period.

#### 3.4. Recruitment, randomisation and blinding

The nurse consultant of the participating community mental health team was asked to nominate patients who met the study inclusion criteria. Each eligible participant was given a unique identification number in sequence according to their alphabetical order of surname. A list of random identification numbers was generated by an online external randomisation service (researchrandomizer.com) and this list was used to determine the order in which patients were approached by their keyworker. Participants were recruited in three consecutive cohorts over a three-month period.

After written informed consent was obtained, the baseline measurements were completed by participants supervised by a trained research assistant (RA). Only participants found to meet the DASS score inclusion criteria progressed to the randomisation stage, where they were individually assigned to either the LY or TAU control group (also using random numbers generated by the randomisation service). All randomisation was carried out by a researcher not otherwise directly involved in the study. Due to the nature of the intervention it was not practical to blind participants or study personnel to treatment allocation after baseline assessments were conducted.

#### 3.5. Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was obtained from the University's Research Ethics Committee and the Cluster Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Hong Kong Hospital Authority prior to commencement of the study. The keyworker discussed the study with potential participants in detail, provided additional written information, and ascertained their capacity to provide informed consent. Potential participants were given adequate time to consider their decision. All participants were made aware that once they had provided written informed consent they could withdraw from the study at any point without needing to give a reason and without any negative treatment-related consequences. Potential risks to participants (i.e. emotional distress) arising from taking part in the study were monitored (and where necessary managed) by the LY group facilitator and a member of nursing staff at the group sessions.

#### 3.6. Sample size

Our sample size estimation was based on previous literature that recommends feasibility studies adopt sample sizes of between 24 and 50 (Sim and Lewis, 2012; Julious, 2005) and a review of feasibility studies registered on the United Kingdom Clinical Research Network, which reported that the median sample size for studies with continuous outcome measures was 30 (Billingham et al., 2013). Therefore, assuming a minimum of 30 participants is required in each group, and taking into account a 20% drop-out rate observed in many psychosocial intervention studies (Van Daele et al., 2012), our target sample size was 36 in each study group (i.e., 72 participants in total).

#### 3.7. Interventions

#### 3.7.1. LY intervention

The LY groups were offered twice weekly, for 45 min each time. Each participant was asked to attend a total of 8 groups (over 4 weeks). Each group was designed to have a maximum of 12 participants. The LY groups were facilitated by one experienced certified lead LY trainer and supported by one of the three co-investigators who were also certified LY facilitators. In order to maintain consistency in the content of the LY group intervention across different groups the lead facilitator followed a pre-designed intervention content schedule. The three co-investigators monitored the lead LY trainer's fidelity to this planned schedule of activities using a pre-designed checklist.

Each session included the four essential steps of LY with integrated laughter meditation and grounding exercises. The intervention also provides an opportunity to connect with other people in the group in an enjoyable way. The four steps of LY are composed of (1) warm up exercises (e.g. clapping and body movement, (2) deep breathing exercises, (3) childlike playfulness and (4) laughter exercises (e.g. greeting laughter, lion laughter and other self-created laughter exercises, and closing cheers).

Laughter meditation involves focusing on the experience of laughter and the associated bodily sensations. The resulting focus on the presentmoment is hypothesized to provide temporary relief from negative thoughts and rumination whilst providing an opportunity for a release of negative emotions. Unconditional or genuine laughter is often experienced during laughter meditation; this can become infectious and trigger laughter in other people within the group, hence creating greater connections with group members. The grounding exercises generally consist of a brief guided relaxation with deep breathing and are designed to enable participants to ground the energy of laughter and relax after each laughter exercise. The childlike playfulness aspect of LY is integrated into many of the laughter exercises through acting and improvisation, it is intended to reduce inhibitions, cultivate a sense of openness and convert simulated laughter into genuine laughter during the groups. This sense of playfulness and openness is reinforced at the end of each laughter exercise by swinging the arms and chanting "Very good", "Very good" and "Yay". An example of a laughter exercise incorporating playfulness is the "milkshake laughter" exercise, in which participants pour and mix the ingredients of two imaginary glasses of milk by chanting "Aeee" and then laugh when pretending that they are drinking the milkshake. A selection of different LY exercises were conducted in each group to avoid repetition. Participants were also given a LY workbook and encouraged to practice the LY exercises individually outside the group sessions (i.e. at home).

#### 3.7.2. Treatment-as-usual

Both the intervention and TAU control groups received their usual routine community mental health care (including medications) and attended medical outpatient appointments as determined by their individual needs. We asked TAU participants to refrain from joining any LY group or other humour-based formal intervention during the study time. The RA also asked the participants if they had attended such sessions during the follow-up assessments.

#### 3.7.3. Data collection

The RA and keyworkers collected the baseline data at recruitment (including sociodemographic data, quantitative measures and relevant clinical data). The RA collected all follow-up outcome data and conducted the qualitative interviews. The primary and secondary outcomes were recorded at baseline, after the 4 weeks' intervention period (within one week of finishing the groups), and at 3 months after finishing the intervention.

All participants completed a demographic questionnaire specifically developed for this study. Information gathered included their age, sex, marital status, living situation, education level, employment status, comorbid physical illnesses, duration of depression diagnosis and prescribed medications for mental health.

#### 3.7.4. Establishing the feasibility of conducting a full scale RCT

In order to assess the feasibility of conducting a full scale RCT, pertinent data was recorded throughout the study, including: participation/refusal rate, drop-outs, intervention attendance rates, adverse events and reasons for non-participation/withdrawal. LY participants were also asked to keep a diary (contained within the LY workbooks) of when and for how long that they may have practiced the intervention outside the facilitated groups and during the follow-up period in order to ascertain the feasibility of home practice.

## 3.8. Establishing acceptability and satisfaction of the LY intervention from patients' perspectives

Individual qualitative interviews were conducted to explore patients' views on the acceptability of group LY. Twelve patients who received the LY intervention were invited to a short interview (maximum of 25 min) with the RA at three months' follow-up. To obtain a broad spectrum of views about the intervention, participants were purposively selected for interview based on their level of participation and outcomes (i.e. two participants from each of the following groups: full attendance, partial attendance (60–90%), infrequent attendance (<50%), and three participants each from: DASS improved, DASS no change/deterioration).

In order to ascertain patients' satisfaction with the intervention all LY participants were asked to complete the Chinese language version of the Client Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ8) (Attkisson and Zwick, 1982; Attkisson, 2012) in the week post intervention. The CSQ8 is a widely used and well-established standardised self-report measure of





client/patient satisfaction with a service or intervention. It consists of eight Likert scale questions scored from 1–4 and is reported to have excellent reliability (alpha coefficients range from 0.83 to 0.93) and internal consistency in patients with a variety of physical and mental health conditions (Attkisson and Zwick, 1982).

#### 3.9. Establishing potential effects of the LY intervention on patient outcomes

Participants' levels of depression, anxiety and stress was measured using the Chinese version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS–21) initially developed by Lovibond and Lovibond (1995). It consists of 21 items with three subscales of seven items each (depression, anxiety and stress). Each item is scored on a 4-point Likert scale (from 0–3), with a higher score indicating more severe levels of distress. The Chinese version has been shown to have good test-retest reliability, internal consistency and convergent validity with the Chinese Beck Depression Inventory and Chinese State-Anxiety Inventory in the general population and in people with diagnosed mental illness (Oei et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2010, 2012). The Short Form 12 item (version 2) Health Survey (SF12v2) was used to measure patients' self-reported physical (PCS-12 composite score) and mental (MCS-12 composite score) health-related quality of life (Lam et al., 2013). The Hong Kong Chinese version of the SF12v2 has demonstrated good test-retest reliability and internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha 0.67; and intraclass correlation 0.82); and high sensitivity and very high construct validity in Chinese populations (Lam et al., 2013).

#### 3.10. Data analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to contextualise the demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population. Mann Whitney U Test and Chi-Square/Fisher Exact Test were used for comparisons of demographic/clinical characteristics and outcome measures between the two groups at baseline. Outcome analysis was performed on an intention to treat basis by comparing the changes in the outcomes from baseline to two post-tests between groups using Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) with identity link function and AR(1) correlation structure for the repeated measures. The GEE approach can account for intra-correlated repeated measure data and accommodate missing data that is missing at random. All statistical tests were two-sided and the significance level was set at 5%. Data were analysed by a statistician not otherwise involved in the study.

#### 3.11. Qualitative interview data analysis

Inductive thematic content analysis was used for the interview data (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The recorded interviews were transcribed into Cantonese by the RA and cross-checked for accuracy by one Cantonese-speaking co-investigator. The transcripts were independently coded by two co-investigators. The initial codes were then discussed and combined to form main categories and subcategories. Coding/category discrepancies were resolved by referring back to the data as needed and via further discussion by the research team in order to reach agreement.

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1. Study participants

A total of 494 patients with a diagnosed depressive illness were identified from the patient records. Of these, 206 (41%) did not meet the inclusion criteria, mainly due to scoring too low on the DASS subscales (n = 200). Eleven (2%) were interested to take part, but could not be contacted to complete the baseline assessments. A further 227 (45%) potential participants declined to participate. Finally, 50 participants were randomly allocated into either the LY (n = 23) or TAU (n = 27) group after completing the baseline measurements. Please see Fig. 1 for CONSORT diagram summary of the study.

Analysis of participants' baseline demographic and clinical characteristics (Table 1) revealed no statistically significant differences between the two groups. Participants had a mean age of 46 years in the LY group and 49 in the TAU group (Range 18-60). The majority (70%) were women, living with relatives (75%) and were married (42%). A minority were employed (16%), although most (86%) had completed at least secondary school education. They had been diagnosed with depression for an average of around 4 years in the LY group and 5 years in the TAU group. One half of participants had also been diagnosed with comorbid physical illnesses. All were prescribed antidepressant medication, with just under a third (28%) receiving two different antidepressant drugs. The majority (52%) were prescribed a hypnotic, 60% were taking anxiolytics and 40% were also prescribed an antipsychotic drug. Please see Table 1 for study participants' demographic and clinical characteristics.

#### 4.2. Feasibility of conducting a full scale RCT

The overall refusal rate of eligible participants was 78.8% (227 from 288). Of these, 66% (n = 152) were not interested in the intervention and 25% (n = 57) were unable to attend due to inconvenient group times/locations. Seventeen (7%) of eligible participants declined participation due to their mental state. Nineteen (83%) of the 23 patients randomised to the LY group after baseline measures were completed received the intervention, the most common reason for not starting the intervention was a lack of time and inconvenience of the LY group schedule.

In terms of attrition, one LY participant was lost to follow-up at the three-month point as she had left Hong Kong. All 27 TAU participants completed assessments at baseline and at T1 (post intervention) and one was lost to follow up at three-months, also due to being away from Hong Kong. The attendance rates of the 19 participants who were randomized to the LY group ranged from 1-8 sessions, with a median of 4 (mean = 4.10, SD = 2.64). Unfortunately, only two LY participants returned their completed workbooks with details of home practice. One

Table 1		
Sample demographic/clinical	characteristics at	baseline.

	LY (1	n = 23)	TAU $(n = 27)$	
	n (%	)	n (%)	р
Age ( <i>M, SD</i> )	46.3	0, 12.84	49.37, 9.13	.53 <sup>a</sup>
Duration of depression diagnosis, in		9, 45.21	62.31,	.19 <sup>a</sup>
months (M, SD)			49.47	
Gender	6	(0(1)	0 (00 0)	Fob
Male	6	(26.1)	9 (33.3)	.58
Female Marital status	17	(73.9)	18 (00.7)	50 <sup>b</sup>
Single	7	(21.8)	4 (14.8)	.50
Married	8	(31.0)	(14.0)	
Widow/Divorced	7	(31.8)	10 (37)	
Dwelling status	,	(0110)	10 (07)	.73 <sup>°</sup>
Living alone	4	(18.2)	7 (25.9)	
Living with relatives	18	(81.8)	20 (74.1)	
Education level (Highest qualification	)			.44 <sup>b</sup>
No education	2	(9.1)	1 (3.7)	
Primary	3	(13.6)	8 (29.6)	
Secondary	14	(63.6)	17 (63)	
University or above	2	(9.1)	1 (3.7)	
Others (e.g. still under	1	(4.5)	0 (0)	
education)				h
Employment status		(a =)		.500
Full-time/Part time	2	(9.5)	6 (22.2)	
Unemployed	16	(76.2)	18 (66.7)	
Others (e.g. Housewife)	3	(14.3)	3 (11.1)	
Physical comorbidities	on) 1	(17.4)	4 (14 9)	1.00 <sup>c</sup>
Diabetic	011) 4 2	(17.4)	4(14.8) 6(22.2)	26°
Chronic Pain	2	(8.70)	3(111)	1.00°
Hepatic (e g Fatty liver)	1	(4.35)	2(740)	1.00 <sup>c</sup>
Respiratory (e.g. Asthma)	0	(0)	2(7.40)	.49 <sup>c</sup>
Neurological	1	(4.35)	1 (3.70)	1.00 <sup>c</sup>
Endocrine	1	(4.35)	1 (3.70)	1.00 <sup>c</sup>
Others	2	(8.70)	2 (7.40)	1.00 <sup>c</sup>
No. of physical comorbidities				.47 <sup>b</sup>
0	12	(54.5)	13 (48.1)	
1	6	(27.3)	10 (37.0)	
2	3	(13.6)	1 (3.7)	
3 or above	`1	(4.5)	3 (11.1)	
No of antidepressants				.53 <sup>b</sup>
1	17	(73.9)	18 (66.7)	
2	5	(21.7)	9 (33.3)	b
No of hypnotics		(= 0, 0)		.59
0	12	(52.2)	15 (55.6)	
L No. of consideration	10	(43.5)	12 (44.4)	2005
No of anxiolytics	11	(47.0)	9 (20 6)	.29
0	0	(47.8)	8 (29.0) 17 (62.0)	
1 2	9 2	(39.1)	$\frac{1}{(03.0)}$	
No of antipsychotics		(0.7)	2 (7.7)	77 <sup>b</sup>
0	14	(60.9)	15 (55.6)	.,,
1	8	(34.8)	12 (44.4)	
-	0	(2.110)	-= (	

LY: Laughter Yoga Group; TAU: Treatment as usual group.

Note: LY group demographic/clinical information missing for one to two participants.

Mann Whitney U Test.

<sup>b</sup> Chi-Square Test.

Fisher Exact Test

\*p< 0.05.

practiced every day for 5 to 10 min from the start of the intervention to 3 months follow-up. The other practiced LY at home on 12 occasions (for 5 to 10 min) during the month when she attended the groups. The main reason for not competing the workbooks was due to forgetfulness or lack of motivation. Some participants also expressed concerns about practicing at home, which was explored in the individual qualitative interviews.
#### D. Bressington et al.

#### Table 2

Examples of participant quotes by theme.

Theme	Sub-theme	Quote
What worked	Stress relief and relaxation	"When interacting with each other with ha ha, feeling more relaxed" (LY32) "Teaches you the techniques of releasing the stress such as appraising positively to yourself by saying "very good very good !" helps people with illness to alleviate emotions release stress" (LY38) "The atmosphere is relaxing, very enjoyable., I never thought I can laugh so easily, in the past I easily get tense, sometimes new Lleugh a hit more (LYA)" (LYA)
	Happiness	"Being taught by the instructor and with the group are happybeing relaxed, playing together is happiness" (LY21) "I laugh very happily indeed, so freely I have never been so happy at home before especially in this recent year, now I can laugh happily, I feel good and blessed" (LY38) "When I feel unhappy, I will say "ha ha ha" to myself and become happy"(LY23)
	Exercise without restrictions	"We are taught how to breath in and out and it can be practiced while we are on the bus or waiting for the bus". (LY21) "The he-he-ha-ha activity can be done while walking or waiting for the bus, do it silently, people won't notice you are breathing, I can help myself without affecting others". (LY04) "While cooking and washing. I will do "ha ha ho ho" in the kitchen, while watching TV. I will clap hands"(LY11).
	Laughing in a group	"We will act together and share our feelings in group after the event, the interaction and the exchanges with others are friendly I like the activity of acting as sailing boats and swinging motion it is fun" (LY54) " one follows the other it is a genuine laugh, not the same as the dead atmosphere at work it gives the group an environment and the feelings of being together" (LY11) " I like neutricing in a meant if not attending the closes. I may do nothing no spirit at all" (LY43)
What did not work	Difficulty practicing outside the groups	"I will practice at home at the beginning, especially when my do hotning, ho spin at dat (114-5) "I will practice at home at the beginning, especially when my emotion is bad. This made me feel relaxed and happy, I didn't have to keep things bottled up but my sons would say I am crazythey told me to calm myself down" (LY32) "I am staying at home in a subdivided flat and I don't even have space to practice. My children will scold me, they are old enough to call me crazy now he will scold me" (LY04) "I fear that neighbors would think I am crazy-therefore rarely practice" (LY38)
	Physical and mental health barriers to attendance	"I am so afraid to meet people. I am scared that the others will see me and don't want to meet anyone. I just want to hide myself. Sometimes I don't want to go anywhere I feel very uncomfortable and tired I don't have the mood to do it." (LY32) "If I am not injured, I will attend all the sessionsI have been seeing the physiotherapist for a long time, but I was still feeling painful all the time. And then I started feeling reluctant to come" (LY21)
	Childlike playfulness	"I had a hospital admission and could not practice the LY" (LY06) "It is useless from my perspective, I find these activities to be childish. I know I should not devalue it. But when I am doing those movements, I find that to be childish" (LY57). " Because she told us to return to the childhood and act like a child this makes me resist at the beginning I am already while the product of the L double number of the part and the like a child
	Negative effects	quite old. I have thought of whether I should return in the next session" (LY11) "I am feeling breathless and feeling very uncomfortable. I was feeling extremely uncomfortable on the second and third day. (LY23)
What to improve	Bigger venue	My nearbeat became very obviously jast. The place made the jeet uncomfortable. I just know that I couldn't steep wet at those nights. I don't know what's going on" (LYO6) "I think the venue can be bigger. It would be great if the sessions could be held outdoor." (LYO4) "We are doing movements at most of the time. If the area is bigger, it will be less crowded and group members will feel more comfortable (LY12)
	Realistic expectations	"The first session I don't know the fact that it will involve so much things I mean laughter Yoga I am quite surprised. After doing a few acts in the first session, why is it so different (from other yoga programmes)? (LY11) "Better to have some introductory information about LY and better to let participants know the content of the 8 sessions" (LY57)
	Increase number of people in the groups	"It would better if there are more people. The more people the better I don't have a specific number on that More people can create a better atmosphere" (LY04) "It would be hampier if there are more people. More people when practicing So that we can laugh together" (LY32)
	Greater variation of group exercises	"Apart from laughter and "happiness", you can think of adding some songs (into the programme) singing songsand unleashing our desire to perform" (LY21) "We were doing similar things throughout the 8 sessions, it is quite rigid", I mean there is nothing new. You need some variety among the activities. More movement involving four limbs in LY would be better" (LY42)
	Longer program	"I think the number of sessions is too little. I prefer at least 10–15 sessions because we are not familiar (with the exercise) at the beginningEveryone does (encounter the same problem) We are not dare to laugh at the beginning" (LYO6) "It is good to provide a long term course for us those with depression or those who are taking your medications It is good for us if this programme can last longer because we our kind of people always have poor memory" (LY38).

#### 4.3. Satisfaction and acceptability of the LY intervention

The LY participants' (n = 19) satisfaction with the intervention (measured using the CSQ8) ranged from 16 to 30 (from a maximum of 32), with a mean score of 21.90 (SD=3.67) and median of 22.0; suggesting an overall favourable level of satisfaction.

Twelve LY participants were purposively selected to attend an individual follow-up interview in accordance with the study protocol. One did not attend due to being way from Hong Kong. The eleven interviews lasted from 10 to 25 min. Content analysis of the transcripts revealed three main themes: *what worked, what did not work,* and *what to improve.* Thirteen sub-themes were also identified. Please see Table 2 for each theme, subtheme and associated example quotations.

In terms of positive effects of LY ("what worked" theme), most of the interviewees who attended more than two sessions explained that

attending the groups and practicing the exercises made them feel happy, helped them to relax and provided an opportunity to release negative emotions. Some participants also mentioned that they felt great benefit from the group interaction and sharing their feelings with others. In addition, five interviewees stated that they were able to use the deep breathing approaches and practice some basic LY exercises whilst travelling or carrying out household chores.

In relation to the "*what did not work*" theme, nine participants mentioned having difficulty in practicing laughter yoga openly (at home or in the public area) due to the small living environment in Hong Kong and fears that other people would be concerned about their mental state and label them as being "crazy". Eight participants discussed how daily problems with their mental health (i.e. low mood/ motivation) or physical health (chronic pain) prevented them from attending the groups or practicing LY on some occasions. Three

#### D. Bressington et al.

participants (who attended two or less sessions) did not enjoy or appreciate the childlike playfulness exercises that are at the core of the LY approach and indicated that they encountered difficulty in making fake laughs, especially at the beginning of the course. Three other participants also expressed that they experienced some negative effects of the LY, including feeling breathless and having an increased heart rate.

Many participants also identified some areas of the LY intervention that required improvement ("*what to improve*" theme). These included having a bigger venue, more people in the groups, a wider variety of activities and a longer programme duration. Two interviewees also mentioned a discrepancy between their original expectation of the intervention (i.e. a traditional yoga class) and the actual LY intervention (with fake laughter, playfulness and no traditional yoga positions).

# 4.4. Effects of the group-based LY intervention compared with treatment as usual

The outcome measure results indicated that the LY group had a statistically greater decrease in depression (DASS21 – Depression scale) than the control group from baseline to immediately following the intervention (B = -5.123, 95%CI: -9.527 to -0.72; p = 0.023). However, there was no statistically significant difference in the change in depression from baseline to 3-month follow-up between the two groups (B = -2.724; 95%CI: -7.106 to 1.658; p = 0.223).

There was also a statistically greater improvement in mental health related quality of life (MCS of SF12v2) in the LY group compared to the control group from baseline to immediately after the intervention (B = 4.386, 95%CI: 0.342 to 8.430; p = 0.034). Similarly to the depression scores, the improvement in mental health related quality of life was not significantly different between groups over 3-months follow-up (B = 3.775, 95%CI: -0.883 to 8.432; p = 0.112).

There were no statistically significant differences in changes in anxiety (DASS21 –Anxiety scale) between groups from baseline to the first follow-up (B = -3.256, 95%CI: -7.309 to 0.258; p = 0.068) or second follow-up (B = -2.321, 95%CI: -6.458 to 1.816; p = 0.271). There were also no significant differences between groups in changes in stress (DASS21- Stress scale) from baseline to the first (B = -3.796, 95%CI: -7.743 to 0.151; p = 0.59) or second (B = -2.101, 95%CI: -6.200 to 1.997; p = 0.315) follow-up points. Likewise, changes in physical health related quality of life (PCS of SF12v2) were not significantly different between the groups immediately following the intervention (B = 0.476, 95%CI: 1.706 to -2.867; p = 0.780) or at 3-months follow-up (B = -2.767, 95%CI: -6.854 to 1.501; p = 0.209).

Please see Table 3 for the estimated marginal means and standard errors of the outcome measures at all follow-up points.

#### 5. Discussion

Despite the promising results observed post intervention, the feasibility of conducting a future large scale randomized controlled trial of LY in the study setting using exactly the same study design and procedures is doubtful. We eventually recruited approximately 20% of eligible participants, which was below our target sample size. The main reason for lack of interest in the study related to practical problems with attending LY groups. This was primarily because we scheduled the LY groups twice a week (on weekdays) and many potential participants were unable to commit to this due to existing household and childcare responsibilities. Future studies of LY in the study setting should therefore consider improving accessibility by offering less frequent groups during the week and at weekends, or perhaps by offering four groups per week of which participants could choose two that are most convenient. Some of the eligible clients were also unfamiliar with the LY intervention and refused to take part because they feared they would be required to maintain physically strenuous yoga poses. We addressed this in the latter phases of recruitment by showing video examples of the intervention to alleviate their concerns. This strategy seemed to be effective, and therefore future studies of LY could consider utilising multi-media information sources to ensure that potential participants are very clear about the nature of the intervention, rather than just relying on discussion and written information.

On reflection, our participant eligibility criteria were also very restrictive and this appears to have been a barrier to recruitment. We specified that participants were required to have residual symptoms of depression, in addition to residual anxiety and/or stress in order to join the study. These eligibility criteria resulted in 40% of the almost 500 potentially eligible participants being excluded because they scored too low on one or more of the DASS subscales. In fact, 63 people who met the minimum symptom threshold for depression were deemed ineligible to take part because they did not have additional symptoms of anxiety and/or stress. Therefore, the feasibility of recruiting sufficient numbers for a future full scale RCT might be improved by adopting eligibility criteria of residual depressive symptoms without the requirement for other additional symptoms.

We also examined satisfaction of the LY intervention from participants' perspectives; the median CSQ8 scores indicated a generally positive level of satisfaction and perceived usefulness of the LY intervention. In addition, the individual qualitative interviews revealed some interesting and useful information that is relevant for planning future LY interventions for people with depression. The majority of participants found that the simulated laughter and breathing exercises were very useful to help them relieve stress/tension and generally feel happier. Many participants also reported that laughing in a group setting triggered contagious genuine laughter and that attending the groups afforded them a rare opportunity to share their feelings with others. These perceived benefits seem to be consistent with the literature suggesting hypothesized therapeutic effects of LY (Bennett and Lengacher, 2008; Shaidi et al., 2010; Pan and Yeh, 2016).

In terms of the acceptability/tolerance of the LY intervention, three study participants described experiencing some discomfort relating to an increased heart rate, developing a dry mouth and feeling breathless.

Table 3				
Study outcome measur	es of both	groups at	the three	time points

Basel	line		Post intervention	3 months		
Outcome	LYEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)	TAUEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)	LYEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)	TAUEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)	LYEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)	TAUEstimated Marginal Mean (SE)
Depression	27.62 (1.99)	23.48 (1.41)	23.10 (2.01)	24.07 (1.78)	24.23 (1.95)	22.81 (1.75)
Anxiety	26.87 (1.42)	22.30 (1.26)	23.78 (1.51)	22.74 (1.42)	24.17 (1.55)	21.92 (1.84)
Stress	29.62 (1.40)	24.74 (1.60)	26.19 (1.75)	25.11 (1.28)	27.34 (1.45)	24.56 (1.72)
PCS	37.35 (1.58)	36.54 (1.11)	38.54 (1.77)	37.26 (1.23)	36.26 (1.97)	38.14 (1.44)
MCS	30.60 (1.48)	35.30 (1.21)	33.93 (1.95)	34.25 (1.32)	34.84 (1.58)	35.77 (1.74)

LY: Laughter Yoga Group; TAU: Treatment as usual group.

SE = Standard Error.

PCS = Physical composite score of SF12v2; MCS = Mental composite score of SF12v2.

Depression, Anxiety and Stress subscales from DASS21.

However, none of these issues required any medical/nursing intervention. None of the previous LY studies has reported the incidence of adverse advents and it is therefore impossible to ascertain if such discomfort is a common occurrence (Bressington et al., 2018). Similarly, many studies of traditional yoga for depression fail to report harms/ adverse events (Cramer et al., 2013); although systematic reviews of yoga for schizophrenia (Cramer et al., 2013a) and anxiety/stress (Li and Goldsmith, 2012) concluded that there was no evidence of severe adverse events. A minority of participants (n = 3) reported that they found it difficult to engage with the playfulness aspect of LY and make fake laughs. It is noteworthy that these participants found this most problematic in the earlier groups, and this may suggest that there needs to be a degree of socialisation into the intervention in order to cultivate a sense of openness and remove initial inhibitions. Problems engaging with the intervention have not been reported in previous LY studies (Bressington et al., 2018), however most of these studies involved participants who had pre-existing relationships with each other (i.e. college students, care home residents and work colleagues). Whereas many of the LY group members in the current study did not know each other and this lack of familiarity might have further contributed towards any embarrassment. Future studies of LY might benefit from integrating some relationship building activities into the initial group sessions.

Although some participants were able to use the breathing exercises and less obvious LY techniques whilst in public, the majority were not able to openly practice LY whilst at home or outside. The inability to practice arose from concerns that others would view them as "crazy" because they would be overheard in the densely populated environment of Hong Kong. These fears are understandable in Hong Kong due to the prevailing stigmatisation towards mental illness reported in Chinese societies, and may be magnified because Chinese people are likely to internalize this public stigma (Kung, 2001; Mak and Cheung, 2008) and perceive a need to keep their mental illness a secret (Ow and Katz 1999). It is therefore possible that further improvements in depression and mental health related quality of life were not observed at 3 months follow-up due to the lack of home practice performed by the LY participants. While most LY studies (and other similar laughter therapy studies) have only measured outcomes immediately following the groups, there is some limited evidence that improvements in mental well-being can be maintained over time, albeit not in a study population with a diagnosed depressive illness. For example, a study involving 33 employees of a behavioural health centre reported that 15 daily sessions of LY techniques resulted in significant improvements in selfregulation, optimism, positive emotions, and social identification that were maintained at 90 days follow-up (Beckman et al., 2007).

Based on the participants' narratives, some modifications to the intervention should be considered to enhance engagement and promote home LY practice. Data from the qualitative interviews highlight that the less obtrusive home LY exercises, such as clapping and silently/ quietly chanting "ha ha, ho ho", were regularly used by some participants, suggesting that these type of exercises may be more acceptable. As most of the participants' concerns about using the more obvious home LY exercises related to how they may be viewed as being "crazy" by family members, this may suggest that there is a need to socialise family members into the intervention before home practice can be used. Therefore, it may be useful to encourage participants to share information about LY with their relatives, or perhaps invite dyads of participants and their relatives to attend the LY groups together. However, promoting home practice to maintain improvements in outcomes is likely to be challenging because participants' lack of persistence with yoga-based interventions and the loss of short-term gains is a commonly reported issue, particularly in people with depression. For example, a 6 month RCT of traditional yoga for healthy older adults (Flegal et al., 2007) reported an overall class attendance rate of 77% and 64% adherence with yoga home practice, however participants with higher self-rated depression scores at baseline were statistically

more likely to drop out and less likely to engage in home practice. Similarly, a systematic review of yoga for depression (Cramer et al., 2013) reported that only five from the twelve included RCTs had acceptable rates of attrition. Some potential strategies to improve class attendance, study attrition and persistence with home practice might include providing reminders, making home practice instructions as simple as possible, rewarding attendance and offering social support/ reinforcement (Flegal et al., 2007; McDonald et al., 2002; Salmon et al., 1998).

A number of potential modifications to the interventions were directly proposed by the study participants, and these may enhance the effectiveness and acceptability of the intervention. Perhaps most importantly, these included ensuring that potential participants were fully aware how the LY intervention differs from traditional yoga and including a greater variety of LY exercises/activities in the groups. Some participants also suggested that singing and/or exercise that is more physical should be built into the LY intervention. This would be potentially beneficial as some studies have previously been conducted using "Laughter Therapy", which includes some of the simulated laughter techniques used in LY in conjunction with exercise. These studies resulted in significant improvements (immediately post-intervention) in general health, insomnia, and anxiety (Ghodsbin et al., 2015), self-rated health (Hirosaki et al., 2013), and depression/sleep quality (Ko and Youn, 2011) in the elderly participants.

The final objective of this study was to evaluate the potential effects of the group-based laughter yoga (LY) intervention on depression, anxiety, stress and health related quality of life. The results were encouraging as there were statistically greater improvements in depression and mental health related quality of life in the LY group compared to the control group immediately after the intervention. However, these statistically significant improvements were not apparent from baseline to 3 months follow-up. There were no significant differences between groups in other outcome measures.

#### 6. Study limitations and strengths

This study has some limitations worthy of consideration. This is a feasibility study with a small sample size. It was also impossible to blind participants to group allocation, and as the outcomes measures were all self-completed, the results are heavily subject to performance and social-desirability bias. A further potential limitation is the reliance on community diagnoses of psychiatric disorders to assess eligibility (as opposed to the use of a structured diagnostic interview). In addition, the study did not involve an active comparison group intervention; therefore, there is a risk that the positive effects of the LY intervention may only relate to non-specific group effects. Despite these limitations, this study has a number of methodological strengths, including the random selection of participants, random allocation to groups and strict adherence to the study protocol.

#### 7. Conclusion

The findings suggest that a full-scale RCT of LY as an adjunctive treatment for residual symptoms of depression could be feasible if some modifications were made to the protocol/intervention. The results also show that the intervention could be effective to reduce depression and improve mental health related quality of life immediately post intervention. Future studies of the LY intervention in Hong Kong should use an active control group intervention, adopt a less restrictive residual symptom eligibility criteria, aim to gradually socialise participants into the intervention, incorporate a greater variety of exercises in groups, teach home practice exercises that can be used unobtrusively and schedule sessions flexibly to encourage attendance.

#### Author statement

The study was designed by DB, WTC, MB and JM, all other authors made suggestions/comments about the protocol. Data collection was conducted by CY and facilitated by JM. SFL, KC and CW provided support for the intervention group facilitator. DB, CW, SFL, KC and CY conducted the qualitative data analysis. DB drafted the first version of the manuscript. Each author listed has made a substantial contribution to the manuscript, has read and approved the final version, and is able to take public responsibility for it.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

We declare no conflicts of interests.

#### Funding

The study was funded by Hong Kong Polytechnic University Departmental General Research Funds (Grant number: G-UAB6). The funders had no involvement in the study design; collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank all the participants and nursing staff for their time in contributing to the study. Thanks also go to Doris YP Leung (biostatistician at Hong Kong Polytechnic University), Ms Natalie Wah Yin Lui (Laughter Yoga facilitator) and Mr Chi-Wai Yuen (local site coordinator at Castle Peak Hospital) for their help.

#### Supplementary materials

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.jad.2019.01.030.

#### References

- Attkisson, C.C., Zwick, R., 1982. The client satisfaction questionnaire: psychometric properties and correlations with service utilization and psychotherapy outcome. Eval. Program Plan. 5 (3), 233–237.
- Attkisson, C.C., 2012. The CSQ Scales Reprint Portfolio. Tamalpais Matrix Systems, LLC, Mill Valley, CA.
- Beckman, H., Regier, N., Young, J., 2007. Effect of workplace laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs. J. Prim. Prev. 28 (2), 167–182.
- Bennett, MP, Lengacher, C., 2008. Humor and laughter may influence health: III. Laughter and health outcomes. Evid. Based Complement Altern. Med. 5, 37–40. Bennett, P.N., Parsons, T., Ben-Moshe, R., Neal, M., Weinberg, M.K., Gilbert, K.,
- Hutchinson, A.M., 2015. Intradialytic Laughter Yoga therapy for haemodialysis patients: a pre-post intervention feasibility study. BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 15 (1), 1.
- Berk, L.S., Tan, S.A., Fry, W.F., Napier, B.J., Lee, J.W., Hubbard, R.W., Eby, W.C., 1989. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. Am. J. Med. Sci. 298 (6), 390–396.
- Billingham, S.A., Whitehead, A.L., Julious, S.A., 2013. An audit of sample sizes for pilot and feasibility trials being undertaken in the United Kingdom registered in the United Kingdom Clinical Research Network database. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 13 (1), 1. Braun, V., Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3

(2), 77–101. Bressington, D., Yu, C., Wong, W., Ng T, C., Chien, W T, 2018. The effects of group -based

- Laughter Yoga interventions on mental health in adults: a systematic review. J. Psychiatr. Mental Health Nurs. 25, 517–527.
- Chan, Y.F., Leung, D.Y., Fong, D.Y., Leung, C.M., Lee, A.M., 2010. Psychometric evaluation of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale in a large community sample of adolescents in Hong Kong. Qual. Life Res. 19 (6), 865–873.
- Chan, R.C., Xu, T., Huang, J., Wang, Y., Zhao, Q., Shum, D.H., Potangaroa, R., 2012. Extending the utility of the Depression Anxiety Stress scale by examining its psychometric properties in Chinese settings. Psychiatry Res. 200 (2), 879–883.
- Cramer, H., Lauche, R., Langhorst, J., Dobos, G., 2013. Yoga for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Depress. Anxiety 30 (11), 1068–1083.
- Cramer, H., Lauche, R., Klose, P., Langhorst, J., Dobos, G., 2013a. Yoga for schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry 13 (1), 32. Dolgoff-Kaspar, R, Baldwin, A, Johnson, MS, Edling, N, Sethi, GK, 2012. Effect of laughter
- yoga on mood and heart rate variability in patients awaiting organ transplantation: a

#### Journal of Affective Disorders 248 (2019) 42-51

pilot study. Altern. Ther. Health Med. 18 (5), 61-66.

- Flegal, K.E., Kishiyama, S., Zajdel, D., Haas, M., Oken, B.S., 2007. Adherence to yoga and exercise interventions in a 6-month clinical trial. BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 7 (1), 37.
- Fujisawa, A., Ota, A., Matsunaga, M., Li, Y., Kakizaki, M., Naito, H., Yatsuya, H., 2018. Effect of laughter yoga on salivary cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone among healthy university students: a randomized controlled trial. Complement. Therap. Clin. Pract. 32, 6–11.
- Ghodsbin, F., Ahmadi, Z.S., Jahanbin, I., Sharif, F., 2015. The effects of laughter therapy on general health of elderly people referring to jahandidegan community center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: a randomized controlled trial. Int. J. Community Based Nurs. Midwifery 3 (1), 31.
- Hirosaki, M., Ohira, T., Kajiura, M., Kiyama, M., Kitamura, A., Sato, S., Iso, H., 2013. Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: randomized controlled trial. Geriatr. Gerontol. Int. 13 (1), 152–160.
- Hubert, W., Möller, M., de Jong-Meyer, R., 1993. Film-induced amusement changes in saliva cortisol levels. Psychoneuroendocrinology 18 (4), 265–272.
- Julious, SA., 2005. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. Pharm. Stat. 4, 287–291.
- Kataria, M., 2005. Laugh For No Reason. Madhuri International, India.
- Kessler, RC, Bromet, EJ., 2013. The epidemiology of depression across cultures. Ann. Rev. Public Health 34, 119–138.
- Kjaer, T.W., Bertelsen, C., Piccini, P., Brooks, D., Alving, J., Lou, H.C., 2002. Increased dopamine tone during meditation-induced change of consciousness. Cognit. Brain Res. 13 (2), 255–259.
- Ko, H.J., Youn, C.H., 2011. Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. Geriatr. Gerontol. Int. 11 (3), 267–274.Kung, W.W., 2001. Consideration of cultural factors in working with Chinese American
- Kung, W.W., 2001. Consideration of cultural factors in working with Chinese American families with a mentally ill patient. Fam. Soc. 82, 97–107.
- Lam, E.T., Lam, C.L., Fong, D.Y., Huang, W.W., 2013. Is the SF-12 version 2 Health Survey a valid and equivalent substitute for the SF-36 version 2 Health Survey for the Chinese? J. Eval. Clin. Pract. 19 (1), 200–208.
- Li, AW, Goldsmith, CA., 2012. The effects of yoga on anxiety and stress. Altern. Med. Rev. 17, 21–35.
- Lovibond, P.F., Lovibond, S.H., 1995. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. Behav. Res. Ther. 33, 335–343.
- Mak, W.W., Cheung, R.Y., 2008. Affiliate stigma among caregivers of people with in-
- tellectual disability or mental illness. J. Appl. Res. Intellect. Disabil. 21 (6), 532–545. Marcus, M, Taghi Yasamy, M, van Ommeren, M, Chisholm, D, Shekhar Saxena, S, 2012. Depression: a global public health concern. WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse. http://www.who.int/mental\_health/management/depression/ who\_paper\_depression\_wfmh\_2012.pdf.
- McDonald, HP, Garg, AX, Haynes, RB, 2002. Interventions to enhance patient adherence to medication prescriptions: scientific review. JAMA 288, 2868–2879.
- Miller, IW, Keitner, GI, Schatzberg, AF, Klein, DN, Thase, ME, et al., 1998. The treatment of chronic depression, part 3: psychosocial functioning before and after treatment with sertraline or imipramine. J. Clin. Psychiatry 59, 608–619.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2009. Depression in adults: Recognition and Management. Clinical Guideline CG90, DoH, UK.
- Nierenberg, A.A., Keefe, B.R., Leslie, V.C., Alpert, J.E., Pava, J.A., Worthington, J.J., Rosenbaum, J.F., Fava, M., 1999. Residual symptoms in depressed patients who respond acutely to fluoxetine. J. Clin. Psychiatry 60, 221–225.
- Nil, R., Lütolf, S., Seifritz, E., 2016. Residual symptoms and functionality in depressed outpatients: a one-year observational study in Switzerland with escitalopram. J. Affect. Disord. 197, 245–250.
- Oei, T.P., Sawang, S., Goh, Y.W., Mukhtar, F., 2013. Using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale 21 (DASS-21) across cultures. In. J. Psychol. 48, 1018–1029.
- Ow, R., Katz, D., 1999. Family secrets and the disclosure of distressful information in Chinese families. Fam. Soc. 80, 620–628.
- Pan, P.Y., Yeh, C.B., 2016. Laughter therapy in a geriatric patient with treatment-resistant depression and comorbid tardive dyskinesia. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 50 (12), 1206–1207.
- Pilkington, G, Kirkwood, H, Rampes, J., 2005. Richardson Yoga for depression: the research evidence. J. Affect. Disord. 89, 13–24.
- Ravindran, A.V., Lam, R.W., Filteau, M.J., Lespérance, F., Kennedy, S.H., Parikh, S.V., Patten, S.B., 2009. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) Clinical guidelines for the management of major depressive disorder in adults.: V. Complementary and alternative medicine treatments. J. Affect. Disord. 117, S54–S64.
- Reddy, M.S., 2010. Depression: the disorder and the burden. Indian J. Psychol. Med. 32 (1), 1–2.
- Rush, AJ, Trivedi, MH, Wisniewski, SR, Nierenberg, AA, Stewart, JW, et al., 2006. Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR\*D report. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 1905–1917.
- Saeed, S.A., Antonacci, D.J., Bloch, R.M., 2010. Exercise, yoga, and meditation for depressive and anxiety disorders. Am. Fam. Physician 81 (8).
- Salmon, PG, Santorelli, SF, Kabat-Zinn, J, 1998. Intervention elements promoting adherence to mindfulness-based stress reduction programs in the clinical behavioral medicine setting. In: Shumaker, SA, Schron, EB, Ockene, JK, McBee, WL (Eds.), The Handbook of Health Behavior Change, Edited by. Springer Publishing Co, New York, pp. 239–266.
- Shahidi, M., Mojtahed, A., Modabbernia, A., Mojtahed, M., Shafiabady, A., Delavar, A., Honari, H., 2011. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. Int. J. Geriat. Psychiatry 26 (3), 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2545.

#### D. Bressington et al.

- Sim, J., Lewis, M., 2012. The size of a pilot study for a clinical trial should be calculated in relation to considerations of precision and efficiency. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 65, 301–308 6.
- Streeter, C.C., Gerbarg, P.L., Saper, R.B., Ciraulo, D.A., Brown, R.P., 2012. Effects of yoga on the autonomic nervous system, gamma-aminobutyric-acid, and allostasis in epi-lepsy, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder. Med. Hypotheses 78 (5),

- 571–579.
  Van Daele, T., Hermans, D., Van Audenhove, C., Van den Bergh, O., 2012. Stress reduction through psychoeducation: a meta-analytic review. Health Educ. Behav. 39 (4), 474–485.
- WHO, 2016. Depression: fact sheet. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/ en/



Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research

Home Current issue Instructions Submit article

PMCID: PMC3203278

Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2010 Autumn; 15(4): 208–215.

# The effectiveness of stress management training program on depression, anxiety and stress of the nursing students

Mohsen Yazdani, MSc,\* Sara Rezaei, MSc,\*\* and Saeid Pahlavanzadeh, MSc\*\*\*

\*Faculty Member, Department of Psychiatric Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran \*\*\*MSc Student, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Medical Students Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran \*\*\*\*Faculty Member, Nursing and Midwifery Care Research Center, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran Isfahan, Iran

Correspondence to: Mohsen Yazdani, MSc. Email: <u>mohsen\_vazdani@nm.mui.ac.ir</u> This article was derived from MSc thesis in the Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, No: 389253

Received 2010 Jun 24; Accepted 2010 Jul 19.

Copyright : © Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-Share Alike 3.0 Unported, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# Abstract

#### **BACKGROUND:**

Stress has been defined as a barrier to concentration, problem solving, decision making, and other necessary abilities for students' learning; it also has some symptoms and illnesses in the students such as depression and anxiety. In reviewing stress and its consequences, the methods of coping with stress in the method of response to it would be more important than the nature of stress itself. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the effectiveness of stress management training program on depression, anxiety and stress rate of the nursing students.

# **METHODS:**

This parallel group randomized quasi-experimental trial, was done on 68 Bs nursing students of Nursing and Midwifery School in Isfahan University of Medical Sciences from 2010 to 2011. The questionnaires of this study consisted of individual characteristics and Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-42). In a random fashion, The intervention group was trained with stress management training program in 8 two hours sessions, twice a week. The questionnaires were completed by both groups before, after and one month after the study.

#### **RESULTS:**

The results of the study indicated that there was no significant difference before the intervention in depression, anxiety and stress mean scores in the two groups. After the intervention, the mean scores of anxiety and stress in the intervention group was 5.09 (4.87) and 8.93 (6.01) and in the control group was 10 (6.45) and 13.17 (7.20), that reduction in depression mean score was significantly greater in the intervention group in the control group (p = 0.040). Furthermore, the mean scores of anxiety and stress showed a significant difference between the two groups (Anxiety p = 0.001; Stress p = 0.011); this reduction also had been remained after a month.

# **CONCLUSIONS:**

According to the results of the present study, holding stress management training program workshops in different courses of the mental health department can improve mental health of the students.

KEY WORDS: Psychological stress, training programs, depression, anxiety, nursing students

Stress is a multidimensional phenomenon which is focused on dynamic relationship between the individual and the environment. It is also defined as a stressor, individual's response to the stimuli and interaction between the individual and the environment. It should be noted that some degree of stress can be effective on increasing and improving individuals' performance. Evidences indicate that most of the human Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res successes are created in stressful conditions; but high rate of stress would followed by numerous consequences, including mental and physical illnesses, sleep disorders, restlessness, irritability, forgetfulness, abnormal fatigue, reduced individual's resistance and recurrent infections, headaches, poor concentration, memory impairment and reduce in problem solving ability.<sup>1</sup> In general, everyone experiences the stress, but students are a group of people who are at the higher risk of stressors due to the transitional nature of the student life; because they need to adjust themselves with the life environment which requires compliance with new social norms and new friendship. Accordingly, their perception from an event is affected as a stressor and selecting coping strategies which they use them in the particular situations. These groups should cope with the increasing global demands i.e. decision making about issues such as occupation, life style, friends, family, religion and politics. They should also meet the needs of family, teachers, friends and other groups; therefore, they establish important emotional ties with the environment or non-family members and also establish their own value systems which, in most of the cases, influenced by the family and the culture they have been belonged to.<sup>2</sup> Studies indicated that medical students such as nursing students experience many stressor agents.<sup> $\frac{3}{2}$ </sup> Nursing students are influenced by the various hospital stressor agents in addition to the stress caused by theoretical training environment. Hospitals are considered as one of the most stressful work environments, because there, it is the matter of humans' death and life.<sup>4</sup> According to the study of Fathi which was done in Kurdistan in 2004, the most Iran J Nurs Midwifery psychological stress factor of the nurses was related to the ward's critical environment (77.13%) and patients' mortality (75.7%). Besides, Fathi guoted from Nasiri that the most stressful cause of the nursing students had been due to transmission of the contagious diseases.<sup>5</sup> The stress which is resulted from the environment not only can cause the academic failure, but also can affect the way their personality develops and also cause the incidence of many undesirable behaviors in them.<sup>4</sup> Totally, theses stressor agents can be divided into three categories: category related to education, clinical, and socio individual factors.<sup>6</sup> Various types of stress causes the reduction of individual's resistance through the negative effect which apply on the person's social and individual coping resources and in long-term can have unpleasant effects on student's physical and mental health. It was indicated that stress can cause mental and physical illnesses, dysfunction and adjustment disorder and ultimately reduction of students' quality of life. 7.8 So that in 2006, Assadi et al in their study found that psychological problems was more prevalent among medical students, graduates and women.<sup>9</sup> Studies indicated that prevalence and severity of mental and psychological problems has been increased in students compared to the non-student population. According to the reports of National Institute of Mental Health, recent study results in Wolfson Health Sciences Institute of London indicated that 44 percent of the male students and 64 percent of the female students suffered from anxiety and 12 percent of the male students and 15 percent of the female students suffered Iran J Nurs Midwifery from depression. The consultants of the mentioned institute had reported the increase rate of referred students to the consultant centers from 2.4 per 100,000 students in 1995 to 9.7 in 2000.<sup>10</sup> In the study of Ebrahimian on 113 nursing students of Azad University of Semnan, it was indicated that 57.5% of nursing students of Azad University suffered from various degrees of depression.<sup>11</sup> In reviewing stress and its consequences, in the stress coping strategies, the method of response to it would be more important than the nature of stress itself. The more appropriate method used in coping with stress, the less he/she would ġ be damaged.  $\frac{12}{12}$  There are various methods recommended to control or reduce the stress.  $\frac{13}{12}$  Stress coping skills have a comprehensive concept and multiple cognitive-behavioral components. Generally, coping has been described as efforts to comply the individual with the environment or efforts for preventing from the negative consequences of stressful situation. Two main methods for preventing from stress are deal with problem-focused directly on the issue which includes direct activities on the environment in order to change or correction of the situation which is threatening and also emotion-focused practices which include thoughts or activities in order to control the unpleasant feelings which have been created from stressful conditions. Problem oriented techniques include active methods such as cognitive and behavioral

problem solving.<sup>14</sup> Cognitive-behavioral coping strategies are the most effective methods to reduce the stress.<sup>15</sup> Considering that all the living organisms experience the stress, the aim of nursing is not removing 79

the whole stress completely, because stress is part of the life. Response to stress can be in an unhealthy way, and the role of the nurse at this time is helping to promote the health. Health promotion includes strategies for reduction and management of the stress, the nurse also can use nursing process in order to manage the stress.  $\frac{16}{10}$ 

Stress management practices include; yoga relaxation, progressive muscle relaxation, breathing exercises, meditation and mental imagery.  $\frac{17}{17}$  There have been done many studies about the effectiveness of stress management training on anxiety, depression and stress rate so that Mehrabi et al in their study had reviewed the effectiveness of this approach on emotional problems of the diabetic patients and have found that stress management training can be helpful as a comprehensive diabetes care.  $\frac{18}{10}$  Other studies also indicated the efficacy of this approach in reducing the stress and anxiety resulted from the tests in the pupils.  $\frac{15}{15}$  Researches indicated that stress management was associated with reduction of the depression  $\frac{17}{15}$ and anxiety symptoms.  $\frac{15}{15}$  Kong also in his study (2009) titled as "the effectiveness of a stress coping program based on mindfulness meditation on the stress, anxiety, and depression experienced by nursing students in Korea" showed that the above approach could be effective in reduction of the stress and anxiety of the nursing students.<sup>19</sup> The effectiveness of stress management training on the academic achievement of Tiran and Karvan's students was investigated; the results showed that stress management training could result in progression in academic achievement.  $\frac{20}{20}$  Considering the wide use of stress management training program for emotional problems and various diseases and also high rate of anxiety and depression in nursing, the studied researches on this group have been descriptive. Therefore, the researcher decided to conduct a study as reviewing the effectiveness of stress management training program on depression, anxiety and stress of the nursing students of School of Nursing and Midwifery of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences in 2010. It will hope that this study be a step toward enhancing the scientific output and students effort to achieve the decent position and fertile the scientific context more appropriate.

# Methods

This study was a parallel -group randomized quasi-experimental trial, from 2010 to 2011 conducted in Nursing and Midwifery School in Isfahan University of Medical Sciences on 68 Bs nursing students.

The study population included all male and female nursing students who were studying in Isfahan Nursing and Midwifery university in 2010-2011, in the second and third years (third, fourth, fifth and sixth semesters). 72 students were randomly assigned to two groups using the list of students studying in the second and third year in 2010-2011 and based on the odd and even numbers.first group (n=38) trained stress management training program (8 two hours sessions, twice a week). And second group (n = 38) did not recived training.

The groups were heterogeneous in terms of gender and the majority of the members were fixed until the end of the sessions.

In order to match both groups, the questionnaires were analyzed and then called to all. After explanations about the study, they evaluated to had inclusion criteria, then consent forms and the questionnaires were completed by them. Finally seventy-six subjects elected among them.

At the last session of the stress management training program and one month after that, the questionnaires were given to the subjects of both groups to complete them simultaneously. This program was compound of cognitive-behavioral techniques which merged with cognitive-behavioral stress management method as stress management intervention. This program was a close and structural and had the intervention which was 8 sessions, twice a week, that each session was two hours. The activities of the studied sessions were as the following table. To collecting the data, the questionnaire was used which had two parts: a questionnaire for personal information (7 questions) and a self- report questionnaire with 42 questions for anxiety (14), depression (14) and stress (14) with Likert scale from 0 to 40 (DASS-42). The data were analyzed through descriptive and inferential statistical methods using Software SPSS<sub>18</sub>.

1<sup>st</sup> session Introduction session and providing information about the stress 2<sup>nd</sup> session Familiarity with gradual muscle relaxation and its implementation with mental imagery 3<sup>rd</sup> session Familiarity with the consequences and physical symptoms of the stress 4<sup>th</sup> session Relaxation and imagery and training and diaphragm breathing practices 5<sup>th</sup> session Linking thoughts and emotions and familiarity with cognitive errors 6<sup>th</sup> session Discussion about relaxation exercises 7<sup>th</sup> session Replacement of logical thoughts and personal stress management program 8<sup>th</sup> session End of the stress management training program, completing the questionnaire

# **Results**

The mean age in both group was  $20.9 \pm 1.3$  (range: 19-25) and standard deviation was  $21.2 \pm 1.3$ . To assess these parameters, independent t-test was used indicating no significant difference between them (t = 1.14; p = 0.256). In the intervention group 57.6% and 42.4% of the students were female and male respectively, and in the control group 54.3% and 45.7%. In the intervention group and control group 97% and 88.2% of the study subjects were single. The maximum frequency of their current residential rate was in the intervention group (60.6%) for living with the family and in the control group (62.9%) for living in the dormitories. The most incoming rate of the subjects' families was in the intervention group (75%) and control group (79.4%) for living expenses. A hundred percent of the students' parents in the intervention group and 71.4% in control group was related to the third year students. Evaluations of differences in mean changes of depression scores before, just after and one month later in the intervention group was done using ANOVA with repeated observations. The results of this test indicated that statistically there was a significant difference between the depression scores before, just after and one month later of the intervention (p < 0.001). Furthermore in the control group, comparing mean changes of depression scores inciccating a significant difference between the depression scores in three steps (p = 0.006).

ANOVA with repeated observations in mean scores of anxiety in three phases in the intervention group showed that there was a significant difference between mean scores of anxiety in three steps (p = 0.005), and as it was expected, mean scores of anxiety before and after the intervention had a significant difference by used of paired t-test (t = 2.71; p = 0.011), but mean scores of anxiety showed no significant difference after and one month after the intervention based on paired t-test (t = 1.03; p = 0.306) and mean score of anxiety had significant different one month after the intervention compared to before the intervention (t = 3.60; p = 0.001). The mean scores of anxiety had been reduced after the intervention so it can be concluded that stress management training program caused reduction in anxiety symptoms in the nursing students. Comparing mean scores of anxiety before, after and one month after that in the control group was done using ANOVA with repeated observations. The results of this test showed that there was a significant difference based on the paired t-test (t = 4.067; p = 0.000). In addition, mean scores of anxiety had a significant difference after and one month after the study based on paired t-test (t = 2.452; p = 0.019). But mean score of anxiety was not significant one month after the study compared to before the study (t = 0.065; p = 0.949).

Comparing mean scores of stress in the intervention group in three phases, before, after and one month after the intervention showed a significant difference (p = 0.000), but this was not significant in the control group (p = 0.074).

Tables  $\underline{1}$  to  $\underline{3}$  were designed in order to compare mean scores of depression, anxiety and stress in the intervention and control groups in three phases.

# **Discussion**

There were many studies that evaluated the role and importance of the cognitive and behavioral techniques in reducing the stress, anxiety and depression and other mental stress. The aim of present study was to determine the effectiveness of stress management training method on depression, anxiety and stress rate of the nursing students of Nursing and Midwifery school in Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. The results of this study indicated that anxiety level of the nursing students had reduced through implementing stress management training program. In the other hand, the stress management training program caused

Ŧ

reduction in anxiety level which this result was in accordance with the result of of Sajadinejad et al<sup>27</sup>, Mehrabi et al<sup>18</sup>, Davazdahemami et al<sup>28</sup>, Antoni et al studies that all of them have approved the effecacy of cognitive and behavioral stress management on reducing the depression.<sup>29</sup> It is necessary to reduce the anxiety level and prevent educational failure and their efficiency in the clinical practice. As the results of the present study indicated, stress management training program had a reductive effect on anxiety level of the nursing students.<sup>30</sup>

The studies of Hirokawa, Yagi and Miyata showed that stress management training based on the meditation could significantly reduce the anxiety level of the nursing students in the intervention group compared to before the intervention. Besides, this program caused a significant reduction in stress level of the nursing stress in comparison to before the intervention.<sup>31</sup> The study of Heravi et al evaluated the effect of relaxation practices on anxiety level of the nursing students' exams. In the mentioned study it was indicated that relaxation trainingprograms (progressive muscle relaxation and diaphragm breathing practices) caused reduction in anxiety level in the intervention group from 46.5 percent (before intervention) to 17.5 percent (after the intervention).<sup>32</sup> Therefore, in the present study which was done on the nursing students, relaxation techniques were used in order to reducing anxiety level of the nursing students who had high size courses, compaction of the exams, and stressful clinical environment; the results of both studies indicated the efficacy of this technique in reducing the anxiety level of the nursing students.

Any change in the individual's life requires new adjustment with the condition. Furthermore, according to the cognitive-behavioral theory, coping strategies have important role in stress reduction and consequently mental health. Besides, stress alonehas a limited value in explanation and predication of individuals' situation, and do not considering as their coping skills. On the other hand, when someone has better sources for coping, the likelihood of catch at vulnerable situations are more.<sup>33</sup>

Accordance to the results of the present study, Dehghan Nayeri et al trial determined the effect of relaxation on stress and quality of life of the students lived in the dormitories, it showed that mean score of stress in the intervention group was 1.51 before the intervention which was t-test significant difference after the intervention in terms of stress level by using test showed.  $\frac{13}{10}$  Moreover, in support of the results of the present study, the findings of study of Ja et al (2004) titled as "the effect of psychosocial stress management on stress coping student nurses" indicated that students stress level in the intervention group after the intervention had significantly decreased that in comparison to the control group was significant, but on the depression and anxiety of the students this was not effective  $\frac{34}{34}$  which was not accordance in regard to present study; because in the present study stress management training program also had a reductive effect on the depression and anxiety of the students, May be due to difference in the obtain of results; in the present study, stress management training was used in cognitive-behavioral technique in addition to relaxation techniques. In addition, comparing the mean scores of anxiety and stress one month after the intervention showed a significant difference between the two groups, but there was no significant difference between two groups one month after the intervention in depression mean score. The study results of Davazdahemami et al titled as "reviewing the effectiveness of stress management training in cognitive-behavioral technique on blood sugar and depression of patients with type II diabetes" indicated that stress management training program could reduce the depression mean score of the patients in the follow-up step, which this reduction was significant as compared with the control group.<sup>28</sup>

Study results of Antoni et al titled as "How stress management improves quality of life after the treatment for breast cancer" showed that depression level of the women with breast cancer had reduced in the intervention group in the follow-up step and this reduction was significant as compared with the control group.  $\frac{29}{29}$ 

The study of Mehrabi et al indicated that stress management training program in cognitive-behavioral technique could have a significant reduction in stress, anxiety and depression level in the intervention group in comparison with the control group and this reduction was also significant in the follow-up step.<sup>18</sup> The researcher believed that maybe the cause of difference in the present study, unlike the two previous mentioned studies was that the study subjects were selected randomly from the nursing students who were studying in the School of Nursing and Midwifery of Isfahan who most of them were the classmates

together and had interaction together in the university environment. Therefore, there was the possibility of transferring the learned information in the stress management training program and the control group might have been influenced by the intervention group. Therefore, the depression level of the control group had decreased in parallel with the intervention group so reduction in depression mean score could not be significant one month after the intervention in the test group in comparison with the control group. The findings of the present study indicated that management training program on depression, anxiety and stress rate of nursing students can promote the mental health and improve academic achievement and provide clinical services in the hospital by the students.

The role of the psychiatric nursing department should not be ignored here, because they can have a valuable role in reduction the stress and facilitate the students learning. So according to the results of the present study, holding stress management workshops in different courses and implementing psychotherapy train ing programs can improve the mental health of the students.

The authors declare no conflict of interest in this study.

# Acknowledgments

Thanks go to all the dear students who had an active cooperation in conducting this study.

# References

1. Beddoe AE, Murphy SO. Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? J Nurs Educ. 2004;43(7):305–12. [PubMed: 15303583]

2. Samari AK, Lali Faz A, Askari AA. Review Sources of support and ways to deal with stressors in students. The Quarterly Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health, Autumn & Winter. 2006;8(31, 32):97–107.

3. Taghavi Larijani T, Ramezani Badr F, Khatoni A, Monjamed Z. Comparison of stressors in the final year students of nursing and midwifery selected University of Tehran. Journal of Nursing and Midwifery, Tehran University of Medical Sciences (Hayat) 2007;13(2):61–70.

4. Abazari F, Abaszadeh A, Arab M. Evaluation and sources of stress in nursing students. Journal of Medical Education Development steps. 2004;1(1):23–31.

5. Fathi M. Evaluation of stress factors and nurses in special sections of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences in 2004. Scientific Journal of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences. 2004;7(4):53–62.

6. Shipton SP. The process of seeking stress-care: coping as experienced by senior baccalaureate nursing students in response to appraised clinical stress. J Nurs Educ. 2002;41(6):243–56. [PubMed: 12096773]

7. Gammon J, Morgan-Samuel H. A study to ascertain the effect of structured student tutorial support on student stress, self-esteem and coping. Nurse Educ Pract. 2005;5(3):161–171. [PubMed: 19038195]

8. Ryan ME TR. Concerns, values, stress, coping, health and educational outcomes of college students who studied abroad. International Journal of Intercultural Relations. 2000;24(2000):409–35.

9. Assadi SM, Nakhaei MR, Najafi F, Fazel S. Mental health in three generations of Iranian medical students and doctors. A cross-sectional study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2007;42(1):57–60. [PubMed: 17080322]

10. World Health Organization. Mental Health Policy and Service Guidance Package. Child & adolescent mental health policies & plans. 2005

11. Ebrahimian A. Tarbiat Modares University: Third Seminar of Students mental health; 2004. Comparison of depression and related factors in nursing students, nursing students Semnan Islamic Azad University, Semnan 2004.

12. Akochekian Sh, Rohafza HR, Hasanzadeh A, Mohammad Shrifi H. Associated with social support coping strategies in a psychiatric ward nurses. Journal of Medical SciencesGilan. 2008;18(69):41–6.

13. Dehghan Nayeri N, Adib Hajbagheri M. Stress relaxation effect on quality of life and resident students in student dormitories. Journal - Research Feyz. 2006;10(2):50–7.

14. Forozandeh N, Delaram M. Effect of cognitive behavioral therapy on coping methods non-medical student university of medical sciences. Shahre Kord University of Medical Sciences Journal. 2003;5(3):26–34.

15. Kaviani H, Pournaseh M, Sayadlou S, Mohammadi MR. Effectiveness of stress management training in reducing anxiety and depression, participants in class exam. New Journal of Cognitive Sciences. 2007;8(2):61–8.

16. Eby L, Brown NJ. mental health nursing care. In: Elder R, Evans K, Nizette D, editors. psychiatric and mental health nursing. Sydney: Elsevier, Mosby; 2009. p. 68.

17. Daubenmier JJ, Weidner G, Sumner MD, Mendell N, Merritt-Worden T, Studley J, et al. The contribution of changes in diet, exercise, and stress management to changes in coronary risk in women and men in the multisite cardiac lifestyle intervention program. Ann Behav Med. 2007;33(1):57–68. [PubMed: 17291171]

18. Mehrabi A, Fati L, Davazdah Emami MH, Rajab A. Effectiveness of stress management training based on the theory of cognitive - behavioral control blood sugar and reduce the emotional problems of patients with type 1 diabetes. Iranian Journal of Diabetes and Lipid. 2009;8(2):103–14.

19. Kang YS, Choi SY, Ryu E. The effectiveness of a stress coping program based on mindfulness meditation on the stress, anxiety, and depression experienced by nursing students in Korea. Nurse Educ Today. 2009;29(5):538–43. [PubMed: 19141364]

20. Soltani M, Aminoroaya M, Atari A. Effect of stress management training on academic achievement and high school girls Tiran & karvan Isfahan City. Journal of Behavioral Sciences Research. 2008;6(11):9–16.

21. Sadeghi Movahed F, Narimani M, Rahimi S. Effects of coping skills training on student mental health. Journal Medicalof Medical Sciences Ardebil. 2008;8(3):261–9.

22. Rahmati A, Etemadi A. Impact of life skills through group discussion on student attitudes toward drug abuse. Quarterly Scientific ResearchPsychology Tabriz University. 2006;1(4):117–42.

23. Oman D, Shapiro SL, Thoresen CE, Plante TG, Flinders T. Meditation lowers stress and supports forgiveness among college students: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Health. 2008;56(5):569–78. [PubMed: 18400671]

24. Rezaee Adreani M, Azadi A, Ahmadi F, Vahedian Azimi A. Comparison of depression, anxiety, stress and quality of life of male and female students living in student accommodation. Magazine Research Nursing. 2007;2(4, 5):31–8.

25. Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. Behav Res Ther. 1995;33(3):335–43. [PubMed: 7726811]

26. Afzali A, Delavar A, Borjali A, Mirzamayn M. Psychometric characteristics of DASS-42 test based on a sample of high school students in Kermanshah. Journal of Behavioral Sciences Research. 2007;5(2):81–92.

27. Sajadinejad M, Mohammadi N, Taghavi MR, Ashjazadeh N. Effect of cognitive group therapy - treatment of depression and feelings of disability from headache in patients with migraine and tension headaches. Iranian Journal of Psychiatry and Clinical Psychology. 2008;14(4):411–8.

28. Davazdahemami MH, Roshan R, Mehrabi A, Atari A. Stress Management Training Effectiveness of cognitive - behavioral and depression on glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism Iran, Medical Sciences and Health Services martyr Beheshti. 2009;11(4):385–92.

in the second

29. Antoni MH, Lechner SC, Kazi A, Wimberly SR, Sifre T, Urcuyo KR, et al. How stress management improves quality of life after treatment for breast cancer. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2006;74(6):1143–52. [PubMed: 17154743]

30. Hasanpor Dehkordi A, Masoudi R, Salehi Tali Sh, Forozandeh N, Naderipour A, Pourmirza Kalhori R, et al. Effect of progressive muscle relaxation on anxiety of nursing students on arrival at the Internship. Shahre Kord University of Medical Sciences Journal. 2009;11(1):71–7.

31. Hirokawa K, Yagi A, Miyata YO. An Examination of the Effects of Stress Management Training for Japanese College Students of Social Work. International Journal of Stress Management. 2002;9(2):113–23.

32. Heravi Karimoy M, Jadid Milani M, Reje N, Valaee N. Effect of relaxation training exercises on anxiety levels of students. Journal of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences. 2007;14(43):86–91.

33. Behrozian F, Nematpour S. Of stressors Coping strategies and their relation to public health students, entrance year 2005-2006 Ahvaz Jundi Shapur University of Medical Sciences. Medical Journal. 2007;6(3):283–92.

34. Ja KC, Hur HK, Kang DH, Kim BH. Effects of Psychosocial Stress Management on Stress and Coping in Student Nurses. Journal of Korean Academy of nursing. 2004;33(3):440–50.

# Figures and Tables

# Table 1

Mean score	Interventi	on group	Contro	group	Independent t-test		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value	t	
Depression	10.63	10.02	9.34	7.79	0.553	0.591	
Anxiety	7.60	6.10	7.88	6.51	0.856	0.181	
Stress	13.39	9.18	12.82	9.09	0.80	0.806	

Comparing the mean scores of depression, anxiety and stress in the intervention and control groups before the intervention

# Table 2

Mean score	Interventi	on group	Control	group	Independent t-test		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value	t	
Depression	6.03	5.76	9.08	6.25	0.04	2.09	
Anxiety	5.09	4.87	10	6.45	0.001	3.52	
Stress	8.93	6.01	13.17	7.20	0.01	2.62	

Comparing the mean scores of depression, anxiety and stress in the intervention and control groups after the intervention

# Table 3

Mean score	Interventi	on group	Control	group	Independent t-test		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value	t	
Depression	4.69	5.35	6.02	6.08	0.343	0.955	
Anxiety	4.39	3.54	7.82	8.14	0.029	2.22	
Stress	5.96	5.60	10.40	9.96	0.028	2.24	

Comparing the mean scores of depression, anxiety and stress in the intervention and control groups one month after the intervention

Articles from Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research are provided here courtesy of **Medknow Publications** 

# Japanese Study

Format: Abstract

Full text links

Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2013 Jan;13(1):152-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00877.x. Epub 2012 Jun

# Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: randomized controlled trial.

Hirosaki M<sup>1</sup>, Ohira T, Kajiura M, Kiyama M, Kitamura A, Sato S, Iso H.

# Author information

1 Department of Field Medicine, Graduate School of Public Health, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan. mayu@kansai-u.ac.jp

# Abstract

**AIM:** To examine the effects of a once-weekly laughter and exercise program on physical and psychological health among elderly people living in the community. As a regular exercise program can be difficult to maintain, we provided a more enjoyable program to enhance adherence to exercise.

**METHODS:** A total of 27 individuals aged 60 years or older, without disabilities, were randomly assigned to either an immediate treatment group (n=14) or a delayed treatment group (n=13). The intervention was a 120-min session consisting of laughter and exercise, carried out once a week for 10 consecutive weeks. Measurements taken at baseline, 3 and 6 months included bodyweight, height, body fat, lean mass, bone mineral density, hemoglobin A1c (HbA(1c)), glucose, high-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and triglycerides, as well as self-rated health and psychological factors.

**RESULTS:** All participants completed the 3-month program. Bone mineral density increased significantly in the immediate treatment group compared with the delayed treatment group during the first 3 months (P<0.001). In addition, HbA(1c) decreased significantly (P=0.001), and self-rated health increased significantly (P=0.012).

**CONCLUSIONS:** The combination of a laughter and exercise program might have physiological and psychological health benefits for the elderly. Laughter might be an effective strategy to motivate the elderly to participate in physical activity.

© 2012 Japan Geriatrics Society.

PMID: 22672359 DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00877.x</u> [Indexed for MEDLINE]

# Research Article Laughter and Stress Relief in Cancer Patients: A Pilot Study

# S. H. Kim,<sup>1</sup> Y. H. Kim,<sup>1</sup> and H. J. Kim<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing, ASAN Medical Center, Seoul 138-736, Republic of Korea <sup>2</sup>Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, 43-Gil Olympic-ro, Songpa-gu, Seoul 138-736, Republic of Korea

Correspondence should be addressed to H. J. Kim; hwajung.kim@gmail.com

Received 30 December 2014; Revised 10 April 2015; Accepted 15 April 2015

Academic Editor: Mark Moss

Copyright © 2015 S. H. Kim et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The purpose of this study was to examine the effect of a therapeutic laughter program and the number of program sessions on anxiety, depression, and stress in breast cancer patients. A randomized controlled trial was conducted involving 31 patients who received four sessions of therapeutic laughter program comprised and 29 who were assigned to the no-program control group. Scores for anxiety, depression, and stress were measured using an 11-point numerical rating scale. While no change was detected in the control group, the program group reported reductions of 1.94, 1.84, and 2.06 points for anxiety, depression, and stress, respectively (p < 0.01, p < 0.01, and p < 0.01). Scores decreased significantly after the first therapeutic laughter session (p < 0.05, p < 0.01, and p < 0.01). As the therapeutic laughter program was effective after only a single session in reducing anxiety, depression, and stress in breast cancer patients, it could be recommended as a first-line complementary/alternative therapy.

# 1. Introduction

The increase in the survival of cancer patients has created interest in quality of life and the various factors affecting it. Breast cancer is the second most frequent cancer in Korean women and occurs most often in middle-aged women in their 40s and 50s [1]. The 5-year survival rate of breast cancer patients has continued to increase since 1993 and it has the second highest survival rate at 91.3% in the last 5 years, beaten only by thyroid cancer [1]. Among the various factors reported to affect quality of life is psychological stress, which leads to depression and anxiety [2]. Psychological stress prevalence is very high among breast cancer patients in Korea, with depression affecting 44% of the cancer patient population [3] and 36% of breast cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy; meanwhile, 21% experience anxiety [4]. Therefore, effective interventions to reduce psychological stress are needed urgently.

Laughter is regarded as a long-standing complementary and alternative therapy since 1970 [5]. As laughter is a noninvasive complementary/alternative therapy, the use of laughter therapy has spread rapidly. Currently, there are several laughter therapy clubs around the world in which people gather to practice laughter and laughing on purpose; this fake laughter gradually becomes effective in releasing "anti-stress and joyful hormones" [6]. Studies on the effect of laughter have been actively promoted, and some studies have specifically targeted dialysis patients, elderly people, transplant patients, postpartum women, and smokers [6–9].

Studies have found a variety of positive effects of laughter therapy on anxiety, depression, tension, rage, and general health, and it has been found useful for insomnia, pain relief, improving pulmonary function, and increasing immunity [6, 7, 10–15]. Meanwhile, some studies have been conducted among cancer patients with laughter therapy demonstrating major positive effects on quality of life, resilience, immunity, anxiety, depression, and stress [14, 16–18]. Nonetheless, the therapeutic effects of laughter for cancer patients are not at a point where they can be confirmed because most previous research was conducted using comparisons without randomization [10–13]. Moreover, a standardized therapeutic laughter program (TLP) has not been developed yet, which means that laughter therapy has not been actively promoted by the medical community for cancer patients. While the results of TLP for health have been positive [19], and there is an "abundance of non-evidence-based opinion" regarding TLP in the literature, so an evidence-based approach is required [20].

In order to evaluate the effects of laughter for cancer patients accurately, various sources of bias should be controlled thoroughly. Thus, we designed a randomized controlled trial to compare the effect of a TLP consisting of four sessions and significant decrease of depression, anxiety, and stress was reported among breast cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy [16]. Data collected through conduction of this trial form the basis of our comparative analysis. The secondary purpose of this study was to measure whether the effects of laughter therapy differ based on the number of sessions attended. An additional concern was that measuring psychological stress routinely using multiple item questionnaires such as the Hospital Anxiety Depression Scale (HADS) [21] and Brief Encounter Psychosocial Instrument-Korean version (BEPSI-K) [22] is difficult in a busy outpatient setting. Therefore, we evaluated the level of depression, anxiety, and stress additionally using a single-question, 11-point numerical rating scale (NRS).

#### 2. Methods

This study was conducted as a secondary analysis using data collected from a randomized controlled trial to investigate the effects of laughter on depression, anxiety, and stress among breast cancer patients in comparison to a nontreatment control group [16]. This study was approved by the ASAN Medical Center Institutional Review Board.

2.1. Participants and Intervention. Breast cancer patients receiving postoperative radiation therapy were recruited between September and October 2008 at the ASAN Medical Center. We excluded patients with psychiatric problems, including major depressive disorder and anxiety disorder, as determined by medical record review; each participant was interviewed and checked for their past or current medical problem, including psychiatric problems, during their admission before operation, and this was reaffirmed via the self-reporting questionnaire on their baseline visit before randomization.

A total of 62 patients were randomized into the TLP and nonintervention groups. The TLP was administered for four sessions by a licensed TLP trainer, with each session lasting 60 minutes; the control group did not receive any intervention. The program consisted of periods of loud, prolonged laughter together with information about the effects of the TLP (details of the TLP are described in Supplement 1 in Supplementary Material available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/864739).

2.2. Data Collection and Statistical Analysis. To investigate the effects of the TLP, a single-question, 11-point (ranging from 0 to 10) NRS was used to measure anxiety, depression, and stress levels (details of the NRS are described in Supplement 2); as gold standards, anxiety and depression were measured using the HADS [21], and stress was measured using the BEPSI-K [22]. The TLP group participants and the control participants were measured for anxiety, depression, and stress before and after participation in four TLP sessions using the NRS, HADS, and BEPSI-K; in addition, the NRS scores of the TLP group for anxiety, depression, and stress were measured after each TLP session (Figure 1).

In order to confirm the validity of the NRS, the correlations between it and the HADS and BEPSI-K were analyzed using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient test. Baseline NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress before the TLP were compared using independent *t*-tests and the Mann-Whitney U test. The differences between the NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress in the two groups were examined using an analysis of covariance, adjusted for baseline stress scores and marital status, which had a significant effect in a previous study [16]. The primary analysis was an intention-to-treat analysis (ITT), and a perprotocol analysis (PP) was performed as a secondary analysis. Only patients who participated in more than two of the four TLP sessions were included in the PP analysis. The effects of the number of TLP sessions attended were analyzed using a repeated measures analysis of variance with Bonferroni's posttest correction. All analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 18.0).

## 3. Results

Of the 60 patients who participated in the study, 29 in the control group and 31 in the TLP group were included in the ITT analysis (Figure 1); for the PP analysis, 20 from the TLP group who had more than two sessions and 29 in the control group were included. There was no significant difference except for marital status between the general characteristics or disease characteristics of the two groups (Table 1). Spearman's rank correlation between the NRS and HADS scores for anxiety is 0.59 (p < 0.01) and, for depression, 0.62 (p < 0.01). The correlation between the NRS and BEPSI-K for stress is 0.63 (p < 0.01). As evaluated, the NRS scores for anxiety displayed a moderate correlation with the HADS scores. For depression and stress, the NRS scores had a strong correlation with the HADS and BEPSI-K scores.

The NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress of the TLP group decreased by 1.94, 1.84, and 2.06 points, respectively, whereas no changes were reported in the control group (p < 0.01, p < 0.01, and p < 0.01) (Table 2). In the PP analysis, there were also significant differences in the NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress between the TLP group and control group (Table 2).

The results obtained by repeatedly measuring and comparing the NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress of the TLP group showed that, as the number of TLP sessions attended increased, the NRS scores for anxiety, depression, and stress decreased significantly (p < 0.01, p < 0.01, and p < 0.01) (Figure 2). The posttest results after every TLP session showed that anxiety, depression, and stress levels decreased (p < 0.05, p < 0.01, and p < 0.01) between the presession scores and the first postsession scores, and there were no further significant changes (Figure 2).



FIGURE 1: Flow chart of the randomized controlled trial to evaluate antipsychological stress effects of laughter therapy in breast cancer patients. NRS (numerical rating scale); HADS (Hospital Anxiety Depression Scale); BEPSI-K (Brief Encounter Psychosocial Instrument-Korean version).

Characteriotics	Subtotal	Experimental group ( $n = 31$ )	Control group $(n = 29)$	to value
Characteristics	Subtotal	n (%)	n (%)	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)				
<40	13	9 (29%)	4 (14%)	
40-49	23	12 (39%)	11 (38%)	0.200
50–59	17	8 (26%)	9 (31%)	0.38
≥60	6	2 (6%)	5 (17%)	
Marital status				
Yes	50	22 (71%)	28 (97%)	o oıb
No	10	9 (29%)	1 (3%)	0.01
Education level				
≤Middle school	8	3 (38%)	5 (63%)	
High school	24	15 (63%)	9 (38%)	0.35 <sup>a</sup>
≥College	28	13 (46%)	15 (54%)	
Cancer stage				
0	4	2 (7%)	2 (7%)	
Ι	25	11 (36%)	14 (48%)	0 ozb
II	21	12 (39%)	9 (31%)	0.85
III	10	6 (19%)	4 (14%)	
Operation				
Breast conserving operation	53	28 (90%)	25 (86%)	0.70 <sup>b</sup>
Mastectomy	7	3 (10%)	4 (14%)	0.70
Past treatment				
Operation	29	18 (29%)	11 (38%)	0 12 <sup>a</sup>
Operation and chemotherapy	31	13 (71%)	18 (62%)	0.12
Current cotreatment				
None	14	9 (29%)	5 (17%)	0.20 <sup>b</sup>
Hormone therapy	46	22 (71%)	24 (83%)	0.28

TABLE 1: Baseline characteristics of intention-to-treat population of two groups.

*p* values were calculated by (a) Chi<sup>2</sup> test and (b) Fisher's exact test.

	Intenti	on-to-treat analysis		Per-protocol analysis				
	Experimental group ( $n = 31$ )	ExperimentalControlroup $(n = 31)$ group $(n = 29)$		Experimental group $(n = 31)$	Control group $(n = 29)$	<i>p</i> value		
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD			
Baseline								
Anxiety	$3.42 \pm 2.08$	$3.21 \pm 2.24$	0.66 <sup>b</sup>	$3.20 \pm 2.31$	$2.97 \pm 1.92$	$0.70^{a}$		
Depression	$3.48 \pm 2.14$	$2.97 \pm 1.92$	0.33 <sup>a</sup>	$3.30 \pm 2.03$	$3.21 \pm 2.24$	0.83 <sup>b</sup>		
Stress	$3.32 \pm 2.09$	$3.62 \pm 1.95$		3.35 ± 2.21	$3.62 \pm 1.95$	0.38 <sup>b</sup>		
Postintervention								
Anxiety	$1.48 \pm 1.46$	$3.31 \pm 2.22$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>	$1.10 \pm 1.41$	$3.31 \pm 2.22$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>		
Depression	$1.65 \pm 1.62$	$3.31 \pm 2.04$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>	$1.30 \pm 1.66$	$3.31 \pm 2.04$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>		
Stress	$1.26 \pm 1.32$	$3.72 \pm 1.81$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>	$0.80 \pm 1.20$	$3.72 \pm 1.81$	< 0.01 <sup>c</sup>		
Difference								
Anxiety	$-1.94 \pm 1.97$	$0.10 \pm 1.97$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>	$-2.20 \pm 1.85$	$0.10 \pm 1.97$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>		
Depression	$-1.84 \pm 1.63$	$0.34 \pm 1.97$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>	$-1.90 \pm 1.55$	$0.34 \pm 1.97$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>		
Stress	$-2.06 \pm 2.00$	$0.10\pm2.14$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>	$-2.55 \pm 1.88$	$0.10\pm2.14$	< 0.01 <sup>b</sup>		

TABLE 2: Change of numerical rating scale scores for anxiety, depression, and stress after therapeutic laughter program.

*p* values were calculated by (a) independent *t*-test, (b) Mann-Whitney test, and (c) analysis of covariance test adjusting for marital status and baseline distress score.

#### 4. Discussion

TLP was effective in lowering anxiety, depression, and stress as measured by the NRS in breast cancer patients undergoing radiation treatment in comparison to the control group. This finding concurs with the HADS and BEPSI-K results [16]. Therefore, using the NRS instead of the HADS (14 items) and BEPSI-K (5 items) could be a useful option among routine repeated measures in busy outpatient settings.

Moreover, we found that the anxiety, depression, and stress levels of breast cancer patients could be reduced after a single TLP session. The reduction of anxiety, depression, and stress after TLP has been reported in a number of studies [6, 8, 23-26], and various physiological effects of TLP have also been reported [8, 27-30]. Although the mechanism of the TLP's effect is not well understood, researchers have reported that laughing reduces neuroendocrine and stress-related hormones, and a hypothesis regarding the TLP mechanism that contributes to psychological stress reduction has been suggested [27]. We found that the antiphysiological effects were evident after one session of TLP. However, while we reported that a single session of TLP was effective in nurses [31], another study conducted among the elderly found that a single session was not effective for depression and anxiety [32].

These conflicting findings may be due to the difference between the study populations. While the study on nurses was comprised of participants who were young and female, the elderly participants in the second study included men and women who were over 60. In the present study, the participants consisted only of female breast cancer patients in their 40s. Therefore, the homogeneity of the participants should be considered when planning laughter programs. In this study, the TLP consisted of a detailed standardized program to make participants laugh a great deal. It comprised activities that induced loud laughter as a result of direct participation and physical activity appropriate to the characteristics and age of the breast cancer patients. This is thought to have contributed to enhancing the TLP effects.

Moreover, across the studies, the number and duration of TLP sessions varied so that the TLPs comprised of eight 20-minute sessions or a single 60-minute session showed improved mood states [6, 16-18, 23-25]. Although a singlesession TLP could be effective as reported in our study, we could not assert that the effect would last for a clinically meaningful period. Because the TLP was implemented four times, repeated participation in the TLP could affect the maintenance of antiphysiological effects. As this study was only a "pilot study" conducted to measure the immediate antistress effects of TLP, long-term effects could not be measured. This means that the effects of the TLP cannot be compared with the effect of this intervention in persons with a full-blown psychiatric disease. Moreover, the highly selective inclusion and exclusion criteria could limit the generalizability of the results. Because of these limitations, further studies should assess the long-term effects of TLP and find a mechanism through which laughter could affect mental health.

#### 5. Conclusion

The TLP is effective in reducing anxiety, depression, and stress in breast cancer patients, and such effects can be attained after only one session. This study is useful as there has been little previous analysis of the effect of the number of TLP sessions. TLP could also be used effectively in clinical practice settings, as it is a noninvasive, easyto-use complementary/alternative therapy; therefore, it is recommended that medical professionals use a standardized



FIGURE 2: Anxiety, depression, and stress scores of the experimental group according to attended numbers of laughter therapy sessions. *p* values were calculated by (a) repeated measures analysis of variance test.

TLP as a complementary intervention to assist with patient treatment.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

# **Authors' Contribution**

H. J. Kim is the guarantor of the paper. S. H. Kim and H. J. Kim contributed to the study design, data analysis, and paper writing. Y. H. Kim contributed to the study design and planning. All authors approved the final version of the paper.

#### References

 K.-W. Jung, Y.-J. Won, H.-J. Kong, C.-M. Oh, D. H. Lee, and J. S. Lee, "Cancer statistics in Korea: incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in 2011," *Cancer Research and Treatment*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 109–123, 2014.

- [2] H. S. Byun and G. D. Kim, "Impacts of fatigue, pain, anxiety, and depression on the quality of life in patients with breast cancer," *Asian Oncology Nursing*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 27–34, 2012 (Korean).
- [3] B.-W. Park and Y. H. Sook, "Depression and coping in breast cancer patients," *Journal of Breast Cancer*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 199– 209, 2009.
- [4] W. K. W. So, G. Marsh, W. M. Ling et al., "The symptom cluster of fatigue, pain, anxiety, and depression and the effect on the quality of life of women receiving treatment for breast cancer: a multicenter study," *Oncology Nursing Forum*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. E205–E214, 2009.
- [5] N. Cousins, "Anatomy of an illness (as perceived by the patient)," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 295, no. 26, pp. 1458– 1463, 1976.
- [6] F. Ghodsbin, Z. S. Ahmadi, I. Jahanbin, and F. Sharif, "The effects of laughter therapy on general health of elderly people referring to jahandidegan community center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: a randomized controlled trial," *International Journal of*

Community Based Nursing and Midwifery, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 31, 2015.

- [7] P. N. Bennett, T. Parsons, R. Ben-Moshe et al., "Laughter and humor therapy in dialysis," *Seminars in Dialysis*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 488–493, 2014.
- [8] R. Dolgoff-Kaspar, A. Baldwin, M. Scott Johnson, N. Edling, and G. K. Sethi, "Effect of laughter yoga on mood and heart rate variability in patients awaiting organ transplantation: a pilot study," *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 61–66, 2012.
- [9] H. S. Shin, K. H. Ryu, and Y. A. Song, "Effects of laughter therapy on postpartum fatigue and stress responses of postpartum women," *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 294–301, 2011.
- [10] M. P. Bennett and C. A. Lengacher, "Humor and laughter may influence health. I. History and background," *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 61– 63, 2006.
- [11] M. P. Bennett and C. Lengacher, "Humor and laughter may influence health: II. Complementary therapies and humor in a clinical population," *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 187–190, 2006.
- [12] M. P. Bennett and C. Lengacher, "Humor and laughter may influence health: III. Laughter and health outcomes," *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 37–40, 2008.
- [13] M. P. Bennett and C. Lengacher, "Humor and laughter may influence health IV. humor and immune function," *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 159–164, 2009.
- [14] E. A. Cho and H. E. Oh, "Effects of laughter therapy on depression, quality of life, resilience and immune responses in breast cancer survivors," *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 285–293, 2011.
- [15] W. Christie and C. Moore, "The impact of humor on patients with cancer," *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 211–218, 2005.
- [16] S. H. Kim, Y. H. Kim, H. J. Kim, S. H. Lee, and S. O. Yu, "The effect of laughter therapy on depression, anxiety, and stress in patients with breast cancer undergoing radiotherapy," *Asian Oncology Nursing*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 155–162, 2009 (Korean).
- [17] J. Choi, K. Kim, S. Cha, H. Pyo, and Y. Kim, "Effects of laughter therapy on mood, pain, and stress of mastectomy patients," *Journal of Korean Clinical Nursing Research*, vol. 16, pp. 83–93, 2010 (Korean).
- [18] H. J. Han, A. Park, H. S. Kim, H. Moon, and Y. Park, "The effects of laughter therapy on stress responses in patients with preoperative breast cancer," *Journal of Korean Oncology Nursing*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 93–100, 2011 (Korean).
- [19] W. B. Strean, "Laughter prescription," *Canadian Family Physician Médecin de Famille Canadien*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 965–967, 2009.
- [20] M. McCreaddie and S. Wiggins, "The purpose and function of humour in health, health care and nursing: a narrative review," *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 584–595, 2008.
- [21] A. S. Zigmond and R. P. Snaith, "The hospital anxiety and depression scale," *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 361–370, 1983.
- [22] S. H. Frank and S. J. Zyzanski, "Stress in the clinical setting: the brief encounter psychosocial instrument," *The Journal of Family Practice*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 533–539, 1988.

- [23] J. A. Yu and K. S. Kim, "Effects of laughter therapy on stress response and pain of military personnel with low back pain in hospital," *Journal of Muscle and Joint Health*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 36–45, 2009 (Korean).
- [24] K. I. Lee and Y. Eun, "Effect of laughter therapy on pain, depression and sleep with elderly patients in long term care facility," *Journal of Muscle and Joint Health*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 28– 38, 2010 (Korean).
- [25] B. J. Shin, H. S. Kim, and M. H. Lee, "Effect of humorous video tape on depression and stress response in patients undergoing hemodialysis," *Journal of East-West Nursing Research*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 35–43, 2010.
- [26] H.-J. Ko and C.-H. Youn, "Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly," *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 267–274, 2011.
- [27] L. S. Berk, S. A. Tan, W. F. Fry et al., "Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter," *American Journal* of the Medical Sciences, vol. 298, no. 6, pp. 390–396, 1989.
- [28] K. M. Dillon, B. Minchoff, and K. H. Baker, "Positive emotional states and enhancement of the immune system," *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 13–18, 1985.
- [29] K. Hayashi, T. Hayashi, S. Iwanaga et al., "Laughter lowered the increase in postprandial blood glucose," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1651–1652, 2003.
- [30] K. Takahashi, M. Iwase, K. Yamashita et al., "The elevation of natural killer cell activity induced by laughter in a crossover designed study," *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 645–650, 2001.
- [31] M. K. Park, The Effect of One Time Laughter Therapy on Stress of ICU Nurses, Chonbuk National University Gradute School, 2010, (Korean).
- [32] Y. S. Kim and S. S. Jun, "The influence of one-time laughter therapy on stress response in the elderly," *Journal of Korean Academy Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, vol. 18, pp. 269–277, 2009.

# South Africa Study

# Laughter therapy as an intervention to promote psychological well-being of volunteer community care workers working with HIV-affected families

Irene Hatzipapas<sup>a†</sup>, Maretha J. Visser<sup>b\*</sup>, Estie Janse van Rensburg<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>MA Counselling Psychology, Department of Psychology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa <sup>b</sup>PhD, Professor in the Department of Psychology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa, \*Email: maretha.visser@ up.ac.za

<sup>c</sup>PhD, Lecturer in the Department of Psychology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

# Abstract

The study explores the experiences of volunteer community care workers working with HIV-affected families, participating in laughter therapy. Laughter therapy is being used as an intervention to positively influence individuals experiencing various forms of emotional distress. Community care workers play a vital role in the support of the HIV/AIDS-infected and -affected members in communities. The nature of this type of work and their limited training contributes to high levels of secondary trauma and emotional exhaustion. The purpose of the study was firstly, to explore the effects of working with orphans and vulnerable children (OVC) on the community care workers and secondly, to establish the impact that laughter therapy has to positively combat stresses of working within the care workers' environment. All the community care workers from a community-based organisation that provides care for HIV/AIDS-infected and -affected OVC and their families in the greater region of Soweto, South Africa, took part in daily laughter therapy sessions for one month. To assess the experiences of participants of laughter therapy, seven community care workers agreed to participate in a mixed method assessment. Interviews were conducted before and after the intervention using the Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis as framework. As supportive data, a stress and anxiety and depression scale were added in the interview. Participants reported more positive emotions, positive coping, improved interpersonal relationships and improvement in their care work after exposure to laughter therapy. Quantitative results on stress, anxiety and depression for each participant confirmed observed changes. Laughter therapy as a self-care technique has potential as a low-cost intervention strategy to reduce stress and counteract negative emotions among people working in highly emotional environments.

*Keywords:* laughter therapy, volunteer community care workers, orphans and vulnerable children, psychological well-being, mixed methods

# Introduction

A large number of children who have been orphaned or affected by HIV/AIDS in South African are cared for by either their immediate or extended families, specifically grandparents or older siblings (Foster, Levine, & Williamson, 2005; Schenk et al., 2008; Townsend & Dawes, 2009). To address some of the challenges faced by households that care for orphaned and vulnerable children (OVC) (Vermaak, Mavimbela, Chege, & Esu-Williams, 2004), various community-based organisations (CBOs) offer care services to these HIV-affected families (Schenk, Michaelis, Sapiano, Brown, & Weiss, 2010; U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, 2012). Because of limited professional services, various different categories of care workers developed (Cameron, Coetzee, & Ngidi, 2009) as part of task shifting in health and social services (Callaghan, Ford, & Schneider, 2010; Schneider & Lehmann, 2010; WHO, 2007). Community care workers are community members with no formal professional or paraprofessional qualifications that are trained to provide specific healthcare or social services (Cameron et al., 2009; Lewin et al., 2005). CBOs recruit volunteering community members, provide in-service training, support and a stipend for them to take care of various practical, social and psychological needs of a few HIV-affected families in their community (Uys, 2002; Uys & Cameron, 2003).

The positive impact of doing community care work within the HIV/AIDS context for the community and the volunteer community care workers has been well documented (for example, Akintola, 2008; 2010; Wringe, Cataldo, Stevenson, & Fakoya, 2010). Providing care to people in need is often regarded as a very rewarding and altruistic action. However, stress and depression have also been reported as possible negative effects on community care workers (Armstrong, 2000; UNAIDS, 2000). Care workers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Currently in private practice.

<sup>© 2017</sup> The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

are often exposed to illness and death, hardships and trauma of clients, emotional involvement and high expectations and responsibilities, often in a context of low remuneration and lack of recognition (Akintola, 2008; Cataldo, Kielmann, Kielmann, Mburu, & Musheke, 2015; Peltzer & Davids, 2011). Exposure to intense emotional contexts can result in secondary traumatisation (being indirectly traumatised by helping others) which could lead to compassion fatigue in professionals (Berger, Polivka, Smoot, & Owens, 2015; Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Meadors & Lamson, 2008). Because of limited training care workers are often over-involved with the problems of their clients and are even more at risk of experiencing secondary traumatisation and emotional exhaustion (Pirraglia et al., 2005; Shapiro, Brown, & Biegel, 2007; Visser & Mabota, 2015). Peltzer and Davids (2011) found that 78% of care workers (lay counsellors) in their study experienced high levels of job stress and that 31% felt emotionally drained by their work. These care workers are often also burdened by their own personal needs which could negatively influence the quality of their care services (Cataldo et al., 2015; Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; O'Neill & McKinney, 2003).

The psychological well-being of care workers is important as it directly influences their ability to provide effective services to the families in their care (Corey, 2013). Van Dyk (2013, p. 286) states that '... it is important for the self-preservation of care workers and for their emotional survival that they should take care of themselves'. Self-care, the cornerstone of compassion fatigue prevention, is often neglected by care workers (Geteri & Angogo, 2013; Wentzel & Brysiewicz, 2014). Cameron et al. (2009) therefore advocate the provision of interventions to assist community care workers to deal with their emotional needs and job stress. Research shows that taking care of the providers on a personal level had positive impact on their stress and compassion fatigue levels (Meadors & Lamson, 2008). As an effort to promote self-care of care workers, this study aims to explore the benefits of laughter as a therapeutic intervention to increase the psychological well-being of community care workers.

#### Laughter as an intervention to promote wellbeing

Laughter is a familiar action for most individuals. It has been the subject of consideration by a long and honourable list of thinkers, from the Greek philosophers (Plato, Aristotle and Hobbes) to modern psychologists. However, there is little academic literature and research of laughter and the therapeutic use of laughter to enhance psychological well-being in the human and social sciences. A number of theories have attempted to explain the value of laughter. Kant and Schopenhauer regarded laughter as a reaction to perceived incongruity, while the Relief Theory is based on the premise that laughter is the release of surplus nervous energy (Morreall, 1983). Furthermore, Morreall (1986) theorised that humour and laughter can be a path to mental health as it may provide an individual with some form of relief from the mundane aspects of human existence. Laughter can therefore be associated with the framework of positive psychology.

Positive psychology aligns its focus with mental health and building positive qualities, rather than mental illness (Donaldson, Dollwet, & Rao, 2015; Snyder & Lopez, 2002). The essence of Positive Psychology is captured in the following statement:

Psychology is not just the study of disease, weakness, and damage; it also is the study of strength and virtue. Treatment is not just fixing what is wrong; it also is building what is right. Psychology is not just about illness or health; it is about work, education, insight, love, growth, and play. (Seligman, 2002, p. 4)

In line with this way of thinking, building an individual's strengths is possibly the most effective and powerful therapeutic intervention (Seligman, 2002).

The ability to laugh assists individuals to develop an affinity towards positive emotions, and the expression thereof, which in turn also has a positive influence on their affect (Junkins, 1999). Fredrickson (2001) claims positive emotions contributes to personal well-being. This occurs by broadening thought-action or expanding the individual's attention and ideas. It helps in undoing the effects of negative emotions and increasing psychological resilience and personal resources. Furthermore, positive affective experiences contribute to and have a long lasting effect on personal growth and development (Fredrickson, 2001).

Although laughter can be associated with silliness and frivolousness by some, laughter therapy is based on the premise that laughter is a primary cathartic trigger, enabling the release of previously unexpressed emotions (Junkins, 1999). Cousins (1979) was one of the first authors who wrote about laughter as a therapeutic intervention based on his own experiences in overcoming a serious chronic disease. He subjected himself to continuous viewings of his favourite comedy shows. He advocated that 10 minutes of laughing gave him two hours of drug-free pain relief.

In addition, Berk et al. (1989) examined the effects of laughter on neuroendocrine hormones that are involved in classical stress responses. The researchers concluded that joyful laughter modifies or reduces some of the neuroendocrine hormone levels associated with stress. Similar results were found in an experiment where participants were exposed to a humorous video of their choice, compared to participants in the control group that viewed a tourism video. The research findings showed that the cortisol levels and self-reported stress levels of participants exposed to the humorous situation decreased more rapidly than those of the control group (Bennett, Zeller, Rosenberg, & McCann, 2003). Furthermore, laughter may not only buffer the effects of stress but may play an important role in enhancing the pleasures of positive life events (Martin, Kuiper, Olinger, & Dance, 1993). According to Colom, Alcover, Sanchez-Curto, and Zarate-Osuna (2011), laughter activates the subcortical regions with specific reference to the nucleus accumbens, a key component of the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. This reward system provides pleasure when something of value is obtained. In an earlier study, laughter was found to be utilised as one of the major cathartic practises for releasing or healing emotional pain. When people laugh, they are releasing painful feelings which could have been repressed over a long period of time (Goodheart, 1994).

There seems to be some obstacles to utilising laughter therapy. During the formative years, children are conditioned to laugh when it is socially appropriate. This conditioning negatively influences the application of laughter as a therapeutic intervention. Individuals tend to feel uncomfortable and fear losing control cathartically when exposed to laughter, crying or anger expressions. On the contrary, losing control of one's emotions cathartically allows one to regain control of one's life through flexible, creative and caring means (Goodheart, 1994). Despite the biological evidence that laughter therapy has a positive effect on distressful experiences of participants (Bennett et al., 2003; Colom et al., 2011), there is still scepticism among psychologists and psychiatrists about the value of laughter as a therapy for intense emotions such as depression and anxiety (Junkins, 1999). There are also questions about how participants experience this therapy and how it contributes to positive experiences. This study explored the experiences of community care workers that participated in laughter therapy.

#### Laughter therapy

Given that laughter has been found to have several positive effects, many variations of laughter therapy have been developed. For the purpose of this study, Aerobic Laughter Therapy (ALT), a cognitive behavioural technique, was utilised.

According to the Association for Applied and Therapeutic Humor, therapeutic humour is defined as:

an intervention that promotes health and wellness by stimulating a playful discovery, expression or appreciation of the absurdity or incongruity of life's situations. This intervention may enhance health or be used as a complementary treatment to facilitate healing or coping, whether physical, emotional, cognitive, social or spiritual. (Association for Applied and Therapeutic Humor, 2000, para 5)

Based on this definition, ALT utilises techniques that promote playfulness and expression of the frustrations and stressors of life. ALT sessions typically begin with physical warm up activities, which include stretching, clapping and body movements. These techniques promote childlike playfulness to assist in breaking down inhibitions. Participants are then led through a series of breathing techniques, followed by numerous laughter exercises that combine acting and playful visualisation techniques (Kataria, 2002). These exercises, when combined with the strong social dynamics of group behaviour, can lead to prolonged and wholehearted unconditional laughter. ALT is delivered according to rigorous standardised procedures ensuring consistent delivery and results (Gee, 2011). The programme was developed during three years of practical trials to help individuals and groups to combat the effects of stress and depression (Gee, Jaffer, & Matanda, 2010; Jaffer, Gee, & Matanda, 2011). Currently, laughter therapy, specifically ALT, is implemented by a non-profit organisation InHappiness (International Happiness Institute) in palliative and home-based care settings in South Africa to counter stress and depression and builds health and happiness in these target groups (http://www.inhappiness.org/aboutinhappiness.htm).

# Aim of the study

The aims of the research were (1) to understand the emotional experiences of community care workers taking care of HIV-affected families and (2) to explore their experiences of laughter therapy sessions as a form of self-care to determine the value of laughter sessions in this context.

# Method

#### Context of the research

The research was done among the volunteer community care workers of a CBO that provides an integrated child/family centred programme for OVC in Soweto, South Africa. The CBO provides home visits that include psycho-social, educational, nutritional and household support for over 300 children and their families. The CBO has been in operation for over 7 years. The CBO recruits community members as care workers and provides them with basic in-service training and support. The specific services the care workers provide for HIV-affected families include: distribution of food parcels, access to social grants, community education programmes, home visits and palliative care, assistance with household chores, limited counselling and identification of needs and referral to relevant services.

InHappiness Institution, a non-profit organisation sponsored by UNAID, offered laughter therapy sessions for the care workers of the CBO in the form of self-care activities. The authors were granted permission to conduct the research during a series of laughter therapy sessions in this context.

#### **Research design**

A mixed methods research design involves combining quantitative and qualitative research techniques, methods, approaches and concepts into one single study (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). The rationale for this type of research is that using both qualitative and quantitative research methods provides a better understanding of a research problem and more validity of the findings than using either research approach in isolation (Creswell, 2009; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). It also draws on the strengths of each approach while giving a more holistic and complete understanding of the phenomenon under exploration. In this study, the qualitative data analysis is given priority and quantitative results are used to support the qualitative results – it is thus a qualitative dominant mixed analysis (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

The qualitative study made use of the Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) (Smith & Osborn, 2008). The aim of this approach is to understand how people attempt to give meaning to their personal and social worlds (Smith & Osborn, 2008). Edmund Husserl, a key developer of phenomenology, describes the aim of this method as to clarify how a certain phenomenon is experienced and presents itself to human awareness (Spinelli, 2005). This approach allows the researcher to explore and understand the personal world of another through a process of interpretation (Willig, 2008). In this study, the community care workers were guided towards communicating their experiences of being a care worker and participating in laughter therapy sessions. The quantitative data consist of pre-and post-scores for each participant on two questionnaires to determine whether change took place. Because of the small sample size, each individual's scores could be interpreted and compared with his/her qualitative data. The mixed methods approach thus provides results using different data collection strategies.

#### **Participants**

Qualitative and quantitative data were collected from a sample of care workers that was selected using purposive sampling (Teddlie & Yu, 2007). Purposive sampling is a method that selects individuals that meet particular criteria (Terre Blanche, Durrheim, & Painter, 2006). Participants were required to meet the following inclusion criteria:

- Being a community care workers at the CBO
- Will participated in the ALT programme provided by InHappiness
- Have an English proficiency comparative to a grade 12 qualification to enable the researcher to conduct interviews in English. (This was done so that the richness and meaning of language will not be lost in the process of translation.)

Participants were recruited through the director of the CBO, depending on their availability, suitability to the study and willingness to participate. From the 30 care workers at the CBO who participated in the laughter sessions at the time, 10 participants, 3 male and 7 female, were willing to participate in the research. At the time of the post-assessment, three of the care workers, one male and two females, were no longer employed by the CBO (due to high turnover) and thus dropped out of the study. The participants that completed both interviews were thus two males and five females between the ages of 20 and 38 (M = 28.83, SD = 7.44). They worked for the CBO for between 2 months and 7 years. Each of them had between 10 and 15 families in their care at any given time.

#### Data collection

Data were collected through personal face-to-face semi-structured interviews and two short questionnaires before and after completion of the laughter therapy sessions.

#### Interviews

Through semi-structured interviews, the researcher created an environment of openness and trust wherein the participants were able to express their views openly. A question guide with open-ended questions permitted the participants to share their experiences using their own words. The goal of the pre-intervention interview was to explore the experiences of working as care workers and the impact care work had on the participant's psychological well-being. Examples of questions were: (1) How do you experience your work as a care worker? (2) How do you know when you are stressed? (3) How does stress affect your work with the children in your care? (4) How do you deal with upsetting problems? In the post-intervention interviews, the researcher asked questions pertaining to the participants' experience during and after the laughter sessions and the effect these sessions have had on their personal well-being. Example of questions: (1) Describe your experiences of the laughter sessions? (2) In what way has laughter influenced the way you view your work and your life in general?

The face-to-face interviews, before and after the therapy, were conducted by the researcher in the participants' place of work and were approximately 30 minutes long. The interviews were tape recorded, with the permission of the participants.

#### Questionnaires

Two short questionnaires were administered before and after the laughter therapy intervention to provide additional data on the change in experiences of anxiety, depression and stress. Psychometric scales are often regarded as providing more rigorous data than qualitative data from interviews.

#### Hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS)

The HADS (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983) was used to assess levels of anxiety and depression among care workers. The HADS was originally developed to screen for anxiety and depression among people attending a hospital as out-patients (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983). The scale has since been widely used as a reliable and valid measure to assess anxiety and depression in various populations (Bjelland, Dahl, Haug, & Neckelmann, 2001). The HADS consists of 14 items, divided into two subscales: anxiety and depression. Items that relate to anxiety include 'I feel tense or wound up' whereas items that relate to depression include 'I have lost interest in my appearance.' Response categories were on a 4-point scale of how often the respondent feels that way. According to Zigmond and Snaith (1983), scores of 11 or more on either subscale are indicative of depression and anxiety, where scores of 8-10 represent 'borderline' cases and 0-7 acceptable mental wellness. A study conducted by Mykletun, Stordal, and Dahl (2001) confirmed that both the anxiety and depression subscales were found to be internally consistent, with a Cronbach coefficient of 0.80 for anxiety and 0.76 for depression.

#### Perceived stress scale (PSS)

The PSS is a widely used psychological assessment of perception of stress (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983). The PSS is a 10-item scale that measures the degree to which particular events in one's life are considered stressful. High scores indicate more perceived stress. Items consist of questions such as 'How often have you felt nervous or stressed?' Participants rated how often they had experienced these feelings in the last month on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*very often*). The internal consistency was found to be 0.82 and test-retest reliability found to be 0.77 (Cohen et al., 1983; Remor, 2006). A Cronbach's alpha of 0.72 was obtained using a sample of South African adults (Hamad, Fernald, Karlan, & Zinman, 2008). The PSS was found to be a significant predictor of appraised stress levels for a heterogeneous community group (Cohen et al., 1983).

#### **Research process**

In the pre-intervention interview, the researcher assisted each participant in completing the two questionnaires, whereafter the

personal face-to-face semi-structured interview was conducted. Two weeks after the completion of the pre-intervention data collection, the participants were introduced to the trainers of the InHappiness laughter programme. The trainer was the founder of the Inhappiness Institute, a certified trainer (www. inhappiness.org). Participants were introduced to ALT through the education of laughter and numerous childlike techniques. The care workers participated in daily 10–15 minutes of group laughter sessions for a month. Sessions started with physical activity, breathing exercises and playful activities to break inhibitions down. This was followed by numerous laughter exercises that combined acting and playful visualisation techniques (Kataria, 2002). These exercises, when combined with the strong social dynamics of group behaviour, can lead to prolonged and wholehearted unconditional laughter.

The researcher conducted the post-intervention interviews after a period of one month of daily laughter sessions. The interviews may have had therapeutic value, because the participants shared their experiences and emotions openly.

#### Data analysis

The contents of the tape recordings of the interviews were transcribed verbatim and analysed using the IPA methodology (Smith & Osborn, 2008). The researcher interpreted the experiences of the participants as they tried to make sense of what happened to them before, during and after the laughter therapy. This involved reading and re-reading the text to extrapolate themes which were then clustered according to higher order themes. Paraphrased extracts were used to make the voice of the participants heard. The researcher previously participated in laughter therapy sessions and was interested in how others experienced these sessions. To reduce bias, the researcher maintained reflexivity throughout the process through the recordings of her encounters in a journal. This ensured self-monitoring in order to focus on the participants' experiences and not on the researchers' assumptions and expectations. The researcher liaised with a colleague who has done an independent analysis of data to reach consensus on the main themes. Furthermore, the researcher discussed her interpretations with participants to validate her interpretations. This was done to enhance trustworthy interpretation of the data (Smith & Osborn, 2008).

The pre- and post-results of the scale scores of each participant were presented in the format of graphs. The graphs illustrated change that took place after the intervention. The data from the qualitative and quantitative analysis were triangulated to understand the reactions of participants.

#### Ethical approval

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Faculty of Humanities, University of Pretoria. Participation was voluntary and participants signed informed consent forms.

# Results

#### Themes from pre-intervention interviews

The themes that emerged from the data analysis were: emotional impact of being a care worker and coping mechanisms they used. Each main theme and sub-themes are illustrated in Fig. 1 and discussed below. To protect the identity of the participants, pseudo-nyms have been used in this study.

#### **Emotional impact of being a care worker** Altruism/empathy

# Most of the care workers voiced that they have a strong bond with

the families in their care. They understand the challenges the children were experiencing and felt the responsibility to make a difference in the children's lives.

Being a care worker it's all about responsibility and loving and respecting other people. And putting yourself like in their shoes how they feel. (Gift, male, 29 years, 7 years of experience as a care worker)



Fig. 1. Themes and sub-themes on experiences of being an OVC care worker.

The care workers' understanding of the children is often built on their own experiences in similar situations. They thus identified strongly with the plight of the families. They wanted to help families because they received help themselves or did not receive help and wanted to help others to be better off than they were:

It's because of my growing up, you know seeing the challenges and like wanting to help other people. I would understand exactly where they're coming from. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience as a care worker)

When I became an orphan, I was cared for and looked after by the care workers in this CBO. Now I want to share the love that I was shown back to the community through my work as a care giver. (Mpumi, female, 20 years, 6 months of experience as a care worker)

I never had someone to be my care worker. My situation is almost their situation, so I decided to be a care worker so that I can inform them and help them grow and be strong. (Kenzo, male, 20 years, 2 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Over-identification and -involvement

Most of the care workers were themselves from families affected by HIV/AIDS. They thus understand them but often over identify with them and become overly involved. For example:

They are like my real family. Even the one weekend I just go and visit those families, I just took a long walk and see how they are doing. (Gift, male, 29 years, 7 years of experience as a care worker)

The care workers expressed that they get personally involved with the children. This often triggered their own unresolved emotional issues which results in sleepless nights and intense sadness. One caregiver said she feels 'pains in my heart' when listening to the hardship of children and their families.

Most of the time I cry about them. But I tell myself that there are things I cannot do even though I want to help the children. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Emotional distress

In their daily work duties, the care workers experienced numerous challenges that contributed to their experience of negative emotions. Some of the participants reported intense sadness and physical symptoms of stress such as severe headaches, loss of appetite, fatigue and inability to focus on their work. The care workers thus experienced high levels of emotional exhaustion.

I have a lot of headaches and I sleep a lot. I don't have an appetite. I don't eat and I don't like noise. I'm short tempered and I cry most of the time. (Mpumi, female, 20 years, 6 months of experience as a care worker) Sometimes I'm being stressed. I suffer from severe headaches. When I start thinking about the situation, my head would start to be sore. (Gift, male, 29 years, 7 years of experience as a care worker)

Incompetence because of financial constraints

Most of the participants reported the limited financial resources available at the CBO to meet the needs of the community, as a major stress factors. The care workers conveyed feelings of being stressed, exhausted, frustrated and at times overwhelmed especially because they feel unable to help families and children to address their needs, as illustrated below:

Why am I here? I feel so useless, because I can't help this person with money. They come to you thinking you'll help but you can't help, you have no resources, your hands are tied. It drains me, it drains me, it puts me down. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

It can become very difficult to look the person in the eyes and tell them I can't help you, go home. Even though you send them to other places, you know those places won't help. They come here because they saw you helping other people. If I had this (money) I would help. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

#### **Coping mechanisms**

Given the challenges in their work environment, the care workers have adopted some positive and negative coping mechanisms. Some positive approaches were the following.

#### Social support

The care workers received formal forms of support from their management. In addition, they used informal support from their co-workers, family and friends. They described talking about their frustrations and fears as a way of coping with their daily stressors. It helped them to overcome the feelings of being overwhelmed by the burdens and limitations of their work environment. Support systems buffered their levels of distress:

Usually I talk it over with my colleagues. I can bounce it off the people that are strong. When you start saying that, they calm you down saying eh relax. Here at work I have this friend. She is my strength, when I feel weak and down, I go to her. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Religion and prayer

Many of the participants reported making use of their religious beliefs and affiliations in times of stress. They prayed, went to church and participated in other religious activities. These participants explained experiencing emotional relief and support through these pursuits:

Emotionally, you know, I grew up in this kind of family that always tell me that when you are kind of stressed, go to church. You know, I survived by that. (Thandi, female, 34 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Relaxing activities

The participants utilised numerous kinds of relaxation activities such as reading, walking, creative arts and listening to music. They expressed feeling relieved during these activities as it allowed them to process their work circumstances. They gained a sense of rejuvenation through relaxation activities.

Negative coping strategies include the following:

#### Suppression of emotions

Most of the participants reported that in order for them to work effectively with the children, they had to put their own feelings aside. Their primary concern was the well-being of the children. However, most participants voiced that suppressing their feelings has had a negative impact on their own emotional well-being. For example:

When you come here, you have to snap out of it. You don't want to take your stressors and put it on them. You want them to feel happy. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

At times I tell them that I might look like this strong person but inside I'm hurting and (crying) most of the time I do suppress my feelings and act as if nothing is happening, but I know deep inside it hurts. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Self-neglect

All the participants noted that it was their primary concern to meet the needs of the children, often at the expense of their own well-being. In the long run, lack of self-care and emotional support result in feelings of incompetence and infective work:

When I am stressed of course I don't take good care of myself. Even my siblings will notice. I lose concentration on the things that I was supposed to do. I just end up forgetting them. (Thandi, female, 34 years, 3 years of experience as a care worker)

#### Themes from post-intervention interviews

Care workers expressed that laughter therapy played an important role in their lives and that it made them feel well. The discussion of the intervention generated much laughter during the interviews with the care workers. They reported that laughter helped them to get through difficult situations in the work place, as well as in their personal lives. Laughter relieved tension and strengthened the interactions between the care workers.

Four themes emerged from the interviews conducted after the care workers participated in one month of daily group laughter therapy sessions.

#### Positive emotional experiences

Most of the participants were initially sceptic about the value of laughter therapy. However, as the sessions progressed they began to enjoy it. In contrast with the pre-interviews, they reported experiencing a variety of positive emotions such as joy, happiness, relief and hope. This is illustrated in the following quotes:

I feel I have joy in my heart after laughing, you feel relieved. Eish, I don't know how to explain it but you feel you are happy. (Victoria, female, 34 years, 6 years of experience)

I felt something like relief in my body, like when you feel weight on your shoulders, but then I felt relieved and now I feel so light. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience)

Immediately when you are laughing there is something that will move you from this situation you are in and go to another better situation. It gives you hope. (Gift, male, 29 years, 7 years of experience)

You know they were amazed to hear that with only laughter it can be able to change your life. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience)

#### Positive coping

The participants reported that laughter had changed the way they interpreted situations. Laughter worked as an effective tool to help the participants see a negative incident in a positive light. For example:

There is stress out there, but you have to look at it in a different perspective and not always stress about things. Be levelheaded not to go down with stress. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience)

I used to worry a lot but now it's different. Through the laughter sessions it's better because now I know how to control myself towards anger, towards bad emotions, thinking a lot. Yes it has helped a lot. (Thandi, female, 34 years, 3 years of experience)

Participants were given the daily opportunity to express and release the emotions that they had ignored for so long. They therefore expressed suppressed emotions and felt a sense of relief.

Through doing the laughter sessions in a group, the care workers developed support from co-workers as an effective coping mechanism in a stressful work environment.

#### Improved interpersonal relationships

For the care workers, laughter functioned as a binding factor in relationships. They felt that laughing as a group had strengthened their work relationships and improved their relationships with friends and family as well. It awakened them to want to be more sociable and interactive with others:

You know, before I just need to be alone, but now I know to call them, let's sit together and I'm engaging much more with them than before. So you find through laughter you are able to engage with other people. (Thandi, female, 34 years, 3 years of experience)

Whenever somebody says something it doesn't bother me anymore, I don't take it personally. Those people that I pushed away from me, I need them to be around. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience)

I was this person that was not in the mood to be with people. But since after (the laughter) I just really wanted to be with people, wanted to see other people. (Precious, female, 38 years, 5 years of experience)

Positive social interactions served to reinforce their positive emotions, thereby creating a sustainable system of wellness.

#### Improvement in care work

Care workers had more positive feelings, were more hopeful and made intimate contact with the children in their care. Some participants used laughter in their contact with the children to bring hope in difficult situations:

I feel lighter. I give them hope. You laugh when you touch somebody and some kids have never been touched before. You touch them and they smile because laughter brings a smile to the face. Your own face opens up, like your eyes and everything when you are laughing. And then you give the next person hope, they will get through it somehow. There is hope even if they are in a bad situation. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience)

Care workers realised that they have to change themselves before they can expect others to change. Most of the participants indicated some changes in their behaviours and in the way they view their situations:

If you want people to change, you have to change first. By changing the way I look at things I will be impacting others. (Mpho, female, 32 years, 3 years of experience)

### Integration with quantitative results

Two questionnaires were administered before and after the laughter therapy intervention to identify changes that took place with regard to stress, depression and anxiety of each participant. The scores of each participant were plotted in Figs. 2 and 3 to understand the participants' reactions.

The scores for each participant showed some interesting results. Although most of the participants experienced less stress,



Fig. 2. Pre- and post-intervention stress scores per participant.



Fig. 3. Pre- and post-intervention test analysis (HADS).

anxiety and depression after the therapy sessions, all participants did not have similar experiences. For example, Victoria reported more stress after the intervention, her levels of anxiety remained the same, while her experiences of depression were lower after the intervention. Victoria experienced her work as frustrating because of the minimal salary she receives and limited financial resources available to care for the children. During the intervention period, she had applied for a learnership position to improve her circumstances. Her elevated levels of stress could be contributed to her uncertainty of her capabilities to get the learnership.

Thandi experienced the highest level of depression before the intervention. Since her mother passed away, she was left to take care of her siblings. The intervention helped her to process her feelings and she reported significantly less depression after the intervention. Similarly, Precious appeared to experience the largest differences between pre- and post-intervention assessments on all three scales. Before the intervention, she was depressed and withdrew to the extent of attempting suicide earlier in the year. In the post-intervention interview, she displayed energy and optimism, more confidence and was more sociable. She describes her reaction to laughter therapy as follows: 'I think I am loving myself more and understand that it's up to me to want to be happy.'

# Discussion

The purpose of the study was to explore the emotional experiences of community care workers attending to HIV-affected families. Secondly, their experiences of laughter therapy sessions as an intervention strategy to promote their psychological wellbeing were explored. The nature of their work involves a mammoth task to care for the infected and affected families. Because care workers were from the same community and many of them were from HIV-affected families themselves, they could express empathy and altruism to help others in similar situations. They could thus identify with the plight of the community in which they work, which contributed to involvement and job satisfaction (Van Dick, Van Knippenberg, Kerchreiter, Hertel, & Wieseke, 2008). Though, overidentification and over-involvement could result in emotional distress (Collins, 2007). Their lack of formal training can contribute to the experience of secondary trauma, following from being confronted daily with the traumas of their clients. It seemed that some of the care workers experienced high levels of emotional exhaustion, especially when they did not have the resources to address the families' needs (Price et al., 2013; Storey & Billingham, 2001).

In order to buffer the effects of emotional distress, care workers used positive and negative coping mechanisms. In order for them to carry out their work effectively, they had a tendency of masking, overlooking and ignoring their own emotions. They often neglected their own well-being (confirmed by Geteri & Angogo, 2013 and Moremi, 2012) which may have contributed to the accumulation of negative emotions such as high anxiety and stress reported in the pre-intervention assessment. Because self-care is the best strategy to overcome emotional exhaustion (Geteri & Angogo, 2013; Wentzel & Brysiewicz, 2014), daily laughter therapy sessions were introduced in this group of care workers.

The results showed that most of the participants of the laughter intervention reported less stress, anxiety and depression after the intervention. Laughter is associated with the cathartic release of accumulated emotions (Goodheart, 1994). Participants had the opportunity to express and release the emotions that they had previously ignored and suppressed. Many of them thus expressed feeling a sense of relief after the intervention. The release of these negative emotions was accompanied by the experience of positive emotions, such as joy, happiness, relief and hope. Fredrickson's (2001) theory of positive emotions emphasises the process by which individuals' daily experiences of positive emotions can multiply over time to build an array of substantial personal internal resources. As such, the participants' exposure to daily laughter therapy sessions facilitated the development of an entire repertoire of positive emotions which can contribute to the alleviation of negative emotional experiences. Laughter induces a form of relaxation that allows people to feel rather than to think. It tends to bypass the cognitive system and focuses on the emotions (Goodheart, 1994). Once positive emotions are activated, it re-energises a person to take a new viewpoint of life and make better judgements. These positive experiences can have a positive cyclic effect on the individual's emotions, cognitions and behaviour, similar to the negative cycle identified by Beck (2011). The positive cycle can be continuously reinforced and broadened through continuous use.

These positive experiences allowed for the development of more positive interactions with co-workers, family members and friends. Positive social interactions again serve to strengthen positive emotions, thereby contributing to the positive cycle of wellbeing (Vittengl & Holt, 2000; Waugh & Fredrickson, 2006). Many researchers have found that positive social interactions aid in the development and maintenance of psychological wellbeing (Collins, 2007; Halbesleben, 2006; Medland, Howard-Ruben, & Whitaker, 2007).

The laughter sessions helped the care workers to develop a positive mind set and to take control of their own emotions. This increased their ability to relate and to provide support for the families in their care (Colom et al., 2011). These results contribute to the limited evidence of the potential of laughter as a strategy to reduce stress and counteract negative emotions (Falkenberg, Buchkremer, Bartels, & Wild, 2011; Ko & Youn, 2011).

# Limitations

In this research, qualitative and quantitative data were collected from a small sample of care workers that was selected through purposive sampling, where availability and willingness also played a role. The research mainly focused on the qualitative results obtained from interviews with participants. The quantitative results were used to support the qualitative results. The small sample size made it possible to link the qualitative and quantitative data of each participant to understand their reactions to the intervention. On the other hand, the small sample size and lack of control group data limited the use of the quantitative results. It was not the intention of the research to determine the effectiveness of the intervention - rather to explore the experiences and the value of laughter for the care workers. Due to the nature of qualitative research, the results may have been different if the research was done with another group of care workers. The results may thus not be transferable.

The subjective role of the researcher(s) as in all qualitative research should be noted, although various measures were taken to enhance trustworthy results.

Furthermore, some limitations with the language capabilities of the participants were encountered. Although all the respondents had passed matric through medium English, the participants were not fluent in English which could negatively affected their ability to express their deep-felt emotions.

# Conclusions

There are often media reports on laughter implemented as an intervention in various contexts, but research is seldom done on the experience and value of such sessions for the participants. This research explored the value of laughter as a low-cost intervention for care workers in an HIV context to deal with negative emotions such as anxiety and depression and to promote psychological well-being. Through daily exposure to laughter sessions, the care workers experienced more positive emotions, improved social relationships and improved ways of coping as well as lower levels of anxiety, depression and stress. The triangulation of qualitative and quantitative data made it possible to understand how laughter helped care workers to develop a positive mind set and improved relationships that could improve their ability to provide care for the families they work with.

To improve the services of care workers in South Africa, previous research indicated that they need to be appropriately trained and supported (Dewing et al., 2013; Petersen, Hanass Hancock, Bhana, & Govender, 2014). This research showed that care workers need emotional support and learn self-care skills. When people working in intense emotional situations receive help on a personal level and learn self-care skills, they can develop strengths to cope with stress and compassion fatigue (Meadors & Lamson, 2008) which can contribute to their psychological well-being and care giving. Laughter is a possible resource that is easily available and can be a low-cost strategy to reduce stress and counteract negative emotions among people working in highly emotional environments. This research supports Morreall (1983, 1986) in his unwavering belief that laughter is an important factor in understanding humanity and in contributing to human well-being.

#### References

Akintola, O. (2008). Defying all odds: Coping with the challenges of volunteer caregiving for patients with AIDS in South Africa. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 63(4), 357–365. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04704.x

Akintola, O. (2010). Perceptions of rewards among volunteer caregivers of people living with AIDS working in faith-based organizations in South Africa: A qualitative study. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, *13*(22), 2–10. doi:10.1186/1758-2652-13-22

Armstrong, S. (2000). Caring for carers: Managing stress in those who care for people with HIV and AIDS. Geneva: UNAIDS.

Association for Applied and Therapeutic Humor (AATH). (2000). General information. Retrieved from http://www.aath.org/general-information

Beck, J. S. (2011). *Cognitive therapy: Basic and beyond* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Bennett, M. P., Zeller, J. M., Rosenberg, L., & McCann, J. (2003). The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Journal of Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, 9(2), 38–45.

Berger, J., Polivka, B., Smoot, E. A., & Owens, H. (2015). Compassion fatigue in pediatric nurses. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 30, e11-e17.

Berk, L. S., Tan, S. A., Fry, W. F., Napier, B. J., Lee, J. W., Hubbard, R. W., ... Eby, W. C. (1989). Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 298, 390–396.

Bjelland, I., Dahl, A. A., Haug, T. T., & Neckelmann, D. (2001). The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale: An updated literature review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *52*, 69–77.

Callaghan, M., Ford, N., & Schneider, H. (2010). A systematic review of taskshifting for HIV treatment and care in Africa. *Human Resources for Health*, 8(8), 1–9.

Cameron, S., Coetzee, L., & Ngidi, N. (2009). Community caregivers. In L. Gwyther, E. Bethke, P. Brouard, & S. Septhon (Eds.), *Legal aspects of palliative care* (pp. 99–106). Pinelands: Hospice Palliative Care Association of South Africa.

Cataldo, F., Kielmann, K., Kielmann, T., Mburu, G., & Musheke, M. (2015). 'Deep down in their heart, they wish they could be given some incentives': A qualitative study on the changing roles and relations of care among homebased caregivers in Zambia. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(36), 1–10. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0685-7

Coetzee, S. K., & Klopper, H. C. (2010). Compassion fatigue within nursing practice: A concept analysis. *Nursing Health Science*, *12*, 235–243.

Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 24(4), 385-396.

Collins, S. (2007). Statutory social workers: Stress, job satisfaction, coping, social support and individual differences. *British Journal of Social Work*, *38*, 1173–1193.

Colom, G. G., Alcover, C. T., Sanchez-Curto, C., & Zarate-Osuna, J. (2011). Study of the effect of positive humour as a variable that reduces stress. Relationship of humour with personality and performance variables. *Psychology in Spain*, *15*(1), 9–21.

Corey, G. (2013). Theory and practice of counseling and psychotherapy (9th ed.). Sydney: Cengage Learning.

Cousins, N. (1979). Anatomy of an illness as perceived by the patient. Toronto: Bantam.

Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Dewing, S., Mathews, C., Schaay, N., Cloete, A., Louw, J., & Simbayi, L. (2013). 'It's important to take your medication everyday okay?' An evaluation of counselling by lay counsellors for ARV adherence support in the Western Cape, South Africa. *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(1), 203–212.

Donaldson, S. I., Dollwet, M., & Rao, M. A. (2015). Happiness, excellence, and optimal human functioning revisited: Examining the peer-reviewed literature linked to positive psychology. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *10*(3), 185–195. doi:10.1080/17439760.2014.943801

Falkenberg, I., Buchkremer, G., Bartels, M., & Wild, B. (2011). Implementation of a manual-based training of humour abilities in patients with depression: A pilot study. *Psychiatry Research*, *186*(2–3), 454–457. doi:10.1016/j.psychres. 2010.10.009

Foster, G., Levine, C., & Williamson, J. (2005). A generation at risk: The global impact of HIV/AIDS on orphans and vulnerable children. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *American Psychologist*, 56(3), 218–226. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.56.3.218

Gee, B. (2011). Aerobic laughter therapy. Retrieved from http://www.inhappiness.org/happiness-research.htm

Gee, B., Jaffer, M., & Matanda, M. (2010). *Healing with happiness*. Johannesburg: Happiness University Press.

Geteri, L. M., & Angogo, E. M. (2013). Self-care among caregivers of people living with HIV and AIDS in Kakola location, Nyando district, Kisumu County, Kenya. *Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS*, *10*(2), 65–71. doi:10. 1080/17290376.2013.807065

Goodheart, A. (1994). Laughter therapy. Santa Barbara, CA: Less Stress Press. Halbesleben, J. R. B. (2006). Sources of social support and burnout: A metaanalytic test of the conservation of resources model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(5), 1134–1145. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.91.5.1134

Hamad, R., Fernald, L. C. H., Karlan, D. S., & Zinman, J. (2008). Social and economic correlates of depressive symptoms and perceived stress in South African adults. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Mental Health*, 62, 538-544. doi:10.1136/jech.2007.066191

Jaffer, M., Gee, B., & Matanda, M. (2011). Healing with happiness: Overcoming stress and depression, building health and emotional intelligence with applied positive psychology and aerobic laughter therapy: The JOYGYM happiness system paperback. Happiness University.

Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed method research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14-26.

Junkins, E. (1999). *The role of laughter in psychotherapy*. Retrieved from www. laughtertherapy.com/index.php/publications/laughter-natures-best-bet

Kataria, M. (2002). Laugh for no reason (2nd ed.). Mumbai: Madhuri International.

Ko, H. J., & Youn, C. H. (2011). Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, *11*(3), 267–274. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010.00680.x

Lewin, S. A., Babigumira, S. M., Bosch-Capblanch, X., Aja, G., van Wyk, B., Glenton, C., ... Daniels, K. (2005). Lay health workers in primary and community health care. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1, CD004015.

Martin, R. A., Kuiper, N. A., Olinger, L. J., & Dance, K. O. (1993). Humor, coping with stress, self-concept, and psychological well-being. *Humor – International Journal of Humor Research*, 6, 89–104. doi:10.1515/humr.1993.6.1.89

Meadors, P., & Lamson, A. (2008). Compassion fatigue and secondary traumatization: Provider self care on intensive care units for children. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 22, 24–34.

Medland, J., Howard-Ruben, J., & Whitaker, E. (2007). Fostering psychosocial wellness in oncology nurses: Addressing burnout and social support in the workplace. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *31*(1), 47–54. doi:10. 1188/04.ONF.47-54

Moremi, M. Z. (2012). Volunteer stress and coping in HIV and AIDS homebased care (Unpublished master's dissertation). University of South Africa, Pretoria, South Africa.

Morreall, J. (1983). *Taking laughter seriously*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Morreall, J. (1986). *The philosophy of laughter and humor*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Mykletun, A., Stordal, E., & Dahl, A. A. (2001). Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS): Factor structure, item analyses and internal consistency in a large population. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *179*, 540–544.

O'Neill, J.F., & McKinney, M. (2003). Care for the caregiver. In J. F. O'Neill, P.A. Selwyn, & H. Schietinger (Eds.), *A clinical guide to supportive and palliative care for HIV/AIDS*, pp. 409–430. CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform. Retrieved from https://books.google.co.in/books/about/A\_Clinical\_ Guide\_to\_Supportive\_and\_Palli.html?id=i92cMQEACAAJ&source=kp\_ cover&redir\_esc=y Peltzer, K., & Davids, A. (2011). Lay counsellors' experiences of delivering HIV counselling services in public health facilities in an Eastern Cape Province District of South Africa. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, *21*, 53–61.

Petersen, I., Hanass Hancock, J., Bhana, A., & Govender, K. (2014). A groupbased counselling intervention for depression comorbid with HIV/AIDS using a task shifting approach in South Africa: A randomized controlled pilot study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 158, 78–84.

Pirraglia, P. A., Bishop, D., Herman, D. S., Trisvan, E., Lopez, R. A., Torgersen, C. S., . . . Stein, M. D. (2005). Caregiver burden and depression among informal caregivers of HIV-infected individuals. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 20(6), 510–514. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0073.x

Price, J., Topp, S., Moyo, T., Mulenga, D., Dennis, M., & Ngunga, M. (2013, June-July). *Rethinking volunteerism in Sub-Saharan Africa: Select findings from a mixed-method survey in 758 volunteer HIV caregivers in Zambia.* Poster presentation at 7th International AIDS Society Conference on HIV pathogenesis, treatment and prevention, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Abstract MOPE204.

Remor, E. (2006). Psychometric properties of a European Spanish version of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 9(1), 86–93.

Schenk, K. D., Michaelis, A., Sapiano, T. N., Brown, L., & Weiss, E. (2010). Improving the lives of vulnerable children: Implications of horizons research among orphans and other children affected by AIDS. *Public Health Reports*, 125, 325–336.

Schenk, K. D., Ndhlovu, L., Tembo, S., Nsune, A., Nkhata, C., & Walusiku, B. (2008). Supporting orphans and vulnerable children affected by AIDS: Using community-generated definitions to explore patterns of children's vulnerability in Zambia. *AIDS Care*, *20*, 894–903. doi:10.1080/09540120701767232

Schneider, H., & Lehmann, U. (2010). Lay health workers and HIV programmes: Implications for health systems. *AIDS Care*, 22(sup1), 60-67. doi:10.1080/095401209034830422

Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Authentic happiness: Using the new positive psychology to realise your potential for lasting fulfilment. New York, NY: Free Press.

Shapiro, S. L., Brown, K. W., & Biegel, G. M. (2007). Teaching self-care to caregivers; effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on the mental health of therapists in training. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, *1*(2), 105–115. doi:10.1037/1931-3918.1.2.105

Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2008). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In J. A. Smith (Ed.), *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods* (2nd ed., pp. 53–80). London: Sage.

Snyder, C. R., & Lopez, S. J. (2002). The handbook of positive psychology. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Spinelli, E. (2005). The interpreted world: An introduction to phenomenological psychology (2nd ed.). London: Sage.

Storey, J., & Billingham, J. (2001). Occupational stress and social work. *Social Work Education*, 20, 659-669.

Teddlie, C., & Yu, F. (2007). Mixed methods sampling, a typology with examples. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 1(1), 77-100.

Terre Blanche, M., Durrheim, K., & Painter, D. (2006). Research in practice. Applied methods for the social sciences. Cape Town: UCT Press.

Townsend, L., & Dawes, A. (2009). Willingness to care for children orphaned by HIV/AIDS: A study on foster and adoptive parents. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 3(1), 69–80.

UNAIDS. (2000). Caring for carers: Managing stress in those who care for people with HIV/AIDS. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS.

U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (US PEPFAR). (2012). *Guidance for orphans and vulnerable children programming*. Retrieved from http://www.pepfar.gov/documents/organization/195702.pdf

Uys, L. R. (2002). The practice of community caregivers in a home-based HIV/ AIDS project in South Africa. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *11*, 99–108.

Uys, L. R., & Cameron, S. (2003). *Home-based HIV/AIDS care*. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.

Van Dick, R., Van Knippenberg, D., Kerchreiter, R., Hertel, G., & Wieseke, J. (2008). Interactive effects of work group and organizational identification on job satisfaction and extra-role behaviour. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, *72*, 388–399. dio:10.1016/j.jvb.2007.11.009

Van Dyk, A. (2013). HIV and AIDS education, care and counselling, a multidisciplinary approach (5th ed.). Cape Town: Pearson Education.

Vermaak, K., Mavimbela, N., Chege, J., & Esu-Williams, E. (2004). *Challenges faced by households in caring for orphaned and vulnerable children*. Research paper in conjunction with Horizons, Frontiers, DRA, USAID and Nelson Mandela Children's Fund. Washington, DC: Population Council.

Visser, M., & Mabota, P. (2015). The emotional wellbeing of lay HIV counselling and testing counsellors. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, *14*, 169–177. doi:10.2989/16085906.2015.1040812

Vittengl, J. R., & Holt, C. S. (2000). Getting acquainted: The relationship of selfdisclosure and social attraction to positive affect. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 17, 53–66. doi:10.1177/0265407500171003

Waugh, C. E., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). Nice to know you: Positive emotions, self-other overlap, and complex understanding in the formation of a new relationship. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(2), 93–106. doi:10.1080/17439760500510569

Wentzel, D., & Brysiewicz, P. (2014). The consequence of caring too much: Compassion fatigue and the trauma nurse. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 40, 95–97.

Willig, C. (2008). Introducing qualitative research in psychology. Buckingham: Open University Press.

World Health Organisation (WHO). (2007). Treat train and retrain. Task shifting: Global recommendations and guidelines. Geneva: WHO.

Wringe, A., Cataldo, F., Stevenson, N., & Fakoya, A. (2010). Delivering comprehensive home-based care programmes for HIV: A review of lessons learned and challenges ahead in the era of antiretroviral therapy. *Health Policy and Planning*, *25*(5), 352–362. doi:10.1093/heapol/czq005

Zigmond, A. S., & Snaith, R. P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67, 361–370. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447. 1983.tb09716.x

# Taiwan Study

Complementary Therapies in Medicine (2013) 21, 660-668





# Psychological, immunological and physiological effects of a Laughing Qigong Program (LQP) on adolescents

Chueh Chang<sup>a</sup>, Grace Tsai<sup>a,\*</sup>, Chia-Jung Hsieh<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> National Taiwan University, Institute of Health Policy and Management, Taiwan <sup>b</sup> National Taipei University of Nursing and Health Science, College of Nursing, Taiwan Available online 13 September 2013

KEYWORDS	Jullina
Laughter:	Objecti
Humori	ical, im
	the Lau
Adolescent nealth;	interver
Qigong;	Designe
Stress;	Design:
Coning	of adole
Mood states	attende
moou states	homewo
	berg Se
	markers
	IIIaineis

#### Summary

*Objectives*: One objective of this study was to assess the effects of laughter on the psychologcal, immunological and physiological systems of the body. Another objective was to introduce the Laughing Qigong Program (LQP), as a method of standardization for simulated laughter interventions.

Design: A randomized, prospective, experimental study of the LQP was conducted in a group of adolescents (n = 67) in Taiwan. During study-hall sessions, experimental subjects (n = 34) attended the LQP for eight-weeks. Simultaneously, control subjects (n = 33) read or did their homework. All subjects were tested before and after the intervention on the following: Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale (RSE), Chinese Humor Scale (CHS) and Face Scale (FS) as psychological markers; saliva cortisol (CS) as an immunological marker; blood pressure (BP), heart rate (HR), and heart rate variability (HRV) as physiological markers of the body's response to stress. Mood states (FS) were measured before/after each LQP session.

*Results:* Mood states (p = .00) and humor (p = .004; p = .003) improved in the experimental group; no significant changes were found in the controls (p = 69; p = 60). The immunological marker of stress, cortisol levels, decreased significantly for those who participated in the LQP (p = .001), suggesting lower levels of stress after completion of the program.

*Conclusions:* The LQP is a non-pharmacological and cost-effective means to help adolescents mitigate stresses in their everyday life.

© 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-SA license.

E-mail addresses: chueh@ntu.edu.tw (C. Chang), grtsuyuki@gmail.com (G. Tsai), chiajung@ntunhs.edu.tw (C.-J. Hsieh).

0965-2299 © 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-SA license. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2013.09.004

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: National Taiwan University, Institute of Health Policy and Management, Room # 622, No. 17, Hsu-Chow Road, Taipei 100, Taiwan, ROC. Tel.: +886 2 33668061; fax: +886 2 23949769.

# Background

In 2005, the World Health Organization (WHO) acknowledged that ''there is no health without mental health''.<sup>1</sup> Embracing the WHO mandate, this study investigates a new mental health promotion plan developed in Taiwan: the Laughing Qigong Program (LQP). The LQP is based on findings in two fields: positive psychology<sup>2</sup> and psychoneuroimmunology.<sup>3</sup> These two fields, focusing on positive mental health and the effects of emotions on physiology, respectively, have engendered a new field of research: *gelotology*,<sup>4</sup> the study of laughter. Gelotology examines the notion that laughter attenuates biochemical markers of stress in the body.<sup>5–7</sup>

### Literature review

Comprehensive reviews<sup>8–11</sup> investigating the link between humor and health make distinctions between humor and laughter. Martin<sup>9</sup> and Bennett and Lengacher,<sup>8</sup> provide similar definitions: ''Humor can be used to refer to a stimulus (e.g., a comedy film), a mental process (e.g., perception of amusing incongruities), or a response (e.g., laughter, exhilaration).'' Laughter, however, is defined as ''a psychophysiological response to humor that involves both characteristic physiological reactions and positive psychological shifts.'' This area of gelotology not only makes a clear distinction between humor and laughter, but goes further to demarcate ''simulated'' versus ''spontaneous'' laughter.<sup>10</sup> The LQP is a ''simulated'' laughter program whereby laughter is self-induced, with no specific reason.

#### Humor and laughter as coping

Studies have demonstrated the use of humor as a coping mechanism in different stages of life: lowered levels of stress for undergraduates,<sup>12</sup> increased self-efficacy for those in the workplace,<sup>13</sup> and decreased pain for arthritis sufferers.<sup>14</sup> However, the mechanism between humor and laughter is still in its infancy and further studies need to differentiate whether laughter, irrespective of a humor stimulus, can be a viable means of coping.

# Psychological effects of laughter

Many studies have investigated the psychological effects of laughter: these include mood states,<sup>15</sup> self-esteem,<sup>16</sup> self-efficacy,<sup>13</sup> and depression,<sup>17–19</sup> Though results are still inconclusive,<sup>20,9,11</sup> it seems that positive mood states accompanying laughter result in positive psychological effects, as well as possible analgesic or immunoenhancing<sup>21</sup> effects.

#### Immunological effects of laughter

Immunological effects of laughter involve the neurophysioanatomical pathway.<sup>22,23</sup> One hypothesis is that laughter affects the brain (i.e., amygdala, thalamic, hypothalamic and subthalamic areas of the dorsal brain system) via the central nervous system (i.e., parasympathetic and sympathetic responses). Specific to the central nervous system, researchers have investigated various pathways, including the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis,<sup>24</sup> and the sympathetic-adrenomedullary (SAM) system.<sup>9</sup> The effects of laughter on these systems include reductions in serum cortisol levels.<sup>25,6</sup>

# Physiological effects of laughter

It is hypothesized that laughter decreases stress hormones and acts to buffer the effects of stress on the cardiovascular system.<sup>26</sup> Studies have argued that vigorous laughter can produce heat, sweat and stress relief similar to the results of aerobic exercise.<sup>27</sup> These cardiovascular changes have been investigated via blood pressure (BP),<sup>26,28,29</sup> and in particular the vascular endothelium.<sup>28</sup> Other studies have investigated heart rate (HR) and heart rate variability (HRV). Little effect was seen on HR,<sup>30</sup> but strong, if transient, effects on HRV were observed.<sup>31</sup>

# Qigong

Qi (pronounced ''chee'') can be translated loosely as ''life force.'' All living things are considered to possess qi, a field of energy in and around the body. *Qigong* is a term for various disciplines believed to improve qi through body movements, calming the mind, and attention to breathing. Currently, it is reported that more than 100 million people practice qigong in China,<sup>32,33</sup> and many more practice around the world to treat a host of diseases and ailments: cancer,<sup>34,35</sup> fibromyalgia,<sup>36</sup> psychological symptoms,<sup>37</sup> mood,<sup>38</sup> cardiopulmonary effects,<sup>39</sup> lung functioning,<sup>40</sup> and BP.<sup>41</sup>

#### Laughing qigong

The LQP is a combination of qigong techniques and simulated laughter with a focus on the mind and body connection. It is based on three sets of principles: 1) Chinese medicine (i.e., yin/yang theory, qi, and meridian and organ functions); 2) Qigong (i.e., relaxation, core strength, deep diaphragmic breathing); and 3) Positive psychology (i.e., one can choose how to react to situations or events).

The LQP is comprised of four stages (refer to Appendix I), with the third, ''Transformation,'' stage being comprised of two parts: the stating of emotions and simulated laughter. An increased awareness of emotions and current mood states is elicited through the ''stating'' and it is believed that negative mood states can be ''transformed'' through simulated laughter. Participants are taught to accept negative emotional states and, rather than feeling helpless or overwhelmed, actively engage in transforming them internally and while in the company of others in the LQP group. Social support is propagated because participants realize that they are not alone in feeling their negative emotions. By providing a safe context for releasing emotions, and then transforming them in a group setting, the LQP process generates a sense of empowerment.

The LQP has been conducted in many communities (e.g., cancer groups, elderly centers) in Taiwan for the past 15 years. It is a mental health promotion program drawing on both Eastern and Western paradigms.

#### Laughter programs around the world

Many studies have been conducted recently around the world,<sup>42,10</sup> investigating simulated laughter programs. From Tehran<sup>18</sup> to Canada<sup>23</sup> to Korea,<sup>19</sup> researchers are just beginning to investigate the healing effects of laughter on the body and mind. Though gelotology is still in its infancy, laughter programs have garnered world-wide popularity, particularly the Laughter Club movement (Laughter Yoga).<sup>43</sup> One objective of this article is to introduce an innovative simulated-laughter program, the LQP, and address some of the weaknesses of previous studies (e.g., nonexistent control groups, lack of standardized baseline measures, etc.)

#### Adolescents

This study relates to adolescence, a stage of life often marked by anxiety<sup>44</sup> and fluctuating mood states,<sup>45</sup> and suggests that a laughter program can reduce associated stresses. During adolescence, a time when coping strategies and personality traits are being formed,<sup>46</sup> the LQP can teach positive coping skills to deal with stressors particular to adolescence, such as examination stressors and the increased need to belong to peer groups.

#### Study goals

The aim of this study was to present a standardized, innovative protocol for laughter interventions and to assess the effects of the LQP, on the psychological, immunological and physiological systems of the body.

#### Methods

#### Participants

Participants were students recruited from a public junior high school in Taipei, Taiwan. Two 7th grade classes (n = 67) were chosen to participate as the experimental (n = 34) and control (n = 33) groups. The experimental group had 18 females and 16 males; the control group included 15 females and 18 males. Informed consent was obtained from both students and parents. The study was approved by an institutional review board.

Participants were to be excluded if past health records from their school folders indicated a medical diagnosis of severe mental disorders or history of substance abuse. These two criteria were chosen since a previous diagnosis of severe mental disorders could confound results of the psychological effects of the LQP and a history of substance abuse could confound effects of immunological or physiological effects. Evaluations were based only on medical records in the student's academic folders, however, and were not directly asked of participants. None of the participants met these exclusion criteria.

The defining factor for participant inclusion was the time frame in which the student could engage in LQP, based on school schedules. The review of gelotology did not find demographic characteristics (e.g., SES, age, marital status etc.) correlated with a propensity to laugh and thus such factors were not surveyed. This may be considered a limitation of the study and future studies should include a demographic survey.

#### Procedure

A prospective, experimental/control group design was employed, and quantitative and qualitative data were collected over a two-month period (April and May) for a total of eight sessions. During ''study-hall'' time (45 min), the experimental group participated in the LQP (Appendices I and II), while the control group simply read books or did their homework. Thus, the LQP protocol consisted of onehour sessions once a week for 8 weeks, of which 45 min was the LQP intervention and 15 min consisted of data collection. During the first and the final sessions, both groups were asked to complete psychological measures and submit to BP measurements, HR measurements, saliva cortisol assessments and HRV analysis. In the intervening sessions, only the experimental group completed the Face Scale (FS), before and after the LQP (refer to Fig. 1).

#### Measures

#### **Psychological measures**

*Rosenberg's Self-Esteem Scale* (RSE; <sup>47</sup>) is a 10-item measurement of self-esteem with high internal consistency ranging from.86 to.93<sup>48</sup> and test-retest reliability over a 2-week period of.85.<sup>49</sup> Higher scores on the RSE indicate higher self-esteem. A Chinese translation of the RSE was used in this study.

The Chinese Humor Scale (CHS) is a 30-item measurement which assesses four dimensions (subscales) of humor: a) creativity; b) tendency; c) perceptivity and d) attitude (refer to Appendix II). Humor creativity (HC) measures the ability to use humor creatively or in novel situations. Humor tendency (HT) assesses the ability to laugh or find humor in situations where others may not. Humor perceptivity (HP) assesses perceptions of humor in oneself and others. Humor attitude (HA) measures attitudes regarding humor and mood states. The CHS uses a Likert 4-point response from ''never'' to ''always'', with higher scores indicating an increased ability to use humor to mitigate the stresses of everyday life. Internal consistency Cronbach's-alpha reliability coefficient is.93 and alpha coefficients for each of the four factors range from .76 to .94.<sup>50</sup>

The *Face Scale* (FS) measures current mood. It is a pictorial array of 20 faces arranged in sequence, from the most positive mood (1 point) to the most negative mood (20 points). Inter-rater reliability and construct validity have all been assessed (r = 0.81; <sup>51</sup>). The FS has become widely accepted and is an effective nonverbal method for conveniently assessing moods.<sup>52</sup> Measurements promptly after LQP prevented recall bias.

#### Immunological measures

Enzyme link immunoassays (saliva *cortisol* samples) were collected by two medical technologists using cotton swab extraction. Subjects kept cotton wads in their mouths for two minutes, after which samples were evaluated using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).<sup>53</sup>



Fig. 1 LQP study protocol.

#### Physiological measures

Blood pressure (BP) and Heart Rate Variability (HRV). Systolic (SYS) and diastolic (DIA) pressure and HRV were measured with the right arm in the supine position using an autonomic nervous system wristwatch (ANSWatch, ITRI Taiwan Science Co). All participants were instructed to remain absolutely still for 7 min. HRV rates were measured in high-frequency (HF) and low-frequency (LF) components, and the ratio LF/HF was calculated. The HF component reflects parasympathetic activity and LF reflects both sympathetic and parasympathetic tone.<sup>54</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 17.0 for Windows. Paired *t*-tests were conducted to assess differences before and after the LQP; ANCOVA was used to account for pre-test scores and control for the possible effect of gender in the psychological, immunological and physiological measures.

#### Results

#### Psychological measures

After completing eight sessions of the LQP, experimental and control groups were compared using four psychological measures: self-esteem (RSE), humor (CHS), and mood states (FS). Mean CHS scores significantly increased in the experimental group from 78.15 ( $\pm$ 19.13) to 85.27 ( $\pm$ 20.00) after the LQP (p = .004) and one of the subscales of the CHS, Humor Creativity (HC), also showed a significant increase for theexperimental group from 39.59 ( $\pm$ 11.46) to 44.38 ( $\pm$ 12.30) after the LQP (p = .003). ANCOVA results showed significant influence of the LQP on CHS (P = .01) and HC (P = .01). There were no significant changes in the control group for any of the psychological measures.

Mood states were assessed using the FS after each session (Table 2) and significant differences were observed in the experimental group during sessions 2, 3, 4, 6, and 7 (p < .00). ANCOVA results showed that those who attended the LQP significantly improved in mood state (P = 04; refer to Table 2).

	Experim												
	Experim	Experimental (n = 34)									ANCOVA		
	Pre-test		re-test Post-test t-test		t-test	test Pre-test		Post-test		t-test	Р		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p			
RSE	28.24	5.35	27.38	6.13	.283	28.12	6.18	27.70	5.29	.588	.74		
CHS	78.15	19.13	85.27	20.00	.004	77.94	18.12	76.97	19.84	.686	.01**		
HC	39.59	11.46	44.38	12.30	.003*	40.79	9.71	40.03	11.50	.596	.01**		
ΗT	14.41	4.10	15.70	4.08	.058	14.24	4.16	14.21	4.59	.961	.13		
HP	11.53	3.53	12.32	3.15	.169	10.73	3.01	11.24	3.29	.359	.36		
HA	12.62	3.20	12.59	3.30	.948	12.18	2.96	11.48	3.49	.154	.25		
FS	4.62	3.10	4.03	3.42	.335	6.30	5.28	7.09	5.42	.309	.04**		

 Table 1
 Experimental and control group: analysis of pre- and post-test scores of psychological measures; RSE, CHS, SS, FS.

RSE: Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale; CHS: Chinese humor scale; HC: humor creativity; HT: humor tendency; HP: humor perceptivity; HA: humor attitude; FS: face scale.

\* Significance *p* < .05, paired *t*-test.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Significance *P* < .05, ANCOVA.

There were no significant changes in the control group for mood states (FS).

#### Immunological and physiological measures

Cortisol showed significant differences between pre-test 48.35 ( $\pm$ 12.53) to 38.50 ( $\pm$ 13.10) and post-test levels (p = .001) in the experimental group. ANCOVA results show a borderline significant result with a *P*-value of.058. There were no significant changes in cortisol levels in the control group (Table 3). Paired *t*-tests did detect significant differences between pre-test and post-test levels for HF (63.68  $\pm$  9.11 to 55.24  $\pm$  12.90; p = .007); LF (36.32  $\pm$  9.11 to 44.76  $\pm$  12.90; p = .007) and LF/HF ratios (.610  $\pm$  .274 to 942  $\pm$  745; p = .036) in the control group (Table 3). This will be discussed below.

#### Discussion

This study was designed to determine the effects of the LQP on a group of junior high school students. Mood states and humor improved in the experimental group, while they showed no significant changes in the control group. Moreover, the immunological markers of stress, cortisol levels, showed significant decreases for those who participated in the LQP, suggesting lower levels of stress after completion of the program. Given that the Transformation stage of the LQP consists of stating of emotions and simulated laughter, it is difficult to determine which aspect dominated the effects. Research has shown that laughter affects the HPA axis by instigating sympathetic and parasympathetic responses<sup>9</sup>; we further hypothesize that the act of ''stating'' helps participants become aware of their emotional states (i.e., psychological effect) and that simulated laughter generates heat in the body (i.e., physiological and immunological effects). Unfortunately, we do not have the technology to discriminate between the two. However, promising advances in the research of vascular endothelium<sup>28</sup> may help to differentiate the effects of each component of LQP in future studies.

# **Psychological effects**

Humor is believed to benefit health through the positive emotional states accompanying laughter. Our results showed significant increases in mood states immediately after completing the LQP for every session except one (refer to Table 2) as well as significant improvements in mood over the span of the experiment. These findings support other studies,  $^{55,25,56}$  that have found improved mood states after engaging in laughter.

After completion of the LQP, the experimental group showed significant increases in humor scores and in participants' abilities to find humor in creative new ways or situations. Those in the control group showed no significant

Table 2 Mean of	lifferences	for moo	d states (F	S) in the	experime	ental grou	up for eacl	h session	•				
Session	2		3	3		4 !		5		6		7	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Pre-test FS	4.96	2.43	5.76	3.87	5.18	3.18	4.29	3.04	4.53	3.39	5.44	3.71	
Post-test FS	2.86	1.78	3.15	2.27	3.68	3.14	4.09	3.18	2.97	2.89	2.85	2.44	
Paired t-test p	.00*		.00*		.01*		.69*		.00*		.00*		

FS: face scale.

<sup>\*</sup> Significance *p* < .05.
Table 3Experimental and control group: analysis of pre- and post-test scores of immunological and physiological measures;CS, SYS, DIA, HR, HRV, HF, LF, LF/HF.

	Experime	ental ( <i>n</i> = 34	4)			Control	Control ( <i>n</i> = 33)					
	Pre-test		Post-test	:	t-test	Pre-test	Post-test		t-test	Ρ		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p		
CS	48.35	12.53	38.51	13.13	.001*	36.47	14.53	35.87	14.01	.677	.058	
SYS	124.34	24.25	119.91	14.03	.261	112.87	11.97	113.19	17.55	.929	.314	
DIA	78.22	11.10	80.22	8.21	.374	78.94	8.14	76.19	12.29	.366	.147	
HR	89.47	14.12	85.69	11.58	.206	88.48	16.36	87.48	13.15	.775	.547	
HRV	209.82	140.36	178.91	183.42	.389	253.90	160.67	247.77	189.66	.883	.234	
HF	62.06	7.1	57.42	13.47	.102	63.93	9.17	54.73	12.99	.004*	.458	
LF	38.09	7.1	43.03	13.49	.075	36.07	9.17	45.27	12.98	.004*	.534	
LF/HF	.64	.22	.85	.56	.073	.61	.28	.99	.75	.015*	.431	

Immunological measure: CS: cortisol; Physiological measures: SYS: systolic blood pressure; DIA: diastolic blood pressure; HR: heart rate; HRV: heart rate variability; HF: high frequency levels; LF: low frequency levels; LF/HF: low frequency/high frequency ratio.

\* Significance *p* < .05, paired t-test.

changes in humor scores. These results suggest that those who attended LQP were able to increase their ability to laugh by finding humor in new ways and use to use simulated laughter as a means to reduce stress.

The "stress-moderator theory"<sup>9</sup> contends that stress depends upon cognitive appraisal of events and on coping skills. Those with a better sense of humor seem to frame more positive appraisals. The LQP appears to engender humor as a stress moderator, providing participants with a coping strategy and a means to relieve embarrassing situations. A secondary effect of the LQP is to provide social support. Humor is commonly cited in laughter research as going hand-in-hand with social support, resulting in stress-buffering and health-enhancing effects,<sup>57,13</sup> When participants could actively voice their current mood states individually and in the context of a group, social support was prompted. By meeting continuously for 8 weeks, participants began to feel more comfortable voicing current moods and transforming them in a group context.

It is worthy to note, however, that there were only limited significant changes in the indexes of Table 1 (refer to Table 1): RSE, HT, HP and HA showed no significant changes. One explanation may be that self-esteem (RSE) is an enduring, stable personality trait<sup>46</sup> which takes more time and exposure to the intervention to change. Moreover, components of humor such as HT, HP and HA are also more stable traits and perhaps the current 8-week intervention only had a ''low-dose'' effect. Future studies may focus on a longer intervention with more sessions during each week.

#### Immunological effects

The present study found lowered levels of cortisol for LQP participants and no significant changes were found in the control group. These immunological effects are similar to those described by Toda and Ichikawa,<sup>25</sup> who found that ''laughter, particularly in young people, may relieve stress (p. 496).'' During adolescence, a time when peer influence is at its greatest, an increase in ''social identification'' is one of the strongest factors indicating why laughter can be

a viable means of increasing social support.<sup>58</sup> A shared laugh during the upheavals and differing mood states of adolescence can go a long way toward making a teenager feel a sense of belonging and thus toward reducing stress.

#### Physiological effects

This study examined BP, HR and HRV as physiological indicators. There were no significant changes in these variables for the experimental group. However, there were unexpected significant changes in the control group for HRV. HF, LF and LF/HF ratios. Given the constraints of the environment (i.e., administration-approved time periods in the school day), the control group may have been engaging in stress-relieving activities such as reading or writing. It can be argued that ''down time'' for the control group was also stress-relieving. In the fields of public health and social sciences this issue is not uncommon. Fitzpatrick and colleagues<sup>59</sup> note, 'But public health interventions can rarely replicate the controlled environment of the clinic... maintaining pure control groups without crosscontamination may be impossible or impractical... (p. 9)". In this particular case, "cross-contamination" could have occurred during the experimental protocol. While administering the physiological measures, experimental subjects were prohibited from speech or movement for over 7 min. This proved difficult for some subjects. These factors could explain the unexpected results in the control group.

#### Limitations

First, the size of this study was relatively small (experimental n = 33; control n = 34), so generalizations to the general population are difficult. Future studies may focus on surveying demographic variables and seeing if they moderate the effects of the LQP. Second, this study did not include a follow-up to evaluate long-term effects. Finally, cortisol levels were only measured once a day due to time constraints of students' schedules, but future studies should consider measurements throughout the day.<sup>60</sup> Given the unexpected results of the control group in this study, the suggestion for two control groups,<sup>9,42</sup> seems astute, in the context of future studies.

#### Conclusion

This study provides the field of gelotology with an innovative new mental health promotion program. The LQP is offered as a standardized laughter therapy protocol which can facilitate cross-study comparisons in future research. Martin<sup>9</sup> noted, ''the need for researchers to address questions of how much laughter, of what intensity and for how long it is needed to produce various physiological effects.'' The present study provides a good starting point for narrowing quantitative parameters for simulated laughter programs. Based on this study, a minimum of at least 1 session per week, for at least 20 min and at an intensity that would elicit deep abdominal breathing, is recommended as a baseline for realizing benefits.

Those in clinical medicine (e.g., physicians, school nurses, etc.) are often the ''first responders'' when an adolescent seeks help with mental health issues (often via psychosomatic complaints). Given the increasing popularity of laughter programs worldwide, more patients may now be willing to try laughter as an alternative means of stress relief. Evidence-based studies are greatly needed to ensure that health care practitioners can confidently recommend this treatment.

Unpredictable mood states during adolescence seem universal; changes in the body go hand-in-hand with fluctuating hormones and the increased importance of peer opinions. Alternative and complementary treatments such as the LQP provide non-invasive, non-pharmacological means of managing these transitions, simultaneously moderating stress levels and providing social support through the simple act of sharing a good laugh.

#### Author's contributions

CC was responsible for the concept, design and supervision of the study, and was the guarantor for the paper. GT did the statistical analysis and prepared the first and all subsequent drafts. CH gave advice on the statistical analysis, helped with preparation of figure and revised final draft.

#### Disclosure statement

No competing financial interests exist.

#### Acknowledgements

"In loving memory of Master Kao for creating and teaching Laughing Qigong." Funding provided by National Science Council, Taipei, Taiwan (Grant NSC-97-2511-S-002-002-MY3). Special thanks to Yu Hwa Lin for her dedication to teaching LQP to people around the world.

#### Appendix A. Laughing Qigong Program (LQP) Protocol

- Warm-up stage (2 3 minutes): The goal of this stage is to loosen and stretch the muscles of the body and mentally prepare for laughter exercises. Participants are starting to ''clear and clean'' (*qing, ganjing*) their bodies of thoughts and ''toxic'' qi. Participants stretch forward to touch their ankles with hands crossed, slowly stretch upwards, yawn and then rest. This stage is similar to stretching when rising from bed in the morning. Repeat 3 times.
- RenMai DuMai stage (3 4 minutes): The goal of this stage is to generate warmth in the body. The RenMai -DuMai stage is based on the Chinese meridians known as the Ren conception vessel (starts from perineum, up in front of torso, to area of lower lip) and the Du governing vessel (starts from the tip of the coccyx, up along the spinal column, over the head and ending at the upper lip). The focus of this stage is deep breathing from the *dantian* (1.5 cm below navel) - also known as diaphragmic breathing. Participants stretch forward, tucking the chin towards the chest, and then back pushing the abdomen forward. While stretching upwards they start laughing and making "ha-ha" sounds. Other sounds are also emitted ("Yi", "Wu", "Ou," "Ah," and "E") in accordance with the five Chinese meridians (Spleen/Stomach, Lung, Kidney, Liver and Heart). Chinese medicine believes that ailments are caused by energy blockages which create disharmony and imbalance in the body. By emitting sounds, one can aid in the healing of blocked meridians because these sounds emit an ''energy'' which can help heal the body. By giving voice to these blocked energies, one is able to help release pent-up energy systems. Each sound is emitted 3 times: the 1<sup>st</sup> time for 1-2 seconds fairly quickly; the 2<sup>nd</sup> time, 3-5 seconds, still quick; and the 3<sup>rd</sup> time for 8 seconds, more slow and drawn out. The 3<sup>rd</sup> time the sound is made, the syllable is much longer, almost similar to mantra chanting. The duration and speed is also dependent on individual tempo; if one is too tired, slow down the speed. This "release" is also a major component of the next stage, the Transformation stage.
- Transformation stage (10 minutes): The goal of this stage is physical movement, exercise of the body and transformation of negative energy (qi) into positive energy. Participants are asked to release bottled up emotions by starting with feeling "cold" in the body. By stating, "I'm cold!" or "I'm angry!" or "I'm afraid!" participants simulate a temper tantrum with stomps, shivers, and screams, and then stretch arms overhead and shout "ha'' releasing energy upwards. Interspersed are "haha'' sounds and laughing. During this stage, participants are asked to "transform" their current mood states. Not only does this offer a positive means to deal with emotions such as anger, frustration, anxiety or fear; it also gives voice to one's current mood states. Instead of "bottling up" or "pushing away" perceived "negative" emotions; participants are encouraged to display a whole range of emotions. Many times, participants shout, "I've had enough!" "I'm tired of all this!" or "I'm so angry I can't take it anymore!" with much emotion and pentup frustration. By giving participants a way to vent in a

controlled and supportive, they are able to express their emotions and realize that these are just passing thoughts; in essence, they can be ''laughed'' away. The actual physical gestures and simulations serve as a means of active transformation. Similar to a car engine which begins to motor, one actively ''motors'' the negative mood states into positive energy through self-induced laughter. Thereafter, participants laugh for 2 - 3 minutes continuously. After laughing, participants take deep breaths from the *dantian* and rest. During this stage, participants take turns coming to the center of the circle to lead the group.

• Cool-down stage (5 minutes): The goal of this stage is to cool down the body and mind, and close with a tai-chi self-massage (sweeping the hands over the arms and legs and simulating ''washing'' the face) or meditation. In addition, this stage ends with all participants going around and thanking other participants with a ''ha'' as each participant claps hands. Not only is there a formal way of ending the LQP session, but in essence, the closing offers a chance for participants to feel that they are part of social group.

#### A.1. LQP Fundamental Tenets

The LQP requires three changes to be successfully implemented:

- Changes in the Body Opening & Stretching:
- Goal: Stretch tendons, ligaments and muscles in order for gi to flow.
- Changes in Physiological States of the Body Through Laughter:
  - Goal: Release ''toxic'' qi and cleanse the body and spirit.
- Changes in the Mind Deep Sighing, Yawning & Letting Go:
  - Goal: Letting go of mental attachments and relaxing the body and mind.

#### Appendix B. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2013.09.004.

#### References

- 1. World Health Organization. *Amendment to constitution: 51st world health assembly.* 2005.
- Seligman MEP, Csikszentmihalyi M. Positive psychology: an introduction. American Psychologist 2000;55(1):5–14.
- Ader R, Cohen N. Conditioned immunopharmacologic responses: psychoneuroimmunology. New York: Academic Press; 1981.
- 4. Fry W. *The study of humor*. Los Angeles, CA: Antioch University Press; 1979.
- Berk L, Tan S, Fry W, Napier B, Lee J, Hubbard R. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. *American Journal of Medical Science* 1989;298:391–6.
- Bennett MP, Lengacher C. Humor and laughter may influence health IV, humor and immune function. Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM 2009;6(2):159-64,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ecam/nem149 [published Online First: Epub Date].

- 7. Berk L, Felten D, Tan S, Bittman B, Westengard J. Modulation of neuroimmune parameters during the eustress of humorassociated mirthful laughter. *Alternative Therapies Health Medicine* 2001;2001(7):62–72.
- Bennett MP, Lengacher CA. Humor and laughter may influence health. I. History and background. Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM 2006;3(1):61–3, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ecam/nek015 [published Online First: Epub Date].
- Martin RA. Humor, laughter and physical health: methodological issues and research findings. *Psychological Bulletin* 2001;127(4):419–504.
- 10. Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: a narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine* 2011;19(3):170–7, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2011.05.003</u> [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 11. Gelkopf M. The use of humor in serious mental illness: a review. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM* 2009;2009:2011.
- 12. Abel M. Humor, stress and coping strategies. *Humor* 2002;15(4):365-81.
- **13.** Beckman H, Reiger N, Young J. Working place laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs. *The Journal of Primary Prevention* 2007;**28**(2):167–82.
- 14. Skevington S, White A. Is laughter the best medicine. *Psychology and Health* 1998;13:157–69.
- **15.** Prerost F. Presentation of humor and facilitation of a relaxation response among internal and external scores on Rotter's scale. *Psychological Reports* 1993;**72**:1248–50.
- **16.** Kuiper N, Martin RA. Humor and self-concept. *Humor International Journal of Humor Research* 1993;**6**:251–70.
- Nezu A, Nezu C, Blissett S. Sense of humor as a moderator of the relation between stressful events and psychological distress: a prospective analysis. *Journal Personality and Social Psychology* 1988;54:520-5.
- Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, et al. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2010;26:322–7.
- 19. Ko HJ, Youn CH. Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 2011;11(3):267-74.
- 20. Bennett MP, Lengacher C. Humor and laughter may influence health: II. Complementary therapies and humor in a clinical population. Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: eCAM 2006;3(2):187–90, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ecam/nel014">http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ecam/nel014</a> [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 21. Valdimarsdottir H, Bovbjerg D. Positive and negative mood: association with natural killer cell activity. *Psychology and Health* 1997;12:319–27.
- Wild B, Rodden FA, Grodd W, Ruch W. Neural correlates of laughter and humour. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology* 2003;**126**(Pt 10):2121–38, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/brain/awg226</u> [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 23. Hasan H, Hasan TF. Laugh yourself into a healthier person: a cross cultural analysis of the effects of varying levels of laughter on health. *International Journal of Medical Sciences* 2009;6(4):200–11.
- 24. Guilliams T, Edwards L. Chronic stress and the HPA axis. A Review of Natural & Nutraceutical Therapies for Clinical Practice 2010;9(2):210-6.
- 25. Toda M, Ichikawa H. Effect of laughter on salivary flow rates and levels of chromogranin A in young adults and

elderly people. Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine 2012;**49**:4–99, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12199-012-0279-5</u> [published Online First: Epub Date].

- 26. Fry W, Savin W. Mirthful laughter and blood pressure. *Humor:* International Journal of Humor Research 1988;1:49-62.
- 27. Fry W. The biology of humor. *Humor: International Journal of Humor Research* 1994;7:111–26.
- Miller M, Fry W. The effect of mirthful laughter on the human cardiovascular system. *Medical Hypotheses* 2009;73:636-9.
- Sugawara J, Tarumi T, Tanaka H. Effect of mirthful laughter on vascular function. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2010;106:856-9.
- Averill J. Autonomic response patterns during sadness and mirth. Psychophysiology 1969;5:399–414.
- **31.** Sakuragi S, Sugiyama Y, Takeuchi K. Effects of laughing and weeping on mood and heart rate variability. *Journal* of *Physiological Anthropology and Applied Human Science* 2002;**21**(3):159–65.
- 32. Liu TJ, Hua WG. Qigong Study in Chinese medicine (The only official textbook used in all Schools of Traditional Chinese Medicine in China). Beijing: China Publisher of Chinese Medicine; 2005.
- Feng LD. Modern qigong science. Beijing: Economic Science Publisher; 1994.
- Chen K, Yeung R. Exploratory studies of qigong therapy for cancer in china. *Integrative Cancer Therapy* 2002;1: 345–70.
- 35. Chan CL, Wang CW, Ho RT. A systematic review of the effectiveness of qigong exercise in supportive cancer care. Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer 2012;20(6):1121–33, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00520-011-1378-3</u> [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 36. Chan CL, Wang CW, Ho RT, Ng SM, Ziea ET, Wong VT. Qigong exercise for the treatment of fibromyalgia: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine* 2012;**18**(7):641–6, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/acm.2011.0347</u> [published Online First: Epub Date].
- 37. Tsai J, Wang W, Chan P. The beneficial effects of tai chi chuan on blood pressure and lipid profile and anxiety in a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Alternative and Complimentary Medicine* 2003;9:747–54.
- 38. Galatino M, Shepard K, Kraff L. The effect of group aerobic exercise and tai chi on functional outcomes and quality of life for persons living with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Journal of Alternative and Complimentary Medicine* 2005;11:1085–92.
- **39.** Lee M, Lee M, Kim H, Choi E. Effects of qigong on blood pressure, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and other lipid levels is essential hypertension patients. *International Journal of Neuroscience* 2004;**114**:777–86.
- **40.** Chan A, Lee A, Suen L, Tam W. Tai chi Qigong improves lung functions and activity tolerance in COPD clients: a single blind, randomized controlled trial. *Complement Therapies in Medicine* 2011;**19**:3–11.
- Yeh G, Wang C, Wayne P, Phillips R. The effect of tai chi exercise on blood pressure. A systematic review. *Preventative Cardiol*ogy 2008;11(2):82–9.
- **42.** Mora-Ripoll R. The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine. *Alternative Therapies* 2010;**16**(6):56–64.

- Kataria M. Laugh for no reason. Mumbai, India: Madhuri International; 2005.
- 44. Beesdo K, Knappe S, Pine D. Anxiety and anxiety disorders in children and adolescents: developmental issues and implications for DSM-V. *Psychiatric Clinic of North America* 2009;32(3):483–524.
- Kandel D, Davies M. Epidemiology of depressive mood in adolescents: an empirical study. Archives of General Psychiatry 1982;39(10):1205–12.
- 46. Roberts B, Del Vecchio W. The rank order consistency of personality traits from childhood to old age: a quantitative review of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Bulletin* 2000;126(1):3–25.
- **47.** Rosenberg M. Society and the adolescent self-image. Revised edition Middleton, CT: Wesleyan University Press; 1989.
- Goldsmith R. Dimensionality of the Rosenberg selfesteem scale. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality* 1986;1:253–64.
- Crandall R. The measurement of self-esteem and related concepts. In: Shaver JPRPR, editor. *Measures of social psychological attitudes*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press; 1973. p. 45–167.
- 50. Hsieh CJ, Hsia Y, Liu S, Chang C. Positive psychological measure: constructing and evaluating the reliability and validity of a Chinese Humor Scale applicable to professional nursing. *Journal of Nursing Research* 2005;13(3):206–14.
- 51. Lorish C, Maisiak R. The face scale: a brief, nonverbal method for assessing patient mood. *Arthritis Rheumatism* 1986;29:906-9.
- 52. Kamashita Y, Sonoda T, Kamada Y. Reliability, validity and preference of an original faces scales for assessing the mood of patients with dentrues. *Prosthodontic Research and Practice* 2007;6(2):93–8.
- 53. Chang C. Report to National Science Council, Taipei-Taiwan. The action research on positive mental health education: laughter program as tools. Taipei, Taiwan: Institute of Health Policy and Management, National Taiwan University; 2011. p. 16–7.
- 54. Silvetti MS, Drago F, Ragonese P. Heart rate variability in healthy children and adolescents is partially related to age and gender. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2001;81: 169–74.
- Neuhoff C, Schaefer C. Effects of laughing, smiling and howling on mood. *Psychological Reports* 2002;91(3 (Pt 2)): 1079–80.
- 56. Walter M, Hanni B, Haug M, Amrheinn E, Krebs-Roubicek F, Muller-Spahn F. Humor therapy in patients with late-life depression or Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. *International Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry 2007;22(1): 77–83.
- 57. Orth-Gomer K. International epidemiological evidence for a relationship between social support and cardiovascular disease. In: Czakowski SASSM, editor. Social support and cardiovascular disease. New York: Plenum; 1994. p. 97–117.
- Provine R. Laughter: a scientific investigation. New York: Penguin Group; 2000.
- **59.** Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Chiliska D, Thomas H. *The methods for the synthesis of studies without control groups*. Tools NCCfMa; 2009.
- Hellhammer DH, Wust S, Kudielka BM. Salivary cortisol as a biomarker in stress research. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2009;34(2):163–71.

# US Study

# Improving the experience of patients on dialysis through intradialytic laughter therapy

January 26, 2018

The patient experience of maintenance hemodialysis is frequently described as stressful, depressing and replace with monotonous. Ways to improve the patient experience through laughter therapy programs have not formally been put into practice. This pilot study explored the feasibility, safety, acceptance and patient experience of laughter therapy in two hemodialysis centers in California from September 2016 to April 2017.

Laughter therapy sessions were implemented weekly for 30 minutes per session. Evaluation consisted of surveying and interviewing patients (n=58) and staff (n=25).

The results indicated that 70% of surveyed staff and patients agreed the laughter therapy program had a positive impact on patient mood and would recommend it for future centers. Intradialytic laughter therapy is safe and feasible and can improve perceptions of mood in patients on dialysis and dialysis staff.

### Background

Laughter therapy is a wellness therapy gaining popularity around the globe. It is based on the concept that intentional laughter, used as a component of a wellness program, can be therapeutic when performed in a systematic and coordinated way. The inclusion of laughter as a therapy can be provided in different forms and has variously been termed as laughter wellness, laughter recovery, laughter yoga, gelotology, conscious laughter, mirthful laughter and voluntary simulated laughter.

Foley and colleagues found that laughter therapy can provide respite from the adverse emotional effects associated with illness by improving mood. De La Fuente Mochales found that laughter therapy decreased pain, and Shahidi M and colleagues found it reduced depression and Walter and colleagues noted an improved overall quality of life for patients who had laughter therapy.

Bennett and colleagues found that intentional laughter has been used widely for people with mental health conditions, chronic disease and cancer across a range of ages from pediatrics to geriatrics.

Intentional laughter is used in most forms of laughter therapy. It is also referred to as conscious, simulated, mirthful or voluntary laughter. Intentional laughter consists of "deep belly laughter" practiced over a sustained period of time to enhance the

many benefits associated with laughter. The brain knows it is not genuine laughter, but the body does not. This activity can offer benefits for patients who report low levels of happiness, particularly in life satisfaction, life achievements and relationships, according to Bennett and colleagues. Laughter elevates mood, energy and vigor and increases memory, creative thinking and problem-solving skills. Neuhoff and colleagues found that intentional laughter can change our mental map from a negative to a positive mental attitude that may assist people affected by end-stage kidney disease.

# Why laughter therapy in hemodialysis?

According to Bennett, undergoing maintenance hemodialysis thrice weekly is a lifesustaining therapy dreaded by many patients, resulting in loss of control over their life and increased fatigue and unhappiness. Adaptation to the dialysis reality varies, but overwhelmingly, adjusting to the hours required on dialysis is a common challenge for patients, partly due to the lack of constructive activity while dialyzing. Trials to increase activity and decrease the boredom during hemodialysis have included seated Zumba, book clubs, exercise activities and bingo. The aim is often to enhance the patient experience and quality of life or simply humanize the therapy and take advantage of the time spent on the machine.

Bennett and colleagues also found that laughter therapy on dialysis can be viewed as physical activity or as an exercise program. Dialysis patients have poor muscle function because of the symptoms of age, kidney disease and the long hours attached to a dialysis machine. Intentional laughter can create a heightened totalbody response by exercising the facial, chest, abdominal and skeletal muscles, improving tone. It can also help to improve cardiovascular function, respiratory function, elevate pain tolerance and increase the body's immune defense systems.

Dunbar and colleagues found that intentional laughter can foster better communication which leads to a less confrontational approach in tense situations and a change from individual competitiveness to team cooperation. Thus, in hemodialysis centers, laughter has the potential to improve interpersonal interaction, relationships, increase friendliness, helpfulness and can help build group identity, solidarity and cohesiveness.

There has been limited experience of laughter therapy outside of the United States (Israel and Australia) where laughter has been shown to be feasible in outpatient hemodialysis centers, according to Bennett and Dahan and colleagues. One Australian program consisting of 30 minutes every dialysis for 4 weeks was associated with a decrease in intradialytic hypotension and showed trends in decreased anxiety and increased mood.

U.S. clinics are commonly larger than Australian clinics, designed to service between 24 and 48 patients at a time. These are frequently designed to physically separate patients, resulting in decreased intradialytic interpersonal communication between patients. Thus, it can be a challenge to promote a group therapy, such as laughter therapy, in a clinical context where mandates for infection control, personal protection and staffing determine the workflow processes.

The aim of this report is to summarize 6 months of experience of laughter therapy in two Satellite Healthcare hemodialysis centers in California.

# 'Laugh Out Loud' Hemodialysis

Laughter therapy sessions were performed at mutually agreed upon times by staff, patients and therapists and performed once weekly. Each 30-minute session consisted of breathing and stretching exercises that facilitated intentional laughter exercises and laughter meditation (Table 1). At Satellite Dialysis Vallejo, morning and middle shift patients on both Thursdays and Fridays participated. At Satellite Dialysis Sacramento, early morning and middle shift patients on Friday only participated. Participation varied from 50% to 100% of patients on any given shift.

Table 1	. A typical laughter therapy session					
Activity	Details	Time				
Warm-up exercises	<ul> <li>Deep belly breathing</li> <li>Body stretching, arms and legs</li> <li>Gentle neck and shoulder stretches</li> <li>Think of something pleasant and smile and loosen up the face</li> <li>Throat/chest/belly laugh exercise, from a shallow style of breathing to slower, deeper breathing, with the laughter eventually coming from the core</li> <li>Rollercoaster exercise</li> </ul>	10 minutes				
Laughter exercises	<ul> <li>Slot machine jackpot laugh – Yes!</li> <li>Access arm still laugh</li> <li>Silent laughter</li> <li>Cell phone laugh</li> <li>Sprinkler laugh</li> <li>Teeth brushing laugh</li> <li>Milkshake or cocktail laugh</li> <li>Greeting laugh; handshaking</li> <li>Waving to others</li> <li>Aloha laugh</li> <li>Triathlon laugh (combination of running, swimming, cycling laughs)</li> <li>Clock watching laugh</li> <li>Shower laugh</li> <li>Cup of tea laugh</li> <li>Game show kiss laugh</li> </ul>	15 minutes				
Laughter medita- tion and warm down	<ul> <li>Body relaxing; smiling and relaxing; breathing and relaxing and ending with application of "laughter lotion"</li> <li>Affirmation (I am amazing, I am healthy, I am happy, I am strong)</li> <li>Giggle glitter</li> <li>Laughter hugs</li> <li>Laughter goodbye kiss</li> </ul>	5 minutes				
Source: Paul N.	Source: Paul N. Bennett, RN, MHSM, PhD; Toni Luckett, RN; Joy Cunanan, RN; Christine Kalife, BA; and Brigitte Schiller, MD, FACP, FASN					

One laughter therapist was contracted for each center. The therapist then chose from one to three trained assistants, depending on the size of the clinic and the number of patients per shift. Laughter therapists were educated and orientated to the dialysis center, which included talking and listening to patients, policy and procedure orientation, infection control and mandated flu vaccinations.

# Training

Staff education at the Vallejo center consisted of a 30-minute PowerPoint presentation for all staff and a short laughter therapy demonstration held in the conference room. In Sacramento, we added two practical laughter sessions at the nurse's console in full view of the patients. Both clinics had two laughter champions assigned whose main responsibility was to liaise between the center and the

laughter therapists. These champions were patient care technicians, registered nurses, dietitians and social workers. Posters were developed to both advertise and educate patients and staff.

Staff were encouraged to participate in the laughter therapy sessions for a portion of time during each 30-minute session. Allied health staff, such as social workers and dietitians, assisted by organizing their patients' appointments around the prearranged laughter therapy session times. Nephrologists also assisted by ensuring that patient care rounds were not scheduled during laughter therapy. Where possible, staff assisted the laughter therapists in engaging and encouraging patients.

# Patient and staff perceptions

Patient and staff views on the program were gathered using questionnaires and semi-structured interviews. A Californian State independent review board approved the evaluation process. All respondents signed informed consent forms prior to completing questionnaires and interviews. Fifty-eight patients returned completed questionnaires from a total of 95 eligible patients (61% response rate).

Results from the patient questionnaires can be found in Figure 1. Overall, 63% of responding patients believed the laughter therapy had a positive impact on their mood during dialysis, with 68% recommending laughter therapy for other patients. Twenty percent of patients had concerns regarding laughter therapy in the dialysis centers.

In interviews, some patients expressed their frustration with the boring aspects of dialysis and said laughter therapy helped pass this time in a fun and engaging way. Patients also noted increased staff and patient comradery and stated that the laughter therapy made people feel happy and helped them forget about their problems or worries. Patients noted that the program worked well for some patients but not others, and those who were indifferent still recommended continuing laughter therapy for the benefit of other patients who they knew enjoyed it.

# Staff

Twenty five out of 47 staff members (53% response rate) completed and returned evaluation questionnaires. Respondents included 11 patient care technicians, six nurses and eight ancillary staff (dietitians, social workers, biomedical technicians and administrators). Results from the questionnaires can be found in Figure 2. More than 70% of staff believed the laughter therapy had a positive impact on patients' mood, with a similar number recommending laughter therapy for other patients. Twenty-four percent of the staff had concerns regarding the safety of

laughter in the dialysis centers, although there was a strong interest by the center staff to learn more about the physical and psychological benefits of laughter therapy.

As a follow-up to the questionnaire, 10 staff members agreed to be interviewed using a semi-structured interview format. Staff were positive regarding laughter therapy, even commenting that the positive effects of laughter continued even on non-laughter therapy days. Overall, staff members interacted with each other more positively, often invoking language used in the laughter therapy sessions, passing each other on the treatment floor with a "ho, ho, ho, ha, ha, ha." Staff also reported attitude changes in some patients who were initially resistant to the therapy but ultimately embraced it. Laughter therapy helped these patients "come out of their shell" and engage with their other patients and staff.



# Figure 1. Laughter therapy perceptions: Patients





Staff noted the importance of providing in-depth education at the start of the program, including the health benefits of laughter therapy. At one of the centers, patients who were spoken to individually regarding the pilot program and laughter benefits began to participate when initially averse to the program. Interestingly, as staff and patients became more familiar with the program, staff commented on the noise level on the treatment floor. Some staff felt laughter therapy was too loud while others felt that the noise was a positive change.

## Improved patient experience

The 6-month experience with two intradialytic laughter pilot programs has demonstrated the potential for laughter therapy to be integrated into a hemodialysis center's every day work. However, to ensure success, a program must be more than just placing a laughter therapist into a hemodialysis clinic. Requirements needed to succeed include executive support, medical director buy-in, patient education, staff education, appropriate scheduling, access management, new laughter exercises each session and potentially a time limit of 3 months. A full set of recommendations can be found in Table 2.



The capacity for laughter therapy to improve patient experience as measured by the Core ICH-CAHPS Survey, according to the 2017 In-Center Hemodialysis CAHPS Survey Administration and Specifications Manual from CMS, needs to be seen. Future surveys measuring patient depression, stress and anxiety are also needed in the future to better assess the value of such programs.

Although most patients and staff found laughter therapy to be positive, we found a small percentage of patients who did not want to be included. We recognized the importance that some patients just aren't in a good space and laughter may be too intrusive. Our experience found that with the right amount of education and preparation for patients and staff, most patients will participate. Importantly, the patients who did not wish to participate still encouraged others to participate and they stated that they enjoyed hearing other patients participating and laughing.

# Conclusion

Laughter therapy can improve interpersonal interaction and relationships, increase friendliness and helpfulness, and help build group identity, solidarity and cohesiveness. Although not for everyone, laughter therapy has been shown to be a positive therapy and can be seen as an important element to efforts in humanizing hemodialysis care and improving the experience of patients on dialysis. *-by Paul H. Bennett, RN, MHSM, PhD* 

References:

Bennett P, et al. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. 2015;doi:10.1186/s12906-015-0705-5.

Bennett P, et al. Journal of Renal Care. 2015;doi:10.1111/jorc.12116.

Bennett PN, et al. Seminars in Dialysis. 2014;doi:10.1111/sdi.12194.

CMS. In-Center Hemodialysis CAHPS Survey Administration and Specifications Manual. Version 5. 2017.

Dahan R, et al. Oral presentation 17. Presented at the EDTNA/ERCA Conference; Sept. 10-13, 2011; Ljubljana, Slovenia.

De La Fuente Mochales MB, et al. Rev Enferm. 2010;33:443-444.

Dunbar RIM, et al. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 2012; 279:1161-1167.

Foley E, et al. *Psychol Rep.* 2002;doi:10.2466/pr0.2002.90.1.184.

Neuhoff CC, et al. *Psychological Reports*. 2002;doi:10.2466/pr0.2002.91.3f.1079.

Shahidi M, et al. Inter Jrnl of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2011;doi:10.1002/gps.2545.

Walter M et al. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007;doi:10.1002/gps.1658.

For more information:

Paul H. Bennett, RN, MHSM, PhD, is director of medical clinical affairs at Satellite Healthcare in San Jose, California and honorary professor in faculty of health at Deakin University in Melbourne, Australia. Toni Luckett, RN, is the manager of the Satellite Dialysis center in Vallejo, California; Joy Cunanan, RN, is the manager of the Satellite Dialysis center in Sacramento. Christine Kalife, BA, is a research associate with Satellite. Brigitte Schiller, MD, FACP, FASN, is the dialysis provider's chief medical officer and a member of *NN&I*'s Editorial Advisory Board. Disclosures: The authors report no relevant financial disclosures.

# Effect of Laughter Yoga on Psychological Well-being and Physiological Measures

Cindy Miles, CLYT; Elizabeth Tait, PhD, MHS; Marc B. Schure, PhD; Marianne Hollis; PhD, RN

#### ABSTRACT

**Context** • In 2014, laughter yoga (LY) achieved the intermediate level, tier 2, under the Title III-D Evidencebased Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Program through the Administration on Aging (AOA). Further research is needed to qualify LY under the criteria for the highest tier, tier 3, to assure continued funding for LY classes at senior centers.

**Objectives** • The study intended to demonstrate further the benefits of LY and to qualify LY as tier 3 under Title III-D. **Design** • Using a quasi-experimental design, the research team conducted a preintervention/postintervention study in 3 phases.

**Setting** • The study was done in a variety of community centers. Phase 1, a pilot phase, was limited to North Carolina, and phase 2 was conducted in multiple states. Phase 3 was held at the North Carolina Area Agency on Aging's annual Volunteer Appreciation meeting.

**Participants** • Participants in phases 1 (n = 109) and 2 (n = 247) enrolled in LY classes. Classes were advertised by fliers posted in community and in retirement centers. The ability of participants to participate in a class was

based solely on their desire to participate, regardless of age, ability, health status, or physical impairment. Phase 3 (n = 23) was a convenience sample only. All phases were voluntary.

**Outcome Measure** • The pre- and posttests for all 3 phases were Likert-scale surveys, 10 questions on the Psychological Outcomes of Well-being (POWB) survey. Pulse and other physiological measurements were also assessed pre- and postintervention. Analysis included a t test on each of the 10 POWB and physiological measures for all phases.

**Results** • All 10 POWB measures for phases 1 and 2 showed significant improvements between the pre- and postintervention testing (P < .001). Phase 3, the control, showed no significant improvement.

**Conclusions** • The initial study demonstrated that LY meets the criteria to qualify for tier 3 under the Title III-D Evidence-based Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Program and that a large number of Americans, regardless of age and physical ability, could benefit from LY. (*Adv Mind Body Med.* 2016;30(1):12-20.)

Cindy Miles, CLYT, is a family caregiver resource coordinator for the Southwestern Commission Area Agency on Aging in Sylva, North Carolina. Elizabeth Tait, PhD, MHS, is an assistant professor; and Marianne Hollis, PhD, RN, is an associate professor, at Western Carolina University in Cullowhee, North Carolina. Marc B. Schure, PhD, is an assistant professor in the department of Community Health, Health and Human Development at Montana State University in Bozeman, Montana.

Corresponding author: Elizabeth Tait, PhD, MHS E-mail address: emtait@email.wcu.edu umerous studies have shown the health benefits of laughter.<sup>1-3</sup> In 1994, Madan Kataria, MD, a physician from India, developed laughter yoga (LY).<sup>1</sup> LY combines real and simulated laughter that often results in yogic breathing.<sup>4</sup> In the practice, laughter is simulated as a body exercise in a group,<sup>4</sup> which often results in spontaneous, genuine laughter.<sup>5</sup>

The purpose of the current quasi-experimental, casecontrol study was to demonstrate the benefits of LY and to qualify it as meeting the criteria for the highest tier, tier 3, under the Title III-D Evidence-based Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Program.

What then defines a program as *evidence based*, and why is that attribution important?

#### Evidence-based

Evidence-based (EB) programs are based on scientific research.<sup>6</sup> The Older Americans Act (OAA) is considered a major vehicle for the federal government to deliver needed services to the aging.<sup>7</sup> Titles III and IV of the OAA reaffirm the Administration on Aging's (AOA's) commitment to making sure that EB programs are accessible to older Americans.<sup>8</sup> EB health-promotion programs have been shown to reduce the need for costly medical interventions as well as patients' dependency on governmental programs. Standards exist for grading clinical research under EB criteria.<sup>8</sup> On February 14, 2014, the North Carolina Division of Aging and Adult Services formally approved LY as an intermediate level, or tier 2, program under the Title III-D Evidence-based Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Program.

To be awarded tier 3, a program must also meet 3 additional criteria in addition to meeting the criteria for tiers 1 and 2. Tier 3 programs must also (1) be proven effective for an older-adult population, using an experimental or a quasi-experimental design; (2) have been fully translated into programs at 1 or more community site(s); and (3) have developed and disseminated products that are available to the public.<sup>9</sup>

#### **Benefits of Laughter**

Methodologically, it is important to distinguish between humor and laughter or simulated laughter.<sup>10</sup> Humor and laughter are not synonymous. Simulated laughter can mimic the effects of laughter.<sup>11</sup> Laughter is a physiological event, whereas humor is a subjective construct.<sup>12</sup>

The effects of laughter are physical.<sup>10</sup> Laughter can provide an aerobic workout and, by increasing vascular blood flow, reduce blood pressure.<sup>13</sup> Likewise, simulated laughter has been found to boost mood and produce a feeling of psychological well-being.<sup>11</sup> Self-induced or simulated smiling had been found to be a mood enhancer.<sup>11</sup> Compared to aerobic exercise, laughter has been shown to be more effective in decreasing anxiety.<sup>14,15</sup>

Studies have shown the beneficial effects of laughter, real or simulated, on different body systems, including the mental, hormonal, and immunological.<sup>5,16</sup> As a groupexercise program, laughter has been found to be at least as effective as medication in treating depression and improving life satisfaction for elderly depressed women.<sup>4,17</sup> Laughter is cathartic and can bring about a metamorphosis in emotions.<sup>1</sup>

Further, Mora-Ripoll<sup>18</sup> has shown that the human brain does not distinguish between real and simulated laughter. He indicates that simulated or self-induced laughter is increasingly gaining popularity worldwide. The health benefits of laughter are well-known; incorporating yogic breathing enhances those benefits.<sup>19</sup>

#### Laughter Yoga

LY was founded by Dr Kataria in 1994 as a combination of both yogic breathing and unconditioned laughter.<sup>4</sup> Dr Kataria's interest in laughter as a form of healing medicine was sparked by Norman Cousins' book, *Anatomy of an Illness* as Perceived by the Patient: Reflections on Healing and Regeneration, which discussed actively addressing a lifethreatening illness through humor.<sup>13,17</sup> Cousins, when he was told that he had Marie-Strumpell disease, began his own research on the healing effects of laughter, based on research conducted by Hans Selye.<sup>20</sup> Cousins's doctors found that the pre- and posttests for a laughter-intervention class showed a cumulative drop of 5 points in the rate of erythrocyte sedimentation.<sup>17,20</sup> An elevated sedimentation rate can indicate the presence of inflammation.<sup>21</sup> Cousins found that 10 minutes of genuine belly laughter resulted in at least 2 hours of pain-free sleep.<sup>17</sup> Dr Kataria was intrigued and wondered whether similar results could be replicated with a group in a class-like environment.<sup>4</sup>

#### LY and Yoga Clubs

Dr Kataria formed the first laughter club with 4 volunteers who told jokes to each other.<sup>4</sup> After a few weeks, the attempts at humor failed; Dr Kataria then introduced yogic-breathing techniques that simulated laughter and childlike-playfulness exercises, which resulted in the LY program.<sup>22</sup> Dr Kataria found that the effect of those combined activities had a beneficial effect on both the mental and physical aspects of health; hence, the term *laughter yoga* was created.<sup>4</sup>

LY combines laughter with yogic breathing.<sup>4</sup> The laughter is simulated; participants laugh without relying on jokes, humor, or comedy.<sup>4</sup>

#### Laughter, LY, and Seniors

Laughter has been shown to improve mental functioning and increase memory, interpersonal responsiveness, and alertness.<sup>14</sup> Laughter can generate a *total-body* response that tones muscles, an especially important function for bedridden and wheelchair-bound individuals.<sup>14</sup> The digestion rate can be improved with laughing due to the engagement of muscles of the gastrointestinal system.<sup>14</sup> Laughter has also been shown to release endorphins and decrease pain.<sup>23,24</sup>

LY can be easily adapted to a variety of environments and skill levels. Its ease of use and portability help to make LY accessible to a variety of populations, including older adults.<sup>19</sup> McMahan has demonstrated the physiological benefits of laughter with older adults.<sup>14</sup>

LY can be done from a chair or wheelchair with a few simple modifications to encourage interaction with other club members.<sup>17</sup> LY classes can increase social interaction, which in turn can benefit mental and physical health. The lack of equipment costs and the flexibility of place and space help to make LY a cost-effective and entertaining way to introduce a pleasant form of exercise for people of varying ages and abilities.<sup>17,19,25</sup>

#### **METHODS**

The purpose of the current quasi-experimental, casecontrol study was to demonstrate that LY is effective with older-adult populations. The study was conducted in 3 phases. The pilot, phase 1, included only an intervention group and was conducted in North Carolina. Phase 2 also included only an intervention group and was conducted in 6 states: California, Illinois, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Mexico, and Rhode Island. Phase 3, the control element, was conducted with a control group in North Carolina only.

#### Participants

Participants in phases 1 and 2 were recruited using flyers distributed primarily through senior centers. The courses in senior centers were voluntary and free of charge. Other venues included community centers and libraries.

Participation in the study was voluntary. Individuals who chose to participate in the LY classes were not obligated to participate in the study unless they chose to do so. Class size ranged from 8 to 10 participants with 1 instructor. The ability of participants to participate in a class was based solely on their desire to participate, regardless of age, ability, health status, or physical impairment.

Participants in all groups were told that the study was examining specific outcomes from LY to see whether it could meet the federal criteria that had been established for EB, but very little other explanation was provided. Consultation on and review of the structure of the study protocol was provided by the PhD evaluator at the North Carolina Division of Aging & Adult Services. Consultation included, but was not limited to, used of intervention and control groups, data collection (participant demographics, outcome measures), and analysis strategy. No formal approval was required by the agency or LY International. Participation in all phases was voluntary and those individuals who did not want to participate did not. No incentives were offered for participation.

**Phase 1.** To find participants for the intervention group in phase 1, certified LY instructors (CLYLs) in North Carolina invited individuals in their LY classes to be participants in the study. A total of 114 individuals enrolled in the phase. Original enrollment was 118. Four individuals did not complete all data collection and were not used for analysis.

**Phase 2.** To find participants for the intervention group in phase 2, CLYLs from 6 additional states enlisted volunteers from their LY classes to participate in the study. A total of 300 individuals enrolled in the phase. Original enrollment was 352. A total of 52 individuals did not complete all data collection and were not used for analysis.

**Phase 3.** To create a control group, the member of the research team who worked at the Southwestern Commission Area Agency on Aging invited the people who attended its annual Volunteer Appreciation meeting to participate in the phase 3 assessment. The researcher explained the need for a control group and asked for volunteers to participate. A total of 31 individuals enrolled in the phase. Seven individuals did not complete all data collection and were not used for analysis.

#### Procedures

Participants in all phases completed the Psychological Outcomes of Well-being (POWB) form, developed by

Dr Kataria (Figure 1). The POWB forms were handed out at the beginning of classes for the intervention groups. Those groups completed the *before* side of the forms at their seats and then joined in a 60-minute LY class. At the conclusion of that class, the participants returned to their seats to complete the *after* side of the form. The control group completed the forms twice during the annual Volunteer Appreciation meeting. For phases 1 and 2, the completed POWB forms were collected by the CLYLs, and the forms were then packaged and sent to the student intern for coding. No identifying information was collected on the form.

Physiological measurements were also collected in all phases. In phase 1, a total of 5 measurements were collected: (1) systolic blood pressure, (2) diastolic blood pressure, (3) mean blood pressure, (4) blood oxygenation, and (5) heart rate in beats per minute (BPM). Blood oxygenation

Figure 1. POWB Pre- and Postintervention Surveys

First 3 Letters of Your First Name \_\_\_\_\_ First 3 Letters of Your Last Name \_\_\_\_\_ Your Age \_\_\_\_\_ Date\_\_\_\_ Location\_\_\_\_

#### HOW DO YOU FEEL?

Complete this page **Before** you take part in the Laughter Yoga Class.

Complete a new one **After** you take part in the Laughter Yoga Class.

To measure the immediate effects of Laughter Yoga:

#### Well-being Questions

	<worst best="" circle=""></worst>
Enthusiasm	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Energy level	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Mood	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Optimism	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Stress level	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Level of friendship with group members	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Level of awareness about your breathing	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Level of muscle relaxation	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Level of mental relaxation	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Ability to laugh without a reason	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Abbreviation: POWB, psychological outcomes of well-being.

and blood pressure were not measured in phases 2 or 3 due to a lack of equipment. Therefore, the only physiological measurement collected in those phases was heart rate.

The completion of phase 1 resulted in the formal approval of LY as a tier 1 (minimal criteria) EB program by the North Carolina Division of Aging and Adult Services in August 2013. In phases 2 and 3, participants also completed a demographic form to provide data that included gender, race/ethnicity, a self-assessment of current health, and quality-of-life measures. The addition of the form was recommended by the North Carolina State Unit on Aging for phases 2 and 3 after LY had achieved its tier 1 status (Table 1). To achieve tier 2, practice in additional states was required, as was the introduction of a control group. Tier 2 was achieved in February of 2014.

**Phase 1.** This pilot phase began with the first CLYL training in October 2012 and concluded on June 30, 2013. All CLYLs were new to LY and were recruited by the principal investigator. Each was trained by the research team using the core curriculum from LY International. To ensure consistency, all CLYLs conducted LY sessions 1 or more times prior to administering the study. That practice was a deliberate part of their training to ensure that the new CLYLs would be consistent in conducting the LY classes that they would subsequently facilitate.

**Phase 2.** The research team randomly contacted 1 of the 6 LY master trainers who are located in the United States. That master trainer then recruited other CLYLs from 6 additional states to enlist volunteers to participate in the study. Master trainers have completed 60 hours of training, including 15 days in India with the founder. CYLTs receive 40 hours of training from either teachers or master trainers. CLYLs receive 20 hours of training from teachers or master trainers.

**Phase 3.** The members of the control group completed the demographics questionnaire as well as the *before* side of the POBW form at their seats at the start of the meeting. After the 2 forms were filled out and the first physiological readings were taken, the normal agenda for the Volunteer Appreciation meeting resumed. Sixty minutes after those first readings and tests, the meeting agenda was paused to give participants the opportunity to complete the second POWB test and physiological readings.

#### Intervention

The intervention phases were LY classes given by CLYLs, who volunteered their time to teach the LY courses. All classes followed the same structure and basic exercises. A typical laughter class began with energetic chants of "ho-ho, ha-ha-ha," and hand-clapping.<sup>26</sup> Full-hand, palm-on-palm, finger-on-finger clapping was done to stimulate pressure points and increase energy levels, whereas the "ho-ho, ha-ha-ha" activated the diaphragm, which prepared the body to breathe deeply throughout the practice.<sup>27</sup>

The LY class was led through a variety of laughter exercises with names such as milkshake laughter, lion laughter, and shake-hands laughter, to promote playfulness among the members.<sup>26</sup> Forced laughter quickly became

genuine as each group worked together on the exercises.<sup>17,26</sup> The LY exercises lasted anywhere from 20 minutes to 1 hour and generally ended with group chanting and/or meditation.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Outcome Measures**

Phase 1. To ensure fidelity with the collection of physiological data, CLYLs were issued identical Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved, automatic bloodpressure cuffs (EastShore Medical Supply, Algoma, WI, USA) and pulse oximeters (Clinical Guard, Atlanta, GA, USA) and were trained on the proper protocol and use of the equipment by the research team. Heart rate was displayed on identical, FDA-approved pulse oximeters, which were given to each of the CLYLs. Each instructor was trained in the equipment use and then practiced using the equipment until demonstrating reliably consistent readings. To ensure internal validity, all CLYLs were trained by the research team using the same training materials. In the training, the physiological measures were taken and recorded by the CLYLs who would be performing the procedures in the study's LY classes after they had received instruction from the CLYLs who taught the class on the proper procedures to take them. The training CLYLs offered assistance as needed.

**Phase 2.** To ensure fidelity in the collection of physiological data, an instructional video was viewed by each collaborating LY instructor prior to giving the classes.<sup>28</sup> The video demonstrated the proper method and established the standards for measuring pre- and postintervention heart rates, using the radial-artery measurement technique. The instructors demonstrated the technique to participants in the intervention groups, who then took their own pulse rates, with the instructors giving timed start-and-stop commands, according to the protocol established in the instructional video. When necessary, the instructors assisted participants in locating their pulse points. Data were contributed by CLYLs, leaders, and master trainers from California, Illinois, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Mexico, and Rhode Island.

**Phase 3.** The member of the research team who was present demonstrated the radial-artery method of taking a pulse, after which the participants measured their own pulse rates, with the researcher giving timed start-and-stop commands. When necessary, the researcher assisted participants in locating their pulse points.

#### **Data Analyses**

Data were analyzed in SPSS version 21 (Release Version 21.0.0.0, SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Based on the type of data and the research goal, which was the identification of differences between baseline and the end of the intervention, and the small sample size for phase 3, the current research team chose the paired-samples t test as the most appropriate method of statistical analysis to examine the changes from preintervention to postintervention for repeated-measures groups, where the same participants are tested more than once. A paired-samples t test was calculated to compare the

	Pha	se 1	Phase 2		Phase 3	
	NC (	Pilot)	Mul	tistate	Co	ontrol
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Total	114	100%	300	100%	31	100%
Gender						
Female	NA	NA	238	79%	25	81%
Male	NA	NA	62	21%	6	19%
Hispanic/Latino or Spanish or	igin					
Yes	NA	NA	18	6%	3	10%
No	NA	NA	278	93%	27	87%
Unknown	NA	NA	4	1%	1	3%
Blank	NA	NA	0	0%	0	0%
Race/ethnicity						
American Indian	NA	NA	1	0%	1	3%
Asian or Asian-American	NA	NA	8	3%	NA	NA
Black or African-						
American	NA	NA	21	7%	NA	NA
Hawaiian Native or Pacific						
Islander	NA	NA	0	0%	NA	NA
White or Caucasian	NA	NA	251	84%	30	97%
Other or blank	NA	NA	19	6%	NA	NA
Age range (v)		1				
<20	0	0%	4	1%	NA	NA
20  to  < 30	6	5%	12	4%	NA	NA
$30 \text{ to } \le 40$	17	15%	22	7%	1	3%
$40 \text{ to } \le 50$	14	12%	38	13%	NA	NA
$\frac{1000}{50}$ to $\leq 60$	21	12/0	73	24%	3	10%
$\frac{50 \text{ to } \le 00}{60 \text{ to } \le 70}$	21	21%	77	2470	7	23%
$70 \text{ to } \leq 80$	24	10%	19	16%	11	35%
80 to <90	0	90%	19	6%	0	200%
>00	9	0.0%	0	20/	J NA	2970 NIA
<u>&gt;</u> 90 Blask	1	10%	0	370 00/	INA 0	
Dialik Militarry comvine	1	1%	0	0%	0	0
Military service	NTA	NTA	270	0.20/	22	740/
NO	NA NA	INA	2/8	95%	23	74%
Yes	NA	NA	20	/%	8	26%
Blank	NA NA	NA	2	1%	0	0%
Provider told had chronic con	ditions					
Arthritis/rheumatic				1.00		220/
disease	NA	NA	//	16%	16	32%
Breathing/lung disease	NA	NA	48	12%	2	6%
Cancer	NA	NA	38	11%	6	19%
Depression or anxiety						
disorders	NA	NA	52	16%	0	0%
Diabetes	NA	NA	24	7%	6	22%
Heart disease	NA	NA	10	3%	3	14%
Hypertension (high blood						
pressure)	NA	NA	73	17%	2	4%
Osteoporosis (low bone						
density)	NA	NA	21	5%	1	2%
Other chronic condition	NA	NA	25	6%	8	18%
Stroke	NA	NA	1	0%	1	2%
Blank	NA	NA	110	18%	5	8%
Region						
Blank	NA	NA	16	5%	1	3%
Midwest	NA	NA	54	18%	0	0%
West	NA	NA	58	19%	0	0%
South	NA	NA	61	20%	30	97%
Northeast	NA	NA	111	37%	0	0%

	Pha	se 1	Phase 2		Ph	ase 3
	NC (	Pilot)	Mul	tistate	Co	ntrol
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Number of people currently in	house	hold (ir	ncludi	ng your	self)	
1	NA	NA	78	26%	6	19%
2	NA	NA	120	40%	21	68%
3	NA	NA	56	19%	2	6%
4	NA	NA	32	11%	1	3%
5	NA	NA	6	2%	0	0%
>5	NA	NA	3	1%	0	0%
Blank	NA	NA	5	2%	1	3%
Have you ever taken this work	shop be	efore?				
Yes	NA	NA	175	58%	9	29%
No	NA	NA	120	40%	20	65%
Blank	NA	NA	5	2%	2	6%
How did you hear about this c	lass?					
Church faith-based group	NA	NA	2	1%	1	3%
Flyer/poster	NA	NA	28	9%	0	0%
Friend/family	NA	NA	108	35%	6	19%
Healthcare provider	NA	NA	3	1%	0	0%
Newspaper ad/article	NA	NA	30	10%	0	0%
Other	NA	NA	56	18%	13	42%
Senior center announce-						
ment	NA	NA	32	10%	8	26%
UHC/AARP	NA	NA	0	0%	1	3%
Blank	NA	NA	51	16%	2	6%
In general, would you say your	health	is:				
Excellent	NA	NA	59	20%	5	16%
Fair	NA	NA	15	5%	5	16%
Good	NA	NA	87	29%	10	31%
Very good	NA	NA	139	46%	11	34%
Blank	NA	NA	0	0%	1	3%
How would you rate your over	all qua	lity of l	ife?			
0-3, very poor to poor						
quality	NA	NA	2	1%	0	0%
4-6, average quality	NA	NA	60	20%	2	6%
7-10, good to excellent						
quality	NA	NA	237	79%	29	94%
Blank	NA	NA	1	0%	0	0%
Number of times hospitalized	in the <b>j</b>	oast 6 n	10			
0	NA	NA	287	96%	29	94%
1	NA	NA	9	3%	2	6%
2	NA	NA	2	1%	0	0%

NA

NA

1

0%

0

0%

#### Table 1. Demographic Data of Initial Participants in Phases 1, 2, and 3

Abbreviations: NC, North Carolina; NA, not available; UHC/AARP, UnitedHealthcare/American Association of Retired Persons.

2 3

Table 2. Paired t Test of the 10 Indicators of POWB and of Physiological Measur
---

		Phase 1			Phase 2	2		Phase 3	
		n = 109			n = 247				
POWB Results	Mean	SD	t	Mean	SD	t	Mean	SD	t
Enthusiasm	-0.92	1.20	-7.99ª	-2.05	1.62	-19.98ª	-0.08	0.50	0.43
Energy level	-1.25	1.56	-8.36ª	-2.55	1.64	-24.53ª	-0.08	0.78	0.60
Mood	-1.02	1.08	-9.86ª	-2.23	1.73	-20.32ª	0.04	0.86	0.81
Optimism	-1.07	1.26	-8.92ª	-2.04	1.77	-18.20ª	0.00	0.59	1.00
Stress level	-1.32	2.22	-6.24ª	-1.83	2.94	-9.80ª	0.17	0.70	0.26
Level of friendship with group	-1.00	1.64	-6.41ª	-1.98	1.89	-16.43ª	-0.42	0.93	0.038 <sup>b</sup>
Level of awareness about breathing	-1.60	2.01	-8.33ª	-2.69	2.00	-21.15ª	-0.21	0.59	0.096 <sup>c</sup>
Level of muscle relaxation	-1.75	1.62	-11.32ª	-2.98	1.76	-26.68ª	-0.04	0.69	0.77
Level of mental relaxation	-1.80	1.74	-10.82ª	-3.04	1.94	-24.66ª	-0.21	0.98	0.31
Ability to laugh without a reason	-1.51	2.03	-7.81ª	-2.58	2.21	-18.39ª	-0.13	1.33	0.65
						-		-	
Physiological Results									
Heart rate (BPM)	1.35	11.90	1.19	4.51	12.27	5.79ª	-1.63	3.62	-2.20 <sup>b</sup>
Systolic	5.11	14.65	3.66ª	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Diastolic	1.24	8.70	1.49	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Mean blood pressure	2.52	8.62	3.07 <sup>d</sup>	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Blood oxygenation	-0.55	4.42	-1.32	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

Abbreviations: POWB, psychological outcomes of well-being; SD, standard deviation; BPM, beats per minute; NA, not available.

 ${}^{a}P < .001.$  ${}^{b}P < .05.$  ${}^{c}P < .10.$  ${}^{d}P < .01.$ 

mean pretest scores with the mean posttest scores of phase 1 and 2 data. The alpha level of P < .05 was considered statistically significant for all analyses. Statistical analysis was conducted on the 10 POWB questions for all 3 phases and on the 3 physiological measurements for phase 1 and on the 1 physiological measurement for phases 2 and 3. No statistical analyses were done on the demographic data collected for phases 2 and 3.

#### RESULTS

#### Participants

Only those participants who completed the pre- and postintervention class surveys were included in the study.

**Phase 1.** The median age for phase 1 participants was 57 years, with the youngest being 26 years and the oldest 89 years. Of the 114 who initially began the study, only 109 completed both the pre- and postintervention surveys.

**Phase 2.** The median age for phase 2 participants was 58 years, with the youngest being 12 years and the oldest 94 years. Of the 300 who initially began the study, only 247 completed both surveys and were included in the study.

**Phase 3.** The median age for phase 3 participants was 78 years, with the youngest being 46 years and the oldest 96 years. Of the 31 who initially began the study, only 23 completed both surveys and were included in the study.

#### Well-being Results

All 10 POWB measures for phases 1 and 2 showed significant differences (P<.001) between the preintervention and postintervention tests.

For phase 1, the following were found: enthusiasm,  $t_{109} = -7.99$ , P < .001; energy level,  $t_{109} = -8.36$ , P < .001; mood,  $t_{109} = -9.86$ , P < .001; optimism,  $t_{109} = -8.92$ , P < .001; stress level,  $t_{109} = -6.24$ , P < .001; friendship with group,  $t_{109} = -6.41$ , P < .001; awareness about breathing,  $t_{109} = -8.33$ , P < .001; muscle relaxation,  $t_{109} = -11.32$ , P < .001; mental relaxation,  $t_{109} = -10.82$ , P < .001; and ability to laugh without a reason,  $t_{109} = -7.81$ , P < .001.

For phase 2, the following were found: enthusiasm,  $t_{247} = -19.98$ , P < .001; energy level,  $t_{247} = -24.53$ , P < .001; mood,  $t_{247} = -20.32$ , P < .001; optimism,  $t_{247} = -18.20$ , P < .001; stress level,  $t_{247} = -9.80$ , P < .001; friendship with group,  $t_{247} = -16.43$ , P < .001; awareness about breathing,  $t_{247} = -21.15$ , P < .001; muscle relaxation,  $t_{247} = -26.68$ , P < .001; mental relaxation,  $t_{247} = -24.66$ , P < .001; and ability to laugh without a reason,  $t_{247} = -18.39$ , P < .001.

For phase 3, the only measures of significance were the following: (1) the level of friendship with group members— $t_{23} = 0.038$ , P < .05, with the difference being statistically significant; and (2) the level of awareness about breathing— $t_{23} = 0.096$ , P < .10, with the difference trending toward significance (Table 2).

	Phase 1 (n = 109)			Phase 2 (n = 247)			Phase 3 (n = 23)		
Physiological Outcomes of Well-being	Pre	Post	% Change	Pre	Post	% Change	Pre	Post	% Change
Enthusiasm	8.18	9.07	11%	6.71	8.80	31%	7.10	7.43	5%
Energy level	7.53	8.73	16%	6.18	8.70	41%	6.67	7.03	5%
Mood	8.21	9.22	12%	6.74	9.00	33%	7.53	7.57	0%
Optimism	8.14	9.19	13%	6.92	8.98	30%	7.57	7.60	0%
Stress level	6.96	8.27	19%	6.11	7.98	31%	7.03	7.14	2%
Level of friendship with group members	8.01	9.01	12%	6.77	8.73	29%	7.43	7.73	4%
Level of awareness about breathing	7.50	9.10	21%	5.96	8.57	44%	6.53	7.10	9%
Level of muscle relaxation	7.25	9.02	24%	5.72	8.69	52%	6.50	6.41	-1%
Level of mental relaxation	7.25	9.06	25%	5.78	8.77	52%	6.72	6.83	2%
Ability to laugh without a reason	7.46	8.95	20%	6.53	9.04	39%	6.07	6.38	5%
Physiological Results									
Heart rate (BPM)	78.22	76.86	2%	74.03	69.66	6%	71.93	73.60	-2%

Table 3. Percentage Changes Between Preintervention and Postintervention Test Results

Abbreviation: BPM, beats per minute.

For phase 1, the percentage changes in the measures from preintervention to postintervention were as follows: (1) enthusiasm—an 11% increase, from 8.2 to 9.1; (2) energy level—a 16% increase, from 7.5 to 8.7; (3) mood—a 12% increase, from 8.2 to 9.2; (4) optimism—a 13% increase, from 8.1 to 9.2; (5) stress level scale—a 19% increase, from 7.0 to 8.3; (6) level of friendship—a 12% increase, from 8.0 to 9.0; (7) breathing awareness—a 21% increase, from 7.5 to 9.1; (8) muscle relaxation—a 24% increase, from 7.3 to 9.0; (9) level of mental relaxation—a 25% increase, from 7.3 to 9.1; and (10) ability to laugh without a reason—a 20% increase, from 7.5 to 9.0 (Table 3).

For phase 2, the changes in the measures from preintervention to postintervention were as follows: (1) enthusiasm—a 31% increase, from 6.71 to 8.80; (2) energy level—a 41% increase, from 6.18 to 8.70; (3) mood—a 33% increase, from 6.74 to 9.00; (4) optimism—a 30% increase, from 6.92 to 8.98; (5) stress level—a 31% increase, from 6.11 to 7.98; (6) level of friendship with group members—a 29% increase, from 6.77 to 8.73; (6) breathing awareness—a 44% increase, from 5.96 to 8.57; (8) muscle relaxation—a 52% increase, from 5.72 to 8.69; (9) mental relaxation—a 52% increase, from 5.78 to 8.77; and (10) ability to laugh without a reason—a 39% increase, from 6.53 to 9.04.

A summary graph of the percentage changes between the pre- and postintervention data indicates that the multistate, phase 2 intervention group had much higher percentages of change in POWBs as compared with the North Carolina-only, phase 1 intervention group and the phase 3 control group (Figure 2).

#### Physiological Results

In analyzing phase 1 physiological measurements, only 2 measures resulted in significance differences between

preintervention and postintervention: (1) systolic blood pressure— $t_{109}$  = 3.66, *P*<.001; and (2) mean blood pressure— $t_{109}$  = 3.07, *P*<.01 (Table 2).

Pre- and postintervention heart rates for phases 2 and 3 revealed significant results in both phases. For phase 2, heart rates had very significant results— $t_{247}$ =5.79, *P*<.001. For phase 3, changes in heart rate were modestly significant— $t_{23}$ =-2.20, *P*<.05 (Table 2).

For phase 2, the overall postintervention heart rate was decreased by 4.37 heart beats (6%), from 74.03 to 69.66 (Table 3). For phase 1, the overall postintervention heart rate was decreased by 1.36 heart beats (2%), from 78.22 to 76.86. For phase 3, the overall postintervention heart rate was increased by 1.67 heart beats (-2%).

#### DISCUSSION

Based on the findings of the current preliminary study, 1 hour of LY positively affected physiology and well-being for the 2 intervention groups as compared with the control group that did not participate in LY.

The differences noted between phases 1, 2, and 3 in percentage changes between pre- and postintervention are understandable. The participants in the control group did nothing to affect their POWBs beyond hearing the annual report. The fact that the control group's pulse increased could be an indication of stress as a result of being in a study or stress resulting from the annual report findings.

The differences in the POWB results between phases 1 and 2 could be explained by the fact that the phase 2 trainers had vastly more experience in giving LY classes as compared with the phase 1 trainers. Renshaw et al<sup>29</sup> have shown that experienced instructors, in many cases, have greater success in imparting knowledge and skills as compared with newly trained instructors. The phase 2 instructors had an average of 5 years of experience teaching LY classes, and many were



certified to teach other EB courses. The phase 1 instructors were newly trained to teach LY classes, and none of them had experience with teaching EB courses.

#### **Potential Biases**

Several limitations existed with the current study. The sample size was small. The phase 1 instructors were newly trained and all had received their training and instruction directly from the primary investigator, potentially introducing an issue with external validity. The similarity of results from phase 2, however, where the instructors had received their LY instruction from a variety of sources, would indicate that bias was not present. The phase 2 instructors also had on average 5 years of experience in teaching LY classes, and although the CLYLs for phase 1 had no experience with EB courses, several were certified to train some other EB classes.

Figure 2 displays a clear difference in the results from phase 2 as compared with phase 1, indicating that the newly trained instructors were perhaps less effective as compared with the more-experienced instructors. The phase 3 group was small and limited to 1 meeting at 1 location. Although all participants were told few details about the study, they were told about the study's aims, which introduced an issue of internal-validity bias.

The POWB stress level measure is scored identically to the other 9 measures, 1 being worst and 10 being best. Although the postintervention score numbers were higher, indicating improvement in the individual's stress level, future use of the POWB should include consideration of changing the scale for this item. The same student intern collected and coded all the forms. Data were not re-entered for reliability/validation checking by an external reviewer, introducing possible data entry errors. The scale used to measure well-being was created by the creator of the LY program, introducing potential bias. Participation was voluntary. The sample used in the study may be different from the general population in that they chose to take the course and were self-selected to participate in the study.

#### **Evidence-based**

In keeping with the Title III-D OAA EB criteria, the research team believes that the current study met all 3 tier 3 standards. The study was (1) able to demonstrate that LY was effective with an older-adult population, using a quasi-experimental design; (2) fully translated into classes at 1 or more community sites; and (3) provided products that were available to the public through the LY Web site<sup>i</sup> and through the training that the CLYLs received.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of the current initial study was to demonstrate that LY meets the criteria to qualify for the highest tier, tier 3, in the Title III-D Evidence-based Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Program and that a large number of Americans, regardless of age and physical ability, could benefit from LY. The research team believes that those

i. Web site available at http://www.laughteryoga.org.

goals have been met. The preliminary results support the fact that the current, quasi-experimental, case-control study demonstrated that LY is easily implemented in a variety of locations and that LY has activities to support healthy lifestyles and promote healthy behaviors that can potentially reduce the need for more costly medical interventions. Those individuals who participated in the current initial study demonstrated statistical improvements in all of the wellbeing measures and most of the physiological measures.

More research is needed. Further experimental studies are planned to change the preintervention to postintervention well-being scale (POWB) to a scale that has been vetted by an agency independent of the LY organization. In addition, changes need to be made to address the lack of blinding and to increase the sample size of any future study. The control population needs to be more representative of the intervention population, both in size of population and in location. The researchers hope to continue their research with the aims of obtaining long-term, EB results and of demonstrating quantifiably that LY can promote healthy behaviors and reduce the need for more costly medical interventions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Jeffrey Briar, director and laughter yoga master trainer; Lynda Tourloukis, certified laughter yoga teacher (CLYT); Bill Hamaker, CLYT; Linda Hamaker, CLYT; Marcia Wyman, CLYT; Audrey S. Autrey, CLYT; and Mary McDonald, CLYT, at the Laughter Yoga Institute, for their assistance.

#### AUTHOR DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### REFERENCES

- Prakash V. Laughter therapy for the mind and body: An interview with Vishwa Prakash. Altern Complement Ther. 2013;19(4):205-208.
- Bennett MP, Lengacher C. Humor and laughter may influence health, III: Laughter and health outcomes. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2008;5(1):37-40.
- Tan SA, Tan LG, Lukman ST, Berk LS. Humor, as an adjunct therapy in cardiac rehabilitation, attenuates catecholamines and myocardial infarction recurrence. *Adv Mind Body Med.* 2007;22(3-4):8-12.
- Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, et al. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. *Int* J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011;26(3):322-327.
- Bennett MP, Zeller JM, Rosenberg L, McCann J. The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Altern Ther Health Med.* 2003;9(2):38-45.
- About evidence-based programs. National Council on Aging Web site. http:// www.ncoa.org/improve-health/center-for-healthy-aging/about-evidence-basedprograms.html. Accessed April 1, 2014.
- US Dept of Health and Human Services. Administration on Aging (AoA): Older Americans Act. Administration for Community Living Web site. http://www.aoa. gov/AoA\_programs/OAA/. Accessed September 3, 2014.
- US Government Publishing Office. 42 U.S. Code Chapter 35 Programs For Older Americans. 2015. http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2011-title42/ html/USCODE-2011-title42-chap35.htm. Accessed October 27, 2015.
- Administration for Community Living. Administration on Aging: Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Services (OAA Title IIID). http://www.aoa. gov/AoA\_Programs/HPW/Title\_IIID/index.aspx. Accessed October 27, 2015.
- Beckman H, Regier N, Young J. Effect of workplace laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs. *J Primary Prev.* 2007;28(2):167-182.
   Foley E, Matheis R, Schaefer C. Effect of forced laughter on mood. *Psychol Rep.*
- 2002;90(1):184.
- Mahony DL, Burroughs WJ, Lippman LG. Perceived attributes of healthpromoting laughter: a cross-generational comparison. J Psychol. 2002;136(2):171-181.
- Goodman J, Fry WF Jr. Toward optimal health: the experts discuss therapeutic humor: interview by Jodi R Godfrey. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2004;13(5):474-479.

- McMahan SC. Infinite possibility: clowning with elderly people. Care Manag J. 2008;9(1):19-24.
- Szabo A, Ainsworth SE, Danks PK. Experimental comparison of the psychological benefits of aerobic exercise, humor, and music. *Humor*. 2005;18(3):235-246.
- Bennett PN, Parsons T, Ben-Moshe R, et al. Laughter and humor therapy in dialysis. Semin Dial. 2014;27(5):488-493.
- Gilbert R. Laughter therapy: promoting health and wellbeing. *Nurs Resid Care*. 2014;16(7):392-395.
   Mora-Ripoll R. The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine. *Altern Ther Health*
- Med. 2010;16(6):56-64.
  Johnson J. Giggle your way to health with laughter yoga. Massage Magazine.
- 2011;(181):14.20. Szabo S, Tache Y, Somogyi A. The legacy of Hans Selye and the origins of stress
- Szabo S, fache T, Sonnogyi A. The legacy of trains cuye and the origins of stress research: A retrospective 75 years after his landmark brief "letter" to the editor of Nature. Stress. 2012;15(5):472-478.
- Solberg BL, Olson RJ. Clinical utility of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate: A case study. Clin Lab Sci. 2014;27(2):72-77.
- Oakes M. Is laughter really the best medicine? Positive Health Web site. http:// www.positivehealth.com/article/psychospiritual/is-laughter-really-the-bestmedicine. Published 2012. Accessed March 17, 2015.
- Bains GS, Berk LS, Daher N, et al. The effect of humor on short-term memory in older adults: A new component for whole-person wellness. *Adv Mind Body Med.* 2014;28(2):16-24.
- Berk RA. The active ingredients in humor: psychophysiological benefits and risks for older adults. *Educ Gerontol.* 2001;27(3-4):323-339.
- 25. Giraud A. Laughter yoga. Alive. October 2008;312:88.
- Proteau C. Laugh your way to better health. Alive Web site. http://www.alive. com/articles/view/19673/laugh\_your\_way\_to\_better\_health. Published November 27, 2005. Accessed March 17, 2015.
- Edmonds M. What is laughter yoga? HowStuffWorks Web site. http://science. howstuffworks.com/life/laughter-yoga2.htm. Published June 2, 2009. Accessed July 23, 2015.
- No author listed. Pilot project instructional video final. Vimeo Web site. https://vimeo.com/61825789. Published 2013. Accessed January 20, 2016.
- Renshaw I, Chow JY, Davids K, Hammond J. A constraints-led perspective to understanding skill acquisition and game play: A basis for integration of motor learning theory and physical education praxis? *Physic Educ Sport Pedagog.* 2010;15(2):117-137.

# India Study

**Original article** 

# Effect of laughter yoga on morale of old age home residents

#### **Beena Mathew Bhasan**

Email: bhasanbeena@yahoo.in

#### Abstract

**Introduction:** The elderly population is increasing in the world and some of them are forced to stay in old age homes. Low morale, which is a sign of depression, can result from overlooking their medical and social problems as a part of normal ageing. **Objectives:** The objectives of the study were to find out the effect of "laughter yoga" on the morale of the elderly living in old age homes of Kottayam district and to identify the relationship between selected baseline variables and morale. **Methods:** Study participants were 153 elderlies, above 60 years of age, from randomly selected old age homes. Basic pre-test and post-test experimental designs with biweekly measurements were carried out using Philadelphia Geriatric Centre Morale Scale. Six days of 30 minutes laughter yoga sessions were administered for eight weeks in the experimental group. **Results:** Pre-test morale scores were low in both the groups. The experimental group showed gradual improvement on morale ( $\chi^2$ =30.218, d/=4, p= .000). There was significant association between physical dependence ( $\chi^2$  =16.992, d/=4, p= .002), forced placement in old age home ( $\chi^2$ =24.592, d/=1, p= .000), duration of stay in the old age home ( $\chi^2$ =16.221, d/=8, p= .39) and morale. **Conclusion:** Dependency for activities of daily living was found to be associated with low morale. Voluntary admission to old age home and the duration of stay in the old age home to be high in morale. Laughter yoga was found to be effective in improving morale among elderly old age home residents.

Key words: Laughter yoga, elderly old age home inmates, morale

#### Introduction

Kerala is one of the first states in India to reach an advanced stage in demographic transition. According to Bhat and Rajan (1990), there is a rapid increase in the number of the elderly within the state due to continuously declining number of births and the youths' migration in large numbers in search of job opportunities. Forty percent of Kerala's total population will be elderly by year 2061 (Krishnakumar, 2012). Often the medical and social problems of elderly are over looked and neglected by seeing them as a part of normal ageing. Low morale is the result of this neglect, which leads to depression; a common and serious condition in the aged. While working with extremely vulnerable population like the elderly, nurse-patient interaction is critical to the patient's experience of dignity, self-respect, sense of self-worth and well-being. These factors can

#### **Beena Mathew Bhasan**

Prof Dr Beena Mathew Bhasan, Principal, MGM Muthoot College of Nursing, Kozhencherry, Pathanamthitta (District) significantly reduce depressive symptoms and improve the morale among the elderly (Haugan, Instrand and Moksnes, 2013). Poly pharmacy and increasing health care costs also adds to the problems of the poor elderly. Inexpensive alternative forms of therapy, which is not causing adverse reactions, must be looked for. Laughter yoga is one kind of therapy with psychological as well as physiological benefits, which is developed by Dr M Kataria, an Indian physician in the year 1995. For the past two decades, the laughter club concept of laughter exercise has been introduced to many populations, but it has found its greatest favour so far with the elderly (Kataria, 2011).

Kerala with its unique features of ageing is the state with maximum old age dependency ratio (which is 19.6% of the population) (Census, 2011). The districts, which are having highest problems, are the districts of Pathanamthitta followed by Alapuzha and Kottayam (Rajan, 2000). Of the three, Kottayam is having the highest number of old age homes. Therefore, it would

How to cite this article: Bhasan, B. M. (2017). Effects of laughter yoga. Manipal Journal of Nursing and Health Sciences, 3(2), 2-8.

be apt to study the elderly inmates of old age homes of Kottayam district.

In India, the revised National Policy for Senior Citizens (NPSC, 2011) recognizes that outcome changes such as improvement in quality of life, socioeconomic conditions and health of senior citizens can be brought about only through the collaborative efforts of the government, civil society, and the private sector. Nurses and other professionals working with elderly clients can make use of laughter yoga, which is an inexpensive and non-invasive therapeutic technique, if sufficient research evidence can be generated to support it. Laughter therapy will further have a positive effect even on the care givers.

The study objectives were to find out the effect of "Laughter Yoga" on morale of the elderly clients living in old age homes of Kottayam district and to identify the relationship between selected baseline variables and morale.

#### Materials and Methods

The experimental approach with basic pre-test and post-test design and time series measurements were used (Polit, 2012). We measured the effect of continuous practice of laughter yoga on morale of the elderly clients living in old age homes of Kottayam district with a time interval of two weeks for a period of two months. Four old age homes were randomly selected from 32 registered old age homes, which are scattered in the five taluks in Kottayam District using cluster sampling technique. In the first stage, two taluks were randomly selected from the five taluks (Kottayam and Meenachil). Two old age homes from Kottayam were selected as the experimental group and two homes from Meenachil were selected as control group in the second phase randomly. All inmates, who were eligible to participate in the study as per the inclusion criteria from all four clusters, were selected as sample for the study. These homes are run by Christian managements mainly to cater the needs of the poor elderly who are having no one to care. They are providing care in the areas of health, spirituality, general areas, and having provision for recreational facilities.

Clients who were willing to participate in the study and who were recommended by the old age home physician or nurse regarding their ability to comprehend and having fitness to participate in laughter yoga were included. Clients who were seriously ill or suffering from a debilitating illness and with severe hearing impairment and difficulty to communicate were excluded from the study. Based on the sampling criteria we got 153 samples for the present study. The experimental group consisted of 34 male subjects and 57 female subjects making a total of 91 subjects to begin with. At the end of eighth week, the experimental group had 77 members due to attrition at different weeks, because of sickness (10 members), hospitalization (three) and death (one). The control group consisted of 30 male subjects and 32 female subjects making a total of 62 subjects to begin with. At the end of eighth week there were only 61 participants and there was one attrition due to sickness. From the clusters, all eligible inmates were invited to participate in the study. But total number of inmates varied in different homes and there was an unwillingness to participate in the study especially from male subjects. Participation was purely on voluntary basis, which lead to unequal number of participants in control and experimental groups. Control group had assessment at the same time interval as that of the experimental group. But they were not receiving the intervention. They were wait-listed.

Baseline data sheet and the Philadelphia Geriatric Centre Morale Scale (PGCMS) (Lawton, 1975) were the tools used. The base line variables of age, gender, marital status, number of children, religion, education, occupation, income, visitors, method of placement in old age home, and duration of stay in old age home were collected.

The PGCMS (Lawton's PGC Morale Scale)- is the 17 item revised version of the PGC morale scale (Lawton, 1975) is the generally used scale, which provides a multidimensional approach to assess the psychological state of older people. It has been developed by M. Powel Lawton and his staff at the Madelyn and Leonard Abrahamson centre for Jewish life (formally the Philadelphia geriatric centre). For scoring, each high morale response gets a numerical score of one and others get no score. Totaling the number of high responses gives the individual score for a particular administration of the scale pattern. Score of zero to nine was taken as low morale score, 10 to 12 was treated as mid morale score and 13 to 17 was treated as high morale score. Pinar and Oz (2011) have reported the validity and reliability of this tool among Turkish elderly people. They calculated reliability by internal consistency using Kuder Richardson 20 (KD-20) and item total correlation. KD-20 was 0.92 for total PGCMS. Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was used to test the structure of the PGCMS. However, the structure of Morale scale by factor analysis was not taken for the present study. The tool was translated to the vernacular language Malayalam by five language experts in Malayalam and it was then retranslated to English by English language experts. The reliability of the translated tool was estimated by calculating Cronbach alpha coefficient which was 0.85 showing that the tool is reliable for the elderly population.

#### Data collection technique

PGCMS was filled up by those elderly, who were comfortable in filling the questionnaire by them. Interview technique was used for others.

#### Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the institution. Prior permission was taken from the old age home authorities to carry out the research study. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant. Confidentiality of the data collected was also assured and privacy was provided during the interviews.

The pilot study helped us to evaluate the feasibility of the protocol and to effect necessary modifications in the main study. During the pilot study, the authors had tried to keep a fixed set of laughter technique for the sake of uniformity. But from the group of male participants there was a request for change in technique to laugh since they felt bored with the same technique every day. It was decided to use a variety of techniques (developed by Kataria) to engage the clients playfully and without boredom, which was well-accepted by the participants.

#### The laughter yoga intervention

One session of laughter yoga was for 30 minutes. Following steps were used. Clapping in a rhythm "1-2.. . 1-2-3" along with chanting of "Ho-Ho-, Ha-Ha-Ha-," greeting laughter, gibberish talking, deep breathing with inhalation through the nose and prolonged exhalation (three to five times), milk shake laughter, lion laughter, appreciation laughter, argument laughter, forgiveness/ apology laughter and blowing birth day candles. The intervention was performed in the morning and afternoon hours (after breakfast and prior to lunch hours, before and after the evening tea according to the availability of subjects without affecting the daily routines of the home). The authors had undergone laughter yoga training under Dr Kataria and got certified as an Internationally Certified Laughter yoga teacher. The participants were taught the intervention by the researcher. The authors gave training to three assistants and interested staff members from the old age homes in laughter yoga. They were instrumental in gathering the participants and initiating the therapy every day. The authors had also participated in the sessions at different homes on a planned schedule. Each of the exercises was repeated for one to two minutes with rhythmic clapping and "Ho-Ho- HA- HA - HA" chanting. Deep breathing techniques (smelling the rose, candle blowing) were placed in between with shoulder exercises for shoulder mobility. Laughter meditation was the next step. Finally, the session was concluded with a slogan that "we are the happiest people in the world. (Kataria, 2002). None of the experimental and control group subjects had prior knowledge or exposure to Laughter Yoga. After the eighth week of measurement the control group subjects were also taught laughter yoga techniques for relaxation and wellbeing.

#### Results

The statistical analysis of the data was done using statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) version 20. Skewness and kurtosis of the distribution were calculated (Skewness-0.482, standard error 0.196. Kurtosis-0.954, standard error-0.390). Based on the findings Kolmogorov-Smirnove and Shapiro-Wilk tests of normality were done. Since the data were found to be not normally distributed, it was planned to use nonparametric tests for hypothesis testing (Indrayan, 2008). Changes in variable between pre-testing and the post tests were done with frequency and percentage and Mann-Whitney test to compare the control group and experimental group. Within group comparisons from pre-tests to post tests for the control and experimental group were done with Friedman test. The association between morale and the socio demographic variables were studied using Chi-square test.

Majority of the study participants (43.1%) were between the age group of 60 and 70 years, 28.1% were 70 and 80 years and 28.8% were above the age of 80 (excluding the upper age limits), 58.2% of participants were females; among them 0.7% of participants were Muslims, 41.2% were Hindus, and 58.2% were Christians. 61.4% of subjects were having primary level of education and 19.6% were illiterates. 33.3% of subjects were single, 41.17% were widowed, 10.5% were separated, 9.2% were married, 5.95% were divorced, 51% of the participants (including single individuals) were without children, 26.14% of subjects were housewives, 31.40% were coolies and 8.55% had no jobs. Subjects having some jobs were found to be without pension and retirement benefits. 81.05% of subjects were totally dependent on old age home for their survival since they had no other source of income.



*Figure 1:* Percentage distributions of scores on Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale of control group

As shown in Figure 1, 80.60% of control group showed low morale at pre-test. Post-test low morale scores were 83.90%, 78.70%, 82.00% and 78.70% respectively for the second, fourth, sixth and eighth weeks, respectively. This shows that majority of the control group subjects had low morale from pre-test to post-tests. High morale scores at pre-test were seen in 12.90%, after two weeks, it became11.30%. Remaining post test scores were 13.10% (fourth week), 14.80% (sixth week), 9.80% (eighth week). The mid morale score at pre-test was 6.50%. It showed fluctuations during post-tests – 4.80%, 8.20%, 3.20%, and 11.50%, respectively from second to eighth weeks. It shows that only about 20% of the elderly are having mid to high morale score in the control group.



*Figure 2:* Percentage distributions of scores on Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale of experimental group

As shown in Figure 2, 64.80% of experimental group showed low morale, 16.50% showed mid morale, 18.70% showed high morale at pre-test. During post-test, low morale scores were 47.70%, 61.90%, 51.20%, and 33.80% respectively from second week to eighth week. The mid morale scores improved at first post-test to 24.40%, but decreased to 20.20% at second post-test and showed steady improvement in sixth week (24%) to eighth week (32.50%) posttests. The high morale scores for the post-test was 27.90% (second week), 17.90% (forth week), 24% (sixth week) and 33.80% (eighth week). The values showed improvement in morale after the laughter yoga intervention. At the same time, it shows that in spite of the intervention, the morale became low without sustaining the improvement as seen in first post-test. But continued practice of Laughter Yoga was giving steady improvement in morale. The results show that it is not easy to bring changes in morale and there are fluctuations in the morale of the elderly.

Table 1 shows the mean rank of morale of the experimental group from pre-test to post- tests for second, fourth, sixth, and eighth weeks (N=77). ( $\chi^2=$  30.218, df = 4, p= .0001) and the mean rank of morale of the control group from pre-test to four post-tests. (N=61) ( $\chi^2 = 3.520$ , df=4, p= .475). Table 1 also explains that there was no change in morale among the control group.

Table 1:

Within Group Comparison of Experimental Group and Control Group on Morale (Using Friedman Test) between Five Time Point

Morale Score Mean Rank									
Group	Pre-test		Ρ	ost-test					
		2 wks	4wks	6wks	8wks	Ν	$\chi^2$	df	<i>p</i> Value
Experimental	2.62	3.14	2.68	3.03	3.53	77	30.218	4	.0001
Control	3.03	2.91	3.07	2.99	2.99	61	3.52	4	.475

Table 2: Between Group Comparison of Control and Experimental Groups on Morale Using Mann- Whitney Test

		Morale	Scores		
	Pre-test		Post-	tests	
		2 wks	4wks	6wks	8wks
Mann-Whitney U	2401	1738.5	2162.5	1802	1277.5
Ζ	-1.963	-4.195	-1.963	-3.358	-5.068
p - Value	.050	.0001	.050	.001	.0001

Table 2 shows that the control and experimental group had significant difference in their morale from pre-test to post-test on eighth week. A fluctuation is seen in both groups in the fourth week measurement. Significant difference is seen between the groups in the sixth and eighth weeks. It shows that continuous practice of laughter yoga can cause improvement in the morale of the elderly.

There was no significant association between any of the variables and the morale age and morale (likelihood ratio=5.877, df=4, p= .209), gender and morale ( $\chi^2$ =4.562, df=2, p= .102), Religion and morale (likelihood ratio=5.239, df=4, p= .264), level of education and morale (likelihood ratio = 10.608, df=10, p=.389), marital status and morale ( $\chi^2$ = 10.776, df=8, p=.215), number of children and morale (likelihood ratio=15.497, df=16, p=.410), chronic illness and morale (likelihood ratio= 0.728, df=2, p=.685) and number of visitors to morale, (likelihood ratio= 4.846, df=4, p=.237).

Table 3:

Association between Selected Baseline Variables and Morale Scores

			11-100
Baseline Variables	$\chi^2$	df	p value
Duration of stay in the old age Home	16.221	8	.039
Physical dependence	16.992	4	.002
Nature of admission to the old age home	17.699	4	.001

Table 3 shows significant association between the baseline variables of duration of stay, physical dependence and nature of admission to old age home and the morale scores. Duration of stay from two to three years of stay had high morale. Less than two years and more than three years of duration were associated with low morale. Those elderly, who were physically dependent on others for activities of daily living, had significantly low morale. Elderly, who were

forcefully placed by their own children had low morale and people, who took voluntary admissions had mid and high level of morale.

#### Discussion

Elderly residents in old age homes are low in their morale. Only 12.9% of the control group subjects and 18.70% of the experimental group had high morale. Whereas 6.5% of the control and 16.55% of the experimental group had mid morale scores and majority of the control group subjects had low morale from pre-test through the post-tests. There were 64.8% of experimental group subjects with low score on morale at the pre-test level and it became 28.6% at the end of eight weeks of laughter yoga. The experimental and control group were not similar at the pre-test level on morale because 80.6% of the control group subjects reported low morale whereas, only 64.80% of the experimental group had low morale (z = -1.963, p=.050).

During the course of the study, though there were slight fluctuations in scores, the control group subjects remained low in their morale scores, as shown by the Friedman test ( $\chi^2$ =3.520, df = 4, p = .475) whereas the experimental group showed a significant improvement in morale ( $\chi^2 = 30.218$ , df = 4, p = .0001). The two groups were different throughout the study as shown by Mann-Whitney test (z=4.195, p=.0001 (second week), z=-1.963, p=.050 (forth week), z = -3.358, p = .001 (sixth week) z = -5.068, p = .0001 (eighth week)). Around the fourth week the control and experimental group had an increase in minor ailments due to the weather change, which has affected their state of general health and thereby a reduction in their motivation to continue the laughter yoga. Comparatively the study participants were better than other inmates of the old age homes. Two participants dropped out due to viral fever. The result pattern shows change in morale as well as the score fluctuations denoting the fact that various conditions can influence the morale of the elderly and a technique like laughter yoga can have a buffering effect for the same. The authors have not come across any reported studies on laughter yoga and elderly morale.

Woo et al. (2005) have reported depression as the predominant factor contributing to morale as measured by the PGCMS among elderly Chinese aged 70 years and above living in community. PGCMS scores were strongly correlated with GDS scores too - (Spearman's

correlation coefficient being -0.77 (P< .001, n=752). They have identified male gender, old age (above 90 years), being married, good health condition, good social support, good hearing, vision and ability to chew, enough money for expenses, absence of weight loss, absence of disturbing symptoms, pain, insomnia and falls as factors related to good score on morale. Majority of old age home inmates of the current study were lacking in all these factors and it actually explains their low morale scores. Matsudaira, Takayama Suganuma, and Ogawa (2010) studied the factors related to the subjective well-being of elderly residents of special nursing homes using PGCMS. The mean PGCMS score was 16.06 to 3.95 points. Multiple regression analysis has shown that security, human relations being good, acceptable physical state of health and degree of freedom in everyday life were found to underlay a subjective feeling of happiness (morale) among people living in old age homes.

Loke, Abdulleh, Chai, Hamid and Yahya (2011) have examined the relationship between morale measured by PGCMS and disability, social support, religiosity and personality traits. Greater disability from chronic illness was associated with low morale. Poor/reduced social support was related to poor attitude towards ageing and lonely dissatisfaction. Increased religiosity had relatively improved one's attitude towards ageing and life satisfaction, improving the morale, but made no difference to the anxiety. Positive personality traits were associated with a modest but consistent improvement in morale. The study identified social support and disability as the modifiable risk factors to improve morale. In the present study, there was association between morale and physical dependency on others resulting from chronic illness or disability, but no association was found between chronic illness and morale. Value based laughter yoga techniques, laughter meditation, prayer for world peace and group approach itself may be helpful in improving the spiritual strength and social support of the elderly, when practiced almost six days a week in a group setting.

Present study did not show any association between age and morale. Woo, Ho and Wong, (2005) had a different observation about the elderly Chinese individuals who were living in community and not in old age homes. They found a higher PGCMS score among people of more than 90 years old. We have observed that in the

oldest old acceptance of the ageing process contributes to a higher morale. Low morale goes very well with increase in depression among the elderly as age advances. There was statistically significant association between duration of stay in the old age home and morale. The following are our inferences with reference to this finding: The initial years (less than two years) the elderlies were found to have low morale. It is the most disturbed phase of living in an old age home. When their duration of stay increases (upto four years) probably they are coming to terms with the old age home environment and may be their own life. But when the duration of stay increases (more than four years) they go back to a state of poor well-being, low morale and more of hopelessness and worthlessness. They even felt that they lost their own identity and is viewed as an inmate of old age home, who is having nothing to look forward except death. Some of the inmates were found to be seeking placement in another old age home during this time period. Morale was found to be highest (41.7%) among the inmates with a duration of two to three years (But their number was small) (likelihood ratio = 167.22l, df = 8 p < .39).

People when they are reasonably healthy were given various responsibilities in the day to day activities of the old age home. Comparatively people with duration of two to three years of stay who were active had a sense of usefulness derived by their engagement in such responsibilities. This in fact might be the reason for their improved morale. As duration progresses this ability is deteriorating, which makes them nonproductive and dependent on others due to poor physical health. This naturally pushes them to low morale, poor well-being and increased severity of depression. The present study could not find any statistically significant association between morale and the presence of chronic diseases. There was statistically significant association between physical dependency and morale as shown by the present study (likelihood ratio = 16.992, df = 4 p < .002). Compared to people those who are independent in activities of daily living and those who used assistive devices for locomotion had better condition than that of dependent clients. Dependency is perceived by the elderly negatively and it affects the morale. Often, they felt that, they are at the mercy of other people and a burden for others.

No significant association was found between number of visitors and morale. This could be due to the very small number of subjects having regular visitors. Loneliness and a feeling that they are not wanted by the immediate family members and relatives were expressed as a bitter experience by most of the elderly.

#### Conclusions

The elderly clients residing in old age homes have low morale. The elderly who were forced by own children for old age home placement was having very low morale. Morale of subjects who were staying in the old age home for two to three years found to be better than others with less than two years or more than three years of stay. Dependency on others for activities of daily living caused low morale among the elderly residing in old age homes. Elderly who took voluntary admission to old age home were found to be comparatively high in morale. Gender distribution gives evidence to feminization of the elderly. Laughter yoga was found to be effective in improving morale among elderly clients, who were residing in old age homes.

#### Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the guidance received from Dr Sr Mary Lucita, Research guide, Mahatma Gandhi University; Dr Stephy Thomas, Department of Statistics, BCM College, Kottayam; and Dr P S Sukumaran, Director, School of Behavioural Sciences, Mahatma Gandhi University, Kottayam.

Sources of support: The Old Age Home authorities, staff, study participants and assistants Conflict of interest: None declared Source of support in form of grants: None

#### References

- Bhat, Mari P.N. & Rajan, S.I (1990). Demographic transition in Kerala revisited. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 25(35-36), 1957-80.
- Census of India. 2011 (2013). Release of Social and cultural tables – Age- Data highlights. Retrieved from. http://www.census india.gov.in.
- Haugan, G., Innstrand, S.T., & Moksnes, U.K., (2013). The effect of nurse-patient interaction on anxiety and depression in cognitively intact nursing home

patients. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 2192-2205. Doi: 10.1111/ jocn.12072.

- Indrayan, A. (2008). *Medical Biostatistics* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Boca Raton: Chapman & hall/ CRC.
- Kataria, M. (2011). *Laugh for No Reason*. Mumbai: Madhuri International.
- Krishnakumar, R. (2012) Shades of Grey. *Frontline*, 29, (16), 11-24.
- Lawton, M.P. (2003), Lawton's. PGC Morale Scale (Morale Scale created by M. Powel Lawton (1923-2001) while at the Polisher Research Institute of the Philadelphia Geriatric Center (now known as the Abramson Center for Jewish Life). Retrieved from http:www.proqolid.org/ public/pgc-ms/ cadre/pgc-morale-scale.pdf.
- Loke, S.C., Abdulleh, S.S., Chai, S.T., Hamid, T.A., &Yahaya N. (2011). Assessment of Factors Influencing Morale in the Elderly. *Plos ONE*, 6(1): e16490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016490.
- Matsudaira. Y., Takayama, S., Suganuma, N., & Ogawa, L. (2010). Factors related to the subjective wellbeing of elderly residents of special nursing homes. *Japaanese Journal of Public Health*. 57, 2, 121-30.
- National Policy for Senior Citizens (2011). Retrieved from.socialjustice.nic.in/ pdf/dnpsec.pdf
- Polit, D.F, & Beck, C.T. (2012). Nursing Research Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice. South Asian edition, New Delhi: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Pinar, R., & Oz, H. (2011). Validity and reliability of the Philadelphia Geriatric Centre Morale Scale among Turkish elderly people. *Quality of Life Research* 20(1), 9-18. doi:10,1007/s11136-010-9723-4 Epub 2010 Aug 9.
- Rajan, S.I. (2000). Home away from home: A Survey of Old age homes and inmates in Kerala. Retrieved from opendocs,ids,ac,uk/opendocs/bitstream/ handle/123456789/3017/wp 306.pdf...
- Woo, J., Ho, S.C., & Wong, E.M.C. (2005). Depression is the predominant factor contributing to morale as measured by the Philadelphia Geriatric Morale Scale in elderly Chinese aged 70 years and over. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20, 1052-1059 doi:10.1002/gps.1394.

Geriatrics Gerontology

1st Impact Factor in June 2010

Geriatr Gerontol Int 2011

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly

Hae-Jin Ko<sup>1</sup> and Chang-Ho Youn<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Family Medicine, Kyungpook National University Hospital, and <sup>2</sup>Department of Family Medicine, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, Daegu, Korea

**Aim:** To investigate the effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognitive function, quality of life, and sleep of the elderly in a community.

**Methods:** Between July and September 2007, the total study sample consisted of 109 subjects aged over 65 divided into two groups; 48 subjects in the laughter therapy group and 61 subjects in the control group. The subjects in the laughter therapy group underwent laughter therapy four times over 1 month. We compared Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS), Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), Short-Form Health Survey-36 (SF-36), Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) between the two groups before and after laughter therapy.

**Results:** There were no significant differences in baseline characteristics between the two groups. Before laughter therapy, the GDS scores were  $7.98 \pm 3.58$  and  $8.08 \pm 3.96$ ; the MMSE scores were  $23.81 \pm 3.90$  and  $22.74 \pm 4.00$ ; total scores of SF-36 were  $54.77 \pm 17.63$  and  $52.54 \pm 21.31$ ; the ISI scores were  $8.00 \pm 6.29$  and  $8.36 \pm 6.38$ ; the PSQI scores were  $6.98 \pm 3.41$  and  $7.38 \pm 3.70$  in laughter therapy group and control groups, respectively. After laughter therapy, the GDS scores were  $6.94 \pm 3.19$  (P = 0.027) and  $8.43 \pm 3.44$  (P = 0.422); the MMSE scores were  $24.63 \pm 3.53$  (P = 0.168) and  $23.70 \pm 3.85$  (P = 0.068); total scores of SF-36 were  $52.24 \pm 17.63$  (P = 0.347) and  $50.32 \pm 19.66$  (P = 0.392); the ISI scores were  $7.58 \pm 5.38$  (P = 0.327) and  $9.31 \pm 6.35$  (P = 0.019); the PSQI scores were  $6.04 \pm 2.35$  (P = 0.019) and  $7.30 \pm 3.74$  (P = 0.847) in both groups, respectively.

**Conclusion:** Laughter therapy is considered to be useful, cost-effective and easily-accessible intervention that has positive effects on depression, insomnia, and sleep quality in the elderly. **Geriatr Gerontol Int 2011; 11: ••–••**.

Keywords: cognitive function, depression, insomnia, laughter therapy, sleep quality.

#### Introduction

The degenerative changes of biological and psychological functions of elderly people come with age. In Korea,

Accepted for publication 1 November 2010.

the population of those over 65 years was 9.1% in  $2005^1$  and diseases of the elderly became a central issue.

Depression is a common condition in the elderly that negatively affects numerous parts of their lives. The prevalence of depressive disorder among those over 65 years was 10.99% to 16.7% in Korea,<sup>2,3</sup> approximately 2.3% to 15.8% in the USA.<sup>4,5</sup> Recent studies have reported that untreated depression is related to the increase of illness and disability, suicide and mortality.<sup>6</sup> It also places a substantial burden on family caregivers as well as health and social services.

Correspondence: Dr Chang-Ho Youn MD PhD, Department of Family Medicine, School of Medicine, Kyungpook National University, 101 Dongin-dong 2Ga Jung-gu, Daegu 700-422, Korea. Email: ychfm@knu.ac.kr

The decline of cognitive functions is a primary symptom of dementia, one of the most important diseases afflicting elderly people. It begins with memory disturbances, miscalculations, disorientation and eventually results in a total loss of self-care and social functions. In Korea, the prevalence of dementia was 8.3% in the elderly over the age of 65 years in 2005, and it is predicted to increase up to 9.0% in 2020, according to the National Statistical Office. Dementia may accompany other psychiatric symptoms like depression, sleep disorder, personality changes, delusions and hallucinations. Because of these degenerative changes and chronic comorbidities, elderly people are at a higher risk of living a diminished quality of life.

So far, numerous researches on non-pharmacological treatments for those degenerative changes have been published. Among those non-pharmacological treatments, laughter therapy is a noticeable psychotherapeutic intervention for depression and dementia of the elderly. Takeda et al.7 mentioned that laughter can be a good and effective complementary and alternative intervention in the treatment of dementia patients because laughter is preserved in dementia patients. Laughter therapy provides information on various ways of making humor. It is cost-effective and it does not need any special space nor special preparations. Freud (1905)<sup>8</sup> mentioned that humor can be seen as a specific defense mechanism, by which positive emotions can overcome the undesirable negative emotions involved in a stressful situation. One very early report by Paskind et al.9 examined the impact of laughter upon muscle tone. It was demonstrated that intense laughter led to decreased skeletal muscle tone or relaxation of muscle groups. This report was the first research on the physiology of laughter. Since then, several studies concerning laughter in the treatment of patients who are suffering from psychiatric and physical diseases have been published; improving of quality of life in patients with depression or dementia,10 decreasing stress and increasing natural killer cell activity<sup>11</sup> and acting as moderator of stress for depressive symptoms<sup>12</sup> as examples. However, most studies on laughter therapy are limited to disabled patients with psychiatric diseases or cancer; there is a lack of studies on community-dwelling elderly people in spite of the effects of laughter.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognitive function decline, sleep quality and quality of life for community-dwelling elderly people.

#### Methods

#### Subjects

Between July and September 2007, we recruited the study participants by free health consultation through

a community center in Daegu, South Korea. The eligibility criteria included: (i) age of 65 years or older; (ii) no history of admission within 1 month; and (iii) no involvement in other research studies. The total number of participants who agreed to the study and satisfied the inclusion criteria was 200 initially. We explained the purposes of this study and then interviewed participants to gain data from a questionnaire for 2 weeks. After the first interviews, the subjects were divided randomly into two groups of 100: 100 participants in the laughter therapy group and 100 participants in the control group. The subjects in the laughter therapy group underwent laughter therapy once a week, totally four times during 1 month; 1 month after its completion, they filled out the follow-up questionnaire with the help of research assistants. The 100 subjects in the control group did not receive any intervention and were shielded from laughter therapy; 2 months after the first interviews, they also filled out the follow-up questionnaire with the help of research assistants in the same week as the laughter therapy group.

The total study participants, who fulfilled the initial questionnaire sincerely, consisted of 83 subjects in the laughter therapy group and 91 in the control group. We excluded 35 subjects in the laughter therapy group, who had received laughter therapy less than three times or answered the questionnaire insincerely; and 30 subjects in the control group, who answered the follow-up questionnaire insincerely or were lost to follow up. Therefore, we analyzed 109 participants as final subjects, 48 in the laughter therapy group and 61 in the control group.

#### Laughter therapy

Laughter therapy was performed by a nurse, who had been certified in laughter therapy by the Laughter-Therapy Professional Association, a private agency in Korea. The nurse planned the programs of laughter therapy, and carried out the programs with the participants in the laughter therapy group. The laughter therapy group received 1 h of laughter therapy once a week for 4 weeks. The participants in the laughter therapy group gathered in a community center while those participating in the blind study were contacted individually. During the programs, we restricted participation of other people to prevent the spread of intervention to the control group.

At the first meeting, the moderator explained the effects of laughter and showed a video of practical laughter therapy that the participants could understand easily. Then, the moderator directed them to relax their facial muscles, clap their hands, say hello to each other and laugh aloud clapping their hands. The meeting finished off with a laughter meditation session.

The subjects re-gathered after 1 week; the moderator made them laugh through dancing and singing. Then, the moderator led them in exercises training pelvic muscles with Kegel's exercise. They also watched the video of laughter therapy again and laughed aloud clapping their hands as with the last meeting. The second meeting finished off with singing a "trot" song and dancing.

The third meeting started with the singing of a song. The moderator taught them the effects of positive thinking and strategies on how to think positively; repeating positive words like good, happy, delightful, nice, and so on. As before, they watched the video of laughter therapy and then laughed aloud clapping their hands. The meeting finished off with a laughter meditation session like in the first meeting.

The fourth and final meeting also started with the singing of a song, and then they laughed while trying to pronounce "Ah-E-I-Oh-Woo" with a large gape. The moderator taught them how to express their own laughs; loquacious laughs, laughing with clapping, laughing like a lion, laughing like a balloon, laughing like a fine lady, and so on. They massaged each other's shoulders and said "I love you" to each other. They sang songs loudly while laughing and finished off the meeting with a laughter meditation session.

#### Psychometric assessment instruments

All questionnaires were examined by two researchers, who were expert doctors belonging to one university hospital. The researchers assessed the results of the psychometric assessment instruments.

For the evaluation of depressive moods, the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15)<sup>13</sup> was used. The GDS is a 15-item questionnaire, scoring from 1–15. The higher the score in GDS, the more depressive tendencies subjects might have. The Korean version of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE-K)<sup>14,15</sup> was used to evaluate the grade of cognitive impairment. Scores on the MMSE-K range 0–30, and scores lower than 23 indicate cognitive impairment. For functional evaluation, the Korean Activities of Daily Living (K-ADL) scale<sup>16</sup> ranging 7–21, and the Korean Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (K-IADL) scale,<sup>17</sup> ranging 10–32, were used, respectively. In principle, the lower the scores in K-ADL and K-IADL, the better biological function subjects have.

Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) was assessed by means of Medical Outcomes Research 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36), which has been certified as a valid and reliable means of measuring physical and mental health constructs.<sup>18</sup> The SF-36 survey consists of 36 questions integrating eight multi-item scales: 10 questions on physical function (PF); two questions on social function (SF); four questions on role limitations caused by physical problems (RP); three questions on role limitations cased by emotional problems (RE); five questions on general mental health (MH); four questions on vitality, energy and fatigue (VT); two questions on bodily pain (BP); five questions on general health perceptions (GH); and one question about changes of health status. The scales and summary components ranged 0–100, with higher values denoting better function and fewer limitations.

The Insomnia Severity Index (ISI),<sup>19</sup> a brief instrument measuring insomnia, was used to evaluate perceived sleep difficulties. The ISI comprises seven items; each item is rated on a 0–4 scale and the total score ranges 0–28. A higher score suggests more severe insomnia. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI),<sup>20</sup> a self-rated questionnaire which assesses sleep quality and disturbances, was used. The PSQI consisted of seven components; each component is rated 0–3 and the sum of scores for these seven components range 0–21. A higher score suggests poorer sleep quality.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS ver. 14.0 for Windows. We used an independent Student's *t*-test and Pearson's  $\chi^2$ -test to compare each of the baseline characteristics between the laughter therapy group and control group. Paired-samples Student's *t*-test and ANCOVA were used to clarify the effects of laughter therapy in GDS and MMSE. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

#### Sample characteristics

The demographic characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Their mean ages were 76.33 in the laughter therapy group and 73.92 in the control group. In general terms, in the laughter and control groups, there was a high rate of women (79.2% and 70.5%, respectively), the majority of them had no formal education (66.7% and 55.7%, respectively), most of them were in a poor economic state (85.4% and 83.6%, respectively) and most had one or more physical diseases (95.8% and 91.8%, respectively). Including prior characteristics, there were no significant differences in other demographic characteristics between the two groups.

As shown in Table 2, there were also no significant differences in GDS, MMSE, ADL, IADL and SF-36 between the two groups before laughter therapy.

Variables	Laughter therapy group $(n = 48)$	Control group $(n = 61)$	P*	
<b>.</b> ( )			0.007	
Age (years)	$76.33 \pm 6.44$	$73.92 \pm 7.79$	0.086	
Sex			0.000	
Male	10 (20.8)	18 (29.5)	0.303	
Female	38 (79.2)	43 (70.5)		
Educational status				
Illiteracy	32 (66.7)	34 (55.7)	0.246	
Above Elementary	16 (33.3)	27 (44.3)		
Cohabitant				
Alone	25 (52.1)	24 (39.3)	0.184	
Present	23 (47.9)	37 (60.7)		
Smoking				
Smoker	7 (14.6)	15 (24.6)	0.422	
Ex-smoker	3 (6.3)	4 (6.6)		
Non-smoker	38 (79.2)	42 (68.9)		
Alcohol				
Regular	3 (6.3)	4 (6.6)	0.949	
Under once/week	9 (18.8)	10 (16.4)		
None	36 (75.0)	47 (77.0)		
Regular exercise <sup>†</sup>				
Yes	15 (31.3)	12 (19.7)	0.165	
No	33 (68.8)	49 (80.3)		
Economic status		(0000)		
Fair	7 (14 6)	10 (16 4)	0 796	
Poor	41 (85.4)	51 (83.6)	0.170	
Physical disease	11 (00.1)	01 (00.0)		
Absent	2(4,2)	5 (8 2)	0 394	
Present	46 (95.8)	56 (91.8)	0.071	
Bodyweight loss <sup>‡</sup>	10 (70.0)	00 (71.0)		
Abcent	44 (91 7)	57 (93.4)	0 724	
Drecent	(71.7)	4 (6 6)	0.724	
Religion	Ŧ (0.5)	Ŧ (0.0)		
Abcont	8 (16 7)	12 (10 7)	0 6 9 7	
Drocont	0 (10.7) 40 (22.2)	12 (17.7)	0.087	
rresent	40 (83.3)	49 (80.3)		

 Table 1
 Baseline demographic data and clinical characteristics of the subjects

\*Independent Student's *t*-test for continuous variables, and Pearson's  $\chi^2$ -test for discrete variables. <sup>†</sup>Regularly exercised for more than 30 min and more than three times a week. <sup>‡</sup>Unintended loss of bodyweight of more than 10% over 6 months. Data is presented as mean ± standard deviation or number (%).

# Effects of laughter therapy on depression and cognitive function

Mean GDS score was significantly decreased from 7.98 ± 3.58 to 6.94 ± 3.19 in the laughter therapy group after laughter therapy (P = 0.027). There was, on the contrary, no significant change of mean GDS scores in the control group before and after laughter therapy (from 8.08 ± 3.96 to 8.43 ± 3.44, P = 0.422). ANCOVA, controlling for pre-experimental GDS scores and other variables, showed statistical significance in the effect of laughter therapy on GDS (P = 0.011).

Mean MMSE scores were increased 0.81 in the laughter therapy group and 0.97 in the control group,

which were not significant in both groups. ANCOVA, controlling for pre-experimental MMSE scores and other variables, did not show statistical significance either (P = 0.071; Table 3).

#### Effects of laughter therapy on HRQOL

Mean HRQOL scores were decreased 2.56 in the laughter therapy group and 2.22 in the control group, which were not significant (P = 0.347 and P = 0.392, respectively). In the laughter therapy group, the MH, VT and GH scales were significantly increased (7.00, 8.85 and 6.50, respectively). In the control group, however, there were no significant differences in all HRQOL scales

Variables	Laughter therapy group	Control group	P*
	(n = 48)	(n = 61)	
GDS	$7.98 \pm 3.58$	$8.08 \pm 3.96$	0.889
MMSE	$23.81 \pm 3.90$	$22.74 \pm 4.00$	0.163
ADL	$7.13 \pm 0.39$	$7.36 \pm 1.10$	0.159
IADL	$11.06 \pm 2.02$	$12.11 \pm 3.33$	0.057
SF-36			
Mean	$54.77 \pm 17.63$	$52.54 \pm 21.31$	0.560
PF	$47.81 \pm 20.13$	$44.43 \pm 28.00$	0.482
SF	$78.79 \pm 22.87$	$70.92 \pm 25.49$	0.097
RP	$51.56 \pm 42.96$	$38.52 \pm 43.44$	0.121
RE	$75.00 \pm 41.55$	$76.49 \pm 40.09$	0.850
MH	$58.92 \pm 16.25$	$59.87 \pm 19.83$	0.788
VT	$39.58 \pm 19.29$	$38.44 \pm 20.18$	0.766
BP	$54.04 \pm 25.99$	$57.20 \pm 26.53$	0.535
GH	$32.38 \pm 20.39$	$33.61 \pm 25.10$	0.783

**Table 2**Baseline psychometric test results of the subjects

\*Pearson's  $\chi^2$ -test. All data is presented as mean ± standard deviation. ADL, activities of daily living; BP, body pain; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; GH, general health; IADL, instrumental activities of daily living; MH, mental health; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination; PF, physical function; RE, role limitations – emotional; RP, role limitations – physical; SF, social function; SF-36, 36-item Short Form health survey; VT, vitality.

**Table 3** Differences of mean values for depression and cognitive function between two groups after laughter therapy

	Pre-test	Post-test	P*	$R^2$	P**
GDS					
Laughter therapy group	$7.98 \pm 3.58$	$6.94 \pm 3.19$	0.027	0.364	0.011
Control group	$8.08 \pm 3.96$	$8.43 \pm 3.44$	0.422		
MMSE					
Laughter therapy group	$23.81 \pm 3.90$	$24.63 \pm 3.53$	0.168	0.319	0.071
Control group	$22.74 \pm 4.00$	$23.70\pm3.85$	0.068		

\*Paired Student's *t*-test; \*\*ANCOVA adjusted for age, sex, educational status, cohabitation, smoking, alcohol, exercise, economic status, physical disease, pre-test GDS, and pre-test MMSE. All data is presented as mean ± standard deviation. GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

before and after laughter therapy. ANCOVA, controlling for each of the HRQOL scales of pre-experiment and other variables, showed statistical significance in BP (P = 0.028); whereas other factors did not show significance (Table 4).

#### Effects of laughter therapy on sleep

The total ISI scores were decreased from  $8.00 \pm 6.29$  to  $7.58 \pm 5.38$  in the laughter therapy group (P = 0.327) and increased from  $8.36 \pm 6.38$  to  $9.31 \pm 6.35$  in the control group (P = 0.019) after laughter therapy. ANCOVA, controlling for pre-experimental ISI and other variables, showed statistical significance in the effect of laughter therapy on ISI (P = 0.015).

The total PSQI scores were decreased from  $6.98 \pm 3.41$  to  $6.04 \pm 2.35$  in the laughter therapy group

(P = 0.019). In the control group, however, there was no significant change of total PSQI scores (P = 0.847). ANCOVA showed statistical significance after controlling for pre-experimental PSQI scores and other variables (P = 0.047; Table 5).

#### Discussion

This study is a randomized, prospective, experimental research designed to determine the effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition, sleep and quality of life among elderly people. Our study demonstrated that depression, insomnia and sleep quality improved in the laughter therapy group, while they worsened or showed no significant change in the control group.

		1 0	0 1	U	10
SF-36	Pre-test	Post-test	P*	$R^2$	P**
Mean					
Laughter therapy group	$54.77 \pm 17.63$	$52.24\pm20.89$	0.347	0.257	0.728
Control group	$52.54 \pm 21.31$	$50.32 \pm 19.66$	0.392		
PF					
Laughter therapy group	$47.81 \pm 20.13$	$42.08 \pm 25.11$	0.136	0.250	0.381
Control group	$44.43 \pm 28.00$	$38.20 \pm 27.46$	0.058		
SF					
Laughter therapy group	$78.79 \pm 22.87$	$73.63 \pm 24.97$	0.201	0.059	0.940
Control group	$70.92 \pm 25.49$	$72.72 \pm 24.94$	0.673		
RP					
Laughter therapy group	$51.56 \pm 42.96$	$38.02 \pm 45.54$	0.089	0.145	0.728
Control group	$38.52 \pm 43.44$	$32.54 \pm 40.80$	0.265		
RE					
Laughter therapy group	$75.00 \pm 41.55$	$54.85 \pm 49.82$	0.006	0.097	0.270
Control group	$76.49 \pm 40.09$	$65.59 \pm 45.13$	0.123		
МН					
Laughter therapy group	$58.92 \pm 16.25$	$65.92 \pm 21.29$	0.020	0.150	0.227
Control group	$59.87 \pm 19.83$	$61.97 \pm 21.27$	0.455		
VT					
Laughter therapy group	$39.58 \pm 19.29$	$48.44 \pm 26.68$	0.017	0.169	0.146
Control group	$38.44 \pm 20.18$	$43.69 \pm 21.95$	0.065		
BP					
Laughter therapy group	$54.04 \pm 25.99$	$56.06 \pm 17.86$	0.550	0.168	0.028
Control group	$57.20 \pm 26.53$	$49.66 \pm 23.31$	0.050		
GH					
Laughter therapy group	$32.38 \pm 20.39$	$38.88 \pm 21.60$	0.042	0.153	0.836
Control group	$33.61 \pm 25.10$	$37.18 \pm 20.83$	0.247		

 Table 4
 Differences of mean values for health-related quality of life between two groups after laughter therapy

\*Paired Student's *t*-test; \*\*ANCOVA adjusted for age, sex, educational status, cohabitation, smoking, alcohol, exercise, economic status, physical disease, pre-test geriatric depression scale, pre-test Mini-Mental State Examination, and each pre-test SF-36 scales. All data is presented as mean ± standard deviation. BP, body pain; GH, general health; MH, mental health; PF, physical function; RE, role limitations – emotional; RP, role limitations – physical; SF, social function; SF-36, 36-item Short Form health survey; VT, vitality.

<b>Table 5</b> Differences of insomna seventy index and sleep quality between two groups after laughter ther	quality between two groups after laughter therapy
--	---

	Pre-test	Post-test	P*	$R^2$	P**
ISI					
Laughter therapy group	$8.00 \pm 6.29$	$7.58 \pm 5.38$	0.327	0.775	0.015
Control group	$8.36 \pm 6.38$	$9.31 \pm 6.35$	0.019		
PSQI					
Laughter therapy group	$6.98 \pm 3.41$	$6.04 \pm 2.35$	0.019	0.403	0.047
Control group	$7.38 \pm 3.70$	$7.30\pm3.74$	0.847		

\*Paired Student's *t*-test; \*\*ANCOVA adjusted for age, sex, educational status, cohabitation, smoking, alcohol, exercise, economic status, physical disease, pre-test geriatric depression scale, pre-test Mini-Mental State Examination; and pre-test ISI for ISI, pre-test PSQI for PSQI. All data is presented as mean ± standard deviation. ISI, Insomnia Severity Index; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index.

The results of depression in this study are similar to previous studies that demonstrated that a sense of humor is correlated with increased self-esteem and decreased depressive features.<sup>12,21</sup> Though laughter therapy had a positive effect on depression and sleep, it is unclear whether improvement of depression led to improvement of sleep or laughter therapy influenced depression and sleep independently. In our study, being
incompletely blind to laughter therapy for the control group, may have had an influence on low compliance and high complaints with the study. It may have led to slight increases of the depression scale in the control group. Moreover, we did not exclude positive effects of the group meeting themselves; thus, the effects of group meeting may have contributed to the improvement of depression in the laughter therapy group.

In general, scores higher than or equal to 6 in GDS are used to judge whether depressive symptoms are present.<sup>22</sup> In this study, mean GDS score were 7.98 and 8.08 in both groups, respectively, which showed high tendencies of depression. Considering the factors influencing geriatric depression,<sup>2,3,23</sup> a high rate of women, poor economic state, single living and the presence of comorbidities may influence high GDS scores. The subjects also showed ISI scores above 8,19 sub-threshold insomnia and PSQI scores above 6,20 each of which indicate poor sleep quality. It is possible to say that there must be a correlation between depression and insomnia, based on the results of research work. Insomnia is a major risk factor of depression in the elderly,<sup>24</sup> and depressive mood is associated with development of insomnia symptoms.25

The MMSE scores were similarly increased in both groups after laughter therapy, which was not statistically significant. These results are considered to have been influenced by two factors: simplification of the follow up questionnaire and the same items of MMSE that they had already done during the first investigation made them easier to answer the second time. When using MMSE-K, the threshold of 23 points or less is generally used to indicate cognitive impairment,<sup>15</sup> mean scores were 23.81 and 22.74 in both groups, respectively, which demonstrated mild cognitive impairment. In this study, there were multiple factors which related to cognitive impairment;<sup>2,26,27</sup> the subjects were relatively advanced in age, there was a high rate of women, a majority of them had no formal education and most of them were of poor socioeconomic status. In addition, the fact that there is a strong relation between cognitive function and depression<sup>28,29</sup> could explain how high tendencies of depression might influence low cognitive function of the subjects.

Our study did not demonstrate significant changes of HRQOL in both groups after laughter therapy except BP. The BP scores were increased in the laughter therapy group and decreased in the control group. This might suggest that the use of laughter diminishes pain and moderates a patient's response to pain.<sup>30</sup> The study by Walter *et al.*<sup>10</sup> showed significant improvement of quality of life in patients with latelife depression after humor therapy; the study was of inpatients with major depressive disorders using the Anamnestic Comparative Self Assessment Scale (ACSA) to measure quality of life. On the other hand, our study was of community-dwelling people using SF-36 to measure quality of life. These differences are considered to have influenced the contrary results between the studies.

In general, mean HRQOL scores tend to be low before and after laughter therapy in our study. Considering the results of recent studies,<sup>31,32</sup> relatively older age, low socioeconomic status, high depression scores and presence of comorbid chronic illness may have influenced the low HRQOL in this study. According to Tsai *et al.*,<sup>33</sup> HRQOL is a predictor of mortality among the community-dwelling elderly; thus, we must be concerned about the high rate of elderly people in Korea.

We investigated the hypothesis that laughter therapy may affect depression, cognitive function, sleep and quality of life of community-dwelling elderly people. Our study demonstrated that laughter therapy had positive effects on geriatric depression, insomnia and sleep quality, but no significant effects on cognitive function and HRQOL. There are several limitations of these results. The sample size was relatively small; initial subjects were 200 but 52 in the laughter therapy group and 39 in the control group were excluded, and the high ratio of dropout is a significant limitation. There could be selection bias because the subjects were all of lower socioeconomic status, advanced age and their residency was limited to one city. Incomplete blinding for the control group may have influenced the results. We did not exclude positive effects of the group meetings themselves that might have had some affect on the depression scale. Also, the laughter therapy was performed for only 1 month, limiting to generalized results. From now on, further studies are needed that control these limitations and follow up more frequently as well as for a long-term period.

Laughter therapy provides various methods of and information on humor, is of low cost, and it can be easily performed without regard of place and time; therefore, it is a very effective and practical intervention. Further studies with higher frequency, long-term laughter therapy and larger samples may provide better results in the understanding of therapeutic advantages of laughter therapy in the treatment and prevention of depression and cognitive function decline of the elderly.

# Acknowledgment

This research was supported by Kyungpook National University Research Fund, 2007.

# References

1 Korea National Statistical Office. Population projections for Korea. [Cited 11 Nov 2006]. Available from URL: http://kostat.go.kr/portal/korea/index.action

- 2 Suh GH, Kim JK, Yeon BK *et al.* Prevalence and risk factors of dementia and depression in the elderly. *J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc* 2000; **39**: 809–824.
- 3 Kim MD, Hwang SW, Hong SC. Prevalence of Depression and Correlates of Depressive Symptoms among Residents in Rural Areas of Jeju Island. *J Korean Acad Fam Med* 2003; 24: 833–844.
- 4 Weissman M, Leaf P, Tischler G et al. Affective disorders in five United States communities. *Psychol Med* 1988; 18: 141– 153.
- 5 Steffens D, Skoog I, Norton M et al. Prevalence of depression and its treatment in an elderly population. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57: 601–607.
- 6 Lee Y, Choi K, Lee YK. Association of comorbidity with depressive symptoms in community-dwelling older persons. *Gerontology* 2001; **47**: 254–262.
- 7 Freud S. Der Witz und seine Beziehung zum Unbewußten. Paju-si, Gyeonggi-do: Open books, 2004.
- 8 Takeda M, Hashimoto R, Kudo T *et al.* Laughter and humor as complementary and alternative medicines for dementia patients. *BMC Complement Altern Med* 2010; **18** (10): 28.
- 9 Paskind J. Effects of laughter on muscle tone. *Arch Neurol Psychiatry* 1932; **28**: 623–628.
- 10 Walter M, Hänni B, Haug M *et al.* Humour therapy in patients with late-life depression or Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2007; **22**: 77–83.
- 11 Bennett MP, Zeller JM, Rosenberg L, McCann J. The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Altern Ther Health Med* 2003; **9** (2): 38–45.
- 12 Nezu AM, Nezu CM, Blissett SE. Sense of humor as a moderator of the relation between stressful events and psychological distress: a prospective analysis. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1988; **54**: 520–525.
- 13 Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL *et al.* Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *J Psychiatr Res* 1982–1983; **17** (1): 37– 49.
- 14 Kwon YC, Korean PJH. Version of mini-mental state examination (MMSE-K). J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc 1989; 28: 125–135.
- 15 Park JH, Kwon YC. Standardization of Korean of the minimental state examination (MMSE-K) for use in the elderly. Part II. Diagnostic validity. *J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc* 1989; 28: 508–513.
- 16 Won CW, Rho YG, Kim SY, Cho BR, Lee YS. The validity and reliability of korean activities of daily living(K-ADL) scale. J Korean Geriatr Soc 2002; 6: 98–106.
- 17 Won CW, Rho YG, Duk SW, Lee YS. The validity and reliability of korean instrumental activities of daily living(K-IADL) scale. J Korean Geriatr Soc 2002; 6: 273– 280.
- 18 McHorney CA, Ware JE Jr, Raczek AE. The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): II. Psychometric and

clinical tests of validity in measuring physical and mental health constructs. *Med Care* 1993; **31**: 247–263.

- 19 Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med* 2001; 2: 297–307.
- 20 Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF 3rd, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res* 1989; **28**: 193–213.
- 21 Porterfield A. Does sense of humor moderate the impact of life stress on psychological and physical well-beding? *J Res Pers* 1987; **21**: 306–317.
- 22 Lyness JM, Noel TK, Cox C, King DA, Conwell Y, Caine ED. Screening for depression in elderly primary care patients. A comparison of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale and the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Arch Intern Med* 1997; **157**: 449–454.
- 23 Garrard J, Rolnick SJ, Nitz NM *et al.* Clinical detection of depression among community-based elderly people with self-reported symptoms of depression. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 1998; **53**: 92–101.
- 24 Perlis ML, Smith LJ, Lyness JM *et al.* Insomnia as a risk factor for onset of depression in the elderly. *Behav Sleep Med* 2006; **4**: 104–113.
- 25 Foley DJ, Monjan A, Simonsick EM, Wallace RB, Blazer DG. Incidence and remission of insomnia among elderly adults: an epidemiologic study of 6,800 persons over three years. *Sleep* 1999; **22** (Suppl 2): S366–S372.
- 26 Woo JI, Lee JH, Hong JP. Effect of age, sex and education on the scores of MMSE-K among the rural elderly residents. *J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc* 1996; **35**: 122–132.
- 27 O'Connor DW, Pollitt PA, Treasure FP, Brook CP, Reiss BB. The influence of education, social class and sex on Mini-Mental State Examination. *Psychol Med* 1989; **19** (3): 771–776.
- 28 Steffens DC, Potter GG. Geriatric depression and cognitive impairment. *Psychol Med* 2008; **38**: 163–175.
- 29 Oh BH, Kim HS, Kim JH, Cho HS, Cho KH, Yoo KJ. Epidemiologic study of cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms of the elderly in a Korean rural community. *J Elderly Neuropsychiatr Assoc* 1998; 2: 176–186.
- 30 Bennett HJ. Humor in medicine. South Med J 2003; 96: 1257–1261.
- 31 Gallegos-Carrillo K, García-Peña C, Mudgal J, Romero X, Durán-Arenas L, Salmerón J. Role of depressive symptoms and comorbid chronic disease on health-related quality of life among community-dwelling older adults. *J Psychosom Res* 2009; 66: 127–135.
- 32 Wang R, Wu C, Zhao Y *et al.* Health related quality of life measured by SF-36: a population-based study in Shanghai, China. *BMC Public Health* 2008; **8**: 292.
- 33 Tsai SY, Chi LY, Lee CH, Chou P. Health-related quality of life as a predictor of mortality among communitydwelling older persons. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2007; **22** (1): 19–26.

Home Current issue Instructions Submit article

Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2014 Jan-Feb; 19(1): 36-40.

PMCID: PMC3917183

# The effect of laughter Yoga on general health among nursing students

Mohsen Yazdani,<sup>1</sup> Mojtaba Esmaeilzadeh,<sup>1</sup> Saeid Pahlavanzadeh,<sup>1</sup> and Firouz Khaledi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry Nursing, Nursing and Midwifery Care Research Center, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Address for correspondence: Mr. Mohsen Yazdani, Department of Psychiatry Nursing, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran. E-mail: <a href="mailto:mohsen\_yazdani@nm.mui.ac.ir">mohsen\_yazdani@nm.mui.ac.ir</a>

Copyright : © Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-Share Alike 3.0 Unported, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

# Abstract

# **Background:**

Promotion and provision of individuals' health is one of the bases for development in societies. Students' mental health is very important in each society. Students of medical sciences universities, especially nursing students, are under various stresses in clinical environment, in addition to the stress they experience in theoretical education environment. With regard to the importance of nursing students' general health and considering the various existing strategies to promote general health components, use of complementary treatments is more considered because of their better public acceptance, low costs, and fewer complications. One of the new strategies in this regard is laughter Yoga. The present study was conducted with an aim to define the effect of laughter Yoga on general health among nursing students.

# Materials and Methods:

This is a quasi-experimental two-group three-step study conducted on 38 male nursing students in the nursing and midwifery school of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences in 2012. In the study group, eight 1 h sessions of laughter Yoga were held (two sessions a week), and in the control group, no intervention was conducted. The data of the present study were collected by Goldberg and Hiller's General Health Questionnaire and analyzed by SPSS version 12.

# **Results:**

The findings showed a significant difference in the mean scores of general health before and after laughter Yoga intervention in the two groups of study and control.

# **Conclusions:**

The findings showed that laughter Yoga had a positive effect on students' general health and improved the signs of physical and sleep disorders, lowered anxiety and depression, and promoted their social function. Therefore, laughter Yoga can be used as one of the effective strategies on students' general health.

Keywords: Health, laughter, nursing students, Yoga

# INTRODUCTION

Goldberg and Hiller defined general health as an individual's physical and mental health which includes a collection of physical signs, anxiety and insomnia, social dysfunction, and depression.[1] The World Health Organization (WHO) defines health as physical, mental, social welfare and not just lack of diseases and disability. One of the criteria to assess societies' health is the mental health status. Mental health plays an important role in dynamism and efficacy of each society.[2]

As observed in our study, one of the important reasons for development in the developed countes is the focus and effort on training innovative and efficient human resources. The students of human sciences are the key elements who form the most vulnerable social groups. Many of them may act as the future managers and strategy makers of the country, and their academic achievement is among the basic goals of educational programs.[3] Since a major part of an individual's life is spent at work or educational environment, with completely different conditions from home, many of the events and life activities have a lot of effects on their physical and mental health. University students are predisposed to lose mental health and need appropriate interventions in this regard due to their special conditions including being far from their families, entering a big and distressful community, facing economic problems and lack of adequate income, high volume of lessons, and tight competitions.[4]

Students of medical universities, especially nursing students, are also under clinical environment stress, in addition to the stress related to theoretical education environments. Hospitals are considered as one of the most stressful working environments where it is the case of human life or death. The tension in these environments can not only lead to low academic achievement but also affect students' personality growth and cause many inappropriate behaviors among them. [5] As the dimensions of general health are associated with all the individuals' daily life and the disorder in any of these dimensions can lead to disturbance in general health, and consequently, individuals' mental health disorder, conducting appropriate interventions to improve each of these dimensions is of great importance. Rezaei et al. in their study on investigation of nursing students' mental health in the nursing school of Amol showed that 30.6% of the studied students had mental disorders.[6] The research shows that the prevalence and intensity of mental disorders have increased among students compared to a non-student community. Based on National Mental Health Association report, the results of the recent studies conducted in London Welfson Health Sciences Institute show that 46% of male students and 64% of female students suffer from anxiety while 12% of male students and 15% of female students suffer from depression. The counselors in the abovementioned institute reported an increase in students' referrals to counseling centers from 2.4 out of 100,000 students in the year 1995 to 9.7 out of 100,000 in the year 2000.[7] The research results show that individuals' leisure time activities can lead to expansion of thoughts, personality growth and development, prevention of crimes, an increase in social participation, and a feeling of responsibility, and improves individuals' physical mental health. On the other hand, Iranian students' daily leisure time is 3-4 h. 58% of the students have their leisure time activities in the evening and night and 69.5% have these activities at dormitory or home. They only spend 5.5% of their leisure time at cultural or recreational sports centers. It reveals a shortage in healthy leisure time among the Iranian students, resulting in their predisposition to diminished academic achievement and mental problems.[8] One of the other variables of general health is sleep, so sleep disorder is one of the most common problems among adults. Sleep disorders (falling sleep and waking up) cause physical and mental disorders and negatively affect educational function, resulting in a drop in students' academic achievement. Shamsaei and Cheraghi, in a study on the assessment of sleep disorders' prevalence among nursing and midwifery students in Hamedan, showed that one-third of the students suffer from insomnia, with a higher prevalence among female students compared to males and among nursing students compared to midwifery students.[9] Numerous strategies have been indicated for improvement of general health components. Among these strategies, complementary treatments have been considered more by researchers in recent years due to their public acceptance, low costs, and fewer complications.[10] Nowadays, modern medicine has clearly been directed toward complementary medicine, so the WHO named the year 2005 as the year of complementary and alternative medicine.[11]

These methods include stress management, [12] physical exercises, relaxation and psychological counseling, education of social skills, [13] Yoga, [14] and laughter therapy. [15] Various methods of complementary medicine enable the nurses to help their patients control their anxiety. [16]

Meanwhile, psychiatric nurses play an efficient and numerous roles in complementary medicine related interventions and are considered as administrators of this type of medicine.[10,17] Some of the strategies to promote and develop individuals' general health include laughter, humor therapy, and laughter Yoga. [18] Laughter has a valuable and specific position in psychology which can help in maintaining mental balance in humans and contributes to their mental health.[19]

Laughter Yoga is a method in which there is a combination of unconditional laughter with Yoga breathing exercise (Pranayama) and was firstly suggested by Madan Kataria, an Indian doctor, in 1995. In this

is quickly changed to natural laughter and increases the  $O_2$  saturation of brain and body. Enhanced feeling of security and self-belief, positive energy, and distraction from negative thoughts are among the positive treatment effects of laughter Yoga.[20] As this strategy was started 16 years ago, there is limited research in this filed. Nagendra *et al.* (2007), in a study on the efficacy of laughter Yoga on the professionals to overcome professional stress in India, found a significant improvement in stress parameters including blood cortisol level after the intervention.[21] The results of the study of Ko and Youn (2011) in Korea on the effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition, and sleep among community dwelling elderly showed that laughter therapy was an efficient, cost-effective, and available intervention which resulted in positive effects on depression, insomnia, and sleep quality of the elderly.[15] As the students of various medical sciences courses including nursing students will be responsible for provision and promotion of public health in future, they should be cared for to be able to play their role well as an educated and professional human resource.

With regard to nursing students' general health, making motivations in medical universities seems crucial. This study aimed to define the effect of laughter Yoga on the general health of nursing students in the nursing and midwifery school of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences in 2012.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

As the effect of the independent variable of laughter Yoga on the dependent variable of general health was investigated in the present study, it was a quasi-experimental two-group three-step design. Study population comprised male BS nursing s tudents of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences in 2012.

Sampling was firstly convenient sampling through which the male nursing students (in semesters 2-6) who were interested to participate in the study were invited to attend a primary laughter Yoga orientation session, and then, 42 of them meeting the inclusion criteria were selected. The list of the subjects was made and numbered from which the odd and even numbers were randomly assigned to control and study groups by lottery. Inclusion criteria were: Being single; studying in semesters 2-6 of bachelor's degree of nursing; no history of probation in the past semester; being interested in participating in the research; no concurrent participation in other complementary medicine methods; no cardiac diseases, hernia, acute hemorrhoid (accompanied with bleeding), hypertension, chronic coughs, incontinency, epilepsy, acute low back pain, acute mental disorders, consumption of antipsychotic drugs; and no history of any surgery in the past 3 months.

Exclusion criteria were: No interest to continue in the study, absenteeism for more than two sessions, consumption of medications affecting general health components (depression, anxiety, sleep, and social function, and physical signs) during the study, facing acute stressful events like immediate relative's death. Based on the exclusion criteria, two subjects in control and two in the study group were excluded from the study, and 38 subjects were considered as the final number (19 in the study group and 19 in the control group). Data were collected by a questionnaire of demographic characteristics and Goldberg and Hiller's General Health Questionnaire, which were filled prior to the study, immediately after the intervention, and 1 month after the intervention by the students in study and control groups.

Demographic data questionnaire included four questions on subjects' personal and familial characteristics.

Goldberg and Hiller's General Health Questionnaire contained 28 four-point questions investigating the four domains of physical signs, anxiety and sleep disorder, social function, and depression. Reliability of the General Health Questionnaire has been confirmed in translation of various cultures. Shigemi and Toshihide reported Cronbach's alpha of >0.9 in their study on Japanese employees.[22] Goldberg and Blackwell calculated the validity of General Health Questionnaire through a clinical interview checklist filled for 200 patients in the surgery ward in England. Based on their study, this questionnaire could sort out the subjects as diseased and healthy individuals with >90% accuracy.[23] Laughter Yoga sessions (a total of eight sessions) were held at 7.00-8.00 a.m., twice a week, and the duration was 1 h for each session.

The researcher conducted the sessions, in which the first 10 min were devoted to relaxation techniques, deep breathing exercises, and warm up. For warm-up exercises, for example, the subjects held their palms

Nurs Midwiffery

parallel to each other while clapping, so that their palms and fingers thoroughly clapped. This stimulated palm pressure points and increased the level of energy and coordination in the group. Rhythm of 1, 2, 3, and 1, 2 was added to clapping while bending the knees and shaking the head, which made clapping very joyful and left everybody in a good mood for laughing and smiling. Then, laughter Yoga techniques were practiced for 30 min. Next, there were 10 min of rest, and finally, 10 min of laughter meditation was administrated. General framework of laughter meditation was such that the subjects comfortably sat down on the ground in a way they could stare at one another's eyes. The researcher warned them not to talk or use other communicational methods like imitation, changing location, and making other noises, as they would involve the subjects' superego. The subjects had to sit calmly with closed eyes and concentrate on their breathing. They gradually started artificial laughter until one subject started natural laughter. If not so, the subjects continued Pranayama breathing exercise to start natural laughter by stimulation of diaphragm. Group leader invited the group to reduce the intensity of laughter and meditation was gradually restarted. In the end, the group leader asked the subjects to concentrate on their breathing to leave meditation and invited them to peace and relaxation. No concurrent intervention was conducted in the control group and the subjects just filled the General Health Questionnaire three times.

The research location for administration of laughter Yoga sessions was Etehad sports hall located in Shahid Movahedi sports complex of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. Data were analyzed by independent *t*-test, repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA), and least significant difference (LSD) *post-hoc* using SPSS version 12.

# RESULTS

The results showed that there was no significant difference in the two groups concerning demographic characteristics including age, students' semester, their present residential location, and the parental aliveness (P > 0.19).

As presented in Table 1, the mean scores of general health before intervention showed no significant difference in the two groups, but there was a significant difference in the mean scores of general health immediately after and 1 month the after intervention in the two groups of study and control. Repeated measure ANOVA test showed no significant difference in the mean total scores of general health at three time intervals in the control group (P = 0.33), but there was a significant difference concerning the above issue in the study group (P = 0.01). LSD (Least Significant Difference).*post-hoc* test showed a significant difference between the mean total scores of general health before intervention and the scores immediately after (P = 0.004) and 1 month after (P = 0.003), but there was no significant difference between these scores immediately after and 1 month after intervention (P = 0.55).

As presented in Tables <u>2–4</u>, the mean scores of four domains of general health including physical signs, anxiety and sleep disorder, social function, and depression showed no significant difference before intervention in the two groups, but the mean scores of these four domains showed a significant difference immediately after and 1 month after intervention in the two groups.

# DISCUSSION

As shown by the findings, laughter Yoga positively affected the general health of nursing students, which is almost consistent with the results of some studies. The findings of Nagendra *et al.* concerning the efficacy of laughter Yoga on IT professionals to overcome professional stress in India showed that there was a significant improvement in stress parameters including the level of blood cortisol.[21] Shahidi *et al.*, in their study comparing the effects of laughter Yoga and group sport program on the depressed elderly women, reported that laughter Yoga not only had positive effect similar to sport program on the reduction of depression but also imposed positive effects on the feeling of life satisfaction among the elderly women. [24]

The findings of the above-mentioned study are in line with the positive effect of laughter Yoga on the dimensions of depression and social function in general health obtained in the present study. On the other hand, a study was conducted by Kong *et al.* to investigate the effects of a stress management program, based on meditation, on stress, anxiety, and depression of nursing students in Korea in 2006. Their results revealed a significant difference concerning the scores of stress and anxiety in the two groups after

3

intervention, but the difference in depression scores after intervention in the two groups of study and control was not significant.[25]

The above-mentioned study result was consistent with that of the present study concerning the variable of anxiety which is one of the general health dimensions; but for the dimension of depression, it yielded different results, possibly due to it being a different type of study. Rezaei, in a study on the effect of a stress management educational program on the level of students' depression, anxiety, and stress in Isfahan University of Medical Sciences in 2010, reported that the mean scores of stress, anxiety, and depression were reduced in the study group after administration of a stress educational program, and this reduction was significant compared to the control group.[12] The findings of his study confirm similar effect of intervention on the dimensions of general health. The only difference is that in the present study, all the dimensions of general health were measured, while in the above-mentioned study, only two dimensions of general health (anxiety and depression) were studied. The findings of Ko and Youn on the effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition, and sleep among the elderly in Korea showed that laughter therapy is an efficient, cost-effective, and available intervention which has positive effects on depression, insomnia, and sleep quality among the elderly.[15] The authors believe that as the subjects in the present study are different from those of other studies, further research is needed to support the present study. As the present study was conducted on male university students, it is suggested to conduct another study on female students to be able to compare these effects in these two groups, in order to use laughter Yoga for promotion of students' general health and improving their educational function in all medical universities.

# CONCLUSIONS

The findings showed that laughter Yoga had a positive effect on students' general health and improved the signs of physical and sleep disorders, lowered anxiety and depression, and promoted their social function. Therefore, laughter Yoga can be used as one of the effective strategies on students' general health.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The researchers of this study would like to thank the research center of the Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences and the nursing students who participated in this research.

# Footnotes

Source of Support: Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran, Grant No 391048

Conflict of Interest: Nil.

# REFERENCES

1. Ansari F. Isfahan: Faculty Of Education Science and Psychology; 2006. The Effect of stress inoculation training on general health of hypertensive patient in isfahan; p. 119.

2. Keyghobadi S, Asadi NA. 3rd ed. Vol. 2. Tehran: Boshra Publication; 2003. Psychiatric nursing; p. 15.

3. Zeyghami M, Pour Bahaodini Zarandi N. Evaluation the relationship between academic achievement and general health and coping styles in nursing midwifery and health students In Islamic Azad University Kerman. J Dev Med Educ Cent. 2011;8:41–8.

4. Seyed Ahmadi M, Keyvanlou F, Koushan M, Mohamadi Raof M. Compare mental health status in athlete and non-athlete student. J Sabzevar Univ Med Sci. 2010;17:118–24.

5. Abazari F, Zadeh AA, Arab M. Evaluation of Amount and sources of stress in nursing students. J Dev Med Educ Cent. 2004;1:23–31.

6. Rezayi R, Beheshti Z, Haji Hoseyni F, Seyedi Andi S. Comparison of mental health in nursing students' first and last. J Res Nurs. 2006;1:67–74.

7. National Mental Health Association. Campaign for America's Mental Health. 2005. [Last accessed on 2013 Jun 23]. Available from: <u>http://www.nmha.org</u>.

8. Farahani JM. 5th ed. Tehran: Tehran University Publications; 2011. Leisure and Recreational sport management; p. 4.

9. Shamsaei F, Cheraghi F. Prevalence of Insomnia in Nursing and Midwifery Students. Asian Journal of Psychiatry. 2013;6:222. [PubMed: 23642980]

10. Sturt G. 9th ed. United States: Mosby; 2009. Principle and Practice of Psychiatric Nursing; pp. 553-6.

11. Moeini M, Kahangi L, Valiani M, Heshmat R. The effect of reflexotherapy on patients' vital signs before coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2011;16:8–12. [PMCID: PMC3203304] [PubMed: 22039373]

12. Yazdani M, Rezaei S, Pahlavanzadeh S. The effectiveness of stress management training program on depression, anxiety and stress of the nursing students. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2010;15:208–15. [PMCID: PMC3203278] [PubMed: 22049282]

13. Rice PF. 4th ed. Tehran: Arjmand Publications; 2009. Human Development; pp. 443-48.

14. Afonso RF, Hachul H, Kozasa EH, Oliveira Dde S, Goto V, Rodriques D, et al. Yoga decreases insomnia in postmenopausal women: A randomized clinical trial. J N Am Menopause Soc. 2011;19:1–8.

15. Ko HJ, Youn CH. Effects Of Laughter Therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2011;11:267–74. [PubMed: 21241447]

16. Pudner R. 2nd ed. United States: Elsevier; 2005. Nursing the surgical patient; p. 8.

17. Kneisl CR, Trigoboff E. 2nd ed. United States: Pearson; 2009. Contemporary psychiatric mental health nursing; p. 874.

18. Kataria M. 2nd ed. Tehran: Nasle Now Andish Publications; 2011. Laugh For No Reason; p. 21.

19. Hajian S. 2nd ed. Qom: Atre Yas Publications; 2011. Psychology of laughter; pp. 34-45.

20. Kataria M. Bangalore: Bendre Nagar; 2010. Certified Laughter Yoga Leader Training (CLYL) p. 8.

21. Nagendra HR, Chaya MS, Nagarathna R, Kataria M, Rao MR. Mumbai: Laughter Yoga International; 2007. Efficacy of laughter Yoga on IT Professional to overcome Professional Stress; pp. 1–62.

22. Shigemi TM, Toshihide T. Stability of factor structure and correlation with perceived job stress in General Health Questionnaire: A three-wave survey over one year in Japanese Workers. J Occup Health. 2000;42:284–91.

23. Goldberg DP, Blackwell B. Psychiatric illness in a suburban general practice: A detailed study using a new method of case identification. Br Med J. 1970;49:15–36. [PMCID: PMC1700485]

24. Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, Mojtahed M, Shafiabady A, Delavar A, et al. Laughter Yoga versus Group Exercise Program in Elderly Depressed women: A Randomised Controlled trial. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011;26:322–7. [PubMed: 20848578]

25. Kang YS, Choi SY, Ryu E. The effectiveness of a stress coping program based ond mindfulness meditation on the stress, anxiety, and depression experienced by nursing students in Korea. Nurse Educ Today. 2009;29:538–43. [PubMed: 19141364]

# **Figures and Tables**

# Table 1

Mean score	Study		Control		Independent <i>t</i> -test	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P value	t
Before intervention	24.5	15.1	23.2	11.2	0.75	0.32
After intervention	13.9	9.2	25.1	11.04	3.39	0.002
One month after intervention	12.8	10.6	24.4	14.5	2.81	0.008

SD: Standard deviation

Comparison of mean scores of general health in the two groups of study and control

# Table 2

Mean score	Study		Cont	trol	Independent <i>t</i> -test	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P value	t
Physical signs	5.4	3.3	5.2	3.4	0.846	0.19
Anxi <mark>e</mark> ty and sleep disorder	7.1	5.3	6.1	4.3	0.51	0.66
Social function	7.2	3.1	7.5	2.5	0.78	0.28
Depression	4.7	5.3	4.3	3.9	0.81	0.24

SD: Standard deviation

Comparison of mean scores of general health in the two groups of study and control before intervention

# Table 3

Mean score	Study		Control		Independent <i>t-</i> test	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P value	t
Physical signs	3.7	2.4	5.7	3.5	0.03	2.05
Anxiety and sleep disorder	3.7	3.19	6.8	4.5	0.02	2.44
Social function	4.2	2.84	7.26	2.9	0.003	3.25
Depression	2.2	2.9	5.3	2.8	0.002	3.26

SD: Standard deviation

Comparison of mean scores of general health in the two groups of study and control after intervention

ē

# Table 4

Mean score	Study		Cont	rol	Independent <i>t</i> -test	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P value	t
Physical signs	3	2.5	5	3.7	0.04	1.98
Anxiety and sleep disorder	4.1	4.1	6.9	5.4	0.04	1.98
Social function	4	3.1	7.4	3.6	0.004	3.07
Depression	1.7	2.4	5.1	3.3	0.001	3.55

SD: Standard deviation

Comparison of mean scores of general health in the two groups of study and control 1 month after intervention

Articles from Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research are provided here courtesy of **Medknow Publications** 

# Effect of laughter therapy on happiness and life satisfaction among elderly

Anuja Deshpande Department of Psychology, Maniben Nanavati Women's College, Mumbai Vaishnavi Verma Department of Psychology, Smt M. M. P. Shah Women's College of Arts and Commerce, Mumbai

A quasi experimental study was conducted in Mumbai city with an objective to evaluate the effect of laughter therapy on the happiness and life satisfaction among elderly. There were total 80 participants (40 from laughter therapy group) and 40 from non-laughter therapy group) from age group of 60-75 years. Participants of the laughter therapy group were chosen on the criteria of completing at least six months of active participation in laughter therapy sessions. The present study shows a positive effect of laughter therapy on happiness and life satisfaction among elderly, and a positive correlation between happiness and life satisfaction was also found.

Keywords: laughter therapy, subjective happiness, life satisfaction, elderly

Our physical, social and cultural environments decide our attitude towards our health and health related behaviours. Different age groups show different kinds of health related behaviours, which could be positive or negative, or both. These health behaviours determine our health outcomes. Positive health behaviours promote healthy living patterns and attitudes.

Similarly, even in the elderly, a strong relationship has been seen between health beliefs and health behaviour changes (Ferrini, Edelstein, & Barrett-Connor, 1994).

Ageing is a natural and dynamic process which causes many physical, psychological and social transformations. After going through the innocence of childhood, the struggles of adolescence and adult life, the stagnation experienced at late adulthood, one finally reaches to reap the benefits of old age. Retirement from work life and perceived inactive social life, surplus time for various hobbies and activities can be the markers for this age. However, research has shown that many elders suffer from psychological disorders like depression, physical ailments like arthritis, hearing impairment and other illnesses. In India, the Union Health Ministry estimates that the people belonging to the 60 plus age group would increase to 100 million in 2013 and 198 million in 2030. It has been estimated that one elderly in every four suffers from depression. (India, 2012).

Perceived happiness and satisfaction is subjective. Life satisfaction may be defined as expectation and perceptions of outcomes for salient components of life such as social situations, relationships, self-worth and finances across multiple and broad domains and long time periods (Kane & Kane, 2000). Life satisfaction perspective helps to explain why people with differing life styles and values can successfully adapt to ageing (Rudinger & Thomae, 1990). Happiness is a major precursor to life satisfaction. Many factors can contribute towards dissatisfaction among the elderly. Retirement may lead to psychological and financial insecurities, ageing can cause growing physical ailments and cognitive impairments, and old age may make the elderly feel socially vulnerable and helpless. It has also been observed that ageing can bring negative changes in self-concept and life satisfaction, increase in emotionality and rise in frustration tolerance (Abrams, 1991).

Laughter therapy is a type of therapeutic intervention which uses humour to relieve the person off their psychological distress. One kind of laughter therapy was developed by Dr M. Kataria, an Indian physician, called Laughter Yoga (Hasya Yoga). It combines laughter with yoga, wherein laughter is elicited by body exercise in group. Real and fake laughter both can bring similar effect on the body (Kataria, 2005). Laughter therapy is cost effective and does not require any special place or preparations. It can be used as a complementary therapy with other psychopharmacological treatments. Research has also shown that laughter therapy helps in relaxation of muscles and decreased skeletal muscle tone (Paskind, 1932). During laughter, various muscles groups are activated for periods of seconds at a time, while the period immediately after the laugh leads to general muscle relaxation. Laughter may reduce stress and tension, enhance quality of life and produce a general sense of well-being (Berk & et al, 1989). Past research has shown considerable positive effect of laughter therapy on depression, insomnia and sleep quality of the elderly (Hae-Jin & Chang-Ho, 2011). Laughter therapy helps in eliminating negative strains and eliciting positive thoughts and attitudes which has a positive impact on the physiological health of the elderly. Humour therapy has helped create a positive effect on those elderly affected by depression (Hirsch, Junglas, & Konradt, 2010).

# Objective of the study

The present study aims to explore the benefits of Laughter Therapy. Its objective is to study the effect of humour as a therapeutic intervention on the overall perceived happiness and subjective wellbeing of the elderly. For the same, Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) and Subjective Happiness Scale (SHS) were used. The SWLS (Diener, Emmons, Larson, & Griffin, 1985) is a short 5 item instrument designed to measure global cognitive judgements of satisfaction with one's life. The SHS (Lyubomirsky & Lepper, 1999) is a 4 item scale designed to measure subjective happiness.

# Hypothesis of the study

The present research aimed to study the following hypotheses:

- "There will be no difference in the scores obtained by participants from the laughter therapy group and non laughter therapy group".
- "There will be no association between Subjective Happiness and Life Satisfaction".

Correspondence should be sent to Anuja Deshpande, Department of Psychology, Maniben, Nanavati Women's College, Mumbai

# Method

#### **Participants**

Quasi experimental design was used in this study. The sample (n=80) consisted of males and females above the age of 60 years from north Mumbai. 40 participants belonged to the Control Group who had no prior exposure to Laughter therapy. 40 participants belonged to Experimental Group, who had been practising Laughter therapy for past six months. The age group of the sample ranged from 60-75 years and the mean age obtained was 68.5. The kind of sampling used was Purposive, as the participants were sought from active laughter clubs and then Snowball sampling technique was employed to get other suitable respondents from amongst their acquaintances.

#### Instruments

The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) is a measure of life satisfaction developed by Ed Diener and colleagues (Diener, Emmons, Larson, & Griffin, 1985). Life satisfaction is one of three constructs which makes up subjective well-being. This 5 item scale allows individuals to rate their degree of agreement or disagreement on a 7 point Likert type scale for the stated questions. SWLS does not focus on specific areas such as loneliness, as it is intended to measure general/global satisfaction on a 7-point scale (1=Strongly disagree, 7=Strongly agree). A maximum score is 30 with the degree of life satisfaction increasing as the score increases. Score ranges from 5 to 9 exhibits someone who is 'extremely dissatisfied with life', 15 to 19 indicates 'slightly dissatisfied with life,' 21 to 25 indicates 'slightly satisfied' whereas a score of 26 to 30 represents 'high satisfaction'. A neutral point on the scale is located at a score of 20 and explains that the participant is neither satisfied nor dissatisfied with life.

*The Subjective Happiness Scale (SHS)* is a 4-item scale of global subjective happiness (Lyubomirsky & Lepper, 1999). Two items ask respondents to characterize themselves using both absolute ratings and ratings relative to peers, whereas the other two items offer brief descriptions of happy and unhappy individuals and ask respondents the extent to which each characterization describes them.

## Procedure

Before an informal interview, the participants' consent was taken and they were asked to fill the Satisfaction With Life Scale and the Subjective Happiness Scale. The participants were later debriefed.

# Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS ver 17.0 for Windows. We used Independent Student's t test and Pearson's c2 test to compare the dependent variables.

#### Results

The mean age of participants was  $\pm$  68.5, ranging between 62 to 75 years (Table 1). The mean of score of the participants from the Laughter therapy group on the SHS was 16.425 and SD of 3.92. The mean score of the participants from the Non Laughter therapy group on the SHS was 14.475 and SD of 2.73. The mean score of the participants from the Laughter therapy group on the SWLS was 24.875 and SD of 5.76. The mean score of the participants from the Non Laughter therapy group on the SWLS was 21.075 and SD of 3.61 (Table 2). The t value obtained for the SHS was 2.579, which was found to be significant at 0.012 levels (Table 3 a). The t value

obtained for SWLS was 3.533, which was found to be significant at 0.001 levels (Table 3 b). The correlation of the tests was found to be significant at 0.01 levels. Hence, the following null hypotheses, i.e. "There will be no difference in the scores obtained by participants from the laughter therapy group and non-laughter therapy group" and "There will be no association between Subjective Happiness and Life Satisfaction" were rejected.

Table 1: Baseline Age Characteristics of Participants

Age group	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
62-75	13	62	75	68.5	4.183

Table 2: Mean and SD scores of Laughter Therapy Group and Non Laughter Therapy Group

	n	Mean	SD
SHS (Laughter therapy Group)	40	16.425	3.921
SHS (Non Laughter therapy Group)	40	14.475	2.736
SWLS (Laughter therapy Group)	40	24.875	5.765
SWLS (Non Laughter therapy Group)	40	21.075	3.611

Table 3 (a): Happiness Scores Between Groups

	n	t	df	Signi.
Laughter therapy Group	40	2.579	78	0.012
Non Laughter therapy Group	40			

 Table 3 (b): Life Satisfaction Scores Between Groups

	n	t	df	Signi.
Laughter therapy Group	40	3.533	78	0.001
Non Laughter therapy Group	40			

# Discussion

The results obtained show replication of previous research done on the effect of Laughter therapy. Laughter therapy has been found to have beneficial effects on the cognitive, emotional and physical health of the elderly. Socio-emotional selectivity theory contends that while people may become better emotional regulators as they age, they do not necessarily have higher positive affect (Ehrlich & Isaacowitz, 1996). Subjective Wellbeing has both an affective and a cognitive component. The affective component of subjective wellbeing involves people's moods and emotions that represent their feelings about their current experiences. The cognitive component of subjective wellbeing is primarily an evaluation (or mental judgment) concerning how well one's life has turned out. This judgment reflects the degree to which people are satisfied with their lives (Diener, Lucas, & Smith, 1999). In gerontology, general subjective wellbeing has most often been assessed with measures of life satisfaction, happiness, and self-esteem. Decline in advanced old age to health related problems and illnesses that preclude typical functioning, cause older people to be less able to perform everyday tasks and activities. It is posited that lower levels of negative affect do not equate to increased subjective wellbeing. Laughter therapy is a natural, drugless way of healing, which utilises laughter exercises to help people with physical and mental illnesses. It encourages use of natural physiological process of laughter to release painful emotions of anger, anxiety and boredom. It is a cost effective therapy with minimal side effects. Present study was successful in replicating the past research on Laughter therapy and its effect.

#### Conclusion

The present study was able to establish the positive effects of Laughter therapy on the life satisfaction and subjective happiness of the elderly. The participants undergoing laughter therapy for past six months, showed better adjusted and higher sense of wellbeing and happiness, than participants who did not report using laughter therapy. However, the present study failed to consider the gender differences in the data obtained. Women under 45 years of age tend to be happier than men; however, older women are less happy (Inglehart, October 2002). Living arrangements can also have a strong impact on the subjective wellbeing of the elderly. Thus, spousal death, perceived sense of independence and control can affect the happiness and subjective wellbeing in older adults. The present research did not include a detail study of the frequency of participation in the laughter therapy of the participants from the Experimental group. Also, the informal interview preceding the questionnaire, did not acquire enough information regarding the mental status of the participants and whether they were indulging in any other alternative therapeutic interventions. The limitations to this study provide a pronounced prospect for further research.

#### References

Abrams, R. C. (1991). The Ageing Personality. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 1, 1-3.

Berk, L. S. (1989). Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful

laughter. American Journal of Medical Sciences, 298, 390-396.

- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larson, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction With Life Scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49, 71-75.
- Diener, E., Lucas, S. E., & Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective Wellbeing: Three Decades of Progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, 276-302.
- Ehrlich, B. S., & Isaacowitz, D. M. (1996). The Effect of Age on Positive and Negative Affect: A Developmental Perspective on Happiness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 133.
- Ferrini, R., Edelstein, S., & Barrett-Connor, E. (1994). The association between health beliefs and health behavior change in older adults. Retrieved from PubMed.gov: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8016025
- Hae-Jin, K., & Chang-Ho, Y. (2011). Effects of Laughter Therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community dwelling elderly. *Japan Geriatrics Society*.
- Hirsch, R., Junglas, K., & Konradt, B. (2010). Humor Therapy in the depressed elderly: results of an empirical study. Z Gerontol Geriatr.
- India, T. O. (2012, 02 12). 25% eldery population depressed. Retrieved from Times of India: http://articles.timesofindia.indiatimes.com/2012-02-12/india/31052085\_1\_ population-geriatric-clinics-urban-areas
- Inglehart, R. (October 2002). Gender, Ageing and Subjective Wellbeing. International Journal of Comparative Sociology, 3-5.
- Kane, L. R., & Kane, A. R. (2000). Assessing Older persons measures, meaning and practical applications. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Kataria, M. (2005). Laugh For No Reason. India: Madhuri International.
- Lyubomirsky, S., & Lepper, H. S. (1999). A measure of Subjective Happiness: Preliminary Reliability and Construct Validation. *Socia Indicators Research 46*, 137-155.
- Paskind, J. (1932). Effects of Laughter on Muscle Tone. Arch Neurol Psychiatry, 623-628.
- Rudinger, G., & Thomae, H. (1990). Coping and Life Satisfaction. In P. Baltes, & M. Baltes, Successful ageing: Perspectives from the behavioural sciences (pp. 265-295). New York: Cambridge University Press.

# New Zealand Study

Complementary Therapies in Medicine 37 (2018) 103-109

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



# Complementary Therapies in Medicine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ctim

# A comparison of the cardiovascular effects of simulated and spontaneous laughter



# Mikaela M. Law<sup>\*</sup>, Elizabeth A. Broadbent, John J. Sollers<sup>1</sup>

Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland, 1142, New Zealand

A R T I C L E I N F O	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Laughter Heart rate Heart rate variability Psychophysiology Simulated Spontaneous	<i>Objectives:</i> Laughter has long been regarded as beneficial for health, but the mechanisms are not clearly understood. The current study aimed to compare the acute cardiovascular effects of spontaneous and simulated laughter. <i>Design:</i> A mixed factorial experiment was performed to examine changes in cardiovascular variables in response to experimental tasks across conditions. <i>Interventions:</i> A sample of 72 participants were randomised to one of three 6 min interventions. Participants in the simulated laughter condition were asked to generate fake laughter, the spontaneous laughter condition viewed a humorous video, and the control condition watched a non-humorous documentary. This was followed by a laboratory stress task. <i>Main outcomes measures:</i> Heart rate and heart rate variability (as indexed by rMSSD) were monitored continuously throughout the experiment using ECG. <i>Results:</i> The simulated laughter condition had a significantly higher heart rate ( $p < .001$ , $\eta_p^2 = .26$ ) and lower rMSSD ( $p < .001$ , $\eta_p^2 = .13$ ) during the laughter task compared to the other two conditions. Follow-up hierarchical regressions indicated that the difference in heart rate was due to the fact that the simulated condition produced more laughter. The difference in rMSSD, however, was unique to the simulated condition even when controlling for the amount of laughter. The simulated laughter controlling amount of laughter produced. <i>Conclusions:</i> Laughter leads to increased heart rate and reduced heart rate variability, which is similar to the effects of exercise. This finding is more pronounced in simulated laughter.

#### 1. Introduction

In popular culture, laughter is perceived as being beneficial for one's health, and some research supports this. Different forms of laughter have been found to improve mood,<sup>1</sup> reduce depression,<sup>2</sup> improve immune function,<sup>3</sup> decrease pain,<sup>4</sup> and reduce stress hormone concentrations.<sup>5,6</sup> However, other studies have shown that laughter may be detrimental to people with particular health conditions in the short-term, including asthmatics.<sup>7</sup> and those with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease<sup>8</sup>

Research has focussed on two main types of laughter; simulated and spontaneous laughter.<sup>9</sup> Spontaneous laughter, commonly referred to as 'real' laughter, is triggered by external humorous stimuli, and occurs in the presence of positive emotions. Spontaneous laughter is unique as it elicits involuntary contractions of the orbicularis oculi muscles in the eye socket, a phenomena known as the Duchenne Smile.<sup>10</sup> In contrast,

simulated laughter is triggered by oneself at will and therefore is not elicited by humorous stimuli or positive emotions.<sup>9</sup> This form of laughter is commonly known as 'fake' or voluntary laughter and involves laughing on command. Simulated laughter can be performed by any individual using controlled vocal sounds (e.g. ha, he, ho) and is gaining popularity as a form of therapy.<sup>11</sup> For example, the Laughing Qigong Programme uses a combination of simulated laughter and qi-gong techniques as a standardised therapy which has been shown to improve mood and decrease stress markers.<sup>12</sup>

It has been theorised that laughter is beneficial because it is a form of aerobic exercise. Like exercise, laughter is stimulating: it increases heart rate and blood pressure, enhances immune functioning and exercises skeletal muscle.<sup>13</sup> Laughter activates internal oblique muscles to similar levels as crunches and back lifting exercises.<sup>14</sup> Laughter also consistently causes changes in respiration levels similar to exercise: lung volume decreases, respiration rate increases, and compression is

\* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2018.02.005

Received 11 January 2018; Received in revised form 1 February 2018; Accepted 15 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018 0965-2299/ © 2018 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail address: m.law@auckland.ac.nz (M.M. Law).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Present address: Department of Psychology, North Carolina Central University, Durham, NC 27707, United States.

applied to the airways.<sup>15</sup> The parallels drawn between laughter and exercise demonstrate a possibility that the health effects of laughter are merely due to exercise effects, rather than from anything unique to laughter. Therefore, the act of laughter itself is the critical component, even in the absence of humour.<sup>9</sup> This mechanism implies there is little need to distinguish between spontaneous and simulated laughter as both should produce the same physiological effects on the body.

A related theory is the Motion Creates Emotion Theory. Dr. Kataria, the founder of laughter yoga, argues that both simulated and spontaneous laughter can lead to the same physiological and psychological health benefits.<sup>16</sup> This theory states that while the human mind can tell the difference between simulated and spontaneous laughter, the human body cannot.<sup>10</sup> However, simulated and spontaneous laughter have never been compared within the same study.

An important indicator of how well the body responds to a stimulus, and in particular exercise, is heart rate (HR) and heart rate variability (HRV). HRV is the normal rhythmic variations in consecutive heart beats that index the cardiovascular system's ability to meet demands.<sup>17</sup> HRV represents both the sympathetic and parasympathetic effects on the heart. Stress or exercise triggers parasympathetic withdrawal and subsequently sympathetic activation. This leads to increased HR and decreased HRV as the underlying dynamic switches from inhibitory to excitatory dominance to allow the system to meet the challenge at hand.

The effects of laughter on the cardiovascular system have been investigated in only a few studies to date. Laughter produced by watching a humorous video increased sympathetic nervous system arousal as indexed by increased galvanic skin resistance, increased heart rate (HR) and decreased finger temperature.<sup>18</sup> Similarly, watching a humorous video produced a significant increase in HR and blood pressure, compared to watching a control video.<sup>19</sup> These studies demonstrate that laughter can produce changes in cardiovascular function.

To test the theory that both simulated and spontaneous laughter are forms of exercise that can stimulate the cardiovascular system similarly, this study aimed to compare the acute cardiovascular effects of simulated and spontaneous laughter. The study also compared the ability of these two types of laughter to buffer the cardiovascular stress response to a laboratory stress task. Lastly, the study investigated whether the effects observed were correlated with the amount of laughter produced. This final aim was included as past research on laughter has failed to actually correlate laughter with health outcomes.

It was hypothesised that simulated and spontaneous laughter would have similar cardiovascular effects (increased HR and decreased HRV) during the laughter task, and these cardiovascular responses would be significantly larger than the control condition. It was expected that the simulated and spontaneous laughter conditions would exhibit similar cardiovascular responses to the stress task but smaller cardiovascular responses (decreased HR and increased HRV) compared to the control condition. It was further hypothesised that the amount of laughter produced during the laughter task would predict the cardiovascular outcomes above and beyond the effect of condition and adding condition as a predictor would not significantly increase the amount of variance explained.

#### 2. Method

#### 2.1. Design

A 7 (task)  $\times$  3 (condition) mixed factorial experiment was performed to examine the acute changes in cardiovascular variables overtime in response to experimental tasks across conditions (spontaneous laughter vs. simulated laughter vs. control).

#### 2.2. Sample

A sample of 72 adults (48 female, 24 male; average age 24.15 years,

SE = 1.00) was recruited from advertisements to the general public and University students. Inclusion criteria were those aged 18–64 who could give informed consent. The exclusion criteria included: people with cardiovascular conditions, those taking regular medication which may affect the cardiovascular system, women who were pregnant, those with asthma and those with clinical depression or anxiety. Participants were randomised to one of the three conditions prior to the experimental setting on a 1:1:1 basis. The experimenter was not blinded to condition allocation.

Ethics Approval was granted by the University of Auckland Human Participants' Ethics Committee, and participant written informed consent was obtained.

#### 2.3. Cardiovascular measures

The primary outcome was cardiovascular functioning as measured by heart rate (HR, bpm) and heart rate variability (HRV). HR and HRV were continually measured throughout the experiment using a standard 3-lead ECG attached to the participants chest. Data was collected using Mindware Bio lab 3.02 software with a 1000 Hz sampling rate and was analysed using Kubios HRV version 2.2 software. Root Mean Square of the Successive Differences (rMSSD) was used as an index of vagallymediated HRV, which was calculated by analysing the intervals between the R-Spikes during each time period. rMSSD reflects the parasympathetic activity on the heart, as opposed to an overall measure of HRV.

#### 2.4. Laughter intensity and frequency scale (LIFS)

The amount of laughter produced by each participant was observationally coded to check whether the changes in the cardiovascular variables were correlated with the actual occurrence of laughter as this has been a limitation in past laughter research. A systematic coding schedule was designed, the Laughter Intensity and Frequency Scale (LIFS), adapted from Bennett's<sup>20</sup> Humour Response Scale, with more clearly operationalised definitions of laughter<sup>21</sup> Each participant was rated by the lead researcher on two separate scales for intensity (0 = no laughter to 3 = nearly continuous laughter) and frequency (0 = no laughter to 3 = belly laughter) at the end of each one minute period. Scores for each minute were totalled for each scale to get an overall intensity and frequency scale out of 18. These scores for each scale were then combined to give an overall score for the six minutes ranging from 0 to 36. The full scale is provided in the Appendix A.

#### 2.5. Procedure

All participants were asked to avoid exercise, alcohol, tobacco and caffeine the 24 h before the experiment and to refrain from eating and drinking two hours prior. Participants were seated in front of a computer which prompted the experimental tasks. The procedure is shown in Fig. 1. During the resting periods, participants were asked to sit as still as possible and not to move, talk or close their eyes, in order to measure resting cardiovascular activity.

During the intervention period, participants were asked to perform a task, specific to their allocated condition which lasted six minutes. The participant's responses to the task were video-recorded for later analysis. Those in the simulated laughter condition were instructed to generate as much simulated laughter as they could for six minutes. Participants in the spontaneous laughter condition viewed a six minute stand-up comedy routine on video. Lastly, participants in the control condition viewed a six minute documentary on Paua farming which was deemed by the researcher to be interesting, yet emotionally neutral.

After their assigned intervention, participants were exposed to a shortened version of the Trier Social Stress Test (TSST).<sup>22</sup> Participants were given three minutes to prepare and three minutes to present a speech to convince the experimenter to give them their dream job.



Fig. 1. Flow chart showing the procedure of the study.

Participants were told their speech would be recorded and that a panel of judges would review it and award the best speech with a \$100 voucher.

Lastly, participants read an affectively neutral document (a set of washing instructions) out-loud for three minutes as a manipulation check to ensure the physiological and psychological responses caused by the TSST were due to the stressful nature of the task as opposed to just the effect of speaking.<sup>23</sup>

#### 2.6. Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using IBM SPSS Statistics 22. Mixed factorial

ANOVAs were completed to analyse the interaction and main effects of task (baseline, laughter task, laughter recovery, speech preparation, speech presentation and reading) and condition (simulated, spontaneous and control) on HR and rMSSD.

rMSSD violated the assumption of normality for ANOVAs and therefore was transformed using a natural log transformation and logged values were used in analyses. All tests were reported using the Greenhouse-Geisser adjustment due to violations in sphericity.<sup>24</sup> All significant interaction effects were followed up using simple pairwise comparisons with bonferroni corrections.

A 3-step hierarchical regression was conducted for all significant interactions to determine the amount of variance predicted by both the

 Table 1

 Summary of Demographic and Baseline Characteristics of Participants across Condition.

Baseline variable	Simulated	Spontaneous	Control	p-value
Age (years) M(SE) Gender (%)	27.25(2.21)	21.54(0.71)	23.67(1.77)	.060 <sup>a</sup> .472 <sup>b</sup>
Female	16(67%)	14(58%)	18(75%)	
Male	8(33%)	10(42%)	6(25%)	
Ethnicity (%)				.118 <sup>b</sup>
NZ European/Pakeha	10(14%)	6(8%)	13(18%)	
Non-European/Other	14(20%)	18(25%)	11(15%)	
BMI M(SE)	25.15(1.33)	22.83(0.80)	23.71(0.71)	.251 <sup>a</sup>
Alcohol (drinks/week)M (SE)	3.17(0.80)	0.71(0.34)	2.17(0.53)	.016 <sup>a</sup>
Caffeine (cups/day) M(SE)	1.70(0.42)	0.79(0.23)	1.00(0.26)	.108 <sup>a</sup>
Sleep (hours/night) M(SE)	7.13(0.16)	7.42(0.20)	7.79(0.19)	.045 <sup>a</sup>
Base HR (bpm) M(SE)	73.75(2.51)	77.78(2.39)	78.10(2.31)	.383 <sup>a</sup>
Base rMSSD (ms) M(SE)	37.69(4.15)	42.32(6.14)	43.75(4.38)	.773 <sup>a</sup>

Note: M = Mean, SE = Standard error, % = percentage of participants in that category. P-value was calculated by one-way ANOVAs<sup>a</sup> and Chi-square tests<sup>b.</sup>

amount and type of laughter. In the first step of the model, covariates known to affect the cardiovascular system were included, including BMI, alcohol, age, gender and exercise. The second step included the LIFS scores to determine the variance in the outcome predicted by the amount of laughter produced. In the third step, condition was included to determine if the type of laughter task predicted any further variance on top of the amount of laughter. Due to the categorical nature of the conditions, condition was dummy coded before being added into the analysis. A p value of .05 was maintained.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Baseline characteristics

A shown in Table 1, significant group differences at baseline were found for sleep, ( $F_{(2,68)} = 3.24$ , p = .045) and alcohol consumption ( $F_{(2,69)} = 4.38$ , p = .016). The group differences in the average amount of alcohol consumed per week was moderate to large and previous research has found that alcohol can have a large effect on cardiovas-cular reactivity.<sup>25</sup> Therefore, alcohol consumption was included as a covariate in all remaining analyses. The analyses were repeated with sleep as an additional covariate, but this made no difference to the significance of the results, and for reasons of simplicity, analyses are reported without sleep as a covariate.

#### 3.2. Manipulation checks

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to examine whether scores on the LIFS differed across conditions. Significant group differences were found for LIFS score ( $F_{(2,69)} = 139.30$ , p < .001). The control condition (M = 0.13, SE = 0.61) had significantly lower mean LIFS score

Table	2
-------	---

Summary Statistics and Post-hoc Comparisons for Cardiovascular Variables across Tasks Averaged across Groups.

than both the simulated (M = 28.21, SE = 1.29, p < .001) and spontaneous conditions (M = 12.00, SE = 1.61, p < .001). The simulated condition had a significantly higher mean LIFS score than the spontaneous condition (p < .001).

As another manipulation check, a series of simple Pearson's correlations were conducted in order to check whether changes in the cardiovascular variables were correlated with LIFS scores, irrespective of condition. Both mean HR (r = .48, p < .001) and rMSSD (r = -.38, p = .001) during the laughter task were significantly correlated with LIFS scores.

#### 3.3. Differences across conditions

A series of 3(condition) × 7(task) mixed factorial ANCOVAs were conducted to evaluate the effects of condition and task on HR and lnrMSSD whilst controlling for the effect of alcohol. No significant main effects were observed for the effect of condition on HR ( $F_{(2,68)} = 0.39$ , p = .677,  $\eta_p^2 = .01$ ) or lnrMSSD ( $F_{(2,68)} = 1.23$ , p = .30,  $\eta_p^2 = .03$ ). Significant main effects of task were found for HR ( $F^{3,200}$ ) = 56.90, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .46$ ) and lnrMSSD ( $F_{(4,261)} = 10.24$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .13$ ). Means, standard errors and post-hoc comparisons between the tasks for each cardiovascular variable are provided in Table 2.

As shown in Fig. 2, there was a significant interaction effect on HR while controlling for the effects of alcohol ( $F_{(6,200)} = 15.74$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .32$ ). Follow-up comparisons indicated significant differences between conditions during the laughter task ( $F_{(2,68)} = 11.85$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .26$ ). The simulated condition (M = 91.14, SE = 2.47) had a significantly higher HR during the laughter task than both the spontaneous (M = 77.73, SE = 2.50, p = .001) and control conditions (M = 75.29, SE = 2.41, p < .001). The spontaneous and control conditions did not significantly differ from each other in mean HR during the laughter task.

The conditions also significantly differed in mean HR during speech presentation ( $F_{(2,68)} = 4.52$ , p = .0.14,  $\eta_p^2 = .12$ ). The simulated laughter condition had a significantly lower mean HR during the speech presentation (M = 85.70, SE = 2.77) than both the spontaneous (M = 96.75, SE = 2.79, p = .024) and control conditions (M = 95.26, SE = 2.70, p = .046). The spontaneous and control conditions did not significantly differ from each other. The other tasks did not show any significant differences in mean HR across conditions.

As can be seen in Fig. 3, a significant interaction effect for task and condition on lnrMSSD was observed ( $F_{(8,261)} = 5.02$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .13$ ). Follow-up ANCOVAs demonstrated that the conditions differed significantly in lnrMSSD during the laughter task only ( $F_{(2,68)} = 9.61$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .22$ ), with the simulated condition having significantly lower mean lnrMSSD during the laughter task (M = 3.02, SE = 0.12) than both the spontaneous (M = 3.57, SE = 0.12, p = .005) and control conditions (M = 3.70, SE = 0.11, p < .001). The spontaneous and control conditions did not differ (p > .05).

	1			5	-			
Task		Baseline	Laughter task	Laughter recovery	Speech preparation	Speech presentation	Speech recovery	Reading
Cardiovascular Variables	HR(bpm) M (SE)	76.76(1.37) <sup>b**d**e**g**</sup>	81.39(1.39) a**c**d*e**f**	75.63(1.25) <sup>b**d**e**g**</sup>	86.19(1.48) a**b*c**e**f**8**	92.57(1.56) a**b**c**d**f**8**	75.21(1.20) <sup>b**d**e**g**</sup>	79.67(1.16) a**c**d**e**f**
	rMSSD(ms) M(SE)	39.88(2.73) d*e**f*	36.67(2.60) c*e*f**	41.57(3.07) b*d*e**	33.55(2.31) <sup>a*c*f**g*</sup>	28.94(1.75) a**b*c**f**g**	44.92(3.43) a*b*d**e**g*	36.86(1.95) d*e**f*
	lnrMSSD M (SE)	3.53(0.07) d*e**f*	3.43(0.07) <sup>c*e*f**</sup>	3.57(0.07) <sup>b*d*e**</sup>	3.37(0.06) <sup>a*c*f**g*</sup>	3.24(0.06) a**b*c**f**g**	3.64(0.07) a*b*d**e**g*	3.51(0.05) d*e**f*

Note: a = different to baseline, b = different to laughter task, c = different to laughter recovery, d = different to speech preparation, e = different to speech presentation, f = different to speech recovery, g = different to reading, \*p < .05, \*\*p < .001

Note: Values for rMSSD variables have been reported as both absolute and log values. This is due to the fact that rMSSD was positively skewed and thus have been logged transformed for analysis.



Fig. 2. Mean HR across tasks split by condition

#### 3.4. Regressions

A hierarchical regression assessed the effect of LIFS score and condition on mean HR during the laughter task. Step 1 of the regression model (containing the known covariates of BMI, alcohol, age, gender and exercise) was not significant  $(F_{(5,66)} = 2.13, p = .073, R^2 = .14)$ . Step 2 (with the addition of LIFS score) was significant ( $F_{(6,65)} = 6.61$ ,  $p < .001, R^2 = .38, \Delta R^2 = .24$ ) explaining 38% of the variance in mean HR during the laughter task. LIFS score was a significant predictor when controlling for known covariates (b = 0.53,  $\beta = .51$ , t.<sup>65</sup> = 5.01, p < .001). This indicates that a higher LIFS score predicted higher HR during the laughter task. Step 3 of the model (with the addition of condition) was significant ( $F_{(8,63)} = 6.56, p < .001, R^2 = .45$ ) explaining 45% of the variance in mean HR during the laughter task. However, neither dummy variable was found to significantly predict any variance in mean HR during the laughter task when controlling for the known covariates and LIFS scores (ps > .05). This indicates that condition did not significantly explain any further variance in HR when controlling for the amount of laughter produced.

Another hierarchical regression analysed the effects of LIFS score and condition on mean HR during speech presentation. Step 1 (containing known covariates) was significant ( $F_{(5,66)} = 3.22$ , p = .012,  $R^2 = .20$ ) indicating that the covariates predicted 20% of the variance in mean HR. Step 2 (with the addition of LIFS score) was also significant ( $F_{(6,65)} = 3.26$ , p = .007,  $R^2 = .23$ ) explaining 23% of the variance in mean HR during speech presentation. However, LIFS score was not a significant predictor when controlling for the covariates (b = -0.21,  $\beta = -.19$ ,  $t^{65} = -1.72$ , p = .090). Therefore, the amount of laughter produced by each participant was not a significant predictor of mean HR during speech presentation. Step 3 (with condition) was significant ( $F_{(8,63)} = 2.72$ , p = .012,  $R^2 = .26$ ) explaining 26% of the variance in mean HR during speech presentation. However, condition did not significantly predict any variance in mean HR during speech presentation when controlling for known covariates and LIFS scores (ps < .05).

A third hierarchical regression was conducted to examine the effects of LIFS score and condition on lnrMSSD during the laughter task. Step 1 of the model (containing known covariates) was not significant  $(F_{(5,66)} = 1.56, p = .183, R^2 = .11)$ . Step 2 (with the addition of LIFS score) was significant ( $F_{(6,65)} = 3.64, p = .004, R^2 = .25$ ) explaining 25% of the variance in lnrMSSD during the laughter task. LIFS score was a significant predictor of lnrMSSD when controlling for the effects of the covariates (b = -0.02,  $\beta = -.40$ ,  $t^{65} = -3.56$ , p = .001). A 1 point increase in LIFS score predicts a 0.02 unit decrease in lnrMSSD. Adding LIFS score to the regression model explained a further 18% of variance in lnrMSSD during the laughter task ( $\Delta R^2 = .18$ ). This finding indicates that the amount of laughter produced in the laughter task predicted a decrease in rMSSD. Step 3 (with the addition of condition) was significant ( $F_{(8,63)} = 34.00, p = .001, R^2 = .34$ ) explaining 34% of the variance in lnrMSSD during the laughter task. The simulated dummy variable was found to be a significant predictor when controlling for the covariates and LIFS score (b = -0.80,  $\beta = -.61$ ,  $t^{63} = -2.29$ , p = .026). The simulated condition had 0.80 units of lnrMSSD lower than the control condition during the laughter task when controlling for covariates and LIFS scores. The spontaneous group



Fig. 3. Mean lnrMSSD across tasks split by condition.

was not a significant predictor (b = -0.10,  $\beta = -.08$ ,  $t^{63} = -0.49$ , p = .626). Adding condition to the model explained an additional 9% of variance in lnrMSSD during the laughter task ( $\Delta R^2 = .09$ ). This step indicates that condition explains further variance in lnrMSSD during the laughter task when controlling for known covariates and the amount of laughter produced.

#### 4. Discussion

This study hypothesised that the cardiovascular effects of spontaneous and simulated laughter would be the same. Contrary to this hypothesis, simulated laughter resulted in a larger increase in HR and decrease in rMSSD than spontaneous laughter. It was also hypothesised that both forms of laughter would attenuate the stress response compared to a control condition. However, only the simulated laughter condition had an attenuated stress response to the TSST as represented by a smaller increase in HR than the other two conditions.

The amount of laughter produced was higher in the simulated laughter condition, and significantly predicted both HR and rMSSD. It was shown that simulated laugher increased HR more than spontaneous laughter because of the amount of laughter produced. However, the effects of simulated laughter on rMSSD were not fully explained by the differences in laughter production. During the stress task, neither the amount nor type of laughter were significant predictors of HR or rMSSD. These findings only partially support the hypothesis that the amount of laughter would predict the cardiovascular outcomes and adding condition as a predictor would not augment the predicted variance.

It appears that during laughter, the intensity and frequency of laughter increases the body's energy expenditure causing an elevated HR, akin to the effects of exercise.<sup>26</sup> It is known that the more exercise produced, the greater the cardiovascular changes that will occur.<sup>27</sup>This suggests that if the spontaneous laughter task was performed at the same frequency and intensity as the simulated laughter task, a similar increase in HR could be expected. Past research on laughter's effects on HR has only considered the effect of spontaneous laughter. For example, Averill<sup>18</sup> and Sugawara and colleagues<sup>19</sup> found that spontaneous laughter acutely increased HR. The results of this study add to previous research by suggesting that simulated laughter may have stronger effects on HR and HRV than spontaneous laughter, and the reduction in rMSSD may not be solely due to the amount of laugher produced. More research is needed to corroborate these findings.

A stress buffering effect of laughter was observed; the simulated laughter condition appeared to have an attenuated increase in HR in response to the TSST. However, this finding could not be explained by either group allocation or LIFS scores. This finding could be explained by the law of initial values which states that the extent of a physiological response is dependent on the initial level of that response<sup>28</sup> The simulated condition had significantly increased HR during the laughter task. As the heart was already working hard during the laughter period; the physiological stress response from the TSST may have been blunted. Past research into the stress buffering effects of laughter has only explored how laughter leads to a reduction in circulating stress hormone levels.<sup>5,6</sup>

There is a natural relationship between HR and HRV called cycle-

#### Appendix A. Laughter and Intensity Frequency Scale (LIFS)

#### Laughter and Intensity Frequency Scale (LIFS)

length-dependence, which could partially explain the decreases in rMSSD which accompanied the increases in HR.<sup>29</sup> However, during the speech task, rMSSD did not decrease alongside the increase in HR, suggesting that there is an effect of laughter on HRV beyond cycle-length-dependence.

These findings do not support the Motion Creates Emotion Theory, as differences in cardiovascular effects of spontaneous and simulated laugher were observed that could not be fully explained by the amount of laugher produced. The findings, however, do support the theory that laughter acts on the cardiovascular system in a similar way to physical exercise. Laughter increased HR and decreased rMSSD, as would be expected by exercise. As the amount of laughter produced increased, so did the changes in the cardiovascular variables. This study has several limitations. The sample was young and mainly derived from University students and the results may not generalise outside this population. The laboratory setting limited the ecological validity of the task. It is also likely the participants in the simulated condition found it uncomfortable laughing in a laboratory room in front of a camera. This may have increased stress and embarrassment and therefore minimised the effects observed and may be another possible explanation for the increased HR in this group. Further research could remove the camera to reduce this possibility or measure embarrassment as a possible mediator.

More research is needed to fully elucidate the mechanisms behind the effects of laughter on cardiovascular variables. Future research could also examine whether there are any long-lasting effects on the body caused by the accumulated effects of laughter from multiple sessions over time, rather than just one short session. A replication of this study with a patient group could also extend the generalisability of the results to patient samples.

#### 5. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study provides initial evidence that simulated laughter produces stronger cardiovascular responses than spontaneous laughter. The findings support the theory that laughter acts as a form of exercise, with more frequent and intense laughter producing a greater exercise effect on the body as indicated by increased HR and decreased rMSSD.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors state no conflict of interest.

#### Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all the study participants for their participation in the study. A special thanks also to Anel Kieser and Kaula Knoche for their input with the design of the study.

Rate each subject's responses in 1 min time intervals across the 6 min period of time using the 2 scales below. Total the 6 ratings in each scale to get an estimate of both the intensity and frequency of laughter. An overall laughter score can then be determined by combining the totalled frequency and intensity scores.

#### Laughter Frequency Scale

- 0 = No laughter
- 1 = Rare laughter (4 or less laughs)
- 2 =Intermittent laughter
- 3 = Nearly continuous laughter

#### Laughter Intensity Scale

- 0 = No laughter
- 1 = Giggle/snicker (first emergence of laughter sound but still controllable)
- 2 = Laugh (involves facial and thoracic muscles and originates within the chest)
- 3 = Belly laughter or other involuntary body responses alongside laughter

Subject Number	Scale	0–1:00	1:00-2:00	2:00-3:00	3:00-4:00	4:00-5:00	5:00-6:00	Scale Total	Overall Total
	Frequency								
	Intensity								
	Frequency								
	Intensity								
	Frequency								
	Intensity								

#### References

- Foley E, Matheis R, Schaefer C. Effect of forced laughter on mood. *Psychol Rep.* 2002;90(1):184.
- Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, et al. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011;26(3):322–327.
- Dillon KM, Minchoff B, Baker KH. Positive emotional states and enhancement of the immune system. Int J Psychiatry Med. 1985;15(1):13–18.
- Cogan R, Cogan D, Waltz W, McCue M. Effects of laughter and relaxation on discomfort thresholds. J Behav Med. 1987;10(2):139–144.
- Berk LS, Tan SA, Fry WF, et al. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. Am J Med Sci. 1989;298(6):390–396.
- Toda M, Kusakabe S, Nagasawa S, Kitamura K, Morimoto K. Effect of laughter on salivary endocrinological stress marker chromogranin A. *Biomed Res.* 2007;28(2):115–118.
- Liangas G, Morton JR, Henry RL. Mirth-triggered asthma: is laughter really the best medicine? *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2003;36(2):107–112.
- 8. Lebowitz KR, Suh S, Diaz PT, Emery CF. Effects of humor and laughter on psychological functioning, quality of life, health status, and pulmonary functioning among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a preliminary investigation. *Heart Lung J Acute Crit Care.* 2011;40(4):310–319.
- Mora-Ripoll R. The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine. Altern Ther Health Med. 2010;16(6):56–64.
- Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: a narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Complement Ther Med.* 2011;19(3):170–177.
- Heo EH, Kim S, Park H, Kil SY. The effects of a simulated laughter programme on mood, cortisol levels, and health-related quality of life among haemodialysis patients. *Complement Ther Clin Pract.* 2016;25:1–7.
- Chang C, Tsai G, Hsieh C. Psychological, immunological and physiological effects of a Laughing Qigong Program (LQP) on adolescents. *Complement Ther Med.* 2013;21(6):660–668.
- Mahony DL, Burroughs WJ, Lippman LG. Perceived attributes of health-promoting laughter: a cross-generational comparison. J Psychol. 2002;136(2):171–181.

- Wagner H, Rehmes U, Kohle D, Laughing Puta C. A demanding exercise for trunk muscles. J Mot Behav. 2014;46(1):33–37.
- Filippelli M, Pellegrino R, Iandelli I, et al. Respiratory dynamics during laughter. J Appl Physiol. 2001;90(4):1441–1446.
- Woodbury-Fariña MA, Schwabe MMR. Laughter yoga benefits of mixing laughter and yoga. J Yoga Phys Ther. 2015;5(4):1.
- Tarvainen M, Niskanen J. Kubios HRV analysis. Biosignal Analysis and Medical Imaging Group (BSAMIG). 2006; 2006:109.
- Averill JR. Autonomic response patterns during sadness and mirth. *Psychophysiology*. 1969;5(4):399–414.
- Sugawara J, Tarumi T, Tanaka H. Effect of mirthful laughter on vascular function. Am J Cardiol. 2010;106(6):856–859.
- 20. Bennett MP. Humor Response Scale. Nursing Faculty Publications; 2003:10.
- Berk LS, Felten DL, Tan SA, Bittman BB, Westengard J. Modulation of neuroimmune parameters during the eustress of humor-associated mirthful laughter. *Altern Ther Health Med.* 2001;7(2):62–76.
- Kirschbaum C, Pirke KM, Hellhammer DH. The 'Trier Social Stress Test'-a tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting. *Neuropsychobiology*. 1993;28(1–2):76–81.
- Hartley TR, Lovallo WR, Whitsett TL. Cardiovascular effects of caffeine in men and women. Am J Cardiol. 2004;93(8):1022–1026.
- Vasey MW, Thayer JF. The continuing problem of false positives in repeated measures ANOVA in psychophysiology: a multivariate solution. *Psychophysiology*. 1987;24(4):479–486.
- Zeichner A, Edwards P, Cohen E. Acute effects of alcohol on cardiovascular reactivity to stress in college-age type A (coronary prone) individuals. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. 1985;7(1):75–89.
- Buchowski MS, Majchrzak KM, Blomquist K, Chen KY, Byrne DW, Bachorowski JA. Energy expenditure of genuine laughter. *Int J Obes*. 2007;31(1):131–137.
- La Gerche A, Prior DL. Exercise—is it possible to have too much of a good thing? Heart Lung Circ. 2007;16(Suppl. 3):S104.
- 28. Wilde J. Stimulus and response. The law of initial value. Elsevier; 2014.
- McCraty R, Shaffer F. Heart rate variability: new perspectives on physiological mechanisms, assessment of self-regulatory capacity, and health risk. *Glob Adv Health Med.* 2015;4(1):46–61.

# Slovenian Study

Simona Krebs, Špela Stanegler Herodež, Majda Pajnkihar: COMMUNICATIONAL METHOD OF IMPACT OF "EXERCISE OF LAU-GHTER YOGA" ON THE ELDERLY BEHAVIOUR

Informatol. 47, 2014., 2-3, 135-144

INFO- 2113 Primljeno / Received: 2014-02-13 UDK: 659.1: 82/899-7:796.41:001 Prethodno priopćenje/Preliminary Communication

# COMMUNICATIONAL METHOD OF IMPACT OF "EXERCISE OF LAUGHTER YOGA" ON THE ELDERLY BEHAVIOUR

# KOMUNIKATIVNA METODA UTJECAJA "VJEŽBANJA JOGE SMIJEHA" NA PONAŠANJE STARIJIH OSOBA

Simona Krebs<sup>1</sup>, Špela Stanegler Herodež<sup>2</sup>, Majda Pajnkihar<sup>3</sup>

International Institute for laughter, Maribor, Slovenia<sup>1</sup>; UKC Maribor, Slovenia<sup>2</sup> ; Faculty of Health Sciences, Maribor, Slovenia<sup>3</sup> Međunarodni institut za smijeh, Maribor, Slovenija<sup>1</sup>; UKC Maribor, Slovenija<sup>2</sup>; Fakultet medicinskih znanosti, Maribor, Slovenija<sup>3</sup>

### Abstract

Watching the entertaining facilities is one of the effective methods of promoting laughter, which in turn affects the blood pressure values and wellbeing. The purpose of the study was to determine how laughter yoga, which does not depend on understanding humor, effect on blood pressure and well-being.

Research Methodology: In this study, we used the technique of promoting laughter, called laughter yoga which does not depend on understanding humor. It includes respiratory-laughing fun exercises that encourage laughter very quickly. The study involved fifty-two randomly selected volunteers whose average age was 52.5 years. Volunteers were based on a questionnaire on health divided into those who take medications and those who do not. Their well-being, before and after exercise, was assessed using non-standardized numerical nine-stage questionnaire with a scale of 1 to 10. Research was conducted in 2012 in the Laughter yoga club in Maribor, once a week for sixty minutes (ten weeks).

Results: The results showed that laughter yoga has statistically significant effect on the level of blood pressure by volunteers who did not take any medications (N = 41; systolic: 7.73% (p <0.0001), diastolic: 5.83% (p <0.0001)). In volunteers who took medications (N = 11), we observed a drop decrease in the value, without statistically significant differences (systolic: 2.70% (p = 0.86), diastolic: 1.41% (p = 0, 25)). Statistically significant differences (p <0.05) were observed in the average change in enthusiasm, optimism, connectivity, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness, the ability to laugh for no reason. The biggest change was measured in the sense of stress after laughter yoga exercise (60%). Conclusion: From presented results we can conclude

#### Sažetak

Gledanje zabavnih sadržaja je jedna od najučinkovitijih metoda promicanja smijeha, što pak utječe na vrijednosti krvnog tlaka i blagostanje. Svrha istraživanja bila je utvrditi kakav učinak na krvni tlak i blagostanje ima joga smijeha, koja ne ovisi o razumijevanju humora.

Metodologija: U ovom istraživanju smo koristili tehniku promicanje smijeh, zvanu joga smijeha koja ne ovisi o razumijevanju humora. To uključuje respiratorno-smiješne zabavne vježbe koje vrlo brzo potiču smijeh. U studiji je sudjelovalo pedeset dva nasumično odabrana volontera čija je prosječna dob 52,5 godine. Volonteri su, na temelju upitnika o zdravlju, podijeljeni na one koji uzimaju lijekove i one koji to ne čine. Njihova dobrobit, prije i nakon vježbanja, procijenjena je pomoću nestandardiziranog upitnika sa devet faza i skalom od 1 do 10. Istraživanje je provedeno 2012. u Yoga klubu smijeha u Mariboru, jednom tjedno u šezdeset minuta (deset tjedana).

Rezultati: Rezultati su pokazali da joga smijeha ima statistički značajan utjecaj na razinu krvnog tlaka kod volontera koji nisu uzimali nikakve lijekove (N = 41; sistolički: 7,73% (p <0,0001), dijastolički: 5,83% (p <0.0001). Kod volontera koji su uzimali lijekove (N = 11), primjetili smo pad pad vrijednosti, bez statistički značajnih razlika (sistolički: 2,70% (p = 0,86), dijastolički: 1,41% (p = 0, 25)). Statistički značajne razlike (p <0,05) zabilježene su u prosječnoj promjeni entuzijazma, optimizma, povezivosti, razini energije, raspoloženju, opuštanju mišića, svjesnosti disanja, sposobnost da se smije bez razloga. Najveća promjena je izmjerena u smislu stresa nakon vježbanja joge smijehom (60%).

Zaključak: Iz dobivenih rezultata može se zaključiti da joga smijeha može biti učinkovita adjunktivna metoda za prevenciju povišenog krvnog tlaka kod

135

that laughter yoga may be an effective adjunctive method for the prevention of high blood pressure in those who did not take any medications. For those who took them, it will be necessary to do further research on a larger number of people and to examine the influence of drugs. By all volunteers we observed a positive and statistically significant changes (p <0.05) in well-being. Most stood out the stress reduction (60.32%).

# INTRODUCTION

According to the World Health Organization /1/ chronic diseases (heart disease, stroke, cancer, diabetes and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) are the leading cause of death in the world, representing 63% of all deaths. Cardiovascular diseases, according to the WHO, are in a great advantage, because 17.3 million people per year die of them, that represents 30% of all deaths. The data in Slovenia is not more optimistic. Institute of Public Health /2/ lists the information that in year 2010 compared to the year 2009, died in Slovenia 3% more people with cardiovascular diseases, that means 40% of all deaths. In view of these facts which confirm that chronic diseases in the world and in Slovenia are on the rise, some scientific articles by various authors (Bennett, 2003; Bennett, & Lengacher, 2006a, 2006b, 2009; Berk et al ., 1977; Fry, & Savin, 1988; Lefcourt, Davidson - Katz & Kueneman, 1990, Miller, & Fry, 2009) demonstrate the impact of humor and laughter on health and well-being . Norman Cousins described in his book Anatomy of an Illness as prescribed by the patient /3/ the power of laughter on the basis of his own experiences. He has facilitated his disease with thirty minutes of laughter, high doses of vitamin C and at least two hours of sleeping. This magic combination helps him to relieve pain and strengthen faith in life.

A new method of promoting laughter, called Laughter yoga /4/, has already been implemented in more than seventy countries around the world. It is a combination of laugh-breathing exercises. In this study, we focused to measure the impact of Laughter yoga on blood pressure and well-being of participants in a free laughter yoga club, which operates once a week. Many of the literature reflect a positive and scientifically proven effect of laughter and humor on well-being in many chronic diseases which include high blood pressure /5/.

onih koji nisu uzimali nikakve lijekove. Za one koji su ih uzimali, biti će potrebno napraviti daljnja istraživanja na većem broju ljudi te istražiti utjecaj lijekova. Kod svih dobrovoljaca bilježimo pozitivne i statistički značajne promjene (p <0,05) u blagostanju. Najviše se isticalo smanjenje stresa (60.32%).

Laughter is also a form of aerobic exercise. Mc. Irrespective of all, the existing results speak about the positive effects of laughter and almost no results talk about its side effects. Also interesting is the statement by the gentleman who had cancer and was told that because of the anger, reactions and depression in relation to his diagnosis he became very unpleasant for him-self and the surrounding area. Now, is he due to laughing therapy much more open to new ideas, he is also kinder to others and within him-self even slightly stronger. Laughter for no reason or Laughter yoga /6/ is not well known in our society and is a relatively new method, which some accepted, others not. Hasan, H., & Hasan, TF /7/ in their study found a statistically significant connection between personal satisfaction and the ability to laugh, which means that the people who were laughing, were emotionally more satisfied. The effects of laughter on the disease and well-being were also written by the Cousins /8/ and Adams & Mylander /9/. Cousins effectively influences his illness with a regular activity of laughter in different ways (humor, laugh like that, video funnies) as specific therapy. Adams's in his Gesundheit Clinic introduces a method of laughter and humor as an important complementary technique in the treatment of patients. He argues that positive attitude and laughter play a significant effect on attitude to the disease and relationship to the medical staff. Bennett et al. /10/, /11/, /12/, /13/, /14/ describe the importance of laughter for wellbeing, which in turn may also affect treatment. Returning to stress, which can cause many diseases, it can be seen in the literature review, that laughter reduces stress hormones and stimulates the immune system (Berk et al., 1989; Lefcourt, Davidson - Katz & Kueneman, 1990; Kataria, 2002; Bennett et al., 2003). If we feel better, we are optimistic, we have a higher level of energy, less stress, more relaxed muscles and we are more excited. In our body are triggered biochemical

processes that may affect our mental and physical health /15/, /16/. Berk et al. /17/ poin out that laughing reduces stress hormones, such as epinephrine, cortisol, noradrenaline, which may affect a number of disease complications, as for example, in cardiovascular diseases /18/ and type 2 diabetes /19/, and to have feelings of great importance in the development of many diseases /20/. Kataria /21/, who was developed this technique together with his wife, on the basis of scientific papers concluded that our body does not distinguish between sincere and done laughing. Endorphins are released with both. And because the laughter yoga is a combination of a beautiful smile-playful exercises, which include breathing /22/, and because we do not need a reason for it, the result is, viewed from the point of view that the people were more able to laugh for no reason after the exercise, extremely positive. Nowadays, this technique is somewhat unusual, because we all are used to laugh with a reason - laugh for no reason with exercises, can make by adult unserious impression and for many people this is inappropriate. For this reason, the exercise in group is much easier because individual is more easily drawn into the action.

# METHODOLOGY

In this study, we used the technique of promoting laughter, called Laughter yoga, which does not depend on the understanding of humor, but includes breathing - laughing fun exercises, which quickly lead to laughter. The study included randomly selected volunteers who attend the Laughter Yoga Club in Maribor. They have signed the statement on the participation and completed a questionnaire on health, through whom we wish to know the health status of volunteers. In this study we also want to know how people feel before and after the regular exercise of laughter yoga. For that reason we included nonstandardized numerical nine-stage questionnaire about well-being. Parameters by volunteers evaluated were: enthusiasm, sense of stress, optimism, connectedness, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness, the ability to laugh for no reason. The questionnaire was structured so that the people evaluated mentioned parameters before and after exercise on a scale 1 to 10.

Number 1 represented at least and number 10 represented the most.

# Sample

The study included randomly selected volunteers who attend the Laughter Yoga Club in Maribor. They have signed the statement on the participation and completed a questionnaire on health (about medicines and disease they had or have). Condition for participation in the study was the minimum age of eighteen years. Upward age was not limited. The study involved fifty-two randomly selected volunteers (four men and forty-eight women), their mean age was 52.5 years. The youngest volunteer was twenty-four, the oldest was seventy-six. Volunteers were, based on a questionnaire on health, divided into those who take some drugs (N = 11) and those who do not take them (N = 41).

# Methodology

The study was based on a quantitative methodology by which we carried out measurements of blood pressure before and after 1 hour Laughter yoga workout. Research was performed in 2012 in the Laughter Yoga Club in Maribor, once a week for ten weeks. In the study we were interested to find out how Laughter yoga impact on blood pressure and well-being by participants who take some drugs and how by those who do not take them. We compared the effects of both. Blood pressure measurements on the brachial artery were performed before and after exercise. At the same time we also want to know how people feel before and after the regular exercise of Laughter yoga. For that reason we included nonstandardized numerical nine-stage questionnaire about well-being. With it volunteers evaluated: enthusiasm, sense of stress, optimism, connectedness, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness, the ability to laugh for no reason, before and after exercise on a scale 1 to 10. Number 1 represented at least and number 10 represented the most.

# The methods of collecting and processing data

After reviewing the relevant literature, we designed the study. Research was performed in 2012 in the Laughter Yoga Club in Maribor, once a week on Thursdays at 19.30, for ten weeks. For each participant, who has a voluntary approach to research by signing the statement on the participation, we have prepared the folder in which the data was collected. At the first training all participants completed a questionnaire on health (about medicines and diseases they had or have). Blood pressure measurements were performed by automatic measuring instruments. With nonstandardized numerical nine-stage questionnaire about well-being volunteers evaluated: enthusiasm, sense of stress, optimism, connectedness, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness, the ability to laugh for no reason, before and after exercise on a scale 1 to 10. Number 1 represented at least and number 10 represented the most. The obtained data was processed with the program VassarStats. The first part of the statistical analysis consisted of basic descriptive statistics, which obtained information regarding the

frequency, average value, standard deviation (SD) and dispersion of the sample. A more detailed analysis, we made with the bilateral t-test for dependent and independent samples. In order to assess the applicability of the chosen method, we used the calculation of odds ratios (OR) at 95% confidence interval (CI). P-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

Table 1: Average values of blood pressure (BP) measurements (mmHg) before and after Laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who do not take any medications (N = 41) and their statistical significance.

notice) which	eetamet maerinaaren re			
N = 41	Before exercise	After exercise	Difference	95% CI;
	BP (mmHg) ± SD	BP (mmHg) ± SD		p-value*
Systolic BP	133,15 ± 18,94	120,65 ± 14,79	9,39 %	12,48 ± 2,54; p < 0,0001
Diastolic BP	87,75 ± 12,86	81,42 ± 10,90	7,21 %	6,38 ± 2,48; p < 0,0001

\* t-test

Table 1 shows the change in blood pressure at volunteers who did not take any medications (N = 41). By these volunteers, we observed that the systolic blood pressure decreased on average by 12.48 mmHg or 9.39%, diastolic blood pressure by 6.38 mmHg or 7.21%. We get a statistically significant difference (p <0.0001) between the mean values of observed variables.

Figure 1: Average values of blood pressure measurements (mmHg) before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who do not take any medications (N = 41).



Figure 1 shows the mean change in systolic and diastolic blood pressure at volunteers who were not taking medications (N = 41). Systolic blood pressure decreased on average by 12.5 mmHg. It was reduced from the measured average value of 133.15 mm Hg to 120.65 mmHg. The change in diastolic blood pressure was slightly lower. It decreased from 87.75 mm Hg to 81.42 mm Hg, which is an average of 6.33 mmHg.

Table 2: Average values of blood pressure (BP) measurements (mmHg) before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who take medications (N = 11) and their statistical significance.

N=11	Before exercise BP (mmHg) ± SD	After exercise BP (mmHg) ± SD	Difference	95% CI; p-value*
Systolic BP	141,54 ± 22,89	137,72 ± 23,23	2,70 %	3,83 ± 4,09; p = 0,06
Diastolic BP	90,18 ± 8,80	88,90 ± 8,33	1,41 %	1,25 ± 6,18; p = 0,66

\* t-test

Table 2 shows the change in average systolic blood pressure at volunteers who take medications (N = 11) from 141.54 mmHg to 137.72 mmHg, which represents 2.70% (p = 0.06), and the change in the average diastolic blood pressure from 90.18 mmHg to 88.90 mmHg, which corresponds to 1.41% (p = 0.66).

Figure 2: Average values of blood pressure measurements (mmHg) before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who take medications (N = 11).



Figure 2 shows the changes in systolic and diastolic blood pressure at volunteers who take medications. From the presented results it can be seen that the average systolic blood pressure decreased by 3.81 mmHg (from 141.54 to 137.72

mmHg). Average diastolic blood pressure also decreased from 90.18 mmHg to 88.90 mmHg, which means an average of 1.28 mmHg.

Table 3: Average differences of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who do not take any medication (N = 41) and their statistical significance.

Do not take any medica- tion N = 41		Change (%)	Average ± SD	p-value	95% CI
enthusiasm	before	33.27	673+191		
	after		8,97 ± 1,54	p < 0,0001	2,26 ± 0,59
sense of stress	before	63,25	5,17 ± 2,44		
	after		1,9 ± 1,56	p < 0,0001	3,30 ± 0,71
optimism	before	28,77	7,08 ± 1,86		
	after		9,12 ± 1,12	p < 0,0001	2,02 ± 0,43
connected- ness	before	37,40	6,18 ± 2,31		
	after		8,49 ± 1,85	p < 0,0001	2,23 ± 0,49
energy level	before	42,64	6,07 ± 1,89		
	after		8,65 ± 1,83	p < 0,0001	2,73 ± 0,51
mood	before	40,83	6,57 ± 1,88		
	after		9,25 ± 1,6	p<0,0001	2,52 ± 0,62
muscle relaxation	before	38,41	6,42 ± 2,15		
	after		8,89 ± 1,12	p < 0,0001	2,45 ± 0,64
breathing awareness	before	45,99	5,71 ± 2,16		
	after		8,34 ± 1,76	p < 0,0001	2,64 ± 0,86

the ability to					
laugh for no					
reason	before	39,32	$6,\!49\pm1,\!99$		
				p <	2,54 ±
	after		$9,04\pm1,29$	0,0001	0,60

Table 3 shows the changes in well-being and statistical processing of data by volunteers who did not take any medication (N = 41). From the date we can observe that volunteers were after laughter yoga in less stress (63.25%), that they had more energy (42.64%) and that they are more aware of breathing (45,99%). All parameters were after exercise statistically significant (p <0.0001).

Figure 3: Average values of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who do not take any medication (N = 41).



Figure 3 shows the average value of well-being changes before and after exercise, as assessed on a scale of 1 to 10. We can see that the enthusiasm increased for 33.27%. The feeling of stress stood out and was reduced to 63.25%. After exercise optimism increased for 28.7%, also connectedness by 37,40%. The energy level was higher after exercise for 42.64%, while the mood for 40.83%. Volunteers also feel more relaxed muscles, namely 38.41%, their breathing was after the workout for 45,99% more intensive than before the workout. After training they had a feeling of being easier to laugh, for 39.32%.

Table 4: Average differences of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who take medications (N =11) and their statistical significance.

Do not take any medication		Change	Average ±		
N = 11		(%)	SD	p-value	95% CI
enthusiasm	before	22,68	7,24 ± 1,97		
	after		9,17 ± 1,08	0,0008	$2,00 \pm 0,95$
sense of stress	before	40,01	4,48 ± 2,78		
	after		2,09 ± 1,72	0,007	2,36 ± 1,57
optimism	before	23,92	7,81 ± 2,31		
	after		9,39 ± 1,07	0,01	1,54 ± 1,17
connected- ness	before	25,90	7,37 ± 2,36		
	after		9,33 ± 1,12	0,002	2,00 ± 1,12
energy level	before	29,27	6,79 ± 2,14		
	after		8,9 ± 1,42	0,001	2,00 ± 0,99
mood	before	21,96	7,22 ± 2,02		
	after		9,29 ± 1,08	0,0007	$2,00 \pm 0,97$

muscle					
relaxation	before	29,62	$7,18 \pm 3,39$		
	after		8,81 ± 2,01	0,04	1,72 ± 1,72
breathing					
awareness	before	27,24	$6,74 \pm 2,56$		
	after		8,91 ± 2,07	0,001	$2,09 \pm 1,01$
the ability					
to laugh for					
no reason	before	21,80	7,44 ± 2,11		
	after		$9,04 \pm 1,52$	0,001	$1,72 \pm 0,90$

Table 4 the average change of well-being of volunteers who take medications (N = 11). It can be seen that stand out changes of stress feeling (40,01%), the level of energy (29.27%), and a muscle relaxation which has changed for 29.62%. All parameters were after exercise also statistically significant (p <0.0001).

Figure 4: Average values of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who take medications (N =11).



Figure 4 shows the average values of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise of volunteers who take medications (N =11). Excitement has increased by 22.68%, feeling the stress by 40.01%, optimism rose up to 23.92%. Volunteers after exercise also had a better sense of connectedness, namely 25.90%. Energy level has

increased by 29.27%, while the mood by 21.96%. Volunteers have a sense of greater muscle relaxation, namely 29.62%. Awareness of breath after exercise rose up to 27.24% and the ability to laugh up to 21.80%.

Figure 5: Average values of well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise for all volunteers (N = 52).



It can be seen that excitement was raised up to 31.67%, the feeling of stress decreased to 60.32%, sense of optimism increased for 28.06%, also the feeling of connectedness for 35.54%. After a

workout raise the level of energy for 40.60% and 37.87% for mood. Volunteers had a greater sense of relaxation of muscles, namely 37.16%. From figure 5 it can also be seen that the volunteers become more aware of breathing, by 42.96%, and

that they can better laugh without reason (36.63%).

Figure 6: Average values of the differences in well-being changes before and after laughter yoga exercise for all volunteers (N = 52) expressed in percentages.



From figure 6 it can be seen that most changed the feeling of stress, which fell by 60.32%, also stand out the feeling of awareness of breathing, which grew 42.96%, and the feeling of energy after a workout rise, namely 40.60%. This is followed by other parameters. It is interesting that the volunteers before exercise did not have as great ability to laugh without reason, as they had after exercise (it rose up to 36.63%).

# DISCUSSION

In the study we were interested to find out how Laughter yoga impact on blood pressure and well-being by participants who take some medications and how by those who do not take them. For that reason we performed blood pressure measurements on the brachial artery before and after exercise. We also included non-standardized numerical nine-stage questionnaire about wellbeing. With it volunteers evaluated: enthusiasm, sense of stress, optimism, connectedness, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness, the ability to laugh for no reason, before and after exercise on a scale 1 to 10. Number 1 represented at least and number 10 represented the most.

In our study, we found that systolic blood pressure after exercise of laughter yoga by all participants, on average, decreased by 10.44 mmHg and diastolic by 5.15 mmHg. Both parameters were after exercise also statistically significant (p <0.0001). At the same time in the study volunteers were separated into those who take medications and those who do not take them. We found that the systolic blood pressure in those who take medications decreased from 133.15 mmHg to 120 mmHg (9.39%, p<0.05). On the other hand diastolic blood pressure also decreased from 87.75 mmHg to 81.42 mmHg (7.21%, p<0.05). For those who take the medications we observed on existing small sample reduction of systolic blood pressure on average by 2.7% (p>0.05), and diastolic by 1.4% (p>0.05).

Research has shown that laughter yoga has statistically significant effect on lowering blood pressure in those volunteers who do not take medicines (p<0.05). For those who take them, reduced blood pressure was not statistically significant (p>0.05). Based on these results we should not make any conclusion by volunteers who take medicines. It should be carefully studied, which medications they take and if they affects blood pressure. Nevertheless, it can be observed that the blood pressure after laughter yoga exercise decreased.

Results of the non-standardized numerical ninestage questionnaire about well-being showed that all studied parameters have been statistically significant different. The maximum mean that we noticed was estimated on the issue of stress, which decreased by 60.32%. Extremely important is the fact that the volunteers after exercise of laughter become more aware of breathing, at an average of 42.96% - some have even stated that they feel easier to breathe. High score has also energy, since after a workout of laughter, its level rose on average by 40.54%. Despite the relatively high average change was slightly lower result in a sense of optimism, which is an average increase of 28.06%. It is important that the volunteers had the sense of connectedness, regardless of the fact that they did not know before exercise. From this follows that such type of exercise relatively quickly weaves new acquaintances and connects people perhaps even creates new friendships.

Laughter for no reason in our society is not known and is a relatively new method, which some accepted, others not. In the performed research, we found that the volunteers after exercise of laughter could easier laugh for no reason, namely for 36.63%. All observed values were statistically significant (p < 0.05). We noticed the differences between the effects on those who take medications and those who did not. By those who did not take medications these changes were being much higher than by those who take medications. This changes were also statistically significant (p < 0.05).

Statistically, we demonstrated that one-hour laughter yoga once a week has statistically significant impact on the enthusiasm, optimism, connectedness, energy levels, mood, muscle relaxation, breathing awareness and the ability to laugh for no reason. Irrespective of this, we can also conclude that in our study the impact of laughter on the population with medications was by the evaluation of well-being slightly lower. To comment this fact more specifically **this medications should be carefully studied**. Now we can only assume that these volunteers feel a little worse and that specific medications may affect their well-being and possibly also the result.

In any case, it is necessary for people who are in therapy with medications to do further analysis, to deepen parameters and find out the effects of drugs and then on the basis of accurate statistical analysis derive conclusions.

# CONCLUSION

Based on the performed research we can conclude that laughter yoga is an effective method to improve the well-being and that regular exercise can influence the improvement of blood pressure. We have also seen that people after exercise were much closer, which means that they are easier to contact the other. This is particularly important for building and maintaining social networks. People also immediately feel better, they had a sense of optimism, new energy, and above all they felt stress reduction. Nevertheless, the question arises how to optimally organize laughter yoga at the national level, how to involve as many people as possible and how should this practice acquired its promotion on Social and Health level for the population and for a whole system.

/1/ World health organization [WHO] (2013).

- /2/ Inštitut za varovanje zdravja [IVZ]. (2011). Zdravstveni statistični letopis 2011. Slovenija. Dostopno 26.1.2014. http://www.ivz.si/Mp.aspx?ni=202&pi=18&\_18\_vie w=item&\_18\_newsid=2154&pl=202-18.0.
- /3/ Cousins, N. (1976). Anatomy of an Illnes as percived by the patient. N Engl J Med. 295(26), 1458–1463.
- /4/ Kataria, M. (2002). Laugh for no reason. Indija: Madhuri international.
- /5/ Chaya, M. S., Kataria, M., Nagendra, H. R.,Ngarathna, R., Manjunath, N. K. & Raghavendra, R. M. (2008). The effects of heraty extended unconditionl (HEU) laughter using laughter yoga techniques on physihological, psychological and immunological parameters in workplace: a randomized control trial. The JCH. 10(5), 126–135.
- /6/ Kataria, M. (2002). Laugh for no reason. Indija: Madhuri international.
- /7/ Hasan., H., & Hasan, T. F. (2009). Laugh Yourself into a Healthier person: A Cross Cultural Analysis of the Effects of Varying Levels of Laughter on Health. International Journal of Medical Sciecies; 6(4): 200–211.
- /8/ Cousins, N. (1976). Anatomy of an Illnes as percived by the patient. N Engl J Med. 295(26), 1458–1463.
- /9/ Adams, P., & Mylander, M. (1998). Gesundheit. Rochester-Vermont. Healing Arts Press.
- /10/ Benett H. J. (2003). Humor in medicine. South Med J; 96(12): 1257–1261.
- /11/ Benett, M., Zeller, J., Rosenberg, L., & McCann, J. (2003). The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. Alternative therapie HealthMed. 9, 38–43.
- /12/ Benett, M. P., & Lengacher, C. A. (2006a). Humor and Laughter may Influence Health I. History and Background. Advance Access Publication. 3(1), 61– 63. doi:10.1093/ecam/nek015.
- /13/ Benett, M. P., & Lengacher, C. A. (2006b). Humor and Laughter may Influence Helath II. History and Background. Advance Access Publication. 3(2), 187– 190. doi:10.1093/ecam/nel014.
- /14/ Benett, M. P., & Lengacher, C. A. (2009). Humor and Laughter may Influence Helath IV. History and Background. Advance Access Publication. 6(2), 159– 164. doi:10.1093/ecam/nem149.
- /15/ Adams, P., & Mylander, M. (1998). Gesundheit. Rochester-Vermont. Healing Arts Press.
- /16/ Benett, M., Zeller, J., Rosenberg, L., & McCann, J. (2003). The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. Alternative therapie HealthMed. 9, 38–43.
- /17/ Berk, L. S., Tan, S. A., Fry, W. F., Napier, B. J., Lee, W. J., Hubbard, W. R., Lewis, E. J. & Eby, C. W. (1989). Neuroendocrine and Stress Hormone Changes During Mirthfull Laughter. The American Journal of the medical sciences. 296(7), 390–396.

Notes

/18/ Miller, M., & Fry, W. F. (2009). The effect of mirth-full laughter on the human cardiovascular system. Medical Hypotesis. 73, 636–639. Dostopno 24. 01 2014. http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=37X7ON8JB6A,

dostopno 27.1.2014

/19/ Hayashi, T., & Murakami, K. (2009). The effects of laughter on post – prandial glucose level and gene

expression in type 2 diabetic patients. Life Sci. 31.85(5-6): 185–187.

- /20/ Lefcourt, H., Davidson Katz, K., & Kueneman, K. (1990). Humor and immunesystem functioning. Int J Humor Res. 3, 305–321.
- /21/ Kataria, M. (2002). Laugh for no reason. Indija: Madhuri international.

/22/Ibidem

India Study

ASIAN JOURNAL OF PHARMACEUTICAL AND CLINICAL RESEARCH

Vol 10, Issue 9, 2017



Online - 2455-3891 Print - 0974-2441 Research Article

# EFFECTIVENESS OF LAUGHTER THERAPY ON BLOOD PRESSURE AMONG PATIENTS WITH HYPERTENSION

#### **PUNITHA JOSEPHINE S\*, JEMMI PRIYA J**

Department of Medical Surgical Nursing, Karpaga Vinayaga College of Nursing, Kancheepuram - 603 308, Tamil Nadu, India. Email: punirhythm2004@yahoo.co.in

Received: 10 April 2017, Revised and Accepted: 30 May 2017

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Hypertension is a major non-communicable disease prevailing globally. This study was conducted to determine the effectiveness of laughter therapy on blood pressure among patients with hypertension at a selected hospital, in Kancheepuram District.

**Methods:** A quantitative approach of pre-experimental one group pre- and post-test design was chosen for this study. A total of 50 samples were included in the study using purposive sampling technique. Pre-test was done using the structured instrument, and laughter therapy was implemented following which post-test was done for all the study group participants. Both descriptive and inferential statistics were used for analysis.

**Results:** The distribution of demographic variables depicted that each 17 (34%) study participants were aged from 39-42 to 43-45 years, respectively. On the count of gender, male and female study participants were equal in numbers that is each 25 (50%). The distribution of level of blood pressure in pre- and post-test disclosed that all the 50 (100%) study group participants had Stage I systolic and diastolic hypertension in the pre- test whereas in post-test 45 (90%), had pre-hypertension systolic and diastolic, only 5 (10%) had Stage I systolic and diastolic hypertension. There was a statistically significant difference between pre- and post-test systolic and diastolic blood pressure within study group participants at level p<0.001.

**Conclusion:** This study findings implied that laughter therapy was effective to sustain the blood pressure within the optimal level among patients with hypertension.

Keywords: Hypertension, Laughter therapy, Blood pressure.

© 2017 The Authors. Published by Innovare Academic Sciences Pvt Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4. 0/) DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.22159/ajpcr.2017.v10i9.19076

#### INTRODUCTION

The human race has one really effective weapon, and that is laughter.

- Mark Twain

Hypertension is an important medical and public health issue. It exists worldwide at epidemic rates affecting an estimated 1 billion people. Worldwide, raised blood pressure is estimated to cause 7.5 million deaths, about 12.8% of the total of all deaths WHO [1]. The prevalence of hypertension in Indians is 25% in urban and 10% in the rural population. According to estimates, there are nearly 31.5 million hypertensive in rural and 34 million in urban populations. Projections show that by 2030, an additional 27 million people could have hypertension. Hypertension is directly responsible for 57% of stroke deaths and 24% of coronary artery disease deaths in India according to Bhushan *et al.* [2].

Laughter is a natural part of life and is the best medicine. Laughter is a powerful antidote to stress, pain, and conflict. Laughter lightens the burden, inspires hopes, connects someone to others, and keeps the individual, focused and alert. With so much power to heal and renew, the ability to laugh easily and frequently is a tremendous resource for surmounting problems, enhancing relationships, and supporting both physical and emotional health. Laughter helps to control blood pressure by reducing the release of stress-related hormones and bring relaxation. As far as lowering the blood pressure, studies showed that people who laugh heartily on a regular basis have lower standing blood pressure than the average person. Hence, a study was conducted to identify the effectiveness of laughter therapy on blood pressure among patients with hypertension at a selected hospital in Kancheepuram District. The objectives of the study were the identification of the effectiveness of laughter therapy on blood pressure among patient with hypertension and association of demographic, health and clinical variables with the level of blood pressure in the post-test among patients with hypertension.

#### **METHODS**

A quantitative research approach of pre-experimental one group preand post-test design was used for this study. Ethical Committee approval was obtained from the institutional ethical committee. The hypothesis H1: "There is a significant difference in the systolic and diastolic blood pressure between pre and post test among patients with hypertension who were subjected to laughter therapy."

A total of 50 study participants were recruited for the study using purposive sampling technique. The inclusion criteria were patients of both male and female diagnosed to have primary hypertension with the blood pressure ranging from 140-180 to 90-110 mm of Hg, aged between 35 and 45 years and who were able to talk and understand Tamil or English.

Patients with mental illness, either visual or hearing impairment, disorientation, unable to follow the instructions, diagnosed to have lschemic heart disease, aneurysm, cerebrovascular accident and tuberculosis, and with a history of recent pelvic or abdominal surgery, who experience acute orthopedic distress such as rib or shoulder fracture, were excluded from the study.

The structured instrument was developed by the investigator included Part I-IV.

Part-I was demographic variables which included age, sex, marital status, religion, educational status, occupational status, and income.

Part-II was health variables which encompassed body height, weight, BMI, sleeping pattern, dietary pattern, history of smoking, history of alcoholism, and history of chewing tobacco.

Part-III was clinical variables that consisted of comorbidity, time since diagnosis, use of anti-hypertensive medication, and duration of treatment.

Part-IV was assessment and classification of blood pressure as shown in Table 1.

#### Data collection procedure

The data were collected using structured instruments Part I-IV. Pre-test was performed for all study participants. During the pretest, demographic, health variables were collected by interview method, except height and weight by anthropometric measurements and clinical variables were obtained from the clinical records. The blood pressure was measured using calibrated sphygmomanometer and stethoscope. The design was divided into pre-test on day 1 and practice of laughter therapy for 2 weeks from day 2 to 15 which was taught for the patients with hypertension to maintain the blood pressure within normal limit. Post-test was done on day 15 for all study participants. Teaching was done by lecture cum demonstration method with audio-visual aids which included general information about hypertension and demonstration of laughter therapy after pretest on day 1. Each bout of laughter should last for 30-40 seconds, followed by relaxation. It consists of 10 steps and two deep breaths are encouraged after every laughter exercise. This was practiced by the study participants along with routine care which was only antihypertensive medications.

#### Total duration: 20 minutes.

Initiation: Bend forward swing your hands in front of your body, inhale and exhale fully (2 minutes).

- Step 1: Deep breathing with inhalation through the nose and prolonged exhalation (3 times). (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 2: Hearty laughter Laughter by raising both the arms in the sky with the head tilted a little backward. Feel as if laughter is coming right from your heart while laughing chant "Aaa" (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 3: Hearty laughter Laughter by raising both the arms in the sky with the head tilted a little backward. Feel as if laughter is coming right from your heart while laughing chant "Eee" (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 4: Hearty laughter Laughter by raising both the arms in the sky with the head tilted a little backward. Feel as if laughter is coming right from your heart while laughing chant "Uuu" (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 5: Silent laughter (with mouth closed) Laughter with closed mouth and a humming sound, while humming keep on moving in the group and shaking hands with different people. (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 6: Greeting laughter Joining both the hands and greeting in Indian style (namaste) or shaking hands in Western style with at least 4-5 people in the group. (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 7: Appreciation laughter Join your pointing finger with the thumb to make a small circle while making gestures as if you are appreciating your group members and laughing simultaneously. (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 8: Swinging laughter Stand in a circle and move toward the center by chanting Aee...Eeee...Oooo...Uuuu... (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 9: Lion laughter: Extend the tongue fully with eyes wide open and hands stretched out like the claws of lion and laugh from tummy. (1 minute 30 seconds)
- Step 10: Argument laughter Laugh by pointing fingers at different group members as if arguing. (1 minute 30 seconds).

Relaxation: Sitting calmly. (3 minutes).

Table 1: Classification of blood pressure

Classification of blood pressure	Systolic (mm of Hg)	Diastolic (mm of Hg)
Normal	<120	And <80
Prehypertension	120-139	Or 80–89
Stage 1 hypertension	140-159	Or 90–99
Stage 2 hypertension	≥160	0r ≥100

\*National institute of health, seventh report of the national committee (2008), AHA.[3] AHA: American Heart Association

# Table 2: Distribution of demographic variables among study group (n=50)

S. No.	Demographic variables	n (%)
1	Age (years)	
	35-38	16 (32)
	39-42	17 (34)
	43-45	17 (34)
2	Gender	
	Male	25 (50)
	Female	25 (50)
3	Marital status	
	Unmarried	2 (4)
	Married	35 (70)
	Widow/widower	8 (16)
	Separated	5 (10)
4	Religion	
	Hindu	39 (78)
	Muslim	6 (12)
	Christian	5 (10)
5	Educational status	
	Primary school	14 (28)
	High school	12 (24)
	Higher secondary school	10 (20)
	Graduate	7 (14)
	Post-graduate	5 (10)
	Vocational training	2 (4)
6	Occupational status	
	Labor	12 (24)
	Former	17 (34)
	Government employee	5 (10)
	Private employee	14 (28)
	Business	2 (4)
7	Income per month (Rs.)	
	<5000/-	17 (34)
	5001-7500/-	12 (24)
	>7500/-	21 (42)

#### Statistical analysis

The data were analyzed by the statistical package for social sciences version 16. Both descriptive and inferential statistics were used for analysis. The paired *t*-test was computed to test the differences in the blood pressure within study group participants between pre- and posttest. The hypothesis H1: "There is a significant difference in the systolic and diastolic blood pressure between pre and post-test among patients with hypertension who were subjected to laughter therapy" was tested in this study.

#### RESULTS

TThe distribution of demographic variables as per Table 2 revealed that each 17 (34%) study participants were aged from 39-42 to 43-45 years, respectively. On the count of gender, male and female study participants were equal in numbers that is each 25 (50%). With regard to marital status, most of the 35 (70%) study group participants are married 8 (16%) were widow/widower, 5 (10%) were separated, and only 2 (4%) were unmarried. The majority of 39 (78%) study participant were Hindus, 6 (12%) were Muslims and only 5 (10%) were Christians. On the account of educational status 14 (28%),

Asian J Pharm Clin Res, Vol 10, Issue 9, 2017, 246-250

Table 3: Distribution of health variables	among study
group (n=50)	

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c } S. No. & Health variables & n (%) \\ \hline 1 & Height (cm) & & & \\ & 140-150 & & 8 (16) & & \\ & 151-160 & & 17 (34) & & \\ & >160 & & 25 (50) & \\ 2 & Body weight (kg) & & & \\ & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & & <45 & & 5 (10) & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & $
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 140-150 & 8 (16) \\ 151-160 & 17 (34) \\ >160 & 25 (50) \\ 2 & Body weight (kg) & & \\ & <45 & 5 (10) \\ & 45.1-55 & 15 (30) \\ & 55.1-65 & 19 (38) \\ >65 & 11 (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index & & \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 (8) \\ \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 151-160 & 17 & (34) \\ >160 & 25 & (50) \\ 2 & Body weight (kg) & & & \\ & <45 & 5 & (10) \\ & 45.1-55 & 15 & (30) \\ & 55.1-65 & 19 & (38) \\ & >65 & 11 & (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index & & \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 & (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 & (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 & (8) \\ \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{c cccc} >160 & 25 (50) \\ 2 & Body weight (kg) & & \\ & <45 & 5 (10) \\ & 45.1-55 & 15 (30) \\ & 55.1-65 & 19 (38) \\ & >65 & 11 (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index & \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 (8) \\ \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccc} <45 & 5 (10) \\ 45.1-55 & 15 (30) \\ 55.1-65 & 19 (38) \\ >65 & 11 (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 (8) \\ \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{cccccc} 45.1-55 & 15 (30) \\ 55.1-65 & 19 (38) \\ > 65 & 11 (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 (8) \\ \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{ccccc} 55.1-65 & 19 (38) \\ > 65 & 11 (22) \\ 3 & Body mass index \\ & 18.5-24.9 & 18 (36) \\ & 25-24.9 & 26 (52) \\ & 30-34.9 & 4 (8) \end{array}$
>65 11 (22) 3 Body mass index 18.5-24.9 18 (36) 25-24.9 26 (52) 30-34.9 4 (8)
3         Body mass index           18.5-24.9         18 (36)           25-24.9         26 (52)           30-34.9         4 (8)
18.5-24.9       18 (36)         25-24.9       26 (52)         30-34.9       4 (8)
25-24.9       26 (52)         30-34.9       4 (8)
30-34.9 4 (8)
35-39.9 2 (4)
>40 -
4 Sleeping pattern (h/day)
>6 7 (14)
6-8 22 (44)
>8 21 (42)
5 Dietary pattern
Vegetarian 14 (28)
Nonvegetarian 36 (72)
6 History of smoking
Never 25 (50)
Occasional 8 (16)
Always 17 (34)
7 History of alcoholism
Never 25 (50)
Occasional 13 (26)
Always 12 (24)
8 History of chewing tobacco
Never 29 (58)
Occasional 15 (30)
Always 6 (12)

# Table 4: Distribution of clinical variables among study group (n=50)

S. No.	Clinical variables	n (%)
1	Comorbidity	
	Yes	31 (62)
	No	19 (38)
2	Comorbid illness	
	No comorbid illness	19 (38)
	Diabetes mellitus	12 (24)
	Hypothyroidism	6 (12)
	Bronchial asthma	6 (12)
	Diabetes mellitus with bronchial asthma	4 (8)
	Diabetes mellitus with hypothyroidism	3 (6)
3	Time since diagnosis (years)	
	<1	14 (28)
	1-5	24 (48)
	>5	12 (24)
4	Use of anti-hypertensive medication	
	Yes	50 (100)
	No	-
5	Duration of treatment (years)	
	Since 1	14 (28)
	1-5	24 (48)
	>5	12 (24)

12 (24%), 10 (20%), and 7 (14%) study participants had primary school, high school, higher secondary school, and graduate level of education, respectively. The distribution of occupational status revealed that 17 (34%), 14 (28%), and 12 (24%) study participants were formers, private employees, and labors, respectively. Out of 50 study participants, 21 (42%) had the income of Rs. >7500/- month,





whereas 17 (34%) and 12 (24%) had Rs. < 5000 and Rs. 5001-7500 per month, respectively.

The distribution of health variables as illustrated in Table 3 among study group participants disclosed that 8 (16%), 17 (34%), and 25 (50%) study participants had the height with the range of 140-150, 151-160, and more than 160 cms, respectively. With regard to the body weight 19 (38%), study group participants were between 55.1 and 65 kg, whereas 15(30%) were between 45.1 and 55 kg. However, 11 (22%) study participants had the body weight of more than 65 kg and only 5(10%) had >45 kg. On calculation of body mass index, 26(52%), 18(36%), 4(8%), and 2 (4%) study group participants had between 25-29.9, 18.5-24.9, 30-34.9, and 35-39.9, respectively. On the account of sleeping pattern (hours/day) 22 (44%), 21 (42%), and 7 (14%) had 6-8 more than 8 and <6 hours/day. Most of the 36 (72%) study participants were non-vegetarians and only 14 (28%) were vegetarians. With respect to the history of smoking 17 (34%) were used to smoke "always" and 8(16%) used it "occasionally." Most of the 25 (50%) study group participants "never" used to smoke and drink alcohol. The distribution of history of alcoholism unveiled that 13 (26%) and 12 (24%) study participants used the alcohol "always" and "occasional," respectively. Out of 50 (100%) study group participants, 29 (58%) did not have the history of chewing tobacco whereas 15 (30%) and 6 (12%) used it "occasionally" and "always."

The distribution of clinical variables as shown in Table 4 disclosed that 31 (62%) study group participants had comorbid illness, among which 12 (24%), 6 (12%), 6 (12%), 4 (8%), and 3 (6%) had diabetes mellitus, hypothyroidism bronchial asthma, diabetes mellitus with bronchial asthma, and diabetes mellitus with hypothyroidism, respectively.

Out of 50 (100%) study group participants 24 (48%), 14 (28%), and 12 (24%) were diagnosed to have hypertension since 1-5 years, <1 year and more than 5 years, respectively. All the 50 (100%) study group participants were on treatment, among these 24 (48%), 14 (28%), and 12 (24%) were on treatment for 1-5 years, for 1 year and more than 5 years, respectively.

The distribution of level of blood pressure in pre- and post-test as mentioned in Table 5 disclosed that all the 50 (100%) study group participants had Stage I systolic and diastolic hypertension in the pre-test whereas in post test 45 (90%) had pre-hypertension systolic and diastolic ,only 5 (10%) had Stage I systolic and diastolic hypertension.

The comparison of pre- and post-test blood pressure within study group as shown in Table 6 and Fig. 1 disclosed that there was a statistically significant difference between pre- and post-test systolic and diastolic blood pressure within study group participants at level p<0.001.

#### DISCUSSION

The distribution of level of blood pressure in pre- and post-test unveiled that all the 50 (100%) study group participants had Stage-I systolic

Table 5: Distribution of level of blood pressure in pre- and post-test among study group (n=50)

S. No.	Level of blood pressure (mm of Hg)	Study group			
		Pretest, n (%)		Post-test, n (%)	
		Systolic	Diastolic	Systolic	Diastolic
1	Normal	-	-	-	-
2	Prehypertension	-	-	45 (90)	45 (90)
3	Stage-I hypertension	50 (100)	50 (100)	5 (10)	5 (10)
4	Stage-II hypertension	-	-	-	-

Table 6: Comparison of pre- and post-test blood pressure within study group (n=50)

S. No.	Observation (mm of Hg)	Study group		
		Mean±SD	Paired t and p	
1	Pre-test - systolic	144.52±5.37	17.785***	
2	Post-test - systolic	126.80±5.17	p=0.000 (SS)	
3	Pre-test - diastolic	94.52±2.93	17.956***	
			p=0.000 (SS)	
4	Post-test - diastolic	82.88±3.13	-	

The comparison of pre- and post-test blood pressure within study group disclosed that there was a statistically significant difference between pre- and post-test systolic and diastolic blood pressure within study group participants at p<0.001. \*\*\*Significant at level p<0.001. SS: Statistically significant, SD: Standard deviation

and diastolic hypertension, whereas in the post-test 45 (90%) had pre-hypertension systolic and diastolic blood pressure. The paired "t" value on a comparison of pre and post-test systolic and diastolic blood pressure within study group participants were 17.785 and 17.956 respectively which revealed the statistically significant difference at level p<0.001.

These study findings are further supported by another study conducted by Angeline and Madhavi [4]. The findings disclosed that the practice of laughter therapy for 20-30 minutes (one session per day for 5 days) by the patients with hypertension reduced the blood pressure to 125.15/82.25 mm of Hg, which was statistically significant at p<0.05.

These findings are substantiated by the study conducted by Nagoor and Dudekula which unveiled that laughter therapy reduced the systolic and diastolic blood pressure and there was a statistically significant difference between pre- and post-test at p<0.01 [5]. Another study carried out by Jalali *et al.* to evaluate the effect of laughter therapy on blood pressure among patients with hypertension disclosed that there was a statistically significant difference between pre- and post-test on blood pressure at p<0.05 [6].

All the above evidences proved that laughter therapy is very effective to reduce the blood pressure among patients with hypertension.

Non-pharmacological interventions are proved to be effective to maintain the blood pressure within normal limit. A study conducted by Sujatha and Judie on the effectiveness of a 12-week yoga program on physiopsychological parameters in patients with hypertension revealed that there was a significant reduction of blood pressure (p<0.001). This signifies the importance of nonpharmacological therapy to maintain the blood pressure within normal limit among patients with hypertension [7].

Hence H1 "There is a significant difference in the systolic and diastolic blood pressure between pre and post test among patients with hypertension who were subjected to laughter therpy" is accepted.

Hypertension and its treatment increase the economic burden (EB) and psychological burden which is evident from the study conducted by Ramanna *et al.* The result revealed that the cost of therapy was

higher for DM+HTN and DM. The percentage of expenditure was higher in low-income group and burden of therapy was directly proportional to the number of tablets, poor educational and occupational status; and inversely proportional to income [8]. These study findings are substantiated by another study done by Nachiya *et al.* revealed that direct and indirect nonmedical costs have incurred high when compared with the other costs of prescription involved in the treatment of hypertension in rural inpatients at tertiary care teaching hospital. The annual average total direct (medical and non-medical) costs per patient and total cost of illness were ₹1,417,253.8 and ₹27,993,470.0, respectively [9].

It is evident from the above findings that prevention and control of hypertension is vital to reduce the cost of treatment and EB. This is further supported by the study conducted by Suhadi *et al.* which disclosed that the total therapy expenditure was likely to be influenced by hypertension comorbidity. The findings denoted that preventing hypertension comorbidity has the benefit to reduce total therapy expenditure. Thus, it proved that prevention is better than cure which has to be emphasized among people who is at risk to hypertension. Laughter therapy is very simple to practice by all age group of people which requires only attitude to adhere to it that will prevent hypertension [10].

#### CONCLUSION

Laughter therapy is an effective intervention to reduce the blood pressure among patients with hypertension. Since hypertension is a chronic disease, the regular practice of laughter therapy helps the patients with hypertension to sustain the blood pressure within normal limit throughout their survivorship. This will reduce the complications related to hypertension and cost of health care.

#### REFERENCES

- World Health Organisation. A Global Brief on Hypertension. World Health Day, WHO/DCO/WHD; 2013. Available from: http://www. ish-world.com/downloads/pdf/global\_brief\_hypertension.pdf.
- Bhushan B, Gupta K, Arya H. Comparison of different standard guidelines with Indian guidelines in achievement of hypertension goal. Int J Pharm Res Biosci 2014;3(4):305-10. Available from: http://www. ijprbs.com/issuedocs/2014/8/IJPRBS%20778.pdf.
- National Institute of Health, Seventh Report of the National Committee, American Heart Association (AHA); 2008. Available from: https:// www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/guidelines/express.pdf.
- Angeline AK, Madhavi R. Effect of laugh therapy on patients with hypertension. Int J Recent Sci Res 2015;6(10):7078-83. Available from: http://www.recentscientific.com/sites/default/files/3670.pdf.
- Nagoor K, Dudekula R. Effect of laughter therapy on blood pressure and pulse rate in south Indian population. Int J Health Sci Res 2015;5(6):269-74. Available from: http://www.ijhsr.org/archive\_ijhsr\_ vol.5\_issue6.html.
- Jalali SF, Kheirkhah F, Ahmadi MH, Seifi-Zarei B. Effect of laughter therapy on blood pressure patients with essential hypertension. J Babol Univ Med Sci 2015;10(5):35-40. Available from: http://www.jbums.org/browse.php?a\_id=3099&slc\_lang=en&sid =1&printcase=1&hbnr=1&hmb=1.
- Sujatha T, Judie A. Effectiveness of a 12-week yoga program on physiopsychological parameters in patients with hypertension. Int J Pharm Clin Res C 2014;6(4):329-35. Available from: http://www./impactfactor.

#### Asian J Pharm Clin Res, Vol 10, Issue 9, 2017, 246-250

org/PDF/IJPCR/6/IJPCR, Vol6, Issue4, Article9.pdf.

- Ramanna MK, Ruckmani A, Janti SS, Eerike M, Prabu RL. Burden of therapy in patients suffering from diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 2017;9(5):210-5. Available from: https://www. innovareacademics.in/journals/index.php/ijpps/article/view/17484.
- 9. Nachiya RA, Parimalakrishnan S, Rao MR. Cost analysis of antihypertensive agents in rural population: A prospective study. Int J

Pharm Pharm Sci 2016;8(3):225-30. Available from: https://www. innovareacademics.in/journals/index.php/ijpps/article/view/10299.

 Suhadi R, Thobari J, Irawan B, Dwiprahasto I. The blood pressure and therapy expenditure change due to hypertension comorbidity: An analytical prospective study in secondary care hospitals in Jogjakarta Indonesia. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 2016;8(12):78-83. Available from: https://www.innovareacademics.in/journals/index.php/ijpps/article/ view/14646. **JCN** 

# Journal of Clinical Nursing

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Journal of Clinical Nursing

# The effect of laughter therapy on the quality of life of nursing home residents

Nilgun Kuru 🝺 and Gulumser Kublay

Aims and objectives. To evaluate the effect of Laughter therapy on the quality of life of nursing home residents.

**Background.** By improving the quality of life of residents living in nursing homes and allowing them to have a healthier existence, their lives can be extended. Therefore, interventions impacting the quality of life of older adults are of critical importance.

Design. Quasi-experimental design.

Method. The study was conducted between 2 March – 25 May 2015. The experimental group was composed of 32 nursing home residents from one nursing home, while the control group consisted of 33 nursing home residents from another nursing home in the capital city of Turkey. Laughter therapy was applied with nursing home residents of the experimental group two days per week (21 sessions in total). A socio-demographic form and the Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) were used for data collection.

**Results.** After the laughter therapy intervention, general and subscales (physical functioning, role-physical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, role-emotional and spiritual health) quality-of-life scores of residents in the experimental group significantly increased in comparison with the pretest.

**Conclusion.** Laughter therapy improved the quality of life of nursing home residents. Therefore, nursing home management should integrate laughter therapy into health care and laughter therapy should be provided as a routine nursing intervention.

**Relevance to clinical practice.** The results indicated that the laughter therapy programme had a positive effect on the quality of life of nursing home residents. Nurses can use laughter therapy as an intervention to improve quality of life of nursing home residents. What does this paper contribute to the wider global clinical community

- It is known that the older adult population is increasing worldwide. For this reason, the number of residents living in nursing homes is also increasing. Previous research has determined that the quality of life of older adults who live in nursing homes is low.
- Interventions are needed to improve the quality of life of older adults.
- Our results indicated that laughter therapy increased the quality of life of nursing home residents.
- Nurses can use laughter therapy as an intervention to improve the quality of life of nursing home residents. Nursing administration can make arrangements to use laughter therapy in nursing homes and laughter therapy also can be integrated into nursing education.

Key words: laughter therapy, nursing, nursing home residents, older adult, quality of life

Accepted for publication: 3 December 2016

Authors: Nilgun Kuru, PhD, RN, Research Assistant, Department of Public Health Nursing, Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing Ankara; *Gulumser Kublay*, PhD, RN, Professor, Department of Public Health Nursing, Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing Ankara, Turkey Correspondence: Nilgun Kuru, Research Assistant, Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing, Ankara, Turkey. Telephone: +90 312 321 2013/+90 312 305 1447.

E-mail: nilgun.kuru@hacettepe.edu.tr
#### Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) has stated that the population is increasingly ageing worldwide (WHO 2012). Two per cent of the total population was over the age of 60 in 2015; this rate is expected to increase by 3.2% every year (United Nations 2015). On the other hand, in Turkey, while the percentage of those aged 60 years or older in the total population was 8% in 2014, according to population projections, it estimated that this rate will rise to 10.2% in 2023 and 20.8% in 2050 (Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu 2014). A rapid increase in the aged population is related to various problems for older adults such as economic, environmental, social, health, housing and care issues (WHO 2015). In addition, lower quality of life among older adults is a major concern, because people tend to develop lower quality of life with age (Rejeski & Mihalko 2001). Moreover, research has determined that older adults who live in nursing homes experience more loneliness and have lower quality of life than those who live with their families (Drageset et al. 2008, Nikmat et al. 2013, Hedayati et al. 2014).

#### Background

#### Quality of life

Quality of life is an individual's perception of his/her life position in terms of aims, expectations and standards in their culture and values system (WHOQOL G 1995). Quality of life is a broad and complex concept influenced by physical, spiritual and social situations of individuals, personal faith, as well as relationship with the environment (WHO 1998). For this reason, it cannot be observed directly but can be measured by means of factors affecting it (Hanestad 1990). In quality-of-life research conducted with older adults, some individual factors such as age (Molzahn et al. 2010, Thompson et al. 2012), gender (Molzahn et al. 2010, Milte et al. 2015), education status and economic status (Baernholdt et al. 2012, Bielderman et al. 2015) had an effect on the quality of life of older adults. In addition, social factors such as family relationships (Langlois et al. 2013), social relations (Bilotta et al. 2012), loneliness (Theeke et al. 2012) and living alone (Bilotta et al. 2012), as well as living in a nursing home (Bilotta et al. 2011), health condition (Molzahn et al. 2010, Renaud et al. 2010, Baernholdt et al. 2012, Simpson et al. 2015), culture (Molzahn et al. 2011), physical activity (de Vries et al. 2012), free time for physical activity (Thompson et al. 2012, Langlois et al. 2013) and smoking (Thompson et al.

2012) were determined to be important variables affecting quality of life of older adults. Good quality of life is a necessity rather than a luxury for healthy ageing in all countries. Research has shown social support (Årestedt *et al.* 2013), better financial conditions and good relations with relatives (Webb *et al.* 2011) to be associated with increased quality of life among older adults. In addition, recent studies have indicated that initiatives such as pilates (De Siqueira Rodrigues *et al.* 2010), Tai Chi (Taylor-Piliae *et al.* 2014), yoga (Gonçalves *et al.* 2011), aerobic walking, exercise therapy (Awick *et al.* 2015), music, prayer, meditation, laughter and humour (Lindquist *et al.* 2013) can be used as interventions to improve the quality of life of older adults.

#### Laughter therapy

Laughter universally provides observable physiological advantages and has social functions (Pearce 2004). Laughter is primarily examined within three theories: superiority theory, incongruity theory and relief theory.

Superiority theory assumes that we reflect on our superiority by laughing at other people's unluckiness. Aristotle, Plato and Hobbes indicated that laughter involves finding and mocking imperfections in relationships between people (Morreall 1982). This theory was reformulated by Gruner in the 21st century, such that laughter requires a winner, a loser, incoherence in the present situation and an element of surprise (Morreall 1983, Gruner 2000, Mulder & Nijholt 2002). According to incongruity theory, laughter is a reaction to the violation of expectations. In incongruity theory, nonsense, unexpected events, discordant stress or irrelevant events are the basis for laughter. However, although this situation is necessary for laughter, it is not enough on its own (Hargie 1997, Kulka 2007). John Morreall (2011) describes the fundamental meaning of 'incongruity' as employed within incongruity theories as that which occurs when 'something or event we perceive or think about violates our normal mental patterns and normal expectations'. According to relief theory, laughter is generally accepted to involve nervous tension (Morreall 1983). According to Freud, psychic energy arises to overcome pent-up feelings about taboo topics such as death or sex. Moreover, laughter results not only when energy is released but also when one thinks about a taboo topic (Freud 1995).

Laughter therapy is an exercise composed of unconditional laughing exercises with yoga breathing techniques. It is a therapeutic method created by Dr Madan Kataria. Laughter therapy involves adding laughter exercises to yoga. During a session, laughter is feigned through physical

#### Original article

exercises, by providing contact with other members of the group and by playing children's games. Often, feigned laughter quickly turns into contagious laughter, because the human body cannot distinguish between fake laughter and real laughter (Kataria 2011). Humour and laughter are tools frequently used by healthcare personnel in the rehabilitation of disease related to stress and lifestyle and for the maintenance and improvement of health (Seaward 1992).

Laughter therapy has been used with different groups such as patients with type 2 diabetes (Hayashi *et al.* 2007), women receiving in vitro fertilisation (Chung 2011), breast cancer survivors (Cho & Oh 2011) and patients with atopic eczema (Kimata 2007). However, studies about the use of laughter therapy with older adults are limited and have not been conducted in Turkey. Thus, this is the first study conducted using laughter therapy in Turkey.

#### Methods

#### Design

For this study, a quasi-experimental design with pretest/ posttest control group was used.

#### Sample and data collection

#### Sample

The study population comprised residents from two different private nursing homes. These nursing homes had the same organisational characteristics, management, social services care and care processes. G\*Power was used to calculate the sample size. The estimated sample size was measured by predicting an average change in scores after therapy (experimental group before therapy  $66.00 \pm 11.84$ , after therapy 79.94  $\pm$  12.03; control group before therapy  $67.19 \pm 13.54$ , after therapy  $66.19 \pm 11.17$ ) (Cho & Oh 2011). It was calculated that 90% power could be achieved with a 95% confidence interval when 62 subjects (31 in each of the experimental and control groups) were selected. Exclusion criteria for participation were having severe hearing or perceptual deficits that impair communication, advance dementia, Alzheimer's disease, depression, uncontrollable diabetes, hypertensive disease and a surgical operation with risk of bleeding. Inclusion criteria were over age 50, maintaining independence in daily activities and agreeing to take part in the study. The study was carried out with 70 volunteer residents who met criteria for inclusion. Thirty-five residents from one nursing home formed the experimental group, while the control group was composed

of 35 residents from another nursing home. However, the experimental group was reduced to 32 residents because of the death of a participant and two residents who received treatment in an intensive care unit. In addition, the control group was reduced to 33 residents due to the death of one participant and another leaving the nursing home.

#### Data collection

The data were collected between 2 March – 25 May 2015. The socio-demographic form and the Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) were used for data collection.

#### Measures

#### Socio-demographic form

The socio-demographic form was created based on the literature and collected demographic information (gender, age, marital status, educational status, occupation, social security status, income status) (T.R. Prime Ministry State Planning Organization, 2007, Aksoydan 2009, Esendemir 2013, Hosseinpoor *et al.* 2013).

#### SF-36 health survey

The SF-36 Health Survey was developed to measure quality of life related to health. Developed in 1992 by Ware, the SF-36 is a self-assessment scale (Ware & Sherbourne 1992) that comprises 36 questions within two domains, includes a physical component score and mental component score, and eight subscales including physical functioning, rolephysical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, role-emotional and spiritual health (Ware & Gandek 1998). Subscales are scored between 0–100 points, with 100 representing good health condition and 0 representing bad health condition (Burholt & Nash 2011). The scale can be used as a measure of quality of life both before and after a treatment intervention.

The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the SF-36 has been studied in many countries and was confirmed for a patient group with rheumatic illness by Koçyiğit *et al.* (1999). Internal consistency measured using the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for each subscale was found to be within 0.73–0.76 (Koçyiğit *et al.* 1999). Among cancer patients, a test–retest internal consistency Cronbach's alpha value of eight subscales was found (Pinar 2005). Yakar and Pinar (2013) re-examined the validity and reliability of the Turkish SF-36 and found a Cronbach's alpha value of 0.90 for the physical functioning subscale and 0.87 for the mental functioning sub-scale.

#### Pilot study

A small pilot study was performed to assess the content validity of the data collection forms and to evaluate the efficacy of the intervention at a private nursing home different from that of the study group. The researcher informed all participants about the aim of the study, and the pilot study was conducted with 10 nursing home residents who voluntarily agreed to take part in the research. Before the intervention, the socio-demographic form and SF-36 Health Survey were applied; each took 15 minutes to complete on average. Four sessions of laughter therapy were applied on 28 January and 29 January 2015. Following the therapy, the SF-36 Health Survey was administered again as a posttest. No changes were made to the study protocol as a result of the pilot study.

#### Laughter therapy programme

The researcher participated in a 'Laughter Yoga' course on 21 September 2014 and received a certificate for completion of the course. The laughter therapy programme was planned by the researcher. The programme comprised 21 sessions twice weekly. Each session took 30–45 minutes.

Sessions consisted of various combinations of the following:

- warm-up exercises (stretching of facial and body muscles) for 10 minutes
- hand clapping using the 1–2, 1–2–3, Ho–Ho, Ha–Ha– Ha rhythm
- deep breathing exercises
- laughter exercises (cell phone, admiration, hot soup laughter, hug laughter, bird laughter, dialogue with nonsense, speech exercises, laugh at one's own aches and pains exercises, milkshake laughter exercises, lion laughter, greeting laughter, argument laughter, bugi laughter techniques, brushing teeth and mouthwash exercises)
- watching a film (Patch Adams and Hababam Sınıfı)
- playing games (the first participant was asked to say her/his name, and then, the participant beside her/him was asked to share both her/his name and the name of the first participant; the children's game 'peekaboo')
- singing songs
- wishes (participants were asked to hold hands and make a wish and then to rejoice as if their wishes had come true after making a wish. It was observed that some older adults showed their happiness by smiling and others showed it by standing up)
- laughter meditation

When the sessions were completed, participation certificates were delivered to participants of the experimental and control groups for their attendance.

#### Data analysis

Means, standard deviations, frequencies, percentages, medians, minimums and maximums were the descriptive statistics calculated. Since the difference between the total scores of both the experimental and control group before and after laughter therapy showed normal distributions, these score differences were assessed by paired t-test. Mann-Whitney U-tests were used for some subscales (before laughter therapy: physical functioning, role functioning and emotional functioning; after laughter therapy: physical functioning, role functioning, emotional functioning, mental component score) that did not show a normal distribution. Independent two-sample t-tests were used for some subscales (before laughter therapy: bodily pain, general health, physical component score, mental health, social functioning, vitality, mental component score and total score; after laughter therapy: bodily pain, general health, physical component score, mental health, social functioning, vitality and total score) that showed a normal distribution. For all tests, p < 0.05was the standard for statistical significance.

#### Ethical considerations

Hacettepe University Ethical Committee of Clinical Studies approved this study on 17 December 2014 (No. 16969557/ 18). Before the study began, all participants were informed about the study aim and procedures. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

#### Results

Socio-demographic characteristics of older adults who participated in the study are presented in Table 1. Half of the participants in the experimental group were women, and the other half were men, while the control group consisted of 15 women (45.5%) and 18 men (55.5%). Twenty-two (68.7%) residents in both the experimental and control groups were aged 60-79 years old. There were 16 widows (50%) in the experimental group and 15 widows (45.5%) in the control group. Most residents (n = 10, 31.3%) in the experimental group were high school graduates, while most (n = 16, 48.5%) participants in the control group were primary school graduates. For both the experimental and control groups, civil servant retirement funds were most common (n = 13, 40.6%; and n = 13, 39.4%; respectively). According to their own statements, 26 participants in the experimental group (90.6%) and 28 members of the control group (84.80%) had regular income.

Table 2 presents SF-36 scores before and after laughter therapy for the experimental and control groups. There was

#### Original article

Table 1 Descriptive characteristics of the study population

	Expe Grou	erimental 1p	Control Group	
Characteristic	n	%	п	%
Gender				
Female	16	50.0	15	45.5
Male	16	50.0	18	55.5
Age				
50–59	3	9.4	6	18.2
60–69	13	40.6	9	27.3
70–79	9	28.1	13	39.4
80-89	7	21.9	5	15.2
Marital Status				
Single	2	6.30	7	21.2
Married	7	21.9	5	15.2
Widowed	16	50.0	15	45.5
Divorced	7	21.9	6	18.2
Education				
Illiterate	4	12.5	4	12.1
Literate	3	9.4	3	9.1
Primary school	5	15.6	16	48.5
Secondary school	4	12.5	4	12.1
High school	10	31.3	4	12.1
University	6	18.8	2	6.1
Occupational Status				
Sales and related	1	3.0	2	7.0
Casual worker	4	12.0	4	13.0
Professional	4	12.0	11	32.0
Civil servant	7	21.0	5	16.0
Unskilled worker	4	12.5	1	4.0
Unemployed	13	40.0	9	28.0
Social Security				
Social insurance institution	12	37.5	6	18.2
Green card	0	0.0	2	6.1
Self-employed institution	5	15.6	9	27.3
Retirement fund	13	40.6	13	39.4
No	2	6.3	3	9.1
Income Status				
Yes	29	90.6	28	84.80
No	3	9.4	5	15.20
Total	32	100.0	33	100.0

no significant difference (p = 0.892) between mean general quality-of-life scores for the experimental (89.32  $\pm$  20.63) and control groups (90.06  $\pm$  21.62). In addition, there was no significant difference between mean quality-of-life subscale scores of the experimental and control groups (p > 0.05). Therefore, before laughter therapy, qualityof-life scores of the experimental and control groups were similar. After laughter therapy, a statistically significant difference (p < 0.01) was found between mean general quality-of-life scores of the experimental group  $(125.18 \pm 11.49)$  and control group  $(93.00 \pm 20.78)$ , respectively. Quality of life of the experimental group after

laughter therapy increased. After laughter therapy, a statistically significant difference was found between mean subscale scores for the experimental and control group (p < 0.05). All quality-of-life subscale scores of older adults in the experimental group increased after laughter therapy.

#### Discussion

Research evaluating the effect of laughter therapy on the quality of life of nursing home residents has been limited. In this study, the quality of life of nursing home residents increased after a laughter therapy intervention. Previous experimental and quasi-experimental studies have demonstrated that laughter therapy increases the quality of life and positive emotions of residents and that they feel better both physically and mentally after laughter therapy (Lebowitz 2002, Hirosaki *et al.* 2013, Ko & Hyun 2013, Ganz & Jacobs 2014, Cha & Hong 2015). Thus, findings of previous research are parallel to the findings of this study.

This study demonstrated a statistically significant difference between the physical functioning subscale scores of the experimental group before and after laughter therapy (Table 2). In a randomised controlled study by Keykhahoseinpoor *et al.* (2013), carried out with older adults with Parkinson's disease, a statistically significant difference in motor functions of older adults was found after a laughter therapy intervention. A Hatha Yoga programme, used with individuals aged 35–60 years old, positively affected the balance and elasticity of older adults (Galantino *et al.* 2004).

In this study, the experimental group's role-physical subscales scores were significantly different before and after the laughter therapy intervention (Table 2). Supekar *et al.* (2014) studied the role of laughter therapy clubs in increased social health and found significant differences between the role-physical subscale scores of the experimental and control groups. This result also supported the present research findings.

In this study, after laughter therapy, bodily pain subscale scores of residents were significantly different (Table 2). Tse *et al.* (2010) studied older adults in a nursing home and found that pain scores after a laughter therapy intervention decreased. In another study in which laughter therapy was applied, bodily pain of the experimental and control group showed statistically significant differences (Supekar *et al.* 2014), supporting the present study's results. Thus, it is possible that laughter therapy decreases nursing home residents' bodily pain through yoga exercises and regular exercise.

General health subscale scores of the experimental group were found to be significantly different after the laughter therapy intervention (Table 2). Ghodsbin *et al.* (2015)

	Experimental Grou	р	Control Group		
SF-36 Scale	Pretest	Post-test	Pretest	Post-test	P value
Physical Functioning	$21.63 \pm 5.99$	$26{\cdot}28\pm3{\cdot}97$	$21.76\pm6.03$	$21.57\pm5.31$	0.000
Role Functioning	$5.16 \pm 1.68$	$7.62 \pm 1.18$	$4.88 \pm 1.57$	$5.09 \pm 1.80$	0.000
Bodily Pain	$6.28 \pm 2.75$	$10{\cdot}18\pm1{\cdot}14$	$6.61 \pm 2.24$	$7.60 \pm 2.34$	0.000
General Health	$14.91\pm3.56$	$18.18 \pm 2.45$	$15.48 \pm 3.76$	$14.93\pm3.59$	0.000
Physical Component Score	$47.97\pm10.69$	$62{\cdot}28\pm6{\cdot}65$	$48{\cdot}73\pm10{\cdot}87$	$49{\cdot}21\pm10{\cdot}40$	0.000
Mental Health	$19.5 \pm 6.04$	$25.40 \pm 3.73$	$19.27 \pm 5.65$	$17.9\pm6.27$	0.000
Emotional Functioning	$3.84 \pm 1.22$	$5.71\pm0.728$	$3.88 \pm 1.31$	$3.87 \pm 1.36$	0.000
Social Functioning	$6.03 \pm 2.20$	$9.12 \pm 9.50$	$6.12 \pm 1.40$	$6.66 \pm 1.97$	0.000
Vitality	$12.00 \pm 4.97$	$20.18 \pm 3.93$	$12.06 \pm 6.47$	$11.87\pm6.04$	0.000
Mental Component Score	$41{\cdot}38\pm12{\cdot}25$	$60.43\pm7.22$	$41{\cdot}33\pm12{\cdot}84$	$40.33 \pm 13.36$	0.000
General Score	$89{\cdot}34\pm20{\cdot}63$	$125{\cdot}18\pm11{\cdot}49$	$90{\cdot}06\pm21{\cdot}62$	$93{\cdot}00\pm20{\cdot}78$	0.000

Table 2 Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) scores of the experimental and control groups before and after the laughter therapy intervention

evaluated the effect of laughter therapy on the general health of older adults and found that general health scores were significantly different after laughter therapy. Similarly, another study found a direct relationship between health status and humour, thus suggesting humour as a method to help older adults to stay healthy (Celso *et al.* 2003).

The spiritual health subscale of the SF-36 evaluates the calm, happy, relaxed, nervous and depressed moods of individuals. In this study, the spiritual health subscale of nursing home residents increased after the intervention. Lee and Eun (2011) assessed the relationships between sleeping, depression and pain on the quality of life of older adults living in long-term nursing homes. A significant effect of laughter therapy was found for depression. In studies of laughter therapy activities with patients with depressive symptoms, a decrease in depression and bad mood of older adults was seen after laughter therapy (Hirsch *et al.* 2010, Konradt *et al.* 2013).

The role-emotional subscale scores were also shown to differ after laughter therapy (Table 2). Likewise, research has shown statistically significant decreases in anxiety levels of older adults after laughter therapy (Houston *et al.* 1998, Marziali *et al.* 2008). Krebs *et al.* (2014) evaluated the effect of laughter therapy on the behaviours of older adults and found a decrease in stress scores when spiritual condition and energy significantly were increased. This research supports the findings of the present study.

Although old age brings about physical constraints, older adults can still be active (Lewis 2003). In this study, social functioning of residents increased after the intervention. An increase in interactions among older adults has been shown in studies evaluating laughter therapy (Everard *et al.* 2000, Low *et al.* 2013). Laughter therapy performed as a group activity also increases interactions among older adults (Kataria 2011). In this study, the vitality subscale scores of residents in the experimental group were significantly different after laughter therapy (Table 2). Deshpande and Verma (2013) study, which reviewed the effect of quality-of-life therapy on happiness and life satisfaction, found that life satisfaction and happiness scores of older adults in an experimental group were significantly higher than those in a control group. In other research, negative feelings scores after laughter therapy were lower and life satisfaction scores were higher (Song *et al.* 2013).

#### Conclusion

In this study, after laughter therapy, quality-of-life total and subscale scores (physical functioning, role-physical, role-emotional, bodily pain, general health, spiritual health, social functioning, vitality) increased among residents living in a nursing home. According to these results, it can be said that laughter therapy can be used to increase the quality of life of nursing home residents. Future research to evaluate the effect of laughter therapy on the quality of life of residents should employ a randomised control group experimental design. In addition, a wider sample of participants from nursing homes with different socio-cultural structures will aid generalisability of findings.

#### Relevance to clinical practice

The results indicated that the laughter therapy programme had a positive effect on the quality of life of nursing home residents. Nurses can use laughter therapy as an intervention to improve the quality of life of residents living in nursing homes.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors desire to thank all the participants in the study. And also, we also like to extend our deep

#### Original article

appreciation to Professor Oya Nuran Emiroğlu and Associate Professor Sergül Duygulu for their assistances.

#### Contributions

NK: Study design; data collection and analysis; and manuscript preparation.GK: Study design and manuscript preparation.

#### References

- Aksoydan E (2009) Are developing countries ready for ageing populations? An examination on the socio-demographic, economic and health status of elderly in Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Geriatrics* 12, 102–109.
- Årestedt K, Saveman BI, Johansson P & Blomqvist K (2013) Social support and its association with health-related quality of life among older patients with chronic heart failure. *European Journal* of *Cardiovascular Nursing* **12**, 69–77.
- Awick EA, Wójcicki TR, Olson EA, Fanning J, Chung HD, Zuniga K, Mackenzie M, Kramer AF & McAuley E (2015) Differential exercise effects on quality of life and healthrelated quality of life in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Quality* of Life Research 24, 455–462.
- Baernholdt M, Hinton I, Yan G, Rose K & Mattos M (2012) Factors associated with quality of life in older adults in the United States. *Quality of Life Research* 21, 527–534.
- Bielderman A, de Greef MHG, Krijnen WP & Van der Schans CP (2015) Relationship between socioeconomic status and quality of life in older adults: a path analysis. *Quality of Life Research* 24, 1697–1705.
- Bilotta C, Bowling A, Nicolini P, Casè A, Pina G, Rossi SV & Vergani C (2011) Older People's Quality of Life (OPQOL) scores and adverse health outcomes at a one-year follow-up. A prospective cohort study on older outpatients living in the community in Italy. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 9, 1–10.
- Bilotta C, Bowling A, Nicolini P, Casè A & Vergani C (2012) Quality of life in older outpatients living alone in the community in Italy. *Health & Social Care in the Community* 20, 32–41.

- Burholt V & Nash P (2011) Short Form 36 (SF-36) Health Survey Questionnaire: normative data for Wales. *Jour*nal of Public Health 33, 587–603.
- Celso BG, Ebener DJ & Burkhead EJ (2003) Humor coping, health status, and life satisfaction among older adults residing in assisted living facilities. *Aging & Mental Health* 7, 438–445.
- Cha MY & Hong HS (2015) Effect and path analysis of laughter therapy on serotonin, depression and quality of life in middle-aged women. *Journal of the Korean Academy of Nursing* **45**, 221–230.
- Cho EA & Oh HE (2011) Effects of laughter therapy on depression, quality of life, resilience and immune responses in breast cancer survivors. *Journal of the Korean Academy of Nursing* **41**, 285–293.
- Chung HJ (2011) The effect of laughter therapy on infertility stress and anxiety of women receiving in vitro fertilization. *Fertility and Sterility* **96**, 195– 196.
- De Siqueira Rodrigues BG, Cadera SA, Bento Torres NV, Oliveira EM & Martin Dantas EH (2010) Pilates method in personal autonomy, static balance and quality of life of elderly females. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies* 14, 195–202.
- Deshpande A & Verma V (2013) Effect of laughter therapy on happiness and life satisfaction among elderly. *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology* **4**, 153–155.
- Drageset J, Nygaard HA, Eide GE, Bondevik M, Nortvedt MW & Natvig GK (2008) Sense of coherence as a resource in relation to health-related quality of life among mentally intact nursing home residents-a questionnaire study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 6, 85.

#### Funding

For this study, no funding was received.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

No conflict of interest has been declared by the authors.

- Esendemir S (2013) Determinants of the Applications to the Institutional Care in Turkey: Darulaceze Example. Doctoral dissertation, University of North Texas.
- Everard KM, Lach HW, Fisher EB & Baum MC (2000) Relationship of activity and social support to the functional health of older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* 55, S208–S212.
- Freud S (1995) The Basic Writings of Sigmund Freud (Brill A.A. ed.). Modern Library, New York.
- Galantino ML, Bzdewka TM, Eissler-Russo JL, Holbrook ML, Mogck EP, Geigle P & Farrar JT (2004) The impact of modified Hatha yoga on chronic low back pain: a pilot study. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine* 10, 56–59.
- Ganz FD & Jacobs JM (2014) The effect of humor on elder mental and physical health. *Geriatric Nursing* **35**, 205–211.
- Ghodsbin F, Sharif Ahmadi Z, Jahanbin I & Sharif F (2015) The effects of laughter therapy on general health of elderly people referring to jahandidegan community center in Shiraz, Iran, 2014: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery* **3**, 31–38.
- Gonçalves LC, Vale RG, Barat NJ, Varejão RV & Dantas EH (2011) Flexibility, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) in elderly yoga practitioners. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 53, 158–162.
- Gruner CR (2000) The Game of Humor: A Comprehensive Theory of Why We Laugh. Transaction Publishers, New Brunswick, U.S.A.
- Hanestad BR (1990) Errors of measurement affecting the reliability and

N Kuru and G Kublay

validity of data acquired from selfassessed quality of life. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* **4**, 29–34.

- Hargie O (1997) The Handbook of Communication Skills. Psychology Press, New York.
- Hayashi T, Urayama O, Hori M, Sakamoto S, Nasir UM, Iwanaga S, Hayashi K, Suzuki F, Kawai K & Murakami K (2007) Laughter modulates protein receptor gene expression in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 62, 703–706.
- Hedayati RH, Hadi N, Mostafavi L, Akbarzadeh A & Montazeri A (2014) Quality of life among nursing home residents compared with the elderly at home. *Shiraz E Medical Journal* 15, e22718.
- Hirosaki M, Ohira T, Kajiura M, Kiyama M, Kitamura A, Sato S & Iso H (2013) Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: randomized controlled trial. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 13, 152– 160.
- Hirsch RD, Junglas K, Konradt B & Jonitz MF (2010) Humor therapy in the depressed elderly: results of an empirical study. *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie* und Geriatrie 43, 42–52.
- Hosseinpoor AR, Bergen N & Chatterji S (2013) Socio-demographic determinants of caregiving in older adults of low-and middle-income countries. *Age and Ageing* **42**, 330–338.
- Houston DM, McKee KJ, Carroll L & Marsh H (1998) Using humour to promote psychological wellbeing in residential homes for older people. *Aging & Mental Health* **2**, 328–332.
- Kataria M (2011) Laugh for No Reason (2011 version). Madhuri International, Lokhandwala Complex.
- Keykhahoseinpoor A, Rahnama N & Chitsaz A (2013) Effects of eight weeks laughter yoga training on motor function, balance, and flexibility in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *Journal* of Research in Rehabilitation Sciences 9, 39–47.
- Kimata H (2007) Laughter elevates the levels of breast-milk melatonin. Journal of Psychosomatic Research 62, 699–702.

- Ko YJ & Hyun MY (2013) Effects of laughter therapy on pain, depression, and quality of life of elderly people with osteoarthritis. Journal of Korean Academy of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing 22, 359–367.
- Koçyiğit H, Aydemir Ö, Ölmez N & Memiş A (1999) The validity and reliability of Turkish version of the Short Form 36 (SF-36). Turkish J Drugs Therapy 12, 102–106.
- Konradt B, Hirsch RD, Jonitz MF & Junglas K (2013) Evaluation of a standardized humor group in a clinical setting: a feasibility study for older patients with depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 28, 850–857.
- Krebs S, Stanegler Herodež Š & Pajnkihar M (2014) Communicational method of impact of exercise of laughter yoga "on the elderly behaviour". *Informatologia* 47, 135–144.
- Kulka T (2007) The incongruity of incongruity theories of humor. Organon F. International Journal for Analytical Philosophy, 14, 320–333.
- Langlois F, Vu TT, Chassé K, Dupuis G, Kergoat MJ & Bherer L (2013) Benefits of physical exercise training on cognition and quality of life in frail older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* **68**, 400–404.
- Lebowitz KR (2002) The Effects of Humor on Cardiopulmonary Functioning, Psychological Well-Being, and Health Status Among Older Adults with Chronic obstRuctive Pulmonary Disease. Columbus, Ohio.
- Lee KI & Eun Y (2011) Effect of laugher therapy on pain, depression and sleep with elderly patients in long term care facility. *Journal of Muscle and Joint Health* 18, 28–38.
- Lewis SC (2003) Elder Care in Occupational Therapy. Slack Incorporated, USA.
- Lindquist R, Snyder M & Tracy MF (2013) Complementary & Alternative Therapies in Nursing. Springer, New York.
- Low LF, Brodaty H, Goodenough B, Spitzer P, Bell JP, Fleming R, Casey AN, Liu Z & Chenoweth L (2013) The Sydney Multisite Intervention of LaughterBosses and ElderClowns (SMILE) study: cluster randomised

trial of humour therapy in nursing homes. BMJ Open 3.

- Marziali E, McDonald L & Donahue P (2008) The role of coping humor in the physical and mental health of older adults. *Aging and Mental Health* 12, 713–718.
- Milte CM, Thorpe MG, Crawford D, Ball K & McNaughton SA (2015) Associations of diet quality with healthrelated quality of life in older Australian men and women. *Experimental Gerontology* 64, 8–16.
- Molzahn A, Skevington SM, Kalfoss M & Makaroff KS (2010) The importance of facets of quality of life to older adults: an international investigation. *Quality of Life Research* 19, 293–298.
- Molzahn AE, Kalfoss M, Makaroff KS & Skevington SM (2011) Comparing the importance of different aspects of quality of life to older adults across diverse cultures. *Age and Ageing* 40, 192–199.
- Morreall J (1982) A new theory of laughter. *Philosophical Studies* 42, 243– 254.
- Morreall J (1983) *Taking Laughter Seriously*. State University of New York Press, Albany.
- Morreall J (2011) Comic Relief: A Comprehensive Philosophy of Humor (New Directions in Aesthetics). Wiley, Kindle Edition, United Kingdom.
- Mulder MP & Nijholt A (2002) Humour Research: State of the Art. University of Twente, The Netherlands.
- Nikmat AW, Hawthorne G & Al-Mashoor SH (2013) The comparison of quality of life among people with mild dementia in nursing home and home care—a preliminary report. *Dementia* 14, 114–125.
- Pearce JM (2004) Some neurological aspects of laughter. *European Neurol*ogy 52, 169–171.
- Pinar R (2005) Reliability and construct validity of the SF-36 Turkish cancer patients. *Quality of Life Research* 14, 259–264.
- Rejeski WJ & Mihalko SL (2001) Physical activity and quality of life in older adults. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 56, 23–35.
- Renaud J, Levasseur M, Gresset J, Overbury O, Wanet-Defalque MC, Dubois MF, Témisjian K, Vincent C, Carignan M

#### Original article

& Desrosiers J (2010) Health-related and subjective quality of life of older adults with visual impairment. *Disability and Rehabilitation* **32**, 899–907.

- Seaward BL (1992) Humor's healing potential. *Health Progress* 73, 66–70.
- Simpson AN, Simpson KN & Dubno JR (2015) Health-related quality of life in older adults: effects of hearing loss and common chronic conditions. *Healthy Aging Research* 4, 1–5.
- Song MS, Park KM & Park H (2013) The effects of laughter-therapy on moods and life satisfaction in the elderly staying at care facilities in South Korea. *Journal of Korean Gerontology and Nursing* **15**, 75–83.
- Supekar NR, Shimpi AP, Madane AV, Rairikar SA, Shyam AK & Sancheti PK (2014) Role of laughter clubs in promotion of health in community (A case control study). *Indian Journal of Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy* 8, 110–114.
- Taylor-Piliae RE, Hoke TM, Hepworth JT, Latt LD, Najafi B & Coull BM (2014) Effect of Tai Chi on physical function, fall rates and quality of life among older stroke survivors. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 95, 816–824.
- Theeke LA, Goins RT, Moore J & Campbell H (2012) Loneliness, depression, social support, and quality of life in older chronically ill Appalachians. *The Journal of Psychology* **146**, 155–171.
- Thompson WW, Zack MM, Krahn GL, Andresen EM & Barile JP (2012) Health-related quality of life among

older adults with and without functional limitations. *American Journal of Public Health* **102**, 496–502.

- T.R. Prime Ministry State Planning Organization (2007) The Situation of Elderly People in Turkey and National Plan of Action on Ageing. Available at: http:// www.monitoringris.org/new/admin/d ocuments/tools\_nat/trk.pdf (accessed 14 September 2016).
- Tse MM, Lo AP, Cheng TL, Chan EK, Chan AH & Chung HS (2010) Humor therapy: relieving chronic pain and enhancing happiness for older adults. *Journal of Aging Research* 2010, 1–9.
- Turkish Statistical Institute (2014) *Elderly Statistics* 2014. Available at: http:// www.tuik.gov.tr/IcerikGetir.do?istab\_ id=265 (accessed 12 October 2015).
- United Nations (2015) World Population Prospects: The 2015 revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables. Available at: http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/ publications/files/key\_findings\_wpp\_2015. pdf (accessed 12 October 2015).
- de Vries NM, Van Ravensberg CD, Hobbelen JSM, Olde Rikkert MG, Staal JB & Nijhuis-van der Sanden MW (2012) Effects of physical exercise therapy on mobility, physical functioning, physical activity and quality of life in community-dwelling older adults with impaired mobility, physical disability and/or multi-morbidity: a meta-analysis. Ageing Research Reviews 11, 136– 149.
- Ware JE & Gandek B (1998) Overview of the SF-36 Health Survey and the International Quality of Life Assessment

(IQOLA) Project. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 51, 903–912.

- Ware JE Jr & Sherbourne CD (1992) The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care* 30, 473–483.
- Webb E, Blane D, McMunn A & Netuveli G (2011) Proximal predictors of change in quality of life at older ages. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 65, 542–547.
- WHOQOL G (1995) The World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Social Science & Medicine 41, 1403–1409.
- World Health Organization (1998) Division of Mental Health and Prevention of Substance Abuse. WHOQOL and Spirituality, Religiousness, and Personal Beliefs (SRPB). Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/ 70897/1/WHO\_MSA\_MHP\_98.2\_eng. pdf (accessed 10 December 2015).
- World Health Organization (2012) *Good Health Adds Life to Year*. Available at: http://www.who.int/world\_health\_day/ 2012 (accessed 12 October 2015).
- World Health Organization (2015) World Report on Ageing and Health. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstrea m/10665/186468/1/WHO\_FWC\_ALC\_ 15.01\_eng.pdf?ua=1 (accessed 13 October 2015).
- Yakar HK & Pinar R (2013) Reliability and validity of Turkish version of the caregiver quality of life index cancer scale. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention 14, 4415–4419.

### UK Study

Complementary Therapies in Medicine 38 (2018) 85-91

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

#### Complementary Therapies in Medicine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ctim

## Laughter and humour interventions for well-being in older adults: A systematic review and intervention classification

#### F.N. Gonot-Schoupinsky, G. Garip\*

University of Derby Online Learning, University of Derby, Enterprise Centre, Derby DE1 3LD, UK

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Laughter intervention Humour intervention Gelotology Well-being Older adults Systematic review	Objectives: To assess the potential of laughter and humour interventions to increase well-being in a general population of adults aged 60 plus; and to develop a classification to compare approaches and potential benefits of different intervention types.         Design: A systematic search of Web of Science, PubMed/MEDLINE, PsychInfo, AMED, and PsychArticles used inclusive terms relating to laughter and humour interventions. A realist synthesis approach enabled heterogeneous interventions to be compared pragmatically.         Setting: Five laughter interventions, and one humour intervention, using one or more outcome related to wellbeing, were considered for inclusion after screening 178 primary research papers. The five laughter interventions, representing a sample of 369 participants, were retained.         Main outcome measures: Well-being related outcome measures reported in each intervention informed efficacy; Joanna Briggs Institute tools appraised design; and a realist approach enabled heterogeneous interventions to be measured on their overall potential to provide an evidence base.         Results: Well-being related measures demonstrated at least one significant positive effect in all interventions. Confounding factors inherent in the intervention types were observed. Individual participant laughter was not reported.         Conclusions: Laughter and humour interventions appear to enhance well-being. There is insufficient evidence for the potential of laughter itself to increase well-being as interventions contained a range of confounding factors and did not measure participant laughter. Interventions that isolate, track, and measure the parameters of individual laughter are recommended to build evidence for these potentially attractive and low-risk interventions. The classification proposed may guide the development of both evidence-oriented an

#### 1. Introduction

The high prevalence of chronic disease, multi-morbidity, and psychosocial issues in older people necessitates action, including prioritising well-being according to the World Health Organisation (WHO)<sup>1</sup>. Well-being, defined by the WHO (Five) Well-being Index<sup>2</sup> to include feeling cheerful, active, relaxed, rested, and interested in life, is thought to buffer physical and mental disease<sup>3</sup>, and benefit health maintenance in older adults<sup>4</sup>. Laughter is a universal sign of joy<sup>5</sup>. It is contagious and likely evolved prior to language to communicate and elicit mirth<sup>6</sup>. As the psychological and physiological effects of laughter can increase mood, optimism, energy, and cognitive function, and decrease anxiety, stress, loneliness, depression, and tension<sup>7,8</sup> laughter interventions are of interest.

A systematic review of interventions that elicit laughter in older

adults would enable more insight into the effectiveness of using laughter to increase well-being. This review was conducted as none was found, notwithstanding Dr. Mora-Ripoll's<sup>7</sup> encouraging narrative review of the potential of simulated (self-induced) laughter in a range of populations. The International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews listed three ongoing relevant reviews: 1) humour and laughter therapy for people with dementia<sup>9</sup>; 2) the use of humour in palliative care<sup>10</sup>; 3) the effects of laughter yoga on mental health<sup>11</sup>.

Therapeutic laughter has a long history<sup>12</sup>, however the scientific study of laughter (gelotology; *gelos* is Greek for laughter) dates to 1964 when Dr. William Fry, a humour researcher<sup>13</sup>, founded the Institute of Gelotology at Stanford University<sup>14</sup>. Fry highlighted the value of humour and laughter in the aging process<sup>15</sup>, and demonstrated the benefits of laughter on blood pressure and the cardiovascular system<sup>16</sup>. As evidence of the ability of laughter to reduce stress and pain, relax

\* Corresponding author at: University of Derby Online Learning, University of Derby, Room 208, Enterprise Centre, Bridge Street, Derby, DE1 3LD, UK. *E-mail address:* G.Garip@derby.ac.uk (G. Garip).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2018.04.009 Received 26 March 2018; Accepted 25 April 2018 Available online 01 May 2018

0965-2299/ Crown Copyright © 2018 Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

muscles, and benefit the cognitive and immune systems emerged<sup>8,17</sup> laughter therapies were legitimized and developed. Most were based on humour and comedy, for example Patch Adams' clown therapy<sup>18</sup>.

Laughter interventions dispensing with humour (humour though universal<sup>19</sup> is individual<sup>20</sup> and hard to sustain) were popularized by Dr. Madan Kataria in India. Kataria added joke telling to his yoga classes in 1995 to harness the health benefits of laughter. When the jokes ran out he advised participants to 'laugh for no reason'<sup>21</sup>. The idea of 'faking' laughter as therapy was not new<sup>22</sup>, but the scale was. According to Kataria thousands of laughter yoga clubs exist<sup>23</sup> combining breathing techniques with clapping and playful exercises<sup>21</sup>. Laughing qigong, promoted for health in Taiwan since 1998, uses principles of Chinese medicine and emphasizes breathing and core strength<sup>24</sup>.

Laughter is freely available, and has few contraindications<sup>7</sup>, making interventions that elicit laughter attractive for aging populations. European demographics are predicted to catch up with Japan, where over 30% of people are aged 60 plus, by 2050<sup>1</sup>. This research aimed to: 1) ascertain whether laughter and humour interventions are effective in increasing well-being in a general population of older adults; 2) create a practical classification of interventions (none was found) to compare approaches and potential benefits among intervention types, and guide future intervention designs.

#### 2. Methods

Search, appraisal, and synthesis methods were chosen for explicitness, reproducibility and to enable pragmatic comparisons<sup>25,26</sup>. A Web of Science search was undertaken in September 2017 to capture an extensive range of publications in English, since 1970, linking laughter to health. This search was both general, to anchor the review within the overall literature, and targeted. Targeted searching was also undertaken in PubMed/MEDLINE, PsychINFO, AMED and PsychARTICLES between September and November 2017. A PICOS framework<sup>26</sup> supported targeted searching: Population (adults 60 years plus), Intervention (actively involving laughter), Comparison (control trial), Outcome (wellbeing), Study design (all). Results were exported into Covidence<sup>27</sup> to facilitate data management.

Duplicate papers were eliminated to identify 796 individual papers. The preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA)<sup>28</sup> flow chart (Fig. 1) documents the screening process and exclusion criteria. Papers with content relating indirectly to laughter and health, and to pathological, drug-induced, and stimulated (e.g., by tickling) laughter, were excluded. The remaining 442 papers were screened to exclude non-primary research papers and interventions that did not aim to elicit participant laughter; 178 papers were eligible, almost a third relating to adults aged 60 plus.

Six papers focusing on a general population (i.e., not intentionally on specific health issues), with outcome benefits relating to increasing well-being, and mentioning participant laughter, were initially retained: one randomised control trial (RCT), one randomised trial, and four using a quasi-experimental design (QED).

Data extraction was undertaken to compare the papers (Table 1 summarises the five papers retained). A classification of interventions was created to analyse intervention approaches (Fig. 2). Intervention appraisal tools from the Joanna Briggs Institute<sup>29,30</sup> facilitated comparisons between design types and were used to evaluate methodological quality, including data validity and potential biases. One paper, the only defined as a humour intervention<sup>31</sup> and including a laughter 'prescription', was eliminated as it met less than half of the QED appraisal criteria<sup>30</sup>. Analysis of the five papers was conducted using a realist synthesis approach<sup>25</sup> due to intervention heterogeneity.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Overview of interventions

Selected results, and variations in intervention design and type, are illustrated in Table 1. All interventions demonstrated statistically significant and beneficial changes in at least one outcome measure relating to well-being. Intervention types differed, and were analysed using the classification.

#### 3.2. Classification of interventions

The quadrant diagram classification of laughter and humour interventions (Fig. 2) facilitated comparisons. Classification differentiates intervention type and approach in 1) how laughter is induced (humourinduced versus self-induced); and 2) the participant activity content (laughter as the main activity versus laughter as one of multiple activities). Each quadrant represents a different approach. Quadrants to the left (1 and 3) use humour to elicit laughter; those to the right (2 and 4) use self-induced laughter. The top quadrants (1 and 2) use laughter as the main participant activity; the bottom quadrants (3 and 4) are 'busy' as laughter is one of multiple participant activities.

The interventions reviewed were all defined as laughter interventions: laughter yoga (Paper  $1^{32}$ ), a laughter and exercise program (Paper  $2^{33}$ ), laughter qigong (Paper  $3^{34}$ ), and laughter therapy (Paper  $4^{35}$ , and Paper  $5^{36}$ ). Four interventions, classified in quadrant 4, used self-induced laughter, and were 'busy' (Paper  $1^{32}$ , Paper  $3^{34}$ , Paper  $4^{35}$ , and Paper  $5^{36}$ ). Paper  $2^{33}$  comprised two elements, one using humourinduced laughter with laughter as the main activity, classified in quadrant 1, and the second a separate exercise program; overall its approach was 'busy'.

Interventions can be hybrid, and include external non-laughter elements, as with Paper  $2^{33}$ , or include, or exclude, elements from the different quadrants. Paper  $1^{32}$  did not include laughter meditation, recommended in laughter yoga interventions<sup>21</sup>. Paper  $4^{35}$  included laughter meditation, but that element could not be classified as the approach was not reported: laughter meditation can include stretching<sup>37</sup> (quadrant 4), or, just laughing as recommended in laughter yoga (quadrant 2). The humour intervention that was screened and rejected<sup>31</sup> included a laughter 'prescription' that also could not be classified as the approach was not reported.

#### 3.3. Result details

The majority of sample sizes were small. The 369 participants, recruited using convenience or purposive sampling, were split between experimental (212), and control (157) groups. Paper  $1^{32}$  and Paper  $2^{33}$ had no control. High attrition occurred in Paper  $4^{35}$ , with 91 of 200 participant results omitted due to 'insincere' responses. This impacted the final sample size, which was reduced to 273; 158 in the experimental, and 115 in the control groups.

The sample was split almost equally between community dwellers and those in residential care. Various sample biases were observed. Paper  $1^{32}$  included only women, half of whom had a dementia diagnosis, despite the paper not focusing on dementia. Paper  $4^{35}$  reported low socio-economic status and no formal education in the majority of participants. Paper  $2^{33}$  excluded participants with disabilities, and Paper  $3^{34}$  participants with disease-induced physical discomfort.

All five interventions appeared to use consistent and reliable outcome measures, and appropriate statistical analysis for evaluation. Measurements were taken once pre-test and post-test in all interventions, with the exception of Paper  $1^{32}$  which also measured at three points during the interventions. Paper  $2^{33}$  took a second post-test measurement. Paper  $1^{32}$  and Paper  $2^{33}$  had no control, although Paper  $2^{33}$  used a second delayed treatment group in a partial crossover design. None of the interventions recorded whether individual participants

#### F.N. Gonot-Schoupinsky, G. Garip



Fig. 1. PRISMA Flow Chart.

laughed.

Interventions reported beneficial changes in a range of outcome measures relating to well-being. Three used the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS), enabling a closer comparison of results (Table 2). This showed a positive effect from baseline scores in the experimental groups (i.e., a decrease in score). In Paper  $2^{33}$  improvement was only seen in the first treatment group.

Systematic errors<sup>39</sup> threatening the validity of results in interventions with a control or second treatment group were partially addressed. Selection bias was addressed by randomisation (Paper 2<sup>33</sup>, Paper 4<sup>35</sup>), matched treatment groups (Paper 3<sup>34</sup>), or being controlled for (Paper 5<sup>36</sup>). Attrition bias occurred in Paper 4<sup>35</sup> as more attrition occurred in the experimental than in the control group. Performance bias was addressed by Paper 5<sup>36</sup>, and partially by Paper 4<sup>35</sup> where incomplete blinding was reported.

Funding is unlikely to have biased results. Paper  $1^{32}$  was not funded; Paper  $2^{33}$  was supported by Osaka Gas Group Welfare Foundation; Paper  $3^{34}$  was funded by the National Science Council of Taiwan; Paper  $4^{35}$  was supported by Kyungpook National University; Paper  $5^{36}$  mentions no funding.

#### 4. Discussion

The aim of this systematic review was to ascertain whether laughter and humour interventions increased well-being in a general population of older adults. All interventions demonstrated at least one significant and beneficial well-being related outcome which was promising. Methodological limitations, mainly resulting from convenience sampling, prevented the possibility of generalising results. A range of confounding factors made cause and effect conclusions problematic. Laughter measurements were not taken, excluding an evidence-based link between laughter and well-being.

<b>Table 1</b> Selected Details and Re	sults of Interventions Rev	viewed.					
Authors	Location and recruitment	Intervention type and aim	Design type and duration	Sample size (control)	Participant demographics	Outcome Measures	Well-being related results
Paper 1 <sup>32</sup> Ellis, Ben- Moshe, & Teshuva, 2017	Australia Convenience: residents in care homes	Feasibility study of a laughter yoga program	Non-experimental pre- test, post-test (or quasi- experimental) 3 h over 6 weeks (30 min once a week)	Initial: N = 28 (0) Final: N = 28 (0)	Aged 61–96 23 women; 13 with a dementia diagnosis	Positive and Negative Affect Scale (PANAS); General Happiness Scale (GHS); enjoyment questionnaire; blood pressure	Significant positive improvements: PANAS, GHS; blood pressure lowered
Paper 2 <sup>33</sup> Hirosaki et al., 2013	Japan Convenience: community dwellers	Effects of a laughter and exercise program on psychological and physical health	Randomized trial	Initial: $N = 27$ (0) (14 immediate treatment, 13 delaved)	Aged 60 plus 74% women; no disabilities	Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS- 30); self-rated health; a range of blood measurements	Significant increases in self- rated health and correlations to GDS
			20 h over 10 weeks (2 h once a week incl. 50 min watching comedy)	Final: $N = 26 (0)$			
Paper 3 <sup>34</sup> Hsieh, Chang, Tsai, et al., 2015	Taiwan Purposive matched groups: residents in long-term care	Effects of laughter qigong on raising mood and lowering depressive tendencies	Quasi-experimental Up to 8 h over 4 weeks (50 min to 1 h twice a week)	Initial: N = 66 (33) Final: N = 62 (30)	Aged 65 plus 53% women; none suffering physical disease discomfort	Faces Scale (FS); GDS-15; salivary cortisol	Significant positive improvements in FS, GDS, and cortisol
Paper 4 <sup>35</sup> Ko & Youn., 2011	South Korea Convenience: community dwellers	Effects of laughter therapy on depression, sleep, cognition, and quality of life.	Randomized control trial 4 h over 4 weeks (1 h per week)	Initial: N = 200 (100) Final: N = 109 (61)	Aged 65 plus over 70% women; majority low socioeconomic status and no formal education	GDS-15; Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) Insomnia Severity Index (ISI); Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	Significant positive improvements: GDS, SF-36, ISI and PSQI
Paper 5 <sup>36</sup> Song et al., 2013	South Korea Convenience: residents in long term care	Effects of laughter therapy on negative mood and life satisfaction	Quasi-experimental 8 h over 4 weeks (1 h twice a week)	Initial: N = 48 (24) Final: N = 48 (24)	Aged 65 plus; 58% women	Profile of Mood States Brief, Life Satisfaction scale	Significant improvements in mood state and life satisfaction

F.N. Gonot-Schoupinsky, G. Garip

#### Complementary Therapies in Medicine 38 (2018) 85–91

#### 4.1. Limitations

#### 4.1.1. Methodological issues

Small sample sizes, raised as a limitation by most authors, threatened the reliability of the findings. Unrepresentative samples were also an issue: women and participants with no formal education over-represented. In line with a general population of this age<sup>1</sup>, a representative sample would include participants with at least one chronic condition; however such participants were excluded by several papers. Conversely, Paper 1<sup>32</sup> reported almost half of participants had a dementia diagnosis. Sample biases likely impacted the high attrition rate in Paper 4<sup>35</sup>; the authors related it to low participant socio-economic status, although lack of formal education may also have been at cause.

Some flaws in intervention design threatened internal validity. Two interventions had no control. Although one of these used randomized treatment groups, posterior randomization cannot address biases resulting from convenience sampling. Apart from Paper  $1^{32}$ , interventions only took pre- and post-intervention measurements, reducing the possibility of exploring outcomes. The authors of Paper  $5^{36}$  raised the need to take multiple measurements; indeed, additional measurements may have indicated that the inconsistent GDS scores observed in Paper  $2^{33}$  were an exception.

#### 4.1.2. Confounding factors

A variety of confounding factors existed. Had a sufficient number of papers of one type of intervention been available, these may have been reduced. Nevertheless variation within intervention type is not unusual. For instance 'gibberish', or nonsense-speak is recommended in laughter yoga to 'drain out stress'<sup>21</sup>, and some interventions use it<sup>41</sup>, although Paper 1<sup>32</sup> did not, nor did it use laughter meditation that is also often included<sup>21</sup>.

Intervention intensity and length varied from 30 min per week over 6 weeks (Paper  $1^{32}$ ), to 2 h per week over 10 weeks (Paper  $2^{33}$ ). All interventions took place in groups, viewed, for instance, as an important aspect in laughter yoga<sup>21</sup>. However, as socialising can elevate mood, participant well-being may have increased due to being with peers<sup>40</sup>.

Interventions were 'busy' with participants taking part in a range of activities. Four papers using self-induced laughter in quadrant 4 differed in content: laughter yoga (Paper 1<sup>32</sup>) included a 'Tapping body laugh' and chanting, while the laughing qigong (Paper 3<sup>34</sup>) used stretching and the venting of negative emotions. The two laughter therapies also differed. Paper 4<sup>35</sup> included singing, meditating, performing Kegel pelvic muscle exercises, and shoulder massages, while Paper 5<sup>36</sup> used a laughing dance and various games. Fundamentally incompatible approaches were also evident: laughter yoga<sup>21</sup>. The laughter element of Paper 2<sup>33</sup> in quadrant 1 used humour-induced laughter which can be confounding as sense of humour varies; it also included a separate exercise element.

The exercise content in the interventions was confounding as the relationship between exercise and well-being is  $strong^{43}$ . Laughter's ability to benefit body and brain chemistry, including the release of endorphins, to increase well-being and reduce  $stress^{17,42,44}$  is also linked to exercise<sup>45</sup>. An intervention comparing laughter yoga, exercise therapy, and a control in depressed women found laughter yoga and exercise therapy to be superior to the control, but equally beneficial<sup>41</sup>. The authors of Paper 2<sup>33</sup> questioned whether the beneficial effects of their intervention were due to laughter or exercise, and raised the need to investigate the effects of laughter itself.

#### 4.1.3. Absence of laughter evaluation

Measurements of individual participant laughter were not reported, including whether, how often, how intensely, or for how long, each participant laughed. To be fair these interventions were not designed

192

#### Table 2

Comparison of Geriatric	Depression	Scale	Result
-------------------------	------------	-------	--------

Paper	Scale	Pre-test			Post-test		
		Experimental	Treatment2	Control	Experimental	Treatment2	Control
Paper 2 <sup>33</sup>	GDS-30	8.7	8.3	NA	7.1	8.8	NA
Paper 3 <sup>34</sup>	GDS-15	4.91	NA	5.69	3.39	NA	6.37
Paper 4 <sup>35</sup>	GDS-15	7.98	NA	8.08	6.94	NA	8.43

with this in mind, rather they provided useful insight into the positive effects of laughter interventions in group settings and discussed laugher from a group perspective.

The types of intervention used did not facilitate a direct association of outcomes to laughter. Most were situated in quadrant 4, and all were 'busy', including the intervention in quadrant 1 due to it also including a physical exercise element. An approach using laughter as the main activity may have oriented intervention measurements and outcomes to laughter itself.

It may be that laughter is not being taken seriously enough in some intervention designs focused more on good mood in general. For instance, a humour therapy RCT<sup>46</sup> and associated observational study<sup>47</sup> using 'Laughter Bosses' (elder clowns) screened for this review did not mention participant laughter.

#### 4.2. Future research and implications

Data validity and reliability issues observed in these interventions could be addressed by using more representative samples and strengthening intervention methodology. To build evidence for laughter interventions, it would be necessary to identify the effects of laughter itself. Interventions located in the bottom half of the classification, including quadrant 4 where most of the interventions reviewed were located, are prone to confounding factors due to the range of activities they include. Interventions located in the top half of the classification largely avoid this. Interventions located in quadrant 2 (self-induced laughter as the main activity), may be preferable to those in quadrant 1 (humour-induced laughter as the main activity), as a humour stimulus can affect people differently.

Isolating, tracking, and measuring participant laughter could be helpful to: 1) inform an overall evidence base for the use of laughter to



Fig. 2. Classification of Laughter and Humour Interventions.

Note. \*Clown Therapy approaches can differ<sup>18</sup>; \*\*Laughter Prescriptions, e.g., as reported, but not defined, in the humour intervention<sup>31</sup> can use different approaches; \*\*\*Kataria's laughter meditation involves only laughter<sup>21</sup>; \*\*\*\*as recounted by Kataria<sup>21</sup>; \*\*\*\*\* e.g., used as an intervention for Parkinson's<sup>38</sup>; \*\*\*\*\*\*\*includes stretching as defined by the Chopra Centre<sup>37</sup>

#### F.N. Gonot-Schoupinsky, G. Garip

promote health and well-being; 2) explore relationships between laughter parameters and health benefits; 3) design suitable laughter interventions for different populations and settings. A laughter measurement tool, for instance to measure the frequency (occurrence), intensity, and duration of participant laughter, could enable data to be collected and evaluated. Although the parameters of laughter have been explored, gelotology is still in its early stages<sup>48,49</sup>. An easy-to-use laughter measurement tool may be useful for future research.

A qualitative approach to gather knowledge to guide the design of therapies could also be helpful. Almost half of people worldwide aged 60 plus suffer from a disability<sup>50</sup>, and therapies designed with a focus on laughter as the main activity (in quadrants 1 and 2), may be particularly relevant. Laughter-focused data could support a more strategic approach to future applied gelotology by illuminating the most efficient ways of employing laughter in population-appropriate interventions.

#### 5. Conclusions

Laughter interventions can have a positive effect on well-being in adults aged 60 and over. Nevertheless cause and effect inferences are inconclusive due to intervention designs containing too many confounding factors, and not being oriented to measuring laughter. Future interventions designed to isolate, track, and measure individual participant laughter may provide more conclusive data to inform an evidence base. The laughter and humour intervention classification proposed may guide future intervention designs. New and more practical interventions eliciting and measuring participant laughter, and beneficial to both participants and researchers, may support future research into the positive effects of laughter.

#### Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

#### References

- World Health Organisation (WHO). World Health Report on Ageing and Health Geneva: WHO Press; 2015 [Retrieved from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/ 186463/1/9789240694811\_eng.pdf?ua = 1].
- World Health Organisation (WHO). WHO (five) Well-being Index (1998 Version). Denmark: WHO Collaborating Center for Mental Health; 1998 [Retrieved from: https://www.psykiatri-regionh.dk/who-5/Documents/WHO5\_English.pdf].
- Seligman MP. Positive health. Appl Psychol. 2008;57(Suppl. 1):3–18. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00351.x.
- Steptoe A, Deaton A, Stone AA. Subjective well-being, health, and ageing. *Lancet*. 2015;385(9968):640–648. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61489-0.
   Sauter DA, Eisner F, Ekman P, et al. Cross-cultural recognition of basic emotions
- through nonverbal emotional vocalizations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010;107(6):2408–2412. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908239106.
- Martin R, Kuiper NA. Three decades investigating humor and laughter: an interview with professor Rod Martin. *Eur J Psychol.* 2016;12(3):498–512. http://dx.doi.org/10. 5964/ejop.v12i3.1119.
- Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: a narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. *Complement Ther Med.* 2011;19(3):170–177.
- Berk RA. The active ingredients in humor: psychophysiological benefits and risks for older adults. *Educ Gerontol.* 2001;27(3–4):323–339. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 036012701750195021.
- Stevens J, Avila C. Humour and laughter therapy for people with dementia: a mixed methods systematic review. Prospero 2013. 2013; 2013 [CRD4201300257. Retrieved from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?RecordID = 25711.
- Cuervo-Pinna M. The use of humour in palliative care. Prospero 2015. 2015; 2015 [CRD42015020080. Retrieved from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/ display\_record.php?RecordID = 20080].
- Bressington D, Yu C, Wong W. The effects of laughter yoga on mental health: a systematic review. Prospero 2017. 2017; 2017 [CRD42017076673. Retrieved from: https://www.

#### Complementary Therapies in Medicine 38 (2018) 85-91

crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?RecordID = 76673]. 12. Adams JD, Garcia C. The advantages of traditional chumash healing. *Evid Based* 

- Adams JD, Garcia C. The advantages of traditional chumash healing. Evid Based Complement Altern Med Ecam. 2005;2(1):19–23.
- Fry WJ. Sweet Madness: A Study of Humor. Palo Alto, CA, US: Pacific Books Publishers; 1963http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/11790-000.
- Godfrey JR. Toward optimal health: the experts discuss therapeutic humor. J Women's Health. 2004;13(5):474–479. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ 1540999041280972.
- Fry W. Humor, physiology, and the aging process. In: Nahemov L, McCluskey-Fawcett K, McGhee P, eds. *Humor and Aging*. Orlando, Florida: Academic Press; 1986:81–98.
- 16. Fry WF, Savin WM. Mirthful laughter and blood pressure. Humor. 1988;1(1):49-62.
- Berk LS, Tan SA, Fry WF, et al. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter? Am J Med Sci. 1989;298(6):390–396.
- Adams P. Humour and love: the origination of clown therapy. *Postgrad Med J.* 2002:78(922):447–448.
- Fry WF. The biology of humor. Humor. 1994;7(2):111–126. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1515/humr.1994.7.2.111.
- 20. Calisher CH. What is funny and what is not? Croat Med J. 2008;49(1):120-127.
- 21. Kataria M. Laugh for No Reason. Mumbai, India: Madhuri International; 1999.
- 22. Goodheart A. Laughter Therapy. Santa Barbara, California: Less Stress Press; 1994.
- Khatchadourian R. The Laughing Guru: Madan Kataria's Prescription for Total Wellbeing. The New Yorker.; 2010 [Retrieved from: https://www.newyorker.com/ magazine/2010/08/30/the-laughing-guru].
- Chang C, Tsai G, Hsieh C. Psychological, immunological and physiological effects of a Laughing Qigong Program (LQP) on adolescents. *Complement Ther Med*. 2013;21(6):660–668. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2013.09.004.
- Rycroft-Malone J, McCormack B, Hutchinson A, et al. Realist synthesis: illustrating the method for implementation research. *Implement Sci.* 2012;7(1):33.
- Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD). Systematic Reviews: CRD's Guidelines for Undertaking Systematic Reviews in Healthcare. York, UK: CRD; 2009 [Retrieved from: https://www.york.ac.uk/media/crd/Systematic\_Reviews.pdf].
- Covidence. Accelerate Your Systematic Review. Australia: Covidence; 2017 [Retrieved from: www.covidence.org].
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Int J Surg.* 2010;8(5):336–341. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.007.
- Joanna Briggs Institute, The (JBI). Checklist for Randomized Controlled Trials. Australia: The University of Adelaide; 2017 [Retrieved from: https://joannabriggs. org/assets/docs/critical-appraisal-tools/JBI\_RCTs\_Appraisal\_tool2017.pdf].
- Joanna Briggs Institute, The (JBI). Checklist for Quasi-experimental Studies. Australia: The University of Adelaide; 2017 [Retrieved from: http://joannabriggs.org/assets/ docs/critical-appraisal-tools/JBI\_Quasi-Experimental\_Appraisal\_Tool2017.pdf].
- Mathieu SI. Happiness and humor group promotes life satisfaction for senior center participants Activities. Adapt Aging. 2008;32(2):134–148.
- Ellis JM, Ben-Moshe R, Teshuva K. Laughter yoga activities for older people living in residential aged care homes: a feasibility study. Aust J Ageing. 2017;36(3):E28–E31.
- Hirosaki M, Ohira T, Kajiura M, et al. Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community-dwelling elderly in Japan: randomized controlled trial. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2013;13(1):152–160. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00877.
- Hsieh C, Chang C, Tsai G, et al. Empirical study of the influence of a laughing qigong program on long-term care residents. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2015;15(2):165–173. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12244.
- Ko H, Youn C. Effects of laughter therapy on depression, cognition and sleep among the community-dwelling elderly. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2011;11(3):267–274. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010.00680.x.
- Song MS, Park KM, Park H. The effect of laughter therapy on mood and life satisfaction in older adults staying at nursing facilities. *Korean Gerontol Nurs Soc.* 2013;15(1):75–83.
- Eisler M. Laughter Meditation: 5 Healing Benefits and a 10-minute Practice. USA: The Chopra Centre; 2017 [Retrieved from: https://www.chopra.com/articles/laughtermeditation-5-healing-benefits-and-a-10-minute-practice#sm. 00000feb55h6aodmcx7oueki0gt951.
- Bega D, Palmentera P, Wagner A, et al. Laughter is the best medicine: the second city<sup>\*</sup> improvisation as an intervention for Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. 2017:3462–3465. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.11.001.
- Cochrane. Cochrane Methods Bias: Assessing Risk of Bias in Included Studies. London, UK: Cochrane; 2017 [Retrieved from: http://methods.cochrane.org/bias/assessingrisk-bias-included-studies].
- **40.** Wolff F. Well-being of elderly people living in nursing homes: the benefits of making friends. *Kyklos.* 2013;66(1):153–171.
- Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, et al. Laughter yoga versus group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2011;26(3):322–327.
- Miller M, Fry WF. The effect of mirthful laughter on the human cardiovascular system. Med Hypotheses. 2009;73(5):636–639. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy. 2009.02.044.
- 43. Penedo FJ, Dahn JR. Exercise and well-being: a review of mental and physical health

#### F.N. Gonot-Schoupinsky, G. Garip

#### Complementary Therapies in Medicine 38 (2018) 85-91

benefits associated with physical activity. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2005;18(2):189-193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00001504-200503000-00013.

- 44. Yim J. Therapeutic benefits of laughter in mental health: a theoretical review. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2016;239(3):243–249. http://dx.doi.org/10.1620/tjem.239.243.
   Hrastnik B. P-77 Physiological changes during exercise. Br J Sports Med.
- 2016;50(Supplement 1):A74-A75.
- 46. Low L, Brodaty H, Goodenough B, et al. The Sydney multisite intervention of laughterbosses and elderclowns (SMILE) study: cluster randomised trial of humour therapy in nursing homes. BMJ Open. 2013;3(1)http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002072.
- 47. Low L, Goodenough B, Fletcher J, et al. The effects of humor therapy on nursing

home residents measured using observational methods: the SMILE cluster randomized trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2014;15(8):564-569. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jamda.2014.03.017.

- Ruch W, Ekman P. The expressive pattern of laughter. In: Kaszniak A, ed. *Emotion, Qualia and Consciousness.* Tokyo, Japan: Word Scientific Publisher; 2001:426–443.
   Provine RR. Laughter as a scientific problem: an adventure in sidewalk neuroscience.
- J Comp Neurol. 2016;524(8):1532-1539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.23845.
- 50. United Nations. The Division for Social Policy and Development Disability: Aging and Disability. New York, USA: United Nations Secretariat for the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities; 2017 [Retrieved from: https://www.un.org/ development/desa/disabilities/disability-and-ageing.html].

### Effect of Laughter Yoga on Mood and Heart Rate Variability in Patients Awaiting Organ Transplantation: A Pilot Study

Rima Dolgoff-Kaspar, PhD; Ann Baldwin, PhD; M. Scott Johnson; Nancy Edling; Gulshan K. Sethi, MD

#### ABSTRACT

**Context** • Research shows that laughter has myriad health benefits, yet the medical community has not implemented it formally as a treatment. Patients awaiting organ transplantation have significant physical disabilities and are at risk for psychological distress. Attenuated heart rate variability (HRV) is a risk factor for a negative long-term outcome in some patients.

**Objective** • The study intended to evaluate the clinical utility of laughter yoga in improving psychological and physiological measures in outpatients awaiting organ transplantation. Positive results would indicate promising areas to pursue in a follow-up study.

**Design** • Six participants met for 10 sessions over 4 weeks. The research team measured each participant's heart rate, HRV, blood pressure (BP), and immediate mood before and after the laughter and control interventions. The team assessed participants' longer-term mood (anxiety and depression) at the study's initiation, after a no-treatment control week, and at the end of the study.

Setting • The study occurred at the Department of Surgery and Medicine at the University of Arizona Health Sciences Center, Tucson.

**Participants** • Participants were patients awaiting transplants (three heart and three lung), two women and four men (ages 51-69 y). Participants had received no major surgery in the 3 months prior to the intervention, did not have a hernia or uncontrolled hypertension, and did not fall into the New York Heart Association function class 4.

Rima Dolgoff-Kaspar, PhD, is a psychologist/neuropsychologist, Sierra Tucson, Tucson, Arizona, and was postdoctoral research associate, Department of Surgery and Medicine, Arizona Health Sciences Center, University of Arizona, Tucson. Ann Baldwin, PhD, is a research professor, Departments of Physiology and Psychology, University of Arizona. M. Scott Johnson is director, Breathworks Institute, Tucson. Nancy Edling was a lead cardiothoracic transplant coordinator, Department of Surgery and Medicine, Arizona **Intervention** • The 20-minute laughter intervention involved breathing and stretching exercises, simulated laughter (ie, unconditional laughter that is not contingent on the environment), chanting, clapping, and a meditation. The 20-minute control intervention involved the study's personnel discussing health and study-related topics with the participants.

**Outcome Measures** • The research team measured BP, heart rate, and HRV and administered the Profile of Mood States, Beck Anxiety Inventory, and Beck Depression Inventory-II to evaluate immediate and longer-term mood. The team had planned quantitative statistical analysis of the data at the study's initiation but did not complete it because the number of enrolled participants was too low for the analysis to be meaningful. The team visually examined the data, however, for trends that would indicate areas to examine further in a follow-up study.

**Results** • Participants showed improved immediate mood (vigor-activity and friendliness) and increased HRV after the laughter intervention. Both the laughter and control interventions appeared to improve longer-term anxiety. Two participants awaiting a lung transplant dropped out of the study, and no adverse events occurred.

**Conclusion** • This pilot study suggests that laughter yoga may improve HRV and some aspects of mood, and this topic warrants further research. (*Altern Ther Health Med.* 2012;18(4):53-58.)

Health Sciences Center. Gulshan K. Sethi, MD, is a professor, Department of Surgery and Medicine, Arizona Health Sciences Center, and director Medical Services, Arizona Center for Integrative Medicine, University of Arizona.

*Corresponding author: Rima Dolgoff-Kaspar, PhD. E-mail: rimadk@gmail.com* 

(( aughter is the best medicine": Empirical research on laughter supports this folk wisdom, showing that laughter can have a variety of psychological and physiological health benefits, including improved coping skills, enhanced mood and feelings of well-being, decreased discomfort, and a higher pain tolerance as well as reduced neuroimmune and stress markers.<sup>1-6</sup> Laughter can increase natural killer cell activity,17 endothelial-dependent vasodilatation,8 and heart rate, respiration rate, and oxygen consumption.9 Considering the variety of health benefits, researchers Christie and Moore think that humor might be an excellent clinical intervention.<sup>6</sup> Most controlled research on laughter has involved exposing participants to humorous videos. It remains unclear whether laughter associated with other conditions, including simulated laughter (ie, unconditional laughter that is not contingent on the environment), might have similar results.

Practitioners in India developed the practice of laughter yoga, and it combines unconditional laughter with pranayama (the rhythmic control of breath), stretching, and meditation.<sup>10</sup> Individuals can practice it in a group setting or alone. Madan Kataria, MD, an East Indian physician and founder of Laughter Yoga International, developed a popular form of laughter yoga. The research team based the current intervention on his teachings, and the methods section describes this practice more fully. Practitioners have attributed a variety of health benefits anecdotally to laughter yoga; however, investigators have performed minimal controlled research on it. One study showed significant improvements in workplace stress levels and selfefficacy.<sup>11</sup> A therapeutic intervention based on laughter yoga is potentially an ideal intervention because patients can practice it alone, in a short time period, and without the need for other resources.

Heart rate variability (HRV) is a measure of the balance between the parasympathetic nervous system, which decreases the heart rate and increases the relaxation response via the vagus nerve, and the sympathetic nervous system, which increases both the heart rate and the activation response. These systems are the two arms of the autonomic nervous system. Each arm produces different frequency oscillations of the heart rate, allowing for a comparison of their relative contributions in regulating heart rate. Karemaker and Lie found that attenuated HRV, which reflects more sympathetic activity, is related to reduced vagal activity.<sup>12</sup> Attenuated HRV is a risk factor strongly associated with poor long-term outcomes, including mortality, in cardiac patients.<sup>13</sup>

The current study was an effort to evaluate the clinical utility of laughter yoga in improving psychological and physiological measures in outpatients awaiting organ transplantation. These patients have significant physical disabilities and are at risk for psychological distress<sup>14</sup>; thus they potentially could benefit from such an intervention. The research team also chose this population because the participants were within the realm of the researchers' clinical expertise and were accessible. The team hypothesized that the practice of laughter yoga would increase HRV, decrease blood pressure (BP), and improve immediate and longer-term mood. If the researchers were to find positive results, they would interpret them as encouraging areas to pursue in a follow-up study.

#### METHODS

#### Participants

Over a period of approximately 3 months, the research team recruited participants who were patients of the Department of Surgery and Medicine at the University of Arizona's Health Sciences Center, Tucson. Participants were adults awaiting solid organ transplantation (three heart and three lung), two women and four men (ages 51-69 y). Participants had received no major surgery in the past 3 months, did not have a hernia or uncontrolled hypertension, and did not fall into the New York Heart Association function class 4. None of the participants were on vasopressors or intravenous ionotropes. The University of Arizona's internal review board approved the study, and the research team obtained informed consent from each participant prior to the study.

#### Procedures

Participants formed one group who received control and laughter yoga interventions over a period of 4 weeks. The study started with a control period of 1 week during which the participants completed control interventions at the beginning and end of this week. After the control period, participants completed seven laughter yoga sessions over a period of 3 weeks. The research team thought that this time period was the minimum amount of time necessary to see clinical results from the practice and also to be feasible for patients' participants completed one additional control intervention at the termination of the study.

#### Interventions

Laughter Yoga Intervention. A laughter yoga therapist, certified by Laughter Yoga International, conducted the intervention. The 20-minute laughter yoga sessions consisted of three parts: (1) simple breathing and stretching exercises (5 min); (2) alternation of laughter exercises (eg, imitating laughter on a cell phone) with rhyhmic clapping, chanting, movement while maintaining eye contact with others, gentle stretching, and deep breathing (10 min); (3) quiet, seated, deep breathing and guided meditation (5 min).

Control Intervention. The control intervention

consisted of participants and research team members sitting in a circle and discussing topics in an open format for 20 minutes. Topics included (1) the study's procedures and logistics; (2) personal introductions, including personal backgrounds; (3) participants' medical histories and experiences with stress; and (4) closing remarks and review of participants' experiences in the study.

#### **OUTCOME MEASURES**

On all three control days and on two of the treatment days (weeks 3 and 4), the research team administered the Profile of Mood States<sup>15</sup> questionnaire to participants and measured their BP, heart rate, and HRV immediately before and after the relevant intervention. Participants additionally turned in the Beck Anxiety Inventory<sup>16</sup> and the Beck Depression Inventory-II<sup>17</sup> at the study's initiation, after the initial control week, and at the conclusion of the study.

#### **Psychological Measures**

To determine the state of participants' psychological functioning, the research team administered questionnaires to measure the following:

Fluctuations in Current Mood. The research team used the Profile of Mood States, which is a self-report survey with 65 items in seven different scales: (1) tension-anxiety, (2) depression-dejection, (3) anger-hostility, (4) vigor-activity, (5) fatigue-inertia, (6) confusion-bewilderment, and (7) friendliness.

**Anxiety**. The research team used the Beck Anxiety Inventory, which is a self-report scale of anxiety over the prior week, with 21 items contributing to a total score ranging from 0 to 63.

**Depression**. The research team used the Beck Depression Inventory-II, which is a self-report scale of depression over the prior 2 weeks, with 21 items contributing to total score ranging from 0 to 63.

#### **Physiological Measures**

To determine participants' physiological states, the research team measured the following:

Systolic and Diastolic Blood Pressure. The research team measured this function using a digital BP monitor with a wrist cuff.

Heart Rate. The research team measured this function using a blood-volume pulse sensor (emWavePC, HeartMath LLC, Boulder Creek, California) attached to the participant's earlobe.

Heart Rate Variability. The research team measured this function using the free Kubios HRV Version 2.0 software available online at http://kubios.uku.fi, which calculates HRV from the standard deviation of the beat-to-beat interval obtained from the heart-rate data (SDNN). The team also calculated the root mean square of successive differences in beat-to-beat intervals (RMSSD), an established measure of vagal activity.

#### DATA ANALYSIS

The research team had planned quantitative statistical analysis of the data at the study's initiation but did not complete it because the number of enrolled participants was too low for the analysis to be meaningful. The researchers visually examined the data, however, for trends that would indicate areas to examine further in a follow-up study. The team compared predata and postdata—from immediately before and after the intervention—on control days vs laughter days. For the Profile of Mood States questionnaire, pre-to-post changes in scores were calculated for each of the seven factors, averaged across day type (control vs laughter) and compared.

#### RESULTS

Participants were four men and two women who were awaiting either lung or heart transplantation (Table 1). No patients met the exclusion criteria, so the team excluded no one. One heart patient previously had undergone heart transplantation 10 years prior to the study. The enrolled

Table 1. Participant Characteristics and Outcome Data					
<u>No.</u>	Gender	Age, y	Transplant Type		
1	М	51	Heart		
2	М	69	Lung		
3	М	67	Heart		
4	F	54	Lung		
5	F	59	Lung		
6	М	59	Heart		

number of participants was lower than planned due to an unanticipated limited pool of available patients at the time of the study's recruitment. Two lung participants dropped out of the study for medical and personal reasons.

#### **Psychological Measures**

**Immediate Mood.** The Profile of Mood States produced a snapshot of mood immediately before and after the intervention. Substantial increases on the vigor-activity and friendliness factors occurred on the laughter days compared to the control days (Table 2). For the vigor-activity factor, scores increased by an average of 8 on laughter days, while they decreased by an average of 9.33 on control days (difference of 17). This factor includes the following descriptions: lively, active, energetic, cheerful, alert, full of pep, carefree, and vigorous. For the friendliness factor, scores increased an average of 9 on laughter days, while they decreased by 1.66 on control days (difference of 10.66). This factor may be related statistically to the vigor-activity factor, but it still provides useful information. It includes the following descriptions: friendly, clear-headed, considerate, sympa-

 Table 2. Profile of Mood States

Factor	C1	C2	C3	СМ	I1	I2	IM	CM vs IM
Tension-anxiety	-18	-8	-4	-10	-10	-1	-5.5	-4.5
Depression-dejection	-12	0	9	-1	-1	-2	-1.5	0.5
Anger-hostility	-1	3	-4	-0.66	2	0	1	-1.66
Vigor-activity	-5	-7	-16	-9.33	7	9	8	-17.3
Fatigue-inertia	-16	-1	-4	-7	-5	-11	-8	1
Confusion-bewilderment	-9	2	2	-1.66	-7	0	-3.5	1.84
Friendliness	2	7	-14	-1.66	7	11	9	-10.66

**Abbreviations**: C, Pre-to-post change in scores across participants by control day (1-3) and mean (m); I, pre-to-post change in scores across participants by intervention day (1-2) and m; CM vs IM, m control change score vs m intervention change score.

Table 3. Beck A	Anxiety Invent	tory	
ID	Baseline	Post- control	Post- intervention
1	4	2	3
2	25	17	9
3	(18)	(12)	_
4	(23)	(8)	_
5	24	13	11
6	6	8	6
mean $(n=4)$	14.75	10	7.25

Table 4. Beck Depression Inventory							
ID	Baseline	Post- control	Post- intervention				
1	5	1	2				
2	19	29	13				
3	(4)	(3)	—				
4	(23)	(23)	_				
5	15	17	21				
6	2	6	5				
mean $(n=4)$	10.25	13.25	10.25				

thetic, helpful, good-natured, and trusting.

Both the control and laughter interventions produced improvements on the fatigue-inertia and tension-anxiety factors. The changes were comparable for fatigue (decreases of 7 for control and 8 for laughter; difference of 1), while for tension, the control days actually showed greater reductions (decreases of 10 vs 5.5; difference of 4.5). Of note, the largest changes on the control days occurred on the first and last days of the study. No meaningful pre-to-post differences in scores existed between the groups on the factors depression-dejection, anger-hostility or confusion-bewilderment.

**Longer-term Mood.** The Beck Anxiety Inventory revealed mild reductions in anxiety across the study, showing a mean score of 14.75 at the study's initiation, 10 after the control week, and 7.25 at termination (Table 3). There were no meaningful differences in scores on the Beck Depression Inventory-II (mean score of 10.25 at study initiation, 13.25 after control week, and 10.25 at termination) (Table 4). Researchers should note that two of four participants began the study with minimal levels of anxiety and depression, and no room for improvement existed for these participants.

#### **Physiological Measures**

Heart rate data were available for only three participants (all heart) because one participant was not present for all of the measurements. In these participants, consistent pre-topost increases occurred in both of the HRV measures after the laughter therapy intervention. Considering that the results were similar across days, the data were averaged for ease of interpretation (average of 2 laughter days: SDNN increased by 56% and RMSSD by 32%; Figure 1a). The results for the control days were variable (Figures 1b-1d), with consistent increases on the first control day (SDNN by 38% and RMSSD by 47%), no consistent changes on the second control day, and decreases on the last day (SDNN by 31% and RMSSD by 35%). Additionally, all participants consistently showed a small increase in diastolic BP after the laughter therapy days (ranging from 3% to 23%). No other consistent changes in BP or heart rate occurred.

#### DISCUSSION

Prior research has recorded HRV in healthy volunteers to average 48 mean  $(m) \pm 22$  (standard deviation [SD]) for





6.m

7th

least.

worst

Abbreviations: RMSSD, root mean square of seccesive differences; SDNN, standard deviation of beat-to-beat interval.

SDNN and 43 m ± 29 (SD) for RMSSD.18 In the current study, the participants often had baseline SDNN scores at the low end or below this value. Additionally, RMSDD was considerably below normal for all participants, suggesting reduced vagal stimulation (Figure 1b). The research team's results showed that participation in the laughter yoga intervention increased HRV measures for both SDNN and RMSDD so that participants' scores were within or closer to the normal ranges. Atrial stretch from increased venous return and/or some sympathetic reinnervation after transplantation may have caused the improved HRV in the participant with the transplanted heart.<sup>19</sup> Considering the association of attenuated HRV with mortality in cardiac patients,<sup>13</sup> these results suggest some potential therapeutic significance.

6 8 10 12 14 16 18

yes

120 no no

Ves

Systemic analoesics before radiation

Local analgesics at end of therapy

Local analgesics after 40 Gy

The study's results also suggested that laughter yoga may increase feelings related to liveliness, activation, cheerfulness, and friendliness. This finding was unique to the laughter intervention, as during the control days, overall decreases occurred in these areas. Improvements in tension and fatigue (immediate mood) and anxiety (longer-term) related to participation in the study also occurred. These reductions may have been due to general participation in the study, however, rather than being uniquely associated with the laughter condition.

In addition to the encouraging findings associated with laughter yoga, the control days had interesting physiological and psychological results. The first control day, which involved introductions to the study and the other participants, appeared to have some positive health benefits because the participants showed increases in HRV and decreases in tension, fatigue, confusion, and depression. It is likely that hope for the study's benefits had some therapeutic qualities that influenced these areas. By the second control day, however, these changes were absent for all measures except tension. On the final control day, decreases in HRV, vigor, and friendliness and increases in depression occurred. This result may have been due to a slight feeling of loss and disappointment that the study was ending. In future studies, it might be useful to consider these skewed treatment effects and to use controls that fall in the middle of the study.

The results did not show consistent improvements in heart rate or BP. A previous study suggested that post-laughter decreases in BP were small and highly time sensitive.<sup>9</sup> Also, no consistent improvements in immediate depression, anger, or confusion or in longer-term depression occurred. The general lack of initial mood elevations in these areas may have influenced the lack of changes in these domains.

The research team's findings of improved HRV and some aspects of mood after participation in the laughter intervention are consistent with prior research that has shown improved physiological and psychological benefits to laughter. It is not possible to determine which specific component of the laughter yoga intervention—laughter, breathwork, stretching, meditation, or some combination of these—was the underlying factor for the positive findings in the study. As the research team hoped to develop a new clinical intervention, we were more interested in the therapeutic utility of laughter yoga as a whole rather than in the specific mechanisms involved.

#### CONCLUSION

The study's findings provide preliminary evidence that laughter yoga could indeed be a beneficial therapeutic practice. Considering the small sample size, limited follow-up period, and lack of quantitative statistics, researchers should interpret the results with caution. Nevertheless, the findings are encouraging and suggest the need for further research. Future studies may borrow from the methodology outlined here, perhaps targeting other populations with attenuated HRV and increased risk for mood disturbances. Future studies might also explore the specific mechanisms that underlie the observed clinical benefits.

#### REFERENCES

- Takahashi K, Iwase M, Yamashita K, et al. The elevation of natural killer cell activity induced by laughter in a crossover designed study. *Int J Mol Med.* 2001;8(6):645-650.
- Mahony DL, Burroughs WJ, Hieatt AC. The effects of laughter on discomfort thresholds: does expectation become reality? J Gen Psychol. 2001;128(2):217-226.
- Weisenberg M, Raz T, Hener T. The influence of film-induced mood on pain perception. Pain. 1998;76(3):365-375.
- Berk LS, Tan SA, Fry WF, et al. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. Am J Med Sci. 1989;298(6):390-396.
- Berk LS, Felten DL, Tan SA, Bittman BB, Westengard J. Modulation of neuroimmune parameters during the eustress of humor-associated mirthful laughter. *Altern Ther Health Med.* 2001;7(2):62-72, 74-76.
- Christie W, Moore C. Impact of humor on patients with cancer. *Clin J Oncol Nurs*. 2005;9(2):211-218.

- Bennett MP, Zeller JM, Rosenberg L, McCann J. The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Altern Ther Health Med.* 2003;9(2):38-45.
- Miller M, Mangano C, Park Y, Goel R, Plotnick GD, Vogel RA. Impact of cinematic viewing on endothelial function. *Heart.* 2006;92(2):261-262.
- Fry WF, Savin WM. Mirthful laughter and blood pressure. Humor. 1988;1(1):49-62.
- Sutorius D. The transforming force of laughter, with the focus on the laughing meditation. *Patient Educ Couns*. 1995;26(1-3):367-371.
- Beckman H, Regier N, Young J. Effect of workplace laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs. J Prim Prev. 2007;28(2):167-182.
- Karemaker JM, Lie KI. Heart rate variability: a telltale of health or disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2000;21(6):435-437.
- Galinier M, Pathak A, Fourcade J, et al. Depressed low frequency power of heart rate variability as an independent predictor of sudden death in chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J.* 1999;21(6):475-482.
- 14. Mai F. Psychiatric aspects of heart transplantation. *Br J Psychiatry*. Sep 1993;163:285-292.
- McNair D, Lorr M, Droppleman L. Manual for the Profile of Mood States. San Diego, CA: Educational and Industrial Testing Service; 1971.
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown G. Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory-II. 2nd ed. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation; 1996.
- 17. Beck AT, Steer RA. *Beck Anxiety Inventory Manual*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation; 1990.
- Zollei E, Csillik A, Rabi S, Gingl Z, Rudas L. Respiratory effects on the reproducibility of cardiovascular autonomic parameters. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*. 2007;27(4):205-210.
- Bernardi L, Bianchini B, Spadacini G, et al. Demonstrable cardiac reinnervation after human heart transplantation by carotid baroreflex modulation of RR interval. *Circulation*. 1995;92(10):2895-2903.



# Embodied Emotion Modulates Neural Signature of Performance Monitoring

#### Daniel Wiswede<sup>1,2,4</sup>, Thomas F. Münte<sup>1,3</sup>\*, Ulrike M. Krämer<sup>1</sup>, Jascha Rüsseler<sup>1</sup>

1 Department of Neuropsychology, Otto-von Guericke Universität Magdeburg, Magdeburg, Germany, 2 Department of Psychosomatic Medicine, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany, 3 Center for Behavioral Brain Science, Magdeburg, Germany, 4 Hanse Institute for Advanced Study, Delmenhorst, Germany

#### Abstract

**Background:** Recent research on the "embodiment of emotion" implies that experiencing an emotion may involve perceptual, somatovisceral, and motor feedback aspects. For example, manipulations of facial expression and posture appear to induce emotional states and influence how affective information is processed. The present study investigates whether performance monitoring, a cognitive process known to be under heavy control of the dopaminergic system, is modulated by induced facial expressions. In particular, we focused on the error-related negativity, an electrophysiological correlate of performance monitoring.

*Methods/Principal Findings:* During a choice reaction task, participants held a Chinese chop stick either horizontally between the teeth ("smile" condition) or, in different runs, vertically ("no smile") with the upper lip. In a third control condition, no chop stick was used ("no stick"). It could be shown on a separate sample that the facial feedback procedure is feasible to induce mild changes in positive affect. In the ERP sample, the smile condition, hypothesized to lead to an increase in dopaminergic activity, was associated with a decrease of ERN amplitude relative to "no smile" and "no stick" conditions.

**Conclusion:** Embodying emotions by induced facial expressions leads to a changes in the neural correlates of error detection. We suggest that this is due to the joint influence of the dopaminergic system on positive affect and performance monitoring.

Citation: Wiswede D, Münte TF, Krämer UM, Rüsseler J (2009) Embodied Emotion Modulates Neural Signature of Performance Monitoring. PLoS ONE 4(6): e5754. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754

Editor: Bernhard Baune, James Cook University, Australia

Received July 9, 2008; Accepted May 1, 2009; Published June 1, 2009

**Copyright:** © 2009 Wiswede et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: Supported by grants from the DFG (SFB 779-A5) to TFM. Also supported by the BMBF (contract 01GO0202). DW was a fellow of the Hanse-Wissenschaftskolleg (Hanse Institute for Advanced Study) in Delmenhorst while writing this article. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

\* E-mail: Thomas.Muente@med.ovgu.de

#### Introduction

It has been shown that people who are adopting an emotionspecific posture report to experience this emotion [1], show behavior congruent with the emotion [2], or show emotion-specific changes in autonomic nervous system activity [3]. For example, people rate cartoons to be funnier when they have a pen between their teeth in a way that leads to contraction of the musculus zygomaticus major, a muscle essential for smiling [2], compared to a control condition requiring to hold the pen vertically between the lips. The latter posture prevents participants from smiling. Similarly, Havas, Glenberg, & Rinck [4] observed that the amount of time to judge the valence of a sentence is influenced by the kind of emotion that is induced from holding a stick in the mouth. For both positions of the stick in the mouth (between the teeth, i.e. smiling, between the lips, i.e. frowning) judgment times were faster when facial posture and sentence valence matched than when they were incongruent. Intriguingly, people are not usually aware that they are smiling [2]. This excludes alternative explanations based on people's selfperception, for example that people perceive themselves to be smiling and infer to be happy. However, one might argue that people are set in an emotional state, because they feel silly or funny when holding a pen in the mouth during an experiment. Strack and

colleagues [2] elegantly excluded this alternative by introducing the "hold the pen with the lips" condition (see figure 1 for assumed facial expression): here, participants are prevented from smiling, but there is no reason to assume that they feel less silly or funny compared to the "pen between the teeth" condition. All in all, these findings suggest that by assuming a facial expression of a body posture, the corresponding affect is induced. This "embodying of emotion" [1] is thought to be brought about by the fact that reinstantiation of an activation pattern in one system (e.g., facial muscles typically active when "happy") can cascade down to other systems to install the full activation pattern associated with the particular emotion. In some sense the recent interest in embodying of emotions echoes the classical work by James [5] and Lange [6]. In his 1884 paper, James [5] ascertained that a "mental state is not immediately induced... [but] that the bodily manifestations must first be interposed between, and that the more rational statement is that we feel sorry because we cry, angry because we strike, afraid because we tremble, and not that we cry, strike, or tremble, because we are sorry, angry, or fearful, as the case may be. Without the bodily states following on the perception, the latter would be purely cognitive in form, pale, colourless, destitute of emotional warmth."

The question arises how this embodiment of emotion in the sense of James [5] and, more recently, Niedenthal [1] is brought about. Importantly, recent data on the so-called mirror neuron



**Figure 1. Experimental setup.** The photos show the typical facial expressions induced by the chop stick in the smile and no-smile conditions. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.q001

system (MNS) have pointed to a role of this system in social cognition [7-10] and more specifically in emotion recognition [11]. The MNS has been first identified in monkeys: mirror neurons located in the inferior frontal cortex but also in a number of other brain areas fire not only when an action is performed by the monkey but also when the same action is observed. Recently, fMRI studies in humans have shown a relation of brain activity in regions harboring mirror neurons and an individual's empathic feelings [12-14] likely because activity of the MNS allows the recognition of an emotion. The link to the aforementioned literature on embodied emotions is provided by studies that have implied the MNS in the spontaneous mimicry of emotional facial expressions [15] in order to internally simulate the perceived emotion and to aid its understanding. For example, the prevention of facial mimicry impairs the detection of a change in emotional facial expressions [16]. Another crucial experiment was reported by Oberman et al. [17]. These authors tested recognition of facial expressions (happy, disgust, fear, sad) and blocked mimicry by having their participants either bite on a pen or chew a gum. The bite manipulation in particular interfered with the recognition of happiness suggesting that assuming a facial expression is necessary for its recognition and, by extension, its experience.

In the present investigation we go a step further by examining the influence of assumed facial expressions thought to induce positive affect on performance monitoring. Indeed, positive affect makes people react differently. There is accumulating evidence that positive affect facilitates problem solving [7,8], memory performance [9], executive attention [10], and a variety of other cognitive task. Ashby and colleagues [11] argue that positive affect is associated with an increased brain dopamine level in a variety of dopaminergic structures, among them the mesocorticolimbic system, prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex. These structures are involved in reward and reward prediction (e.g., the ventral tegmental area, which is highly interconnected to the Nucleus Accumbens) [12–15] as well as cognitive control [16–18]. The mesencephalic dopamine structures and their interactions with the prefrontal cortex are also central in research on performance monitoring, which includes the detection and correction of errors and the adaptation of behavioral strategies to minimize errors in subsequent trials. According to the reinforcement learning hypothesis of error processing [19], inspired by earlier work on animals [20,21], error commission results in decreased activation of the mesencephalic dopamine system. This, in turn, leads to a phasic disinhibition of the anterior cingulate cortex, which is reflected by brain activation to error

#### Embodied Emotion & Monitoring

trials in choice reaction time tasks [22–24] as well as by an increased negative amplitude of event-related brain potentials (ERP). Specifically, when ERPs are obtained time-locked to choice errors, an "error related negativity" (ERN, sometimes also Ne, for error negativity) emerges [25,26] which onsets around the commission of the error and peaks around 100 ms with a medio-frontocentral maximum.

The ERN can be modulated by motivational and emotional factors. It is increased in participants scoring high on scales for anxiety and worry [27,28], in participants suffering from obsessive-compulsive disorder who often have comorbid depressive symptoms [29–31] and after presentation of negative IAPS pictures [32,33]. In contrast, if and how positive emotions influence performance monitoring is not known. Possible indirect evidence comes from drug studies but has to be regarded with caution: Alcohol, which induces pleasant feelings, and oxazepam, a benzodiazepine derivative with anxiolytic properties, reduce ERN amplitude [34,35].

The present study therefore examines how induced facial expressions modulates ERN amplitude. Following Ashby and colleagues [11], we hypothesized that induced smiles (positive affect) increases dopaminergic activity in various brain regions, among them the mesencephalic dopamine system and the prefrontal cortex. This increase in dopaminergic activity should offset the phasic decrease in this neurotransmitter induced by performance errors and, hence, we expected a decreased ERN amplitude in a smile vs. a no-smile condition. Normal participants were studied in a typical flanker experiment (see figure 1) in three conditions (stick between the teeth: "smile", stick held with the upper lip: "no smile", control "no stick"). Since participants were to remain naïve regarding the intended emotional modulation, the effectiveness of the facial feedback procedure was tested in a separate sample.

#### Results

#### Induction of emotion

- a) In the behavioral sample: After the experiment, subjects of the "non-smile" condition scored lower on the EWL-60-S-scale "general well-being", whereas subjects of the smile condition scored higher (t(28) = 2.3, p < 0.03). There were no differences on the scales "extraversion/introversion" and "anxiety" (figure 2). Gender differences could not be examined in detail due to the limited number of male subjects in the sample.
- b) In the ERP sample: No formal assessment of induced mood was conducted to leave the participants naïve with regard to the emotion induction manipulation. After the experiment, participants were asked informally whether they felt differently with varying stick positions. While three participants reported that they felt "positive", "good" or "happy" in the "smile"-condition, no such response was obtained in the "no smile"-condition.

**Behavioral data.** Reaction times and error rates are given in table 1. Erroneous responses were faster than correct responses, but the three facial feedback conditions did not influence reaction times (*correctness*: F (1,21) = 339.4, p<.001; *expression*: F (2,42) = 2.3, p<.11, interaction: F (2,42) = 1.45, p<.24). Responses were faster following congruent flankers (HHHHH and SSSSS) compared to incongruent flankers (HHSHH and SSHSS) but the congruency effect was not modulated by *expression* (*congruency*: F (1, 21) = 265.1; p<.001; *expression*: F (2,42) = .87, p<.42; *congruency* by *expression*: F (2,42) = .78, p<.45). However, facial feedback modulation had a



Figure 2. Results of the EWL-60-S questionnaire; Data were collected on a separate sample, Facial Feedback group is coded by line color. Items summarized according to the EWL-60-S-manual. Scores are based on difference post-experimental EWL-60-S minus pre-experimental EWL-60-S results; positive values indicate that people loaded higher on this scale after completion of the EEG experiment. Error bars indicate +/-1 SE. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.q002

small, but significant impact on error rates (congruency: F (1, 21)=251.95; p<.001; expression: F (2,42) = 4.7, p<.014; congruency×expression: F (2,42) = 2.47, p<.10) mean error rates: congruent flanker: 5.6%; incongruent flanker: 18.9% see table 1 for detailed error rates. However, post hoc comparison revealed that the difference was seen between the smile and the no-stick condition (t = 3.2; p <.005). There were no differences between the smile and the non-smile condition.

Participants showed significant post error slowing (F (1,21) = 28.99, p<.001) but this was not modulated by *expression* (*F* (2,42) = 0.61, *p*<.94, see table 2).

#### Response-locked ERPs

Response-locked averages showed a typical ERN response that peaked at about 70 ms post stimulus (figure 3) and was most pronounced over the medial frontal scalp (electrodes Fz, Cz, FC1, FC2). Visual inspection indicated a considerably smaller ERN amplitude in the smile condition, whereas the ERPs to the correct stimuli were not modulated by facial expression. Moreover, spline

エートリ		Deet even	-	مستبييها	
lapi	ie z.	• Post-error	S	iowind	J

Errors	Overall	smile	no-smile	no stick
Postcorrect trials	391	393	392	389
Posterror trials	418	417	416	421

Correct responses following erroneous responses (posterror trials) are compared with correct responses following response-matched correct responses (postcorrect trials). Reaction times are given in milliseconds. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.t002

interpolated isovoltage maps of the ERN did not reveal differences in scalp distribution between conditions (see figure 4).

Statistical analysis was conducted separately for correct and erroneous responses (mean amplitude 20 to100 ms; Fz, Cz, FC1, FC2). The reduced ERN for the smile condition led to a main effect of expression for the error trials (F (2,42) = 5.20; p<.01), with post-hoc comparisons showing that the smile condition was different from both, the no-smile and no-stick condition (both p<0.05). No significant effect of *expression* was seen for correct trials (F (2,42) = 1.76; p<.19).

#### Discussion

Inducing a smiling facial expression by holding a pen between the teeth led to an increase in general well-being (behavioural sample) and to an increase in error rate accompanied by a reduction of the error-related negativity (ERN), a prominent neurophysiological marker of performance monitoring. Thus, the experimental manipulation was successful with regard to our main target of observation and the direction of amplitude change conformed to our expectations derived from the reinforcement learning theory of the ERN [19]. This theory specifies that error detection involves the dopaminergic midbrain and that a performance error is associated with a phasic decrease of dopamine that is transmitted to the medial prefrontal cortex, where the ERN is released. Recent invasive measurements corroborated this account by showing that error-related activity is also present in the Nucleus accumbens, a structure heavily innervated by dopaminergic activity [31].

In their model of dopamine and positive affect, Ashby and coworkers [11] propose that positive affect leads to an increased dopamine release in the midbrain (nigrostriatal and mesocorticolimbic system) and in frontal brain regions. Thus, inducing positive mood elevates the tonic dopamine level. Following work on the embodying of emotion [1,2,4] and in particular investigations examining the facial feedback hypothesis [36–40] we assume that

		overall	smile	no-smile	no stick
Reaction times in ms	Correct	395	394	395	397
	Correct/congruent	379	377	379	381
	Correct/incong.	424	424	423	425
	Error	336	333	337	338
Error rates in percent	Errors	10.9	11.5	10.8	10.4
	Errors/congruent	5.6	5.9	5.3	5.6
	Errors/incongruent	18.9	19.9	19.1	17.6

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.t001

#### Table 1. Reaction times and error rates.



Figure 3. Response-locked ERPs on midline electrodes FZ and CZ for correct (thin lines) and erroneous (thick lines) responses. Stick-positions are coded by line style. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.g003

our manipulation led to mildly positive affect. As a consequence, the dopamine level in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) should be tonically increased [11]. Increased dopamine levels in the midbrain and in the ACC due to the induced positive affect might counteract the phasic reduction in dopamine activity [19] and cause a weaker disinhibition of the ACC. This might be the neural mechanism that leads to the decreased ERN-amplitude we observed in the "smile"-condition of the current experiment. Ashby and Casale [41] proposed a computational model that simulates the tonic dopamine increase by positive affect. They showed that their model is able to generate results like the one we obtained here by simply changing the numerical value of the two parameters assumed to be affected by the dopamine level (parameters  $K_{\rm ampa}(Da)$  and  $K_{\rm e}(Da)$  in the model).

The present study supplements earlier findings from our group [32,33] where short-term presentation of negative IAPS-pictures prior to the execution of a flanker task lead to an increase in ERN-amplitude. In our earlier work, positive IAPS-pictures presented immediately prior to the flanker stimuli did not lead to a change in ERN-amplitude. This might be explained by the computational model mentioned above [41], according to which positive affect must last at least 30 s to affect dopamine level.

The clear reduction of the ERN amplitude in the smile condition was accompanied by an increase in error rates, which fits with previous notions that positive affect is associated with decrements in performance quality [42,43]. By contrast, facial expression had no influence on other behavioral measures in the flanker task such as reaction times and post error slowing. A dissociation of behavioral measures and ERN changes has been reported repeatedly (e.g. [27–29]) and it remains to be shown whether a more profound positive mood change would affect reaction times and post-error slowing in addition to error rates.

The present ERP experiment involved only female participants. Several lines of evidence indicate that emotional expressions might differ between male and female. For example, it has been shown that woman generate facial electromyographic pattern of greater magnitude and report stronger experience of emotion while imagining emotional situations [44]. Thus, if emotional experience corresponds more strongly to facial expressions in women, manipulation of facial expression might also lead to a stronger emotional response in women. Others have argued, however, that



Figure 4. Spline-interpolated isovoltage maps depicting the mean amplitude in a time window 20 to 100 ms of the difference wave "error" minus "correct". Relative scaling is used with lighter shades representing more negative amplitudes. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005754.g004

facial feedback might be more powerful in men than women, because the former might be more sensitive to physiological changes [45]. Facial feedback effects have been previously described in a female only sample [46]. Thus, it remains to be explored whether the ERN effects might be generalized to a male population as well.

To sum up, the present study for the first time shows that induced facial expressions known to lead to positive affect leads to reduced activity of the performance monitoring and error detection system. Previous research has shown that positive affect may lead to increased cognitive flexibility [42,43]. The present results are compatible with this earlier finding: positive affect might lead to less emphasis on error avoidance and thus allow the subject more flexible behavior.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Participants

ERP study: Twenty-five right-handed women took part in the experiment. Data from 3 participants had to be excluded (two participants due to high and uncorrectable artifact levels, one participant mixed up stick-positions (see below)). Thus, data were analyzed from 22 women (mean age 22 years, range 17 to 28) all having normal or corrected to normal vision. As previous research on mood induction (for example using pictures with emotional content) has revealed gender differences and more pronounced effects in women, we included only female participants in the ERP study. Please note that this also ensured comparability with previous research on emotional modulation of the ERN [32,33].

Behavioral sample: There was a separate sample to assess changes in short-term psychological state, consisting of 30 participants (21 female, mean age 25, range 19 to 53).

Participants received course credit or  $\in 6.50$  per hour after completion of the experiment and gave written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Magdeburg.

#### Stimuli and Procedure

**Flanker-task.** A trial consisted of the following sequence, timing is provided in brackets: fixation cross (600 to 800 ms, mean 700 ms), flanker stimulus until response (see Fig. 1). Flanker stimuli consisted of black capital letters ("Courier new" font) H or S presented in front of a gray background (128, 128, 128 in RGB color space). A congruent flanker string was either HHHHH or SSSSS; incongruent flanker strings were SSHSS or HHSHH. Flankers were presented in random order. There were 60% congruent and 40% incongruent trials. They covered 2.1° of visual angle in width. Participants were asked to respond as fast and as correct as possible to the central letter of the flanker string. They responded with a left-hand button to the H and with a right-hand button to the S.

The experiment consisted of 2100 trials. A feedback screen was presented after every 30 trials, informing the participants whether they had been faster or slower than in the previous 30 trials. This procedure was introduced to keep participants attending and to maintain fast responses. Participants terminated the feedback screen by button press. After 210 trials (1 block), there was a break for 15 seconds. Participants could request longer breaks if necessary.

**Induction of facial expression.** Affective state was modulated on a block-wise basis. At the beginning of each block, participants were asked to either

- hold a Chinese disposable chopstick horizontally between the teeth ("smile"-condition),
- hold a stick vertically with the upper lip only ("no-smile"condition) or
- have no stick in the mouth ("no stick"-condition).

Three blocks of each condition were performed in a quasirandomized manner (restriction: the same condition could not be performed in two successive blocks). Thus,  $3 \times 210 = 630$  trials were obtained for each condition.

Sham story. Participants were not informed about the intended affective modulation. Thus, to explain why they were required to hold a chopstick with either the lips or between the teeth, the following sham story was introduced: Participants were told that the present ERP study examines how facial muscle artifacts influence ERP recordings. To demonstrate muscle artifacts, the experimenter presented the participants with their own EEG on the presentation computer prior to the beginning of the experiment. Participants were asked to blink and to move the eyes so that clearly detectable blink artifacts were visible in the EEG-tracings. Now that participants knew that eve artifacts severely impact ERP recordings, they were told that researchers know how to handle eye artifacts, but that little is known about how to handle muscle artifacts generated by the mouth and ervated by different chop stick positions. At the end of the experiment, a questionnaire asked the participants to explain the purpose of the experiment. None of them was suspicious about the cover story. After the completion of the experimental session, participants were debriefed.

Assessment of emotional state. Since it was intended by the cheek muscles. Thus, to examine this in detail, mouth and cheek muscles will be inn to leave the participants naïve regarding the emotion induction procedure, it was necessary to test the effectiveness of the facial feedback procedure on a separate sample. Thirty subjects, all participants of another ERP study in our lab, were asked to fill out the EWL-60-S [47,48] after completion of the ERP setup procedure. The EWL-60-S is an established German questionnaire to assess short-term changes in

psychological state; it is a shortened version of the German adjective list "Eigenschaftswörterliste" [48] and well-suited to before and after treatment [47]. The EWL-60-S consists of 60 items, summarized to 6 scales. In the present study, we restricted to the scales "extraversion/introversion" (in this context, extraversion is not treated as a personality trait, but refers to a person's present mood state [49]), "general well-being" and "anxiety", each consisting of two subscales and 8 items. After completion of the questionnaire, participants received the same sham story as the ERP sample of the current experiment. They were randomly allocated to hold the chopstick for five minutes either in the "smile" position or in the nonsmile position. After that, they filled out a rearranged version of the EWL-60-S.

#### Data recording and analysis

Recordings were conducted in an electrically shielded recording chamber equipped with a Neuroscan EEG amplifier. Participants were seated in a comfortable chair at a distance of 80 cm to the screen. Stimuli were presented on a 19 inch analog monitor. Chamber illumination was slightly dimmed.

The electroencephalogram (EEG) was recorded from 29 positions including all 19 standard locations of the 10/20 system with tin electrodes mounted in an elastic cap relative to a reference electrode placed on the tip of the nose. Eye-movements were recorded with electrodes affixed to the right and left external canthi (horizontal electrooculogram (hEOG), bipolar recording) and at the left and right orbital ridges (vertical electrooculogram (vEOG), bipolar recording). Impedances of all electrodes were kept below 10 k $\Omega$ . Biosignals were amplified with a band-pass from 0.05 to 30 Hz and stored with a digitization rate of 250 Hz. Prior to ERP data analysis, all trials containing eye artifacts were corrected using a blind component separation [50]. Artifacts on recording channels were rejected based on individual peak-to-peak amplitude criteria using a special purpose program with individual thresholds between 50 and 100 µV. Stimulus-locked ERPs (onset of emotional picture and onset of flanker stimulus) were averaged for epochs of 1024 ms starting 100 ms prior to stimulus onset for stimulus-locked data analysis and 200 ms prior to response for response-locked analysis. The pre-stimulus period served as a baseline for ERP-computation. All ERP figures and all ERP statistics are based on unfiltered data (except band-pass from 0.05 to 30 Hz during recording).

ERPs were generated relative to a 200 ms pre-response baseline. Consistent with previous research [51], only responses given within 200 to 800 ms after flanker stimulus onset were included in ERP analysis and behavior data. Statistical analysis was based on the factors *correctness* (correct vs. erroneous responses) and *expression* (stick position; "smile", "no smile", "no stick"). The ERN was quantified by a mean amplitude measure (20–100 ms) for frontocentral electrodes (averaged across electrodes FC1, FC2, Fz, Cz).

Reaction times (only reactions given in a 200–800 ms post stimulus window) and error rates (percentage) were obtained and entered into ANOVA statistics. We also examined post error slowing. This term refers to the fact that often correct responses directly following an erroneous response (post-error trials) are slower relative to trials that follow correct responses (post-correct trials; e.g. [52,53]). However, since responses for erroneous trials are usually faster than for correct trials, this effect could be caused by regression toward the mean. As fast responses are relatively rare, it is more likely that a fast response is succeeded by a slower response. To distinguish between post-error effects caused by regression towards the mean from "pure" error-induced RT slowing, a subset of correct trials was selected that matched the erroneous trials in terms of reaction time and total number (see [27] for a similar procedure). Thus, the selected correct trials belong to the faster responses among all correct trials. Reaction times of correct trials given directly after those response-matched correct trials (post-correct trials) and response times of correct responses given directly after an erroneous response (post-error trials) provide the basis for post-error slowing analysis.

Emotional state in separate sample: EWL-60-S-scales were compared between the "smile" and the "no-smile" group via independent t-tests based on the difference post-treatment-score minus pre-treatment-score.

#### References

- Niedenthal PM (2007) Embodying emotion. Science 316: 1002–1005. Strack F, Martin LL, Stepper S (1988) Inhibiting and facilitating conditions of 1
- 2 the human smile: a nonobtrusive test of the facial feedback hypothesis. J Pers Soc Psychol 54: 768-777.
- Ekman P, Levenson RW, Friesen WV (1983) Autonomic nervous system activity distinguishes among emotions. Science 221: 1208–1210. Havas DA, Glenberg AM, Rinck M (2007) Emotion simulation during language
- 4. comprehension, Psychonomic Bulletin & Review 14: 436-441. James W (1884) What is an Emotion? Mind 9: 188-205 (available online at:
- 5. http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/James/emotion.htm).
- Lange CG (1912) The mechanisms of emotion. In: Rand B, ed. The Classical Psychologists. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, pp. 672-684. (available online at: http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/Lange/. Isen AM (2001) An influence of positive affect on decision making in complex
- 7. situations: Theoretical issues with practical implications. Journal of Consumer Psychology 11: 75-85.
- 8. Isen AM, Daubman KA, Nowicki GP (1987) Positive affect facilitates creative problem solving. J Pers Soc Psychol 52: 1122–1131. Lee AY, Sternthal B (1999) The effects of positive mood on memory. Journal of
- 9. Consumer Research 26: 115–127.
- 10. Ashby GF, Valentin VV, Turken U (2002) The effects of positive affect and arousal on working memory and executive attention. In: Moore SC, Oaksford M, eds. Emotional cognition: from brain to behaviour. Amsterdam [u.a.]: Benjamins. pp 245–287.
- 11. Ashby FG, Isen AM, Turken AU (1999) A neuropsychological theory of positive affect and its influence on cognition. Psychol Rev 106: 529-550.
- Schultz W (2000) Multiple reward signals in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 1: 12. 199 - 207
- Schultz W (2002) Getting formal with dopamine and reward. Neuron 36: 13. 241-263.
- Tobler PN, Dickinson A, Schultz W (2003) Coding of predicted reward omission 14 by dopamine neurons in a conditioned inhibition paradigm. J Neurosci 23:  $10402{-}10410.$
- Ungless MA (2004) Dopamine: the salient issue. Trends in Neurosciences 27: 15. 702-706.
- Badre D, Wagner AD (2002) Semantic retrieval, mnemonic control, and 16. prefrontal cortex. Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews 1: 206-218.
- 17. Badre D, Wagner AD (2007) Left ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and the cognitive control of memory. Neuropsychologia 45: 2883-2901.
- Ridderinkhof KR, Ullsperger M, Crone EA, Nieuwenhuis S (2004) The role of 18. the medial frontal cortex in cognitive control. Science 306: 443-447.
- 19. Holroyd CB, Coles MG (2002) The neural basis of human error processing: reinforcement learning, dopamine, and the error-related negativity. Psychol Rev 109: 679-709
- 20. Hollerman JR, Schultz W (1998) Dopamine neurons report an error in the temporal prediction of reward during learning. Nature Neuroscience 1: 304-309.
- Schultz W, Tremblay L, Hollerman JR (1998) Reward prediction in primate 21. basal ganglia and frontal cortex. Neuropharmacology 37: 421–429.
  22. Carter CS, Braver TS, Barch DM, Botvinick MM, Noll D, et al. (1998) Anterior
- cingulate cortex, error detection, and the online monitoring of performance. Science 280: 747–749.
- Garavan H, Ross TJ, Kaufman J, Stein EA (2003) A midline dissociation 23. between error-processing and response-conflict monitoring. Neuroimage 20: 1132-1139.
- 24. Ullsperger M, von Cramon DY (2003) Error monitoring using external feedback: specific roles of the habenular complex, the reward system, and the cingulate motor area revealed by functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 23: 4308–4314.
- 25. Falkenstein M, Hohnsbein J, Hoormann J, Blanke L (1991) Effects of crossmodal divided attention on late ERP components. II. Error processing in choice reaction tasks. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 78: 447-455.
- Gehring WJ, Goss B, Coles MGH, Meyer DE, Donchin E (1993) A neural 26. system for error detection and compensation. Psychological Science 4: 385-390.
- Hajcak G, McDonald N, Simons RF (2003) Anxiety and error-related brain 27. activity. Biological Psychology 64: 77-90.

#### Acknowledgments

Thanks to Nadine Strien and Peggy Tausche for support in data collection.

#### **Author Contributions**

Conceived and designed the experiments: DW TFM. Performed the experiments: DW UMK JR. Analyzed the data: DW UMK JR. Wrote the paper: TFM JR.

- 28. Hajcak G, McDonald N, Simons RF (2004) Error-related psychophysiology and negative affect. Brain Cogn 56: 189-197.
- 29. Gehring WJ, Himle J, Nisenson LG (2000) Action-monitoring dysfunction in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychol Sci 11: 1-6
- 30. Hajcak G, Simons RF (2002) Error-related brain activity in obsessive-compulsive undergraduates. Psychiatry Research 110: 63–72. Münte TF, Heldmann M, Hinrichs H, Marco-Pallares J, Krämer UM, et al.
- 31. (2007) Nucleus Accumbens is Involved in Human Action Monitoring: Evidence from Invasive Electrophysiological Recordings. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience 1: 11.
- 32. Wiswede D $\left(2007\right)$  Emotional modulation of memory encoding and performance
- monitoring. Göttingen: Sierke. XI, 203 S p. Wiswede D, Münte TF, Goschke T, Rüsseler J (2009) Modulation of the error-related negativity by induction of short-term negative affect. Neuropsychologia 47: 83-90.
- 34. Johannes S, Wieringa BM, Nager W, Dengler R, Munte TF (2001) Oxazepam alters action monitoring. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 155: 100-106.
- 35. Ridderinkhof KR, de Vlugt Y, Bramlage A, Spaan M, Elton M, et al. (2002) Alcohol consumption impairs detection of performance errors in mediofrontal cortex. Science 298: 2209–2211.
- Zuckerman M, Klorman R, Larrance DT, Spiegel NH (1981) Facial, autonomic, and subjective components of emotion: the facial feedback hypothesis versus externalizer-internalizer distinction. J Pers Soc Psychol 41: 929-944
- 37. Matsumoto D (1987) The role of facial response in the experience of emotion: more methodological problems and a meta-analysis. J Pers Soc Psychol 52: 769-774.
- McCanne TR, Anderson JA (1987) Emotional responding following exper-38. imental manipulation of facial electromyographic activity. J Pers Soc Psychol 52: 759-768.
- 39. Hess U, Kappas A, McHugo GJ, Lanzetta JT, Kleck RE (1992) The facilitative effect of facial expression on the self-generation of emotion. Int J Psychophysiol 12: 251-265.
- Soussignan R (2002) Duchenne smile, emotional experience, and autonomic 40. reactivity: a test of the facial feedback hypothesis. Emotion 2: 52-74
- 41. Ashby FG, Casale MB (2003) A model of dopamine modulated cortical activation. Neural Netw 16: 973-984.
- Dreisbach G (2006) How positive affect modulates cognitive control: The costs 42. and benefits of reduced maintenance capability. Brain and Cognition 60: 11-19.
- 43. Dreisbach G, Goschke T (2004) How positive affect modulates cognitive control: reduced perseveration at the cost of increased distractibility. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn 30: 343–353.
- 44. Schwartz GE, Brown SL, Ahern GL (1980) Facial muscle patterning and subjective experience during affective imagery: sex differences. Psychophysiology 17: 75-82.
- 45. McIntosh DN (1996) Facial feedback hypotheses: Evidence, implications, and directions. Motivation and Emotion 20: 121-147.
- Ohira H, Kurono K (1993) Facial feedback effects on impression formation. 46. Percept Mot Skills 77: 1251-1258.
- Janke W, Debus G (1996) EWL 60 S. In: (Hrsg.) IPS, editor. Internationale 47 Skalen für Psychiatrie, Göttingen: BELTZ Test. pp 43–47. Janke W, Debus G (1930) Die Eigenschaftswörterliste : EWL ; eine
- 48. mehrdimensionale Methode zur Beschreibung von Aspekten des Befindens ; Handanweisung. Göttingen [u.a.]: Hogrefe. 139 S p.
- Weber CS, Thayer JF, Rudat M, Perschel FH, Buchholz K, et al. (2007) 49. Emotional irritation before mental stress is associated with enhanced peripheral norepinephrine. Scand J Psychol 48: 459–466.
- Joyce CA, Gorodnitsky IF, Kutas M (2004) Automatic removal of eye movement 50. and blink artifacts from EEG data using blind component separation. Psychophysiology 41: 313–325.
- 51. Hajcak G, Moser JS, Yeung N, Simons RF (2005) On the ERN and the significance of errors. Psychophysiology 42: 151-160.
- Rabbitt PMA (1981) Sequential reactions. In: Holding D, ed. Human skills. New 52. York: Wiley. pp 153–175. Rabbitt PMA (2002) Consciousness is slower than you think. QJ Exp Psychol A
- 53. 55: 1081-1092.



### Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India

#### **Angeline K\* and Madhavi R**

Medical and Surgical Nursing Dept, Kasturba Gandhi Nursing College, India

**Research Article** 

Volume 2 Issue 2 Received Date: March 02, 2018 Published Date: May 09, 2018

**Corresponding author:** Mrs. Kripa Angeline, Associate Professor, Medical and Surgical Nursing Dept, Kasturba Gandhi Nursing College, Puducherry, India, Email: angelinekripa@gmail.com

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To evaluate the effects of laughter Yoga on selected haemodynamic variable of hypertensive patients.

Design: quasi experimental design.

Setting: Magalir Maruthava Maiyam Veeriamplayam, Coimbatore.

**Sample:** Forty samples diagnosed to have hypertension were selected for the study, of which 20 were assigned to the control group.

**Outcome measures:** Haemodynamic variables namely blood pressure pulse and mean arterial pressure were measured before each session of laughter Yoga and after laughter Yoga and recorded.

**Intervention:** laughter Yoga techniques were practiced by the patients for 20-30 minutes. It was given at one session per day for 5 days.

**Results:** Subjects who received laughter Yoga reported significant reduction in blood pressure of 125.15/82.2.25 mm of Hg than 140.50/91.50mm of Hg in control group, pulse 79.86 than87.6 in control group, MAP of 97.79 than 108.33 in control group. There was no association between haemodynamic variable and demographic variables of age, sex and BMI. **Conclusion:** The results supported that the incorporation of laughter Yoga as one of the best alternative therapy to reduce hypertension.

Keywords: Laugh Therapy; Hypertension

#### Introduction

Nearly seventy percent of the diseases have their roots in stress. There are many ways to remove the stress. Laughter is one of the great ways to distress. Laughter harmonizes all the sense organs in a moment of total concentration. There is no human being who never wishes to laugh [1]. It is a simple form of stress busting and very effective self care tool [2]. Hypertension is one of the important causes of mortality and morbidity in the elderly in India. Nearly 60-80% of the elderly population has high blood pressure for which early identification and adequate treatment of hypertension is of prime necessity [3]. The American Accreditation Health Care Commission reports that inadequately controlled hypertension are the major factor for the higher mortality rate from heart disease. It adds on further stating that nearly one billion people worldwide have hypertension. Less than half of these people are on medication and only half of this group has their blood pressure under control with such agents. Prolonged blood pressure elevation eventually damages blood vessels through the body. The high prevalence of hypertension in the general population makes the identification and treatment of affected patients, a top priority for clinicians [4,5]. Laughter Yoga is now recognized as one of the suitable alternative therapy in lowering hypertension. A hundred laughs a day is equal to 10minutes of morning jogging or workout on a rowing machine or 15 minutes on a stationery exercise making it an excellent aerobic workout.

#### Need for the Study

The prevalence of hypertension has been increasing in developing countries; and community surveys have documented that it is more prevalent among the Indians between the third and sixth decades of their life. Hypertension is a major modifiable risk factor for cardiovascular disease, which accounts for 57 and 24% of all deaths due to stroke and coronary heart disease respectively Around 5.3 lakh Indians die of hypertension related coronary disease every year and the figure is likely to double each year. It has been found in a study from Northern India that incidence of hypertension increased from 3.98 per cent in 1963 to 26.78 in 2000 among men while the incidence rate role from 6.647 per cent to 27.65 per cent among women [4-7]. In this 21st century the attention is focused on alternative therapies like relaxation, meditation, laugh therapy, aroma therapy along with pharmacological management. The investigator during the clinical experience found that more number of hypertensive patients was visiting the hospital that had poor psychological well-being too. Many articles and reports provide generalized statements on the benefits of laugh therapy in various disorders. Hence forth the investigator was motivated to create empirical evidence on the efficacy of laugh therapy in hypertension and psychological well-being. This will also provide a sound scientific base principle for implementing this laugh therapy as a nursing intervention for hypertensive patient's clients to provide a holistic care. With this motive the investigator embarked a rigorous research to test the efficacy of laugh therapy on selected haemodynamic variables and psychological well-being of hypertensive patients [8].

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Effect of Laughter yoga Therapy on Selected Haemodynamic Variables of Patients with Hypertension at, Veeriampalayam, Coimbatore.

### **Open Access Journal of Cardiology**

#### **Objectives of the Study**

- 1. To assess selected haemodynamic variables of patients with hypertension before and after laughter yoga.
- 2. To compare the selected haemodynamic variables of hypertensive patients who receive laughter yoga with those who do not receive laughter yoga.
- 3. To associate the selected demographic variables with changes in haemodynamic variables.

#### **Methodology**

#### **Research Approach**

Experimental research approach was adopted for the study as it was intended to assess the effectiveness of effects of laugh therapy on selected haemodynamic variable and psychological well-being of hypertensive patients

#### **Research Design**

The present study was a quasi experimental study in nature as it involves manipulation and matched control without randomization.

#### **Study Setting**

The study was conducted at Magalir Maruthuva Maiyum, Veeriampalayam Ciombatore. This rural centre is an annexure of Kovai Medical Center and Hospital, a multi-user speciality hospital in Coimbatore. The rural centre runs with an outpatient department from 9:00am to 5:00 pm and adequately equipped to treat in patients with minor ailments. About 40 patients in around Veeriampalayam, Kalapatti, and Karuparayanpalayam visit the outpatient department every day. Nearly 80 patients have been identified to have hypertension in that locality who visits the outpatient department for treatment.

#### **Study Population**

The population of the study included patients visiting the rural centre who were identified to have primary hypertension

#### Sample and Sample Size

Male and female patients visiting the rural centre who were identified to have primary hypertension and those who fulfill the criteria, where selected as sample. The sample size of the study was 40 patients out of which 20 patients were assigned to the control group and 20 were assigned to experimental group. The groups were

Angeline K and Madhavi R. Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India. J Cardiol 2018, 2(2): 000120.

matched for variables such as age and intake of antihypertensive agents.

#### **Criteria for Sample Selection**

The following were the criteria set for the selection of sample for this study.

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

- 1. Patients who were diagnosed to have primary hypertension with the blood pressure ranging from 140-180/90-110mm of Hg.
- 2. Both male and female those who were above the age of 20

#### **Exclusion Criteria**

- 1. Patients with coexisting disease like IHD, bronchial asthma, cerebrovascular accident, tuberculosis and other respiratory infections.
- 2. Patients with known psychiatric illnesses.
- 3. Patients with either visual or hearing impairment.

#### **Sampling Technique**

The samples who met the inclusion criteria during the data collection were selected using Convenient sampling technique.

#### **Procedure for Data collection**

The data collection as planned was done for a period of one month. The formal permission to conduct the study was obtained from the medical officer of Veeriampalayam Magalir Maruthuva Maiyam. The patients were selected on the basis of selection criteria. The data was collected in the following pattern. List of clients who had primary hypertension were obtained. The investigator established good rapport with the patients and the purpose of the study was explained to the subjects to ensure their cooperation. In the control group the pretest and post test measures of the haemodynamic variables were obtained for 5 days between 10-11 A.M. which was most convenient time for all the patients. The control group was on the routine treatment during this period. In the experimental group the haemodynamic variables were measured 15-20 minutes before and after laughter yoga. Each subject received 5 session of laughter yoga therapy for 5 days. The blood pressure was measured using calibrated sphygmomanometer and stethoscope. The same sphygmomanometer and stethoscope was used for all the subjects throughout the study. The pulse was measured by palpating the left radial artery. The mean arterial pressure was measured using the derived formula. The pretest psychological well- being score was obtained on day one and the post test score was obtained on day five after the laugh therapy based on the responses to the questionnaire. During this period, the amount of anti hypertensive drugs and its half life period also was considered by the investigator recording the time of intake of the antihypertensive drug.

#### Results

#### **Background Variables**

The mean pretest measures of systolic BP were 141.35 and 142.70 in control and experimental group. The 't' test for the mean difference of systolic blood pressure was 0.742 at df (28) which was not significant. The mean post test measure of systolic BP was140.5, 125.5 in control and experimental group respectively. The 't' test for the mean difference between systolic blood pressure of control and experimental group was 6.855 df (38) was highly significant at.01 level (Tables 1-10, Figures 1-3).

The mean pretest diastolic blood pressure of control group was 92.1 and 93.1in experimental group. The mean post test diastolic blood pressure measure in control group and experimental group was91.50 and 82.25 respectively. The 't' test value for the mean difference between the posttest measure of diastolic blood pressure of control and experimental group was 9.885at df (38) which was highly significant at 0.01 level.

- The mean pretest pulse measure of control was an experimental group was88. 9. The mean post test pulse measure of control group was 87.86and in experimental group was 79.86. The 't' value for the mean difference between posttest pulse of control and experimental group 8.145 at df (38) was highly significant at.0.1 level.
- The mean pretest mean arterial pressure of control group and experimental group was 110.03. The mean post test MAP measure of control group was 108.33 and experimental group was97.79. The 't' value for the mean difference between posttest measure of MAP of control and experimental group 9.742 at d6 (38) was highly significant at 0.01 level.
- There was no significant association found in post test measures of blood pressure and psychological wellbeing with age, sex and body mass index in the experimental group.

-	-		-		-
Onon	Accord	Iournal	of	Cardia	
UDEI	ALLESS	IOULIIAI	<b>UI</b>	Caluio	1027
• P • • •		,	<b>-</b>		- ° OJ

S.No.	Characteristics	Contro N =	l Group = 20	Experimental Group N = 20	
		Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage
	Age in years				
1	a) 20-40	-	-	-	-
1.	b) 41-60	13	65	13	65
	c) above 60	7	35	7	35
	Sex				
2.	a) Male	8	40	12	60
	b) Female	12	60	8	40
	Marital Status				
2	a) Single	-	-	-	-
5.	b) Married	20	100	18	90
	c) Widow	-	-	2	10
	Educational Status				
	a) Illiterate	16	80	13	65
4.	b) Primary	4	20	7	35
	c) High School	-	-	-	-
	d) Collegiate	-	-	-	-
	Occupation				
5.	a) Health Professional	-	-	-	-
	b) Others	20	100	20	100
	Religion				
	a) Hindu	20	100	20	100
6.	b) Muslim	-	-	-	-
	c) Christian	-	-	-	-
	d) Others	-	-	-	-
	Income status per month in Rs.				
7	a) < 2000	3	15	9	45
/.	b) 2001-5000	13	65	11	55
	c) > 5000	4	20	-	-

Table 1: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of samples with demographic variables:



Angeline K and Madhavi R. Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India. J Cardiol 2018, 2(2): 000120.

Copyright© Angeline K and Madhavi R.

		Control (	Group	Experimental Group		
S.No.	Characteristics	N = 2	20	N = 2	20	
		Frequency	%	Frequency	%	
1.	Record of BP (previous month record) a) 140-150/90-100 b)151-160/101-110 c) 161-180/111-120	11 9 -	55 45 -	10 10	50 50 -	
2.	Height in cm a) 145-150 b) 151-155 c) 156-160	6 12 2	30 60 10	3 11 6	15 55 30	
3.	Weight in kg a) 35-45 b) 46-55 c) 56-70	- 8 12	- 40 60	- 10 10	- 50 50	
4.	Body mass index a) >18 b) 18-25 c) <25	- 11 9	- 55 45	- 10 10	- 50 50	
5.	Habit of Alcohol consumption(male alone) a) Yes b) No	- 8	100	_ 12	100	
6.	Habit of smoking (male alone) a) Yes b) No	1 7	12.5 87.5	2 10	10 90	
7.	Intake of Medication a) Antihypertensive b) Diuretics c) Nil	8 - 12	40 - 60	8 - 12	40 - 60	
8.	Intake of contraceptive pills (female alone) a) Yes b) No	- 12	- 100	- 8	- 100	

Table 2: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of samples with clinical variables.

S. No.	Group	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
	Systolic bl					
1	Control Group	20	141.35	7.541	0.742	N.S.
2	Experimental Group	20	142.7	3.0625		
	Diastolic b	lood press	ure			
1	Control Group	20	92.1	2.198	0.71	N.S.
2	Experimental Group	20	93.9	1.9973		
	Р					
1	Control Group	20	88.9	2.6938	0	N.S.
2	Experimental Group	20	88.9	2.6938		

Mean Arterial Pressure						
1	Control Group	20	110.103	2.3323	0	N.S.
2	Experimental Group	20	110.103	2.3323		

Table 3: Description of the Pretest Measures of Haemodynamic Variables in the Control and Experimental group.

Systolic BP Measurement	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
Pre test	20	142.7	3.0625	18.42	0.01
Post test	20	125.15	4.9126		

Diastolic BP Measurement	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
Pre test	20	142.07	3.0625	0 5 5 0	0.01
Post test	20	82.25	2.6532	0.559	0.01

Pulse Measurement	N	Mean	S.D	'ť' value	Level of significance
Pre test	20	88.9	2.6938	14 204	0.01
Post test	20	79.86	2.2110	14.394	0.01

MAP Measurement	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť' value	Level of significance
Pre test	20	110.1030	2.3323	14.024	0.01
Post test	20	97.79	4.3488	14.934	0.01

Psychological well being score	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
Pre test	20	27.20	3.8058	25 620	0.01
Post test	20	61.25	3.670	35.039	0.01

Table 4: Description of the pretest and posttest measures of haemodynamic variables in experimental group

S.No.	Group	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť' value	Level of significance
1.	<b>Systolic BP</b> Control Group	20	140.5	8.7268	6.855	0.01
2.	Experimental Group	20	125.15	4.9126		

S.No.	Group	Ν	Mean	S.D	't' value	Level of significance
1.	<b>Diastolic BP</b> Control Group	20	91.50	3.2363	9.885	0.01
2.	Experimental Group	20	82.25	2.6532		

S.No.	Group	Ν	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
1.	<b>Pulse</b> Control Group	20	87.86	3.7953	8.145	0.01
2.	Experimental Group	20	79.86	2.2110		

Angeline K and Madhavi R. Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India. J Cardiol 2018, 2(2): 000120.

Copyright© Angeline K and Madhavi R.



S.No.	Group	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
1.	MAP Control Group	20	108.33	2.1172	9.742	0.01
2.	Experimental Group	20	97.79	4.3488		

Table 5: Description of the post test measures of haemodynamic variables and scores of psychological well being in control and experimental group.



Characteristics	Systolic BP					Dias			
Age (in years)	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	N Mean S.D 't' val		'ť value	Level of significance	
41-60 above 60	6 14	124.66 126.142	5.853 4.588	0.395	6 14	82.33 82.85	3.829 2.143	0.608	NS

Table 6: Association between posttest measures of systolic and diastolic B.P in different age group in experimental group.

Characteristics Age (in years )	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance	
41-60	6	60.833	2.994	0.200	NS	
above 60	14	61.571	4.164	0.390		

Table 7: Association between posttest measures of psychological well-being in different age group in experimental group.

Angeline K and Madhavi R. Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India. J Cardiol 2018, 2(2): 000120.

Copyright© Angeline K and Madhavi R.

Characteristics	Systolic BP				Diastolic B.P				
Sex	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
Male	8	122.75	4.399	2 105	8	80.75	1.488	2 206	NC
Female	12	127.66	4.292	2.405	12	84.00	2.486	5.500	IN S

Table 8: Association between posttest measures of systolic and diastolic B.P in different gender in experimental group.

Characteristics	N	Moon	S D	(t' voluo	Lovel of significance	
Sex	IN	Mean	3.D	t value	Level of significance	
Male	8	59.25	3.240	2 1 7 0	N.S.	
Female	12	62.58	3.423	2.178		

Table 9: Association between posttest scores of psychological well-being in different gender in experimental group.

Characteristics	Systolic BP					Dias			
Body mass Index	N	Mean	S.D	't' value	N	Mean	S.D	'ť value	Level of significance
18-25	10	127.2	4.211 5.266	1.407	10	82.8	2.485	0.164	NS
<25	10	124.2	5.200		10	02.0	2.951		

Table 10: Association between posttest measure of systolic and diastolic BP in different BMI in experimental group.

#### Discussion

The first objective was to assess the selected haemodynamic variables of patients with hypertension before and after laughter yoga. The mean score of pretest and posttest mean arterial pressure in control group was 110.13, 108.33 and 110.13, 97.79 respectively in experimental group. The second objective of the study was to compare the selected haemodynamic variables of hypertensive patients who receive laugh therapy with those who do not receive laugh therapy. In the present study the 't' value for the mean difference in the post test scores of systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, pulse and MAP in control and experimental group are 6.885, 9.885, 14.8 and 9.742 respectively at (p<0.01) which is highly significant. These findings are attributed to the effect of laugh therapy. The above finding strongly implies that laugh therapy is effective in lowering blood pressure pulse and mean arterial pressure.

• The third objectives of the study were to compare the changes in psychological well-being of hypertensive patients who receive laugh therapy with those who do not receive laugh therapy. The mean post test score of psychological well being was 26.20 and 61.25 in control and experimental group. The 't' test analysis showed higher level of significance as the 't' value was 21.80 at (p<0.01). The mean pre test and post test score of psychological well being in experimental group was 27.20 and 61.25. The obtained 't' value was 35.639 at (p<0.01) which was highly significant. The statistical evidence of the study can be strongly attributed to the

effect of laugh therapy. Thus the finding implies that laugh therapy is effective in improving the psychological well being of the subjects.

• The fourth objective is to find out the association between selected demographic variable with changes in haemodynamic variables and psychological well being in the experimental group. The present study revealed that age; sex BMI had no significant influence in the haemodynamic variables and psychological well being [9-13].

#### Conclusion

Bittman neurologist, cites research which found that laughter can diminish levels of cortisol, stress hormone that are responsible for triggering elevated blood pressure, heart rate and a host of other stress related responses.. The study findings also provide the statistical evidence which clearly indicates that laugh therapy is one of the best alternative therapies used to lower blood pressure and improve the psychological well-being of hypertensive patients. Blood pressure, pulse and mean arterial pressure were significantly reduced among patients those who received laugh therapy.

#### References

 Adams P (2002) Humour and love: the origination of clown therapy. Post graduate Medical Journal 78(922): 447-448.

Angeline K and Madhavi R. Laughter Yoga for Patients with Hypertension, India. J Cardiol 2018, 2(2): 000120.

- 2. Lally Steven (1991) Laugh away your stress. Prevention 78(2): 50-52.
- Kalavathy MC, Thankappan KR, Sarma PS, Vasan RS (2000) Prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension in an elderly community based sample in Kerala, India. National Medical Journal of India 13(1): 9-15.
- 4. Matthews KA, Katholi CR, McCreath H, Whooley MA, Williams DR, et al. (2004) Blood pressure Reactivity to Psychological stress predicts Hypertension in the CARDIA study. Circulation 110(1): 74-8.
- 5. Hanson L (1993) Future goals for the treatment of Hypertension in the elderly with reference to stop hypertension. Am J Hypertens 6(3 Pt 2): 40S-43S.
- 6. Badoux A, Chiche J, Duchanel D, Raveau F (1994) Evaluation of well being of hypertensive subjects before and after treatment. Presse Med 23(2): 69-72.
- Berk LS, Felten DL, Tan SA, Bittman BB, Westengard J (2001) Modulation of neuroimmone parameters, during the eustress of Humour- associated mirthful laughter. Alternative Therapy Health Medicine 7(2): 62-76.

- 8. Adame E, Mc Guire F (1986) Is laughter the best medicine?- A study effects of humour on perceived pain and affect. Activities, Adaptation & Aging 8(3): 157-175.
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, et al. (2003) The seventh report of the joint committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure, the JNC report. Journal of American Medical Association 289(19): 2560-2572.
- 10. Michael Miller (2000) Laughter is good for your heart-According to University of Maryland Medical Center Study. News- Archieves, pp: 11-15.
- 11. Moum T, Naess S, Sorenson T, Tambs K, Holmen J (2004) Labeling life events and psychological well being. Psychological Medicine 20(3): 635-646.
- 12. Martin RA, Kuiper NA, Olinger LJ, Dance KA (1993) Humour, coping with stress, self concept and psychological well being. Humour: International Journal of Humour Research 6(1): 89-104.
- 13. Wooten P (1996) Humour: an antidote for stress. Holistic Nurs Pract 10(2): 49-56.
# The Impact of Laughter Yoga on the Stress of Cancer Patients before Chemotherapy

Shadi Farifteh<sup>1</sup>, Alireza Mohammadi-Aria<sup>2</sup>, Alireza Kiamanesh<sup>1</sup>, Bahram Mofid<sup>3</sup>

### Abstract

**Background:** Cancer is usually accompanied by considerable stress for the sufferer, and the stress has destructive effects on Chemotherapy treatment process. Therefore, the current research deals with the effect of yoga laughter on the cancer patients' stress before chemotherapy.

**Methods:** In this research, as the first step, 37 cancer sufferers, who had been hospitalized in Shohada Tajrish Hospital (Behnam Daneshpoor Charity Organization) and had the requirements necessary for being taken as research samples, were selected for data collection. The mentioned patients were classified randomly in experimental and control groups. Collected data were analyzed by the multi-variable covariance analysis test.

**Results:** The results show there is a meaningful difference in the stress average before and after interference in the test group (p<0.05).

**Conclusion:** Laughter yoga can decrease the stress in cancer sufferers before chemotherapy.

Keywords: Laughter yoga; Stress; Cancer; Chemotherapy

**Please cite this article as:** Farifteh SH, Mohammadi-Aria AR, Kiamanesh AR, Mofid B. The Impact of Laughter Yoga on the Stress of Cancer Patients before Chemotherapy. Iran J Cancer Prev. 2014;7(4):179-83.

### Introduction

In terms of social aspects, cancer disturbs daily functions and social activities of the sufferer, and alters his or her abilities to fulfill their normal roles and responsibilities, up to an extent that creates some new roles. The nature of the new-born roles may cause a feeling of inefficiency and social isolation in the sufferer [1]. In fact, after cancer is diagnosed, the patient will be hit by a crisis, his selfconfidence will be at stake, his individual relationships will be disturbed due to uncertainty about future, the previous adaptation mechanisms will seem insufficient, and being hospitalized repeatedly, the patient will be flooded with solitude [2]. A set of factors mentioned above lead to psychological stress in the patient [3].Cancer is a prevailing, chronic, non-infectious disease [4]. The exact reason is unknown, but genetic and exterior factors like viruses and carcinogen chemicals are likely to be influential [5]. Taking anti-cancer medicines and chemotherapy are some treatments for tumors, though they can be mixed with operation and radiotherapy. Chemotherapy is very effective in treating tumors, and the effect is increasing nowadays by implementing newly-discovered anti Dept. of Psychology, Islamic Azad University Science and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran
 Dept. Educational Psychology, University of Social Welfare and Rehabilitation Sciences, Tehran, Iran
 Radiotherapy Group, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Corresponding Author: Shadi Farifteh, MA; Tel: (+98) 936 3892600 Email: shadi.farifteh@gmail.com Received: 17 May 2014 Accepted: 15 Sep. 2014 Iran J Cancer Prev. 2014; 4:179-83

tumor medicines. Conducted studies indicate that cancer is the second cause of Americans' death after cardiovascular diseases. As an effective treatment for increasing life-expectancy in the patients, chemotherapy has a significant role [6]. Research shows that the patients get stressed before chemotherapy, and it causes body resistance against treatment and disturbs the process. Having done a set of tests about breast cancerous cells, researchers have found out that the protein created after stress helps the cancerous cells continue living, getting adapted and resisting against the treatment [7].

Research has shown that immune system is effective in controlling and healing cancer, in other words, a weakening immune system raises the potentials to develop various types of cancer. Stress has been discussed as a suppressing factor of the immune system, so there is a possibility of cancerous cell growth after stress. Studies have indicated that stressed people are more likely to develop breast cancer [1]. Therefore, looking for suitable methods of stress reduction seems necessary. One of non-medical ways of stress reduction is laughing and being in delightful environments. Laughter is a positive sensation, and seems to be a useful and healthy way to overcome stress. Decreasing stress-making hormones floating in blood, laughter removes the effects of stress. Nowadays, there is evidence indicating that being humorous and exposed to funny stimuli can have a positive influence on the side-effects of some specific diseases. Laughter is an emotional reaction influencing human's individual and social life. It enjoys features that distinguish it from other humane emotional reactions. Happiness increases Cortisol hormone and boosts body immunity against diseases. Laughter creates a balance in the chemicals and hormones of the body [8]. Lidi maintains that fun and laughter decrease red globule sedimentation level and increase natural killer-cells' activity, reduce cortisol and blastogene lymphocytes and boosts monoglobin A as well [9]. Fri (1971) declares that laughter strengthens the immune system, facilitates phagocytosis process in the immune system and also helps the body to fight against infections. Dogan believes that biological functions of laughing and crying cause biochemical changes in the body and reduces the tension made by painful emotions like fear and anger. Tears and nasal discharge during laughing and crying contain humorous, steroids and toxins accumulated in the body during tension. Laughing and crying both increases coolamine production in the blood [10].

A way to make people laugh is laughter yoga, innovated by Kataria (1995) in India. Laughter yoga is the only way enabling people to laugh heartily without getting involved in logical thinking. This method puts wisdom and logic aside as natural laughter obstacles. The reason the Cataria named his innovative method as laughter yoga was that he had mixed the respiratory exercises of yoga -called paranayama- into laughter exercises. The former exercises are very strong and effective, and they have been applied for thousands of years to influence human body, psyche and emotions in a positive manner. Based on yoga philosophy, our life is subject to a flow of universal energy into our bodies via breathing. This is called Yaprama vital energy. As a result of stress and negative tensions, our respiration gets irregular and shallow, and this disturbs the flow of energy in our bodies [11].

It should be noted that the studies on this domain have examined laughter effects using the mentioned methods and other variables reducing stress, and all of these studies have regarded the long-term effects of laughter, while the short-term effects of laughter on the stress in patients with cancer is being dealt with in the current research using laughter yoga. Therefore, in this study, the question is if laughter yoga is effective on cancersufferers stress level before Chemotherapy.

# Materials and Methods

Statistic population of the research was patients hospitalized in Shohada Tajrish hospital for chemotherapy in the period of May to August, 2013. Sample population data is presented in this part separately for control and experimental groups. Table 1 shows distribution of samples in terms of groups, education and genders for sampling, those qualified patients were selected for trial, which were randomly placed in experimental and control groups. The minimum population of sample for each of control and experimental groups is 15 in semiexperimental studies [12]. Accordingly, researchers had initially selected 25 samples to avoid sample drop, 2 patients in experimental group and 11 in control group were omitted from the sample list in pre-test due to leaving the hospital, moving to other clinics or lacking interest for taking part in the research. There ultimately remained 23 patients in experimental group and 14 in control group.

This study examined the effects of laughter yoga on the stress before chemotherapy.

### Instruments

Stress measuring questionnaire: Questionnaire QSC-R23 (Questionnaire on Stress in Cancer Patients) was used in this research to measure stress (the questionnaire is attached). This questionnaire is specially related to specific diseases and evaluates psychological stress in cancer sufferers. Questionnaire articles were divided into 5 equal scales, including psych-physical complaints, fears, information defects, daily-life limitations and social conflicts. QSC was first formed in Germany after passing different phases, namely exact interviews, examining the initial versions of the questionnaire and measuring their validity and constancy by Herchbach. Cronbach's Alpha method of analysis was implemented to estimate tools constancy in the research. It includes 23 articles, showing daily-life potential stress in all perspectives. The answers to the questions included two parts: first, the article did not apply to the respondent (zero degree), second, respondent's conditions conformed to the specifications in the article. If the second part was selected, the answer should have determined the degree to which the subject matter of that article was

Croup	Education	Abundanaa	norcontego	Condor	Abundanaa	norcontago
Group	Euucation	Abunuance	percentage	Genuer	Abunuance	percentage
	Elementary	4	17.4	Male	9	39
	Mid-school	5	21.7			
Experiment	High-school	7	30.4	Female	14	61
-	University	7	30.4			
	Total	23	100	total	23	100
	Elementary	2	14.3	Male	5	35.7
	Mid-school	2	14.3			
	High-school	4	28.6	Female	9	64.3
Control	University	6	42.9			
	Total	14	100	total	14	100
	Elementary	6	16.2	Male	14	37.8
	Mid-school	7	18.9			
Total	High-school	11	29.7	Female	23	62.2
	University	13	35.1			
	Total	37	100	total	37	100

Table 1. It shows distribution of samples in terms of groups, education and genders.

affecting him/her. This degree can be positioned on a scale of 1 (very small problem) to 5 (very serious problem).

#### Procedure

First, QSC-R23 questionnaire was administered to the patients accompanied by exact and complete explanations about it, and they were asked to fill it out in the researcher's presence. In case patients were unable to fill out the forms, the researcher took responsibility herself. Having the forms filled out in control and experimental groups, the experimental group was treated by laughter yoga by a trainer for 20 to 30 minutes under researcher's observation. After that, the tastes in both groups were asked to fill out the questionnaire again. Having conducted the research, laughter yoga was performed in control group as well to conform to the ethics. The data obtained was then analyzed by descriptive statistic methods such as mean and deviation, and the multivariable covariance analysis test was applied to examine the research hypothesis.

### Results

According to table 2, there is a meaningful difference between the pre-test and the post-test average; however, in control group there is no difference between them. Finally, the results of multivariate covariance analysis between variables in both experimental and control groups are shown in table 3, in which there is no meaningful difference in Psych-physical complaints, Information defects and Total stress score.

**Table 2.** It shows Mean and Standard Deviation of studied variables for the pre-test and the post-test in each group.

Variables	Pre-test / post-	experiment group		Control group	
	test	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Psych-physical	Pre- test	1.7	1.3	1.5	0.9
complaints	Post-test	1.1	1.1	1.5	1.1
Fear	Pre-test	2.4	1.2	2.8	1.5
	Post-test	1.7	1.6	2.7	1.8
Information defects	Pre-test	2.3	1.3	1.9	1.5
	Post-test	1.5	1.1	2	1.6
Daily-life limitations	Pre-test	2.5	1.2	2.5	1.2
	Post-test	2	1.3	2.4	1.4
Social conflicts	Pre-test	1	1.2	0.7	0.7
	Post-test	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.8
Total stress score	Pre-test	8.9	4.4	8.5	3.8
	Post-test	6.1	4.2	8.4	4.4

Dependent variable	square	Freedom degree	Mean square	F	Significant
Psych-physical	1.4	1	1.4	4.3	0.05
complaints					
Fear	2.2	1	2.2	2.4	0.13
Information defects	3.7	1	3.7	6.9	0.01
Daily-life	0.8	1	0.8	1.2	0.28
limitations					
Social conflicts	0.4	1	0.4	1.5	0.23
Stress total score	29.8	1	29.8	4.9	0.03

**Table 3.** It shows the results of multivariate covariance analysis between variables in both experimental and control groups.

### Discussion

Findings show that the intervention was effective in making a meaningful difference in three sub-scales of psych-physical complaints, fear, information defect and total score of stress in the two groups. It indicates that laughter yoga reduces stress in cancer sufferers before chemotherapy.

The result of this research is in line with silva [13], Chaya and crew [14], Marcon [15] and Beke [16], and contrary to Omrani [17].

According to the research, stress increases cancerous cells activity to a meaningful extent, and causes the involved cells to resist against chemotherapy. Using a method to decrease the patient's stress is of a huge prominence.

## Conclusion

The findings of the research have shown that as a natural gift, laughter can reduce the stress in cancer sufferers before chemotherapy. Laughter plays an important role in reducing stress, which is done by Endorphin Secretion resulting in mental and physical relaxation. Chronic Stress impacts Limbic system and Hypothalamus continuously and leads to Adrenaline secretion and causes disruption in immune system. Indeed, Laughter balances sympathetic and parasympathetic system; moreover, it functions as an anti-stress. Furthermore, laughter increases Endorphin in brain. Endorphin seems to be the most easily linked structure to morphine, both function in the exhilaration and lessening of pain.

To illustrate this according to the study background, it can be noted that laughter not only creates good spirits in patients and the hospital staff, but also it can reduce the stress in patients and improve the treatment process without any harmful side-effects by creating a happy environment at hospitals.

Examining the data brings us to conclusion that laughter has a significant effect on the spirits of patients and their stress.

### Suggestion for Further Research

In this study, the questionnaire QSC-R23 was applied as the measuring tool. It is strongly suggested that the study under the same title should be conducted using other tools, such as pulse and heart beat measuring in addition to self-reporting to undermine the effect of the samples on the result. Moreover, according to the role of laughter in reducing stress, hospitals had better be equipped with laughter rooms. Doctors and nurses must be trained to be on duty smiling, and finally, comedy shows should be played for the sufferers.

### Acknowledgment

We would like to thank the members of the Behnam Daneshpoor Charity Organization in Shohada Tajrish Hospital, Tehran, Iran. Special thanks to Alireza Mohammadi Aria and advisor, Alireza Kiamanesh.

## **Conflict of Interest**

The authors have no conflict of interest in this study.

# **Authors' Contribution**

Shadi Farifteh designed and wrote this article and collected and analyzed the data, with the help of supervisor, Alireza Mohammadi Aria and advisor, Alireza Kiamanesh. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### References

1. Hann D, Baker F, Denniston M, Gesme D, Reding D, Flynn T, et al. The influence of social support on depression symptoms in cancer patients: Age and Gender Differences. J Psychosom Res. 2002;52(5):279-83.

2. Tan M. Social support and coping in Turkish patients with cancer. Cancer Nurs. 2007;30(6):498-504.

3. Hall S, Chochinov H, Harding R, Murray S, Richardson A, Higginson IJ. A phase II randomised controlled trial assessing the feasibility, Acceptability and potential effectiveness of dignity therapy for older people in care homes: Study Protocol. BMC Geriatrics. 2009;24(9):9.

4. Farzanpei R. Cognition about cancer: prevention and treatment. Tehran: KetabeMad Publications; 1994.

5. Zolala F,Ayat Elahi S.A.R. ,Shahriary M, Ayat Elahi S.M.T. Determination of Incidence rate of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children under the age of 15 in Fars province in 2001. Armaghan Danesh. 2004;9(35):64-71.

6. Goldman L, Benett G. Text book of medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Co; 2000.

7. Stress May Help Cancer Cells Resist Treatment [Internet] 2011 [updated 2007 April 11; cited 20 July 2012]. Available from: http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2007/04/070410 103023.htm

8. Erfani V. Miracle of Laughter. Pain J. 2004;5(43):19. [Full Text in Persian].

9. Saper B. The therapeutic use of humor for psychiatric disturbance of adolescents and adults. Psychiatric Quarterly. 1990;61(4):261-72.

10. Martin RA, Dobbin JP. Sense of humor, hassles and Immunoglobulin A: Evidence for a stress-moderation effect of humor. International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine. 1988;18(2):93-105.

11. Kataria M. Certified laughter yoga leader training (CLYL) [internet]. 2011 [updated 2011 August 1; cited 6 July 2012]. Available from: http://laughteryoga.org/downloads/Leader%20Manual. pdf.

12. Delavar A, Naghshbandi S. Statistical Analysis In Psychology and Education. Tehran: Arasbaran; 2009.

13. Silva E. Nursing concepts of stress adaptation. Rehabilitation Nursing. 2001;18:25-8.

14. Chaya MS. What are the effects of laughter yoga on stress in the workplace? The Research Institute SVYASA [internet]. 2007 [updated 20 May 2012; cited 12 June 2012]. Availablefrom: http://www.yogalaff.com/docs/6-INDIA-STUDY-SUMMARY.pdf.

15. Marcon M. Humour for good health; The Northern Hospital; 2005. The emergency department and child and adolescent health unit(The Clown Doctor Project) Final report, June 2005.

16. Bacqué, M F. Association rire clowns pour enfants hospitalisés. Psycho-Oncol, 2010;4(1):65-6.

17. Omrani R. Investigation of music therapy and laughter therapy on stress reduction for women before surgery [M.A. thesis]. Tehran: Faculty of psychology and education. Payame Noor University; 2010.

# Slovinian Study

<sup>1</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, University Clinical Centre Maribor, Slovenia

<sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Medical Genetics, University Clinical Centre Maribor, Slovenia

<sup>3</sup> International Institute for Laughter, Maribor, Slovenia

**Original Research Article** 

# THE INHIBITORY EFFECT OF LAUGHTER YOGA ON THE INCREASE IN POSTPRANDIAL BLOOD GLUCOSE IN TYPE 2 DIABETIC PATIENTS

M. Čokolič<sup>1</sup>, Š. Stangler Herodež<sup>2</sup>, S. Sternad<sup>1</sup>, S. Krebs<sup>3</sup>

Key words: diabetes mellitus, postprandial blood glucose, type 2 diabetes, laughter yoga

#### SUMMARY

The aim of the present study was to determine the impact of laughter therapy on the blood glucose level in type 2 diabetic patients. For this purpose, we used laughter yoga, which includes respiratory laughing and fun exercises. The study involved 211 participants, of which 110 were involved and 101 were not involved (control group) in laughter yoga. In both groups, the level of blood glucose was measured at arrival after they had standard brunch, a total of 250 Kcal. A 90minute lecture was followed by 30-minute intense workout for those participants who had laughter yoga included in the program. In both groups, the level of blood glucose was measured after 120 minutes. We found the inhibitory effect of laughter on the increase in postprandial blood glucose (P < 0.05). Our study indicated the importance of daily opportunities for laughter in patients with diabetes.

E-mail: miro.cokolic@ukc-mb.si

### **INTRODUCTION**

Diabetes mellitus is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality in the elderly and is the most prevalent metabolic disease and one of the significant medical and socioeconomic problems all over the world. It is a chronic disease, which needs long clinical observation and constant adherence to medication. Negative emotions such as anxiety, fear and sorrow are known to be factors that elevate the blood glucose level (1). Conversely, positive emotions such as laughter have been reported to modify the levels of neuroendocrine factors involved in negative emotions and to modulate immune function (2-4). In 1995, the Indian cardiologist Madan Kataria decided to bring laughter to the humanity as close as possible. He founded the Laughter Yoga School.

A study of the influence of laughter on the blood glucose level in diabetic patients was published in 2003 (5). The study found a significantly reduced increase of sugar levels after meal. The cause could be the muscular work because of laughter. Counter regulatory hormones or neuroendocrine system (4) could also be the cause. Laughter yoga was also beneficial as exercises in elderly depressed women (6). The group, which practiced laughter yoga twice a week for twelve weeks, showed lowering of blood

*Corresponding author:* Miro Čokolič, MD, PhD, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, University Clinical Centre Maribor, Slovenia

pressure, fat reduction and regulation of the blood glucose level. Therefore, laughter yoga is recommended for diabetics to improve their long-term regulation of glucose (7). A long-term study also found hormonal and genetic changes that had a favorable effect on blood glucose levels (8,9). Humor also has a positive effect in post-stroke rehabilitation (10).

Our study elucidated the inhibitory effect of laughter yoga on the increase in postprandial blood glucose and suggested the importance of daily opportunities for laughter in patients with diabetes. The results obtained indicated that in the future, laughter therapy could be used as a new nonpharmacological approach for improving glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study participants

This randomized controlled study involved 211 participants with type 2 diabetes not receiving insulin therapy. They were referred to the Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Endocrinology, University Clinical Centre Maribor, because of the newly discovered diabetes. Of them, 110 were involved in laughter yoga and 101 were not included (control group). Both groups were subdivided into those taking medicines for hyperglycemia reduction and those not taking these medicines (Table 1). An informed consent was obtained from all participating individuals and ethics approval was granted prior to conducting the study.

#### Study design and protocol

On experimental day, we measured the level of blood glucose at arrival (fasting blood glucose, FBG), then the participants ate the same 250 Kcal meal (30 g brown bread (1 food unit, FU), 150 g apples (1 FU), 15 g of butter (2.5 FU) and 200 mL of unsweetened tea). A 90-minute lecture was followed by 30-minute intense workout for those with laughter yoga included in the program. The level of blood glucose was then measured upon completion of the workout (120 min)

(2-h postprandial blood glucose, PPBG). Control subjects listened to a lecture instead of 30-minute laughter yoga. In this group, PPBG was also measured after the lecture (120 min). Blood glucose was measured from the fingertip by enzyme colorimetric assay using a blood glucose self-measurement apparatus.

For the purpose of this study, we created a nine-tiered questionnaire about the influence of laughter yoga on the well-being of participants. Enthusiasm, positive attitude, better breathing, energy level, mood, ability to laugh for no reason, optimism, stress level, physical and mental relaxation were assessed only by the participants included in the laughter yoga program, led by a certified laughter yoga teacher. The laughter yoga program included clapping, walking, laughing, stretching and breathing exercises. Their well-being was evaluated before and after 30-minute program using a 1-10 scale (1 indicating minimum and 10 maximum).

#### **Statistics**

Statistical analysis was performed with the VasserStats software. For various means of FBG and 2-h PPBG, odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated. Differences between the experimental group and control group were assessed by the t-test.



Figure 1. Overall well-being of participants involved in laughter yoga: assessment of well-being before and after laughter yoga.

#### Table 1. Number of participants divided into those taking and not taking medicines for hyperglycemia reduction

	Number of participants			
	Laughter yoga Without laughter yoga (controls)			
Without medicines	44	40		
With medicines	66	61		
Σ	110	101		

#### Table 2. Mean blood glucose levels before and after exercise, and statistical significance

	Mean blood glucose level (mmol/L)				Contro	ol-based
	At a	rrival	After 120 min		odds ratio (95% Cl); P-value*	
	Laughter yoga	Without laughter yoga	Laughter yoga	Without laughter yoga	Laughter yoga	Without laughter yoga
Without medicines	9.60	8.29	7.92	9.82	1.68±0.60;<0.001	-1.53±0.55; 0.001
With medicines	9.87	8.39	8.38	10.19	1.49±0.34;<0.001	-1.80±0.46; <0.001
Σ	9.75	8.35	8.19	10.04	1.57±0.31;<0.001	-1.69±0.35; <0.001

P-value\*, t-test

#### Table 3. Mean levels of fasting blood glucose (FBG) with statistical significance

	Mean FE	Mean FBG (mmol/L)		
	Laughter yoga	Without laughter yoga		
Without medicines	9.25	8.98	0.27±1.51; 0.720	
With medicines	8.65	8.90	0.12±1.14; 0.834	
Σ	8.97	8.93	0.04±0.91; 0.936	

P-value\*, t-test

#### Table 4. Mean levels of 2-h postprandial blood glucose (PPBG) with statistical significance

	Mean 2-h F	Mean 2-h PPBG (mmol/L)		
	Laughter yoga	Without laughter yoga		
Without medicines	8.34	10.05	1.71±0.81; <0.001	
With medicines	8.66	9.78	1.12±1.03; 0.03	
Σ	8.53	9.88	1.35±0.81; 0.001	

P-value\*, t-test

#### RESULTS

Results of the study are presented in Tables 1-4 and Figure 1. Table 1 presents the number of participants divided into those taking medicines for hyperglycemia reduction (n=127) and those not taking these medicines (n=84). Of them, 110 (66 with medicines and 44 without medicines) had laughter yoga included in the program. The remaining 101 (61 with medicines and 40 without medicines) participants only listened to a lecture.

The mean levels of FBG and 2-h PPBG with statistical significance are presented in Table 2. The 30-minute workout had a favorable influence on all study parameters and also reduced the postprandial increase in the blood glucose level from 9.75 to 8.19 mmol/L (P<0.001). In the control group, 2-h PPBG increased from 8.35 to 10.04 mmol/L (P<0.001). Table 3 shows the mean levels of FBG with statistical significance and Table 4 the mean levels of 2-h PPBG with statistical significance. The mean level of FBG was not statistically significantly different between the

two groups (8.97 mmol/L and 8.93 mmol/L; P=0.936) (Table 3). After the meal, control participants had a statistically significantly higher level of blood glucose (9.88 mmol/L) than those exposed to laughter yoga workout (8.53 mmol/L; P=0.001) (Table 4).

Overall well-being of the participants before and after laughter yoga is illustrated in Figure 1. The questionnaire on well-being revealed strong effects on well-being, in particular on the feeling of stress, which decreased after laughter yoga.

### DISCUSSION

In the present study, we found that a 30-minute intense laughter yoga workout significantly reduced the level of blood glucose in people with type 2 diabetes immediately after exercise, irrespective of whether or not using drugs to treat type 2 diabetes. At the same time, we found that laughter yoga had a favorable impact on the well-being of the individuals as it improved enthusiasm, positive attitude, breathing, energy level, mood, ability to laugh for no reason, optimism, stress level, and physical and mental relaxation. In particular, we point out that the feeling of stress decreased substantially after laughter yoga. There is no doubt that laughter yoga improved wellbeing of the individual and reduce the feeling of stress regardless of whether or not using antidiabetic drugs.

A study published in 2003 found that laughter significantly reduced the increase of blood glucose levels after meal. The authors concluded that the reason could be in the muscular work because of laughter (5). Shahidi *et al.* published a case study of elderly depressed women where laughter yoga proved very useful for solving the problems with negative emotions caused by depression (6). Other authors found hormonal and genetic changes associated with laughter, which had a positive effect on blood glucose levels (4,8,9).

However, there have been no studies on the effects of laughter yoga on PPBG. Hayashi *et al.* have published results suggesting a significant reduction of the increase in PPBG by watching comedy in patients with diabetes (5,8,9). We consider that laughter yoga is better choice than watching comedies due to the additional presence of intense yoga breathing and movement. Undisputed regular exercise improves metabolism, blood glucose levels, blood pressure, blood fat and helps in maintaining appropriate body weight, which is very important in the treatment of people with type 2 diabetes.

Numerous facts indicate that in the future, laughter therapy as laughter yoga could be used as a new nonpharmacological approach for improving glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes.

#### CONCLUSION

Laughter yoga has proved to be an effective complementary and preventive therapy in reducing postprandial levels of blood glucose. Therefore, it contributes to long-term regulation of type 2 diabetes. Laughter is of preventive, psychological, physiological and therapeutic importance. However, it must be dealt by professionals (11, 12). On the other hand, we know that stress is one of the major risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Actually, in our study, participants showed by the questionnaire that laughter yoga is an effective method to enhance positive mindset and effective tool of relaxation and networking among people. Given the fact that laughter yoga is a simple and effective method, which bypasses all intellectual systems and leads people to laugh, it could be used as nonpharmacological treatment in preventing chronic microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes.

### REFERENCES

- Surwit RS, Schneider MS. Role of stress in the aetiology and treatment of diabetes mellitus. Psychosom Med 1993;55:380-393.
- Berk LS, Tan SA, Fry WF, Napier BJ, Lee JW, Hubbard RW, Lewis JE, Eby WC. Neuroendocrine and stress hormone changes during mirthful laughter. Am J Med Sci 1989;298:390-396.
- 3. Berk LS, Tan SA, Napier BJ, Eby WC. Eustress of mirthful laughter modifies natural killer cell activity. Clin Res 1989;37:115. (Abstract)
- Takahashi K, Iwase M, Yamashita K, Tatsumoto Y, Ue H, Kuratsune H, Shimizu A, Takeda M. The elevation of natural killer cell activity induced by laughter in a crossover designed study. Int J Mol Med 2001;8:645-650.
- Hayashi K, Hayashi T, Shizuko I, Koichi K, Hitoshi I, Shin'ichi S, Kazuo M. Laughter lowered the increase in postprandial blood glucose. Diabetes Care 2003;26(5):1651-1652.
- Shahidi M, Mojtahed A, Modabbernia A, Mojtahed M, Shafiabady A, Delavar A. Honari laughter yoga *versus* group exercise program in elderly depressed women: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011;26(3):322-327.
- Murrock CJ, Higgins PA, Killion C. Dance and peer support to improve diabetes outcomes in African American women. Diabetes Educ 2009;35(6):995-1003.

- Hayashi T, Murakami K. The effects of laughter on postprandial glucose levels and gene expression in type 2 diabetic patients. Life Sci 2009;85(5-6):185187.
- Hayashi T, Tsujii S, Iburi T, Tamanaha T, Yamagami K, Ishibashi R, Hori M, Sakamoto S, Ishii H, Murakami K. Laughter up-regulates the genes related to NK cell activity in diabetes. Biomed Res 2007;28(6):281-285.
- Tan SA, Tan LG, Lukman ST, Berk LS. Humor, as an adjunct therapy in cardiac rehabilitation, attenuates catecholamines and myocardial infarction recurrence. Adv Mind Body Med 2007;22(3-4):8-12.
- Mora-Ripoll R. Potential health benefits of simulated laughter: a narrative review of the literature and recommendations for future research. Complement Ther Med 2011;19(3):170-177.
- 12. Mora-Ripoll R. The therapeutic value of laughter in medicine. Altern Ther Health Med 2010;16(6):56-64.

# Iranian Study





ISSN: 2198-4093 www.bmrat.org

# **Original Research**



# The effect of laughter yoga exercises on anxiety and sleep quality in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease

Azadeh Memarian, Afsaneh Sanatkaran\*, Seyyed Mohialdin Bahari

Department of Physical Education and Sport Sciences, Karaj Branch, Islamic Azad University, Karaj, Iran

# Abstract

Background: The aim of the present study is to evaluate the effects of laughter yoga exercises on anxiety and sleep quality in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease. Methods: In the study a semi-empirical and applied research design was used, which involved a pre-test and post-test, and appropriate control group. The study consisted of 24 patients suffering from Parkinson's disease who were referred and admitted to Hazarate Raoul Allah Hospital in Tehran, Iran. The patients ranged in age from 55 to 75 and met the study criteria prior to entering the research study. The patients were randomly divided into two groups - control or experimental (n=12 per group). After completing exercises (laughter yoga), post-evaluation of anxiety and sleep quality of patients in both groups were conducted using questionnaires. For normalization of research data, the Mann-Whitney nonparametric test was used. Statistical analyses were conducted using the SPSS software, with the statistically significant level set at P<0.05. Results: The Mann-Whitney tests indicated that there was a significant difference between the average stress change as well as sleep quality in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease (versus control subjects) following laughter yoga exercises. Indeed, regarding sleep quality laughter yoga was only effective on the subjective quality of sleep and latency in sleeping. There was no observation of a significant effect on the duration of sleep, sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping pills, or daily functions of the patients. Conclusion: The results of the present study demonstrate that laughter yoga exercises can reduce anxiety and improve sleep quality in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease. As a result, laughter yoga exercises may be beneficial as a complementary therapy with standard treatment methods to reduce anxiety and improve sleep quality in patients with Parkinson's.

# Keywords

Anxiety, laughter yoga, Parkinson's disease, sleep quality, yoga

#### \*For correspondence:

af\_sanat@yahoo.com

**Competing interests:** The authors declare that no competing interests exist.

Received: 07 April 2017 Accepted: 15 July 2017 Published: 28 July 2017

Copyright The Author(s) 2017. This article is published with open access by BioMedPress (BMP).

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0) which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.



# Introduction

Parkinson's disease is a chronic and progressive central nervous system disorder. It is classified among the motor system disorders (Yektamaram, 2010) which mostly affects elderly individuals (Yousefi, 2010) and is a common cause of disability in this age group (Afshar and Ghandehari, 2006). Movement disorders are neurological conditions which affect the control of movements. Activities such as walking or sipping a cup of tea may be difficult. In some cases, people cannot relax their bodies and some parts of their body remain in constant motion (Emsaki, 2010). British doctor James Parkinson was the first to describe the disease in 1817; he called the disease "shaking paralysis" and today it is known as Parkinson's disease (Abedzadeh, 2012).

In 1960, researchers found that the cause of this disease is a dysfunction in a particular area of the brain. Notably, the brain is unable to produce the chemical substance dopamine, a neurotransmitter which controls body muscle activities (Yaktamaram, 2009). Generally, Parkinson's disease occurs because of the reduction or loss of a major part of the nerve cells that produces dopamine in the region of the brain called the substantia nigra. Without dopamine, the brain cannot send motor messages (Yektamaram, 2010) leading to bradykinesia, tremors, mental deterioration and other dysfunctions of the automatic nervous system (Najarian, 2008).

Furthermore, psychological problems such as depression, anxiety, self-doubt, sleep disturbance, fear and shame can result from Parkinson's disease (Abedzadeh, 2012). Parkinson's disease has been seen in patients worldwide, affecting all ethnic groups and social classes (Moshfeghi, 2010). While many studies estimate the prevalence of the disease to be similar for men and women, some have reported it to be slightly more common (3:2 ratio) in men than women (Abargouei Azizi, 2011). The cause of this disease is still not fully understood but reports suggest an association with genetic factors (to a lesser extent) and environmental factors (to a greater extent), including agricultural jobs, drinking well water, village life and exposure to pesticides (Huang et al., 2014).

The main neuropathological sign of Parkinson's disease is destruction of dopamine-producing cells in the substantia nigra of the mid-brain. The decrease of dopamine levels and subsequent disruption of balance of dopamine and acetylcholine gives rise to a variety of movement disorders (Hartmann, 2005). In fact, clinical signs (e.g. movement disorders) of the disease are observable when loss of about 80% of dopamine-producing cells in the mid-brain occurs and when neurotransmission in the basal ganglia of the brain is disrupted. The most prominent movement dysfunctions of Parkinson's patients are reduced balance, loss of balance, lack of postural control and progressive reduction in the speed and range of motion (Morris, 2000). With an increased risk of falling, elderly patients with Parkinson's are prone to fractures, dislocations and serious soft

tissue damages (Robinson et al., 2005). In terms of physiology, the "balance" referred to above is defined as the interaction between levels of control mechanisms of balance; with respect to biomechanics, the "balance" is defined as the ability to maintain and return the center of gravity of the body within a stability that is determined by the base of support (Bellew et al., 2003). Postural instability, thus, can occur as a result of decreased muscle strength and in combination with other complications which result from the destruction of dopamine-producing cells in the basal ganglia (Tinetti, 2003).

Researchers have suggested that the main cause of balance problems in Parkinson's patients is the impairment of excitation/inhibition in the basal ganglia (which also impacts downstream effects through direct and indirect means) (Shannon, 2004). On the other hand, being sick and/or elderly can increase the complications of this disease (Dibble et al., 2006). With the onset of old age, changes occur in the musculoskeletal system, vestibular system, sensory system and visual system. The changes in the metabolic and physiological systems involved in balance can put elderly individuals at risk for serious injuries related to lack of balance, including fractures and long-term disabilities.

Researchers have categorized factors which affect postural control deficits in older adults into two categories: external (foreign) and internal (domestic) factors. External factors can be uneven ground and use of inappropriate shoes. Internal factors include dysfunctions of the physiological systems of the body (e.g. decreased muscle strength, decreased range of motion, and/or reduction of visual, vestibular and proprioceptive senses) (Giroux, 2007; Lord, 2003). Thus, aging and inactivity may lead to enhanced aggravation of primary and secondary symptoms in patients. There is abundant evidence which show that the number of falls by Parkinson's patients is significantly higher than those for healthy, elderly individuals (Nelson et al., 2002).

At present, elderly people constitute 7% of the population. Within the next 20 years, this percentage will expected to double; in 30-40 years the majority of the population will be elderly people (Heydari et al., 2010). With the elderly population expected to rise dramatically worldwide, so too is the number of patients expected to suffer from Parkinson's disease (Giroux, 2007). Due to the progressive process of Parkinson's disease in the absence of controls, everyday problems of these patients will be increased and the tangible outcomes are movement disorders, psychological problems and economic problems for society (Abargouei Azizi, 2011; Morris, 2000).

Depression and anxiety are two times more likely to occur in individuals recently affected by Parkinson's disease than in healthy individuals. The tremors and movement disorders caused by Parkinson's are well-known, but the disease actually begins in the brain, affecting various chemical compounds which trigger, initially, sleep dysfunctions and mild forms of depression. In fact, sleep disorders are commonly seen in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease. Studies show that the prevalence of sleep disorders in Parkinson's disease is 60 to 98%



(Covassin et al., 2012). This figure is higher than the prevalence of this disorder in people not suffering from Parkinson's disease in the same age and sex demographics (Scheller et al., 2008).

Parkinson's patients often experience sleep disturbances, excessive daytime sleeping, delay in falling asleep, and difficulty in maintaining sleep (Iranzo de RA, 2011). In addition, pulmonary disorders during sleeping, restless legs syndrome, mood and behavioral disorders, and rhythmic leg movements in sleep are common problems in the patients (Margis et al., 2009). Despite the obvious sleep disorders in these patients, studies have rarely addressed or evaluated them (Naismith et al., 2010). To date, various questionnaires have been prepared to assess the presence or absence of sleep disorders in order to provide treatment guidance. Indeed, treatment of non-motor disorders can improve the patient's quality of life (Najafi et al., 2012). The cause of insomnia in Parkinson's disease is multifactorial and includes older age, nocturnal motor symptoms, psychological disorders (including depression and hallucinations), and pharmacological effects.

The relationship between Parkinson's disease and severity of sleep disturbance has been studied and reported (Najafi et al., 2012). However, another study evaluating sleep quality in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease showed no significant correlation between the disease and duration or severity of sleep disturbance (Moshfeghi, 2010). In another study, sleep tests on patients with Parkinson's disease were conducted; the study conclusion was that the most common symptoms in these depressed patients were turmoil (43.2%), anxiety (43.3%), and irritability (40.1%) (Abedzadeh, 2012). Patients suffering from Parkinson's disease often experience feelings of anxiety or fear of attacks. Mood changes may also occur due to changes in drug levels (Soleimani, 2015). The most obvious manifestation of mental problems in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease is anxiety and depression, which are caused by physical symptoms and the resulting limitations associated with those. Tremors, slow movements and difficulty of movement can cause social isolation of the patient. Abnormal gait, trapped legs while walking, falling, problems with speech, and change in the patient's voice can all create a feeling of embarrassment in the patient, thereby reducing their motivation and willingness to participate in social activities (Pierce, 2008). Overall, these factors can affect the patient's quality of life. However, use of complementary therapies in combination with standard therapies may improve quality of life of individuals with Parkinson's.

In addition to drug therapy, exercise and physical activity can be used as complementary therapies (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). Participation in sports is a beneficial means to achieve health and well-being. Engagement in exercise leads to physical, mental and social health. Indeed, physical activity/exercise is one of the main ways to prevent, delay or treat problems caused by the aging process, and has a profoundly positive impact on improving the quality of life of elderly people (Khorsand, 2016; Shaumway cook, 2007).

Of the exercises, "laughter yoga" is a relatively new complementary therapy with beneficial effects. Laughter yoga was invented in 1995 by a Hindi physician named Madan Katarya. It combines the standard yoga breathing exercises with laughing exercises, and includes a variety of fun sports too (Pezeshki, 2012). Laughter is an emotional reaction that affects human life and social life in a positive manner, and has characteristics that distinguish it from other emotional reactions (Pezeshki, 2012).

Extensive research from the past two decades across various countries has proven that laughter has a positive effect on the body and is involved in strengthening the immune system. Scientists have also found that laughter has a preventive and therapeutic value (Kataria, 2004). Laughter yoga includes mindbody techniques and combines different methods of laughing with breathing exercises (Hasan and Hasan, 2009; Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). People who are regularly practicing laugh yoga exercises have experienced improvements in their health, mental outlook and energy level (Pezeshki, 2012).

Studies have shown that when someone pretends to laugh or be happy, the body produces chemicals (e.g. dopamine, serotonin, etc.) that induce a state of happiness (Kataria, 2004). Thus, the laughter is powerful in inducing physiological changes in the body. According to the principle "motion creates emotion", if one puts his/her body in a state of happiness, the mind will follow to a happy state (Kataria, 2004). Currently, the increase in population of elderly people (due to a reduction in birthrate, improvement of health and increased life expectancy) has garnered greater focus on the problems of the elderly (Abedzadeh, 2012).

Aging is a natural and inevitable process that affects all biological and psychological aspects of humans. Growth and maturity are the center point of childhood and youth hood. During adulthood, particularly during middle age and elderly age, most physical and mental functions decrease or atrophy due to aging. However, a sedentary lifestyle also accelerates the aging process. Physical, psychological, social and economic problems in old age often increase by 2-fold (Abedzadeh, 2012). Due to the growing elderly population in the world, according to estimates by the mid-21<sup>st</sup> century the number of the elderly is projected to reach 3.1 billion. Thus, it is critical to find solutions to health issues (e.g. Parkinson's disease) of this important age demographic.

Due to the close relationship between body and mind, it is clear that declining physical abilities along with increasing social/economic problems in old age can create a fertile ground for physical and mental illnesses. Parkinson's and Alzheimer's are among the most common diseases. Although the motor ability of patients is affected, they predominantly suffer from cognitive and behavioral impairment. Depression, dementia and mental disorders have a major impact on the quality of life for both patients and their families (Abedzadeh, 2012). Laughter yoga, through release of neurotransmitters from brain cells, can help induce feelings of happiness and potentially alleviate depression. According to

modern medicine, disease originates from our minds (i.e. emotional thoughts and overall state of mind). Accordingly, it may be very beneficial to do laughter yoga exercise programs as a complementary step to treat the well-being of patients suffering from Parkinson's (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013).

Generally, the treatment of Parkinson's disease consists of three parts: surgery, medication and rehabilitation. Following selection of treatment plan, a detailed history of disease and clinical or para-clinical evaluations are conducted. Based on review of the literature on the role of treatment options for mental disorders in people with Parkinson's, the interventions/treatments are mainly pharmaceutical, nutritional and physiological; the role of physical activities and different sport activities in the treatment of Parkinson's have been less studied (Abedzadeh, 2012). As aforementioned, laughter exercises can impact organs and muscles, strengthen the immune system, induce blood biochemical changes, and affect oxygen; all of these play a significant role in the potential prevention and treatment of Parkinson's disease (Pezeshki, 2012). Therefore, we postulated that problems (e.g. depression, anxiety, loss of confidence, and sleep disorders) experienced by Parkinson's patients may be improved by laughter yoga exercises as a complementary treatment. We hypothesized that a course of laughter yoga exercises might improve anxiety and sleep quality of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease.

This study aimed to determine the effect of laughter yoga exercises on the severity of anxiety in patients with Parkinson's disease; and to determine the effect of laughter yoga exercises on sleep quality of patients with Parkinson's disease.

# Materials-Methods

## Methodology

This study was done with the purpose of studying a course of laughter yoga exercises on anxiety and sleep quality of patients suffering from Parkinson's.

## Patients

For the present study there were initially 30 Parkinson's patients who were referred to Hazarate Raoul Allah hospital in Tehran, Iran. Patients ranged in age from 55 to 75 years old and each met the study requirements before entering into the research study.

## Groups of investigation

Parkinson's disease is classified as Stage 1, 2 or 3, according to the Hoehn and Yahr Scale (H&Y). Parkinson's patients without chronic heart and respiratory disease, without open surgery in the inner region in the last six months, and

without high blood pressure who voluntarily participated in this study were randomly divided into two groups of 15. One group was the experimental group (laughter yoga exercises) and the other was the control group (no laughter yoga exercises). From those individuals, 6 were removed from the study due to lack of continuous training, setting the machine Deep brain stimulation (DBS), and withdrawal for work purposes. After exclusion of these 6 patients, the final study consisted of 12 patients in the experimental group and 12 patients in the control group.

The voluntary participation of Parkinson's patients as subjects in the study was reviewed and approved by physicians. Notably, before the study was initiated subjects from both groups agreed by written consent to participate in the research study; those in the appropriate group(s) agreed to engage in laughter yoga classes. Also, before the start of the study, all executive items were approved by a committee of the University University Research Committee (Islamic Azad University of Karaj).

### Laughter yoga exercises

Firstly, as a pre-test, the anxiety and sleep quality of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease in both the experimental and control groups, were measured by the anxiety inventory of Beck (1988) and the sleep quality inventory of Pitezbourg (1989) (PSQI), respectively. Then the treatment group, in addition to standard medical treatment, performed laugher yoga exercises under the supervision of a laughter yoga instructor for 8 weeks (2 sessions per week, 45 minutes per session). Meanwhile, patients in the control group received their standard medical treatment and continued their typical daily activities but did not practice any laughter yoga exercises.

## Statistical analysis

After completing the laughter yoga exercises, as a post-test, the anxiety and sleep quality of the patients in both experimental and control groups were measured using questionnaires. To normalize the research data, the Mann-Whitney nonparametric test was used. As well, all the analyses was done at a significance level of (P<0.05) using SPSS software.

# Results

The **Table 1** shows the mean and standard deviation of all variables in the pretest evaluation, post-test evaluation, and the corresponding difference of pretest and post-test values for the practice (experimental) and control groups.

Variable	Group	Pre-test	Post-test	Difference of Pre-test & Post-test
A	Practice	21.5±7.4	1.86±6.6	-2.8±3.1
Anxiety	Control	20.9±5.9	21.46.4±	0.50.79±
	Practice	9.414.6±	7.5±4.1	-1.9±1.3
Sleep quality	Control	8.5±4.1	9.25±5.1	0.75±1.2
Subjective quality of sleep	Practice	1.83±0.5	1.16±0.5	-0.66±0.4
Subjective quality of sleep	Control	1.330.4±	1.41±0.66	0.08±0.2
Dolay in falling asloop	Practice	1.66±0.9	1.08±0.9	-0.580.5±
Delay in failing asleep	Control	1.16±1.1	1.251.1±	0.080.28±
Sloop duration	Practice	1.58±1.1	1.51.08±	-0.08±0.2
Sleep duration	Control	1.41±1.08	1.51.1±	0.08±0.6
Amount of cloop officionay	Practice	11.3±	0.75±1.2	-0.25±0.4
Amount of sleep enciency	Control	0.831.02±	0.911.08±	0.08±0.51
Clean disorders	Practice	1.58±0.66	1.41±0.51	-0.16±0.3
Sleep disorders	Control	1.5±0.52	1.83±0.71	0.330.4±
Lise of close medications	Practice	0.58±1.1	0.581.1±	0
use of sleep medications	Control	1.33±1.4	1.41±1.5	0.08±0.2
Daily functioning disorders	Practice	1.16±0.93	1±0.73	-0.16±0.5
Daily functioning disorders	Control	0.91±1.1	0.91±1.1	0.00±0.4

# Table 1. Mean and standard deviation of research variables of patients withParkinson's disease

**Table 2** shows the relative frequency of gender; it can be seen that 58.3% of the participants were men and 41.7% were women. The Mann-Whitney test results in **Table 3** show that there is a significant difference between the average change in anxiety of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease in the laughter yoga practice (experimental) group (M=-2.83) versus the control group (M=0.50) (U=136, Z=3.76, P=0.000). Thus, the null hypothesis is rejected; in other words, a course of laughter yoga exercises led to a significant decrease of anxiety in patients suffering with Parkinson's.

Gender	Frequency	Relative frequency
Men	14	58.3
Women	10	41.7

### Table 2. The relative frequency of gender in the study participants

### Table 3. Results of Mann-Whitney test on anxiety

U	Z	Sig.
135	3.76	0.000

The Mann-Whitney test results depicted in **Table 4** show that there is a significant difference between the average change in sleep quality of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease in the laughter yoga practice (experimental) group (M=-1.91) versus the control group (M=0.75) (U=138, Z=3.88, P=0.000). Thus, the null hypothesis rejected; in other words, a course of laughter yoga exercises led to a significant increase of sleep quality in patients with Parkinson's. Note that on the basis of scoring, the lower the sleep quality scores the better the sleep quality.

### Table 4. Mann-Whitney test results of sleep quality

U	Z	Sig.
138	3.88	0.000

# Discussion

The Mann-Whitney test results in **Table 2** demonstrate that there is a significant difference between the average change in anxiety in patients with Parkinson's in the laughter yoga practice (experimental) group versus the control group. In other words, the course of laughter yoga exercises led to a significant reduction in the anxiety of patients suffering from Parkinson's disease. According to the literature, these results are consistent with study results of (Badr, 2014; Bagheri, 2011; Behzadi, 2010; Bennett et al., 2003; Eftekhari, 2004; Hassed, 2001; Hirosaki et al., 2013; Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013; Kheirandish, 2014; Moshfeghi,



2010; Shahidi, 2008; Sook and Hee, 2011). However, they differ from the study results of Omrani (2010).

As the results of our study are consistent with the aforementioned studies, it would seem that the predominant mechanism by which laughter influences anxiety is through its ability to establish and sustain a positive emotional state. During a state of anxiety, the adrenal gland frees corticosteroid hormones, which are converted to cortisol in the bloodstream. It is cortisol that increases in response to stress. Brouk (1998) believed that positive emotions such as laughter can reduce the ordinary stress response and as a moderator, amend sympathetic stimulation after stress (Shahidi, 2008). Keykhai Hosseinpour (2013) conducted a research on the impact of laughter yoga exercises on the motor and mental factors of patients suffering from Parkinson's (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). The results of his study indicated that laughter yoga exercises have a positive impact on reducing depression, thereby improving the patient's quality of life and increasing motion performance, flexibility and pain reduction. His study concluded that Parkinson's patients, as they have a lack of dopamine and serotonin, can use laughter yoga which help secrete hormones that help to reduce depression.

Depression and anxiety are among the most common mental problems of patients suffering from Parkinson's. They arise due to the physical symptoms of the disease and also from the patient's disability. To combat this, laughter can be induced to provide benefits to the overall health status. Health benefits obtained of laughter yoga including physical, mental and emotional stress management. When stress decreases, the immune system automatically becomes stronger. Laughter also increases the oxygen supply to cells of the body and increases blood circulation, thereby creating a positive state of health.

Given that the body can be influenced by a series of hormonal and physical changes which cause damage to the patient, any strategy that regularly reduces the level of stress hormones in the blood helps to increase health. Moreover, laughter is known to be a good stress inhibitor. In fact, joking and laughing can reduce the neuroendocrine hormones (epinephrine and cortisol) that are secreted in response to stress, causing the person to be calm (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). Laughter is one of the best, most cost-effective and easiest ways to relieve stress and relax the muscles of the body. Laughing dilates blood vessels and transmits more blood to the farthest muscles throughout the body. Furthermore, a good laugh from the heart reduces the secretion of stress hormones, epinephrine and cortisol.

When we are laughing there is no thought in our minds; all our senses seem to be synchronized for a brief moment. We feel joy, peace and comfort (Behzadi, 2010). Also, according to the theory of emotional discharge, laughter is a socially acceptable way to release tension and stress. Provin (2000) argued that laughter in social interactions can be used as a stress relief mechanism. Spencer (according to the theory of drain excitement) believed that the emotional and mental turmoil produce a kind of energy that somehow must be used. He suggested that nervous excitement tended to cause muscle tension and that laughter, as a kind of physical movement, can act as a stream of various forms of nervous energy. Moreover, Spencer created the idea of laughter to remove bad potential energy through the process of daily stress management, constantly stacking energy and release of excess energy by laughing after a stressful day (Provin, 2000).

Behzadi (2010) conducted a research study with the aim of evaluating the effectiveness of Katarya laughter therapy on increasing the general health of elderly residents in a nursing home of Shahid Hasheminejhad of Ray City (Behzadi, 2010). The results of that research data showed that Katarya laughter therapy was significantly effective in increasing public safety, improving physical symptoms, anxiety and insomnia, increasing social dysfunctions, and reducing depression. According to the findings of that study, it was concluded that Katarya Laughter therapy can improve the health of residents in nursing homes. Thus, this treatment method (laughter) may be used as replacement or supplement for improving overall health of elderly in nursing home.

Hased (2001) reviewed numerous clinical studies which all demonstrated that humor and laughter can reduce stress in all situations. Laughter can affect inflammatory disorders, asthma, cancer, and heart disease. In his article, he identified several psychological impacts, including reduction of stress and anxiety, and improvement of mood, self-esteem and coping skills. In addition, Hased described a positive psychological effect on pain and an increase in the safety of certain factors, e.g. immunoglobulin A and white blood cells.

Omrani (2010) conducted a research study on the effect of music therapy and laughter therapy to reduce anxiety in women prior to surgery. That study was a quasi-experimental study with pre-test and post-test assessments. In Omrani's study, the Katal anxiety test was used to measure stress; it was found that music therapy could reduce anxiety before surgery in women but that laughter did not have any therapeutic effect on anxiety of those women. In our study, however, laughter yoga exercises led to a significant increase in sleep quality of patients with Parkinson's disease (based on the scoring of the questionnaire on sleep quality). According to the literature, our study results are consistent with results of (Badr, 2014; Behzadi, 2010; Fotouhi, 2010).

As mentioned in Introduction, the quality of sleep of those afflicted with Parkinson's is influenced by factors such as anti-Parkinson's medications, Akintik pains, dystonia, restless legs syndrome, panic attacks, anxiety and depression, parasomnia, and sleep apnea. Laughter yoga is thought to impact all those factors, thereby improving sleep quality and ultimately alleviating the disorders. Akintik pains usually occur due to lack of mobility in these patients and often lead to sleep disorders. Extreme rigidity, fever, pain in muscles and joints, headaches, and occasional pain in all parts of the body are all typical symptoms (Soleimani, 2015).

Laughter improves health by reportedly inducing the secretion of endorphins that reduce pain and promote the feeling of happiness (Martin, 2001). In fact, laughing increases the level of endorphins, also considered to be natural painkillers. The secreted endorphins have been shown to help reduce pain in people suffering from arthritis, inflammation of the spine, and muscle spasms (Kataria, 2004; Pezeshki, 2012). Indeed, laughter is regarded as a pain management technique that can be used for most incurable diseases. People who are regularly practicing laughter therapy can secrete endorphins with a simple smile. A few minutes of real laughing can induce the equivalent results as rowing or stationary biking for 10-15 minutes (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). For the elderly who are not able to exercise, laughter is indeed a good secondary treatment option (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013).

In addition to Akintik pains, other problems such as dystonia (i.e. involuntary muscle contractions of legs, fingers, wrists, ankles and feet) can cause painful cramps for Parkinson's patients (Soleimani, 2015). In this regard, laughter yoga can improve muscles of the face, chest and abdomen. Indeed, muscle power is important and useful for hospitalized patients and elderly people who move around in a wheelchair. Kazines (1979) described laughter as running internal organs; that is, it is effective even for muscles of the digestive system and can help speed up the rate of digestion (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013).

Another important advantage of laughter is decrease of muscle tension. Stress keep muscles in a contracted state. People who learn muscle relaxation methods can reach peace psychologically. In muscle relaxation methods, the therapist asks the patient firstly to perform of series of muscle contractions on his body muscles and then relax to feel the relaxation in those muscles. Laughter has been reported to decrease tension in the neck, shoulder and abdomen muscles (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). Joking and laughing reduce the hormones epinephrine and cortisol (which typically rise in response to stress), thereby leading to relaxation (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). As in the theory of emotional discharge, Freud believed that the release of energy is an enjoyable experience that is expressed as a laugh, thereby reducing tension and stress (Shahidi, 2008).

Behzadi (2010) conducted a research with the aim of studying the effectiveness Katarya laughter therapy on the effect of general health of elderly residents of a nursing home in Hasheminejhad of Ray City (Behzadi, 2010). Results of study showed that Katarya laughter therapy significantly increases public safety, improves physical symptoms, reduces anxiety and insomnia, and alleviates social dysfunction and depression. According to the findings of that study, it can be concluded that the method of Katarya laughter therapy is advantageous in removing negative thoughts, changing beliefs, creating positive emotional states, and reducing the symptoms of Parkinson's disease. Overall, the general health of the senior home residents was markedly improved after laughter therapy.



Among other activities which affect the quality of sleep in patients with Parkinson's disease is respiratory disorder. One of the benefits of laughter yoga is, thus, improvement of the respiratory system. Laughter provides exercise to the lungs and chest muscles, resulting in improved vital capacity and breathing. In normal breathing when person is relaxed, there is a balance between inhalation and exhalation. In the stress and disease states, not only does breathing become more shallow and slower but the level of oxygen becomes lowered too. There is a great amount of air that remains in the lungs. By keeping the air in the lungs, oxygen content decreases and water vapor and carbon dioxide levels increase. In this case, the more favorable conditions for bacterial growth and lung infections are created.

Laughter increases ventilation and removes mucous plugs to help maintain air exchange which increases oxygen levels in the blood. In fact, when we laugh the air is completely expelled from the lungs and following that, carbon dioxide and water vapor is also emitted and replaced with oxygen. The oxygen becomes available to blood cells. The effects of laughter can benefit middle-aged people with chronic respiratory diseases, such as emphysema, and reduce the risk of infection and inflammation of the lungs (Keykhai Hosseinpour, 2013). Therefore, laughter yoga can affect quality of sleep by improving the respiratory system.

Therefore, according to the benefits of laughter yoga, which include pain relief, muscle relaxation, reduced anxiety and depression, and improved respiratory system function, it can be concluded that laughter yoga does significantly improve sleep quality- either directly and indirectly- of patients with Parkinson's disease. The questionnaire (on sleep quality) by Peter Bourg evaluated 7 areas: sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, sleep efficiency rate, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping pills, and daily functioning disorders.

# **Research limitations**

All research studies have some limitations which are important to recognize and address for future insight. In this study, the limitations were as follows:

- 1. The number of individuals suffering from Parkinson's, who are willing to cooperate in the study and participate in the laughter yoga exercises was very low; this was one of the greatest limitations of the study (contributing to a low sample size of experimental and control groups).
- 2. There was no possibility of taking advantage of the questionnaire for patients with Parkinson's disease due to the lack of standardized questionnaires in Iran. In the beginning, some steps were taken to standardize the questionnaires by translating it and having patients fill them out, but due to lack of time taking advantage of the questionnaire in this study was not feasible.



- 3. Due to the lack of accredited and essential facilities, there was no possibility of holding meetings in the hospital; all meetings were held at a house.
- 4. Due to general limitations for holding laughter yoga classes in the houses of the neighborhood, and despite initial agreement on the presence of the patient at the house and same time for holding the classes for women and men, it was decided that classes be held flexibly and separately, as needed.
- 5. Due to the age requirements, specific issues of some Parkinson's patients and restrictions on the movements of these patients, not every patient could attend the regular meetings consistently.

# Conclusion

In conclusion, laughter yoga significantly improves anxiety and sleep quality of Parkinson's patients and can serve as a beneficial complementary therapy to standard therapy.

# Author contribution

AZ performed data acquisition, data analysis; AS performed designed the study, data analysis and manuscript preparation; SMB performed data acquisition, and manuscript preparation. All authors approved the manuscript.



# References

Abargouei Azizi, S. (2011). Effects of aquatic exercise therapy on quality of life, muscle strength and balance in patients with Parkinson's disease. In Faculty of Physical Education and Sports Sciences (Master's thesis).

Abedzadeh, M. (2012). The effect of balance training on depression and quality of life of patients with Parkinson's disease. In Faculty of Physical Education and Sports Sciences (Isfahan University).

Afshar, M., and Ghandehari, K. (2006). Tremor in the right hand as the most common initial manifestation of Parkinson disease. *Journal of Birjand University of Medical Sciences* 13, 9-15.

Badr, z. (2014). The effect of laughter therapy on general health and stress among nurses working in Yasuj hospitals. In Faculty of Humanities, Department of Psychology (Yasuj Branch: Islamic Azad University).

Bagheri, r. (2011). The study of the effect of laughter therapy on group cataract on the reduction of occupational stress among female teachers of elementary school in District 13 of Tehran. In Faculty of Educational Sciences and Psychology (Allameh Tabatabaei University).

Behzadi, A. (2010). The Effect of Kataria Laughter on Increased General Health in the Elderly Man in Shahid Hasheminejad Hospital (Reyhaneh Charity and Charity Foundation) (Faculty of Educational Sciences and Psychology: Allameh Tabatabaei University,).

Bellew, J.W., Yates, J.W., and Gater, D.R. (2003). The initial effects of low-volume strength training on balance in untrained older men and women. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research* 17, 121-128.

Bennett, M.P., Zeller, J.M., Rosenberg, L., and McCann, J. (2003). The effect of mirthful laughter on stress and natural killer cell activity. *Alternative therapies in health and medicine* 9, 38.

Covassin, N., Neikrug, A.B., Liu, L., Corey-Bloom, J., Loredo, J.S., Palmer, B.W., Maglione, J., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2012). Clinical correlates of periodic limb movements in sleep in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of the neurological sciences* 316, 131-136.

Dibble, L.E., Hale, T.F., Marcus, R.L., Droge, J., Gerber, J.P., and LaStayo, P.C. (2006). High-intensity resistance training amplifies muscle hypertrophy and functional gains in persons with Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders* 21, 1444-1452.

Eftekhari, S. (2004). Comparison of the effectiveness of two methods of therapeutic play and laughter therapy on anxiety in children ages 6-12. In Islamic Azad University (Shahrood Branch: Faculty of Literature and Humanities).

Emsaki, G. (2010). The cognitive functions of patients with Parkinson's disease compared with healthy subjects and the study of the effect of two drugs primaxyxol and thrigesifenidil on it (Iran: Isfahan University).

Fotouhi, M. (2010). Determining the quality of sleep in patients referred to the Internal Clinic of the Neurology of Rasoul-Karm Hospital in the second half of 2010, undergoing deep brain stimulation (DBS (Tehran University of Medical Sciences and Health Services).

Giroux, M.L. (2007). Parkinson disease: managing a complex, progressive disease at all stages. *Cleveland Clinic journal of medicine* 74, 313.



Hartmann, A.O., WH (2005). Analysis of the motor disorder in Parkinson disease. In Parkinson disease: The treatment options, O.W. Lewitt PA, ed. (London: Martin Dunits), pp. P 39-50.

Hasan, H., and Hasan, T.F. (2009). Laugh yourself into a healthier person: a cross cultural analysis of the effects of varying levels of laughter on health. *International journal of medical sciences* 6, 200.

Hassed, C. (2001). How humor helps keep you well. *Australian Family Physician* 30, 25-28.

Heydari, A., Ehteshamzadeh, P., and Marashi, M. (2010). The relationship between insomnia severity, sleep quality, sleepless and impaired mental health and academic performance of girls. *Journal Woman Culture* 1, 65-76.

Hirosaki, M., Ohira, T., Kajiura, M., Kiyama, M., Kitamura, A., Sato, S., and Iso, H. (2013). Effects of a laughter and exercise program on physiological and psychological health among community–dwelling elderly in Japan: Randomized controlled trial. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 13, 152-160.

Huang, Z., Fuente-Fernández, R.d.l., and Stoessl, A.J. (2014). Etiology of Parkinson's Disease. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences / Journal Canadien des Sciences Neurologiques* 30, S10-S18.

Iranzo de RA, B.A., Campos V. (2011). Sleep disorders in Parkinson disease. *Neurologist* 17, S38-S42.

Kataria, M. (2004). Do not laugh at the reason! Translated by Majid Medical (Tehran: Nasle-no-Andish Publishing).

Keykhai Hosseinpour, A. (2013). Laughter yoga exercises on psychomotor effects of Parkinson's patients. In Faculty of Physical Education and Sports Sciences (Isfahan University).

Kheirandish, A. (2014). The Effect of Laugh Yoga on Stress and Depression in Multiple Sclerosis (MS) Patients. In Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences (Al-Zahra University,).

Khorsand, S. (2016). Laughter Yoga exercises influence on life satisfaction and depression among 65-70 year living in a nursing home. In the field of motor behavior. (The Islamic Azad University of Karaj).

Lord, S.S., C. Menz, HB (2003). Falls in older people: risk factors and strategies for prevention (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Margis, R., Donis, K., Schonwald, S.V., Fagondes, S.C., Monte, T., Martin-Martinez, P., Chaudhuri, K.R., Kapczinski, F., and Rieder, C.R. (2009). Psychometric properties of the Parkinson's Disease Sleep Scale--Brazilian version. *Parkinsonism & related disorders* 15, 495-499.

Martin, R.A. (2001). Humor, laughter, and physical health: methodological issues and research findings. *Psychological bulletin* 127, 504.

Morris, M.E. (2000). Movement disorders in people with Parkinson disease: a model for physical therapy. *Physical therapy* 80, 578-597.

Moshfeghi, F.A., Karim. Molawi Hussain. Chitsaz, H. (2010). Efficacy of cognitivebehavioral group therapy for depression and quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease in Isfahan. In Faculty of Education and Psychology (University of Isfahan).



Naismith, S.L., Hickie, I.B., and Lewis, S.J. (2010). The role of mild depression in sleep disturbance and quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences* 22, 384-389.

Najafi, M.R., Chitsaz, A., and Askarian, Z. (2012). Sleep Quality in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of Isfahan Medical School* 30.

Najarian, A.N.E.M., Hamid. Mertazian, Meysam. Hajj Fath Ali, AR. Jamshidi, M. (2008). The effect of heart rate variability levodopa in Parkinson's disease.

Nelson, A.J., Zwick, D., Brody, S., Doran, C., Pulver, L., Rooz, G., Sadownick, M., Nelson, R., and Rothman, J. (2002). The validity of the GaitRite and the Functional Ambulation Performance scoring system in the analysis of Parkinson gait\m {1}. *NeuroRehabilitation* 17, 255-262.

Pezeshki, M. (2012). Power laugh (Now Andish Publisher).

Pierce, J. (2008). Parkinson - Translation of Farhad Hemmatkhah (Peidayesh Publishing).

Provin, R. (2000). Laughter (Penguin Books).

Robinson, K., Dennison, A., Roalf, D., Noorigian, J., Cianci, H., Bunting-Perry, L., Moberg, P., Kleiner-Fisman, G., Martine, R., Duda, J., *et al.* (2005). Falling risk factors in Parkinson's disease. *NeuroRehabilitation* 20, 169-182.

Scheller, D., Dürmüller, N., Moser, P., and Porsolt, R.D. (2008). Continuous stimulation of dopaminergic receptors by rotigotine does not interfere with the sleep-wake cycle in the rat. *European journal of pharmacology* 584, 111-117.

Shahidi, M. (2008). Comparison of the efficacy of cataract funeral therapy and group exercise therapy in reducing depression and increasing the life satisfaction of elderly women living in Tehran. In Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences (Tehran: Allameh Tabatabaei University).

Shannon, K. (2004). Movement disorders. In Neurology in clinical practice: principles of diagnosis and management, D.R. Bradley WG, Fenichel GM, ed. (Philadelphia: Butter worth-Heinemann), pp. 2125-2169.

Shaumway cook, A.W.M., H. (2007). Motor control: Teory and practical application (Baltimore MD: Williams & Willkins).

Soleimani, M.A., . Ya'qubzadeh, Ameneh. (2015). Living with Parkinson (Tehran: Jamehenegar Publishing.).

Sook, S.H., and Hee, R.K. (2011). Effects of Laughter Therapy on Postpartum Fatigue and Stress Responses of Postpartum Women. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing* 41.

Tinetti, M.E. (2003). Preventing falls in elderly persons. N Engl j Med 2003, 42-49.

Yektamaram, A.M. (2010). Physical and motor rehabilitation of rehabilitation (Parkinson). *Public relations office of the State Welfare Organization*.

Yousefi, B.t., Vahid. Taherzadeh, J. (2010). The effect of motion exercises therapy on quality of life in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Olympic Journal*, 72.

# WORKPLACE LAUGHTER AND PERSONAL EFFICACY (US STUDY)

REPORT FROM THE FIELD:

Effect of Workplace Laughter Groups on Personal Efficacy Beliefs

Heidi Beckman

Nathan Regier

Judy L. Young

Heidi Beckman, Ph.D. UWHC-Health Psychology 600 Highland Ave. E3/218 Madison, WI 53792-2424 Nathan Regier, Ph.D. Prairie View, Inc. 1901 E. First Street Newton, KS 67114 Judy L. Young Laughter Links 7676 E. Polo Dr. #36 Wichita, KS 67206

The authors would like to thank Michele Ediger for assistance with data collection and management, Ivan Williams, MBA for assistance with statistical analysis, and Shari Roth, B.A. for assistance with both data management and statistical analysis.

### Abstract

This study measured the impact of a purposeful aerobic laughter intervention on employees' sense of self-efficacy in the workplace. Participants were 33 employees of a behavioral health center. They met for 15-minute sessions on 15 consecutive workdays and engaged in a guided program of non-humor dependent laughter. The primary outcome measure was the Capabilities Awareness Profile, a self-report selfefficacy questionnaire. Employees demonstrated a significant increase in several different aspects of self-efficacy, including self-regulation, optimism, positive emotions, and social identification, and they maintained these gains at follow-up. Purposeful laughter is a realistic, sustainable, and generalizable intervention that enhances employees' morale, resilience, and personal efficacy beliefs.

Key Words: laughter, workplace wellness, self-efficacy

### Effect of Workplace Laughter Groups on Personal Efficacy Beliefs

In today's world, individuals are bombarded with the idea that "laughter is the best medicine." There are accounts all over the popular media that proclaim the supposed physical, emotional, social, and spiritual benefits of laughter. Still, some researchers warn that our popular understanding about the positive effects of laughter has gotten ahead of the science that is investigating these claims (Martin, 2001; Provine, 2000; Salovey et al., 2000). They point out that the research investigations in this area have been subject to numerous methodological problems, such as the failure to distinguish between laughter and humor, the failure to confirm the presence of laughter, inadequate control conditions, and small sample sizes. There are not enough research findings for us to suggest that laughter is an all-around healing agent, but there is sufficient evidence for us to believe that laughter has some positive, quantifiable effects on certain aspects of health. This article describes a field study that examined the impact of laughter on individuals' sense of self-efficacy.

One of the biggest methodological problems in the research on laughter is the failure to distinguish between humor and laughter. Humor is a construct, while laughter is a physiological event (Mahony et al., 2002). While the effects of humor are cognitive (e.g., the recognition of some incongruity and perhaps an increase in perceived control), the effects of laughter are physical (e.g., increasing your circulation and exercising your skeletal muscles). Humor is a stimulus, and laughter is one of several possible behavioral responses to that stimulus (Fry, 1992). When this distinction is made, it is easier to see that humor and laughter are distinct (although often associated) events. Humor can occur without laughter, and laughter can occur without humor. In this study, the focus is on laughter that occurs in the absence of humor.

246

In the research that examines the hypothesis that laughter is beneficial to one's health, there are several purported pathways that link laughter with healthy outcomes (Martin, 2001; Salovey et al., 2000). First, laughter may lead to direct changes in physiological systems, and this may have a beneficial effect on health. Second, laughter may lead to more positive emotional states, which in turn may have a beneficial effect on health. Third, laughter may lead to more effective strategies for coping with stress, which may decrease the negative impact that stress can have on health outcomes. Finally, laughter may increase one's social support, which in turn may improve health.

There is some evidence to support these pathways, although most studies fail to separate out the effects of humor and laughter. Scientists have attempted to demonstrate the physiological benefits of laughter in the management of pain and discomfort (e.g., Cogan et al., 1987; Rotton & Shats, 1996; Weisenberg et al., 1998), the control of blood glucose levels in people with diabetes (Hayashi et al., 2003), the functioning of the immune system in normal subjects (e.g., Dillon et al., 1985; Labott et al., 1990; Lefcourt et al., 1990), the reduction of allergic responses in patients with atopic dermatitis (Kimata, 2001), and the functioning of blood vessels in healthy volunteers (Miller, 2005).

While some of these research attempts have been successful, others (for example, the immune system studies) have raised great controversy because of the failure to control for other experimental effects such as distraction (Provine, 2000). Critics have warned that the research on laughter and physical health does not acknowledge the complexity of physiological systems and the individual differences in the experience of laughter (Martin, 2001; Saper, 1988). Nor does the research differentiate between laughter's unique physiological profile and the profile of other active vocalizations such as shouting or cheering (Provine, 2000).

Researchers have examined the impact of humor and laughter not only on physical health, but also on emotional health. More specifically, researchers have

247

focused on aspects of emotional health such as perceived control, optimism, and acceptance of limitations. For example, Solomon (1996) asked 155 adults to complete questionnaires that measured their propensity to use humor and laughter, their satisfaction with the aging process, and their perceived control. The instrument that measured perceived control was comprised of three scales: personal efficacy, interpersonal relationship control, and sociopolitical control. The personal efficacy scale included statements such as "When I make plans, I am certain to make them work," and "When I get what I want, it's usually because I worked hard for it." The results of the study showed that laughter and humor affected participants' satisfaction with the aging process through the variable of perceived control. Solomon speculated that being able to laugh gave participants a sense of control over their situation, and it is known that people who have a sense of control over their daily life are more satisfied with their housing arrangements, lives, and selves, all of which are important to the process of aging well. In addition, having a sense of self-efficacy allows people to be capable of laughter. Or, as Solomon explained it, "People who believed they could make their plans work also believed that it is better to laugh than cry and that people are not too serious than is good for them..." (p.265).

### Purpose

The present study was designed to expand the research that examines the impact of laughter on emotional health. The purpose of the study was to form workplace laughter groups and measure the impact of group participation on employees' sense of self-efficacy. The study is unique in that the intervention consisted of "laughter without humor;" that is, participants engaged in exercises designed to evoke the physiological act of laughter without relying on humorous stimuli. In this way, laughter was isolated as a pure independent variable, not confounded by the cognitive effects of humor. This study is also unique because to

our knowledge, there are no published studies that document the benefits of workplace laughter groups.

## Self-Efficacy and Work Performance

Self-efficacy is the belief in one's ability to organize and carry out the courses of action necessary to achieve a goal or manage a situation (Bandura, 1986). This personal belief influences the choices people make, the effort they put forth in working toward a goal, how long they persist when confronted with obstacles, and how they feel in the process of working toward goals. There are four principle sources of information from which personal efficacy beliefs are constructed. First, individuals experience greater self-efficacy when they are successful in taking small steps toward their goals (i.e., mastery experiences). Second, vicarious experiences can increase self-efficacy when individuals observe the achievements of others who are similar to themselves. Third, verbal persuasion can increase self-efficacy when significant others express faith in an individual's capabilities and these positive appraisals lead to selfaffirming beliefs. Finally, individuals are more inclined to make positive judgments of their capabilities when they are not bothered by aversive physiological or affective arousal (Bandura, 1986).

Self-efficacy beliefs affect performance in the workplace. Before workers initiate effort on a task, they weigh, evaluate, and integrate information about their perceived capabilities. When workers perceive a high sense of self-efficacy, they activate sufficient effort to get the task done well, and they likely produce successful outcomes. In contrast, workers who perceive a low sense of self-efficacy do not activate sufficient effort and likely fail on the task (Bandura, 1997).

Expectations of personal efficacy influence workers' resilience, as well. If workers perceive themselves as being highly capable, they are more likely to sustain their task-related effort in the face of obstacles or aversive organizational demands. They engage in problem-solving coping and determine ways to restructure their work

249

situations or manage their job demands better (Bandura, 1997). However, if they perceive low self-efficacy, the obstacles prompt them to cease their efforts prematurely and retain feelings of futility concerning their personal competence. The low self-efficacy workers engage in escapist coping, performing their work in an indifferent and superficial manner and withdrawing their involvement in the work life. Their self-debilitating expectations about their performance create a sense of defeat and perpetuate further self-debilitating expectations (Bandura, 1997).

A recent meta-analysis of research findings regarding the relationship between self-efficacy and work performance reviewed 114 studies and found a 28% gain in task performance due to self-efficacy (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998). This gain in task performance far exceeds the estimated gain from goal setting (10.39%), feedback interventions (13.6%), and organizational behavior modification (17%) (see Stajkovic & Luthans for references). This suggests that organizational managers can improve the performance of their employees in an efficient and relatively inexpensive manner by enhancing employees' personal efficacy beliefs. They may accomplish this by creating a workplace environment that creatively fosters the four sources of self-efficacy described earlier.

### Laughter and Self-Efficacy

Workplace laughter groups may be one mechanism for creating a workplace environment that fosters mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and a reduction in aversive physiological and affective states. In the workplace laughter groups we designed, participants would complete a series of exercises that built upon each other and took small steps toward the goals of experiencing and sustaining laughter. In this way, participants would experience small successes early on and then enhance their sense of mastery over the course of fifteen days. The laughter groups would naturally lead to vicarious experiences of success, as group members observe others achieving the benefits of laughter. The groups were designed to have a strong social component and to facilitate a safe environment by discouraging any derisive laughter. We posited that as coworkers began to relate to each other in a new and somewhat unconventional manner, they would strengthen their connections with each other. This social bonding is predictable based on what researchers call the "open-loop" nature of the brain's emotional centers, the limbic system. This line of research has found that one person transmits signals that can alter the emotions and physiology of another person, thereby making emotions "contagious" whenever people are near one another, even if the contact is nonverbal (Goleman et al., 2002).

The workplace laughter groups were designed so that verbal persuasion would be a prominent characteristic of the groups. The group leader would give generous praise to the participants for their efforts. She would also give frequent encouragement and express faith in the participants' capabilities.

When individuals make a judgment about their perceived efficacy, they rely partly on the somatic information contained within their physiological and emotional states. If they are tense and viscerally aroused, or if they perceive the physiological activation that accompanies negative mood states, they are less likely to expect success. In contrast, if they are not experiencing aversive arousal, they are more inclined to construct positive self-efficacy beliefs. The act of vigorous laughter energizes our physiology in much the same way that aerobic exercise does, increasing heart and respiration rate and activating various muscle groups. After an episode of laughter, however, our bodies enjoy a relaxation effect. It follows, then, that individuals who engage in workplace laughter groups would be likely to perceive less visceral arousal after practicing sustained episodes of laughter, thereby leading them to form more positive self-efficacy judgments than individuals who do not participate.

251

One of the factors that can be most debilitating to one's sense of self-efficacy in the workplace is the perceived inability to turn off disturbing ruminations about negative work experiences (Bandura, 1997). Bandura suggests that to counteract these ruminations, workers need to develop diversionary efficacy, or the ability to achieve recuperative breaks from the demands of work. Since laughter creates a positive emotional state and increases perceived control, it follows that individuals who engage in workplace laughter groups would be better able to interrupt ruminative thinking patterns that sustain negative emotions and to form more positive selfefficacy judgments than individuals who do not.

# Hypotheses

The purpose of this study was to form workplace laughter groups and measure the impact of group participation on employees' perceived self-efficacy. The main hypothesis was that participation in regular workplace laughter would increase workers' sense of self-efficacy, especially in four dimensions: (1) self-regulation, or the perceived competence in managing and controlling thoughts and feelings under stress; (2) optimism, or the perceived ability to remain positive about the future even in the face of stress or obstacles; (3) positive emotions, or the perceived capacity to experience and sustain positive emotions; and (4) social identification, or the perceived capacity to feel connected with others.

## Method

# Participants

Participants were recruited from staff employed at a large behavioral and mental health facility in the Midwest. The institutional review board of the facility approved the project. All day staff in three specific offices of the facility received an e-mail message that explained the project in broad terms (i.e., examining laughter as an approach to stress management) without revealing the specific hypotheses of the

252
study. Participants volunteered by responding to the message. Participants received an informed consent form that explained possible risks and benefits, the process for ensuring confidentiality and anonymity of results, and the process of debriefing after the intervention. In total, 195 staff members were invited to participate. Of this group, 37 persons entered the study and completed the pre-test (a 19% response rate), and 33 completed the intervention and post-test (an 89% completion rate). Twenty-two individuals completed a 60-90 day follow-up assessment. Of the 33 participants who completed the intervention, there were 4 males and 29 females. The average age was 48. Participants represented a variety of professions including psychologist, physician, secretary, nurse, social worker, financial counselor, and switchboard operator.

## Measures

The principle measure was the Capabilities Awareness Profile, a 124-item selfreport self-efficacy questionnaire (Hays et al., 2003). The CAP is a reliable and valid instrument based on Bandura's research on self-efficacy (1986; 1997), and the instrument incorporates recent developments in the areas of emotional intelligence and positive psychology (Hays et al., 2003). The CAP contains 12 subscales measuring a variety of perceived competencies that group into three categories: self, relational, and role competencies. Self competencies include self-awareness, selfacceptance, self-actualization, self-regulation, adaptability, motivation, optimism, and assertiveness. Relational competencies include social identification, empathy, and positive emotions. Role competency is a single scale. Appendix A describes each of the scales. Participants completed the CAP as the pre-test (during the week before the groups commenced), the post-test (during the week after completion of the groups), and the 60-90 day follow-up assessment.

## Design and Procedure

The current study used a pre-post, follow-up design. Laughter Links is a program teaching non-humor dependent, yoga-based, purposeful aerobic laughter in a group setting. It is based upon the work of Dr. Madan Kataria, a cardiologist in Mumbai, India who combined medical research, modern science, and yoga breathing to create his own laughter technique (Kataria, 1999). Workplace laughter groups made use of this technique and met for 15 consecutive workdays. A professional laughter coach who had direct training in Dr. Kataria's approach led the classes. The program began with a 45-minute orientation session covering the background and rationale for the intervention. The orientation session emphasized the following important points:

- 1. Humor is highly subjective due to each individual's tastes, preferences, values, language, and culture; therefore, it can be offensive to some.
- Laughter, on the other hand, is instinctive behavior that comes from our biological being; therefore, it is accessible and acceptable to almost everyone.
- It is important to practice laughter in an atmosphere that fosters respect for others.
- Laughter produces an aerobic effect similar to that of moderate exercise. Participants with health issues should check with their physician before starting a laughter program.

For the next 14 days, participants spent 15 minutes before work or during their lunch break engaging in purposeful laughter. Each class began with participants practicing the basic yoga-based laughter stance (Kataria, 1999) and then some gentle stretching. Participants then engaged in guided exercises to practice abdominal laughter. The basic exercise started with a vocalization of "Ho-ho-ho, Ha-ha-ha, Hehe-he" and then proceeded with hearty, unbounded laughter. More advanced exercises blended laughter with a variety of activities, such as shaking hands, looking each other in the eye, or playing interactive games. At no point was humor used to facilitate laughter, although participants found humor in some aspects of the class. At times, the challenge of laughing on cue became the trigger for involuntary laughter. Individual attendance was tracked.

#### Analysis

To prepare data for analysis, raw scale scores from the CAP were adjusted for gender norms (Hays et al., 2003) and converted to standard scores (mean = 100, SD = 10), a process which allows comparison between scales. To determine the impact of the Laughter Links Program, within-subject change in standard scores was calculated for each pairwise comparison (pre/post, pre/follow-up, and post/follow-up). Change scores were then averaged for each comparison and divided by the standard deviation of the change scores to determine effect sizes for each comparison. Paired sample t-tests for comparison of means were used to evaluate the significance of change in standard scores. The Pearson product moment correlation was used to examine the relationship between attendance and change in self-efficacy scores. Finally, the Pearson product moment correlation was also used to examine the relationship between follow-up self-efficacy scores and frequency with which participants continued to use the skills learned in the class.

## Results

Table 1 shows raw scores for the 12 subscales of the CAP at pre, post, and 90day follow-up. Figures 1-3 graphically depict changes in standardized scores for the three CAP summary scores, for the self competency subscales, and for the relational competency subscales, respectively. Table 2 shows effect sizes and significance of two-tailed t-tests for each comparison. Power analyses adjusted for paired samples revealed that there was sufficient power to detect differences between pre- and posttest scores, pre- and follow-up scores, but not sufficient power to detect differences

between post- and follow-up scores. This was due to the small magnitude of change in this comparison as well as increased variability of scores and reduced sample size at follow-up.

Thirty-three participants completed the intervention. For these participants, there was a significant positive change in each of the four hypothesized CAP subscales immediately following completion of the three-week laughter group: self-regulation (t = 5.91, p < .001), optimism (t = 5.07, p < .001), positive emotions (t = 5.32, p < .001), and social identification (t = 4.82, p < .001). Twenty-two participants completed a 90-day follow-up CAP profile. For these participants there remained a significant positive change in the four hypothesized self-efficacy subscales after 90-days post intervention: self-regulation (t = 5.40, p < .001), optimism (t = 4.00, p < .001), positive emotions (t = 3.07, p < .01), and social identification (t = 2.24, p < .05).

The consistent trend that can be seen from Table 1 and Figures 1-3 is a considerable increase in self-efficacy immediately following the laughter group, followed by a small reduction in self-efficacy at 90-days post intervention. Pairwise comparisons (Table 2) showed a statistically significant increase in all 12 self-efficacy subscale scores from the beginning to the end of the laughter group, with effect sizes ranging from .59 (medium) to 1.03 (large). At 90-day follow-up all subscales showed some mild regression to the mean, although comparisons between pre and 90-day follow-up still showed significant improvements for all subscales except for empathy. Changes in self-efficacy between post and 90-day follow-up were non-significant with only one exception (self-acceptance).

With regards to the three overarching categories of self-efficacy (self, relational, and role competencies; see Figure 1), self competencies showed relatively larger positive gains than relational competencies following the laughter program, although gains in each category were significant. Individual subscales showing the strongest increases and maintenance of positive change were self-regulation,

motivation, optimism, and assertiveness, all of which are self competencies. The role compliance subscale showed a strong increase across the study, as well, and this has important implications for occupational health.

Correlation analyses showed no relationship between attendance and change in self-efficacy scores or between follow-up self-efficacy scores and frequency with which laughter exercises were utilized during the 90-day follow-up period. In addition, of the 22 people who completed a follow-up CAP, there was considerable variability in the frequency with which they utilized the laughter skills, making it less likely that follow-up CAP scores were differentially affected by attrition.

#### Discussion

The four hypotheses in this study were supported. Increases in self-regulation, optimism, positive emotions, and social identification were significant and maintained at 90-day follow-up. These results, coupled with significant changes in a broad array of self, relational, and role competencies, are encouraging for the context in which this study took place as well as for broader organizational wellness applications. The staff at this facility routinely face increased workloads, burnout, negative ruminations and anxiety about the future, and a sense of social disconnectedness as productivity expectations increase and organizational expansion separates people. That a daily, 15-minute intervention could produce such significant positive changes in key areas of self-efficacy without changing any other environmental factors is encouraging for the field of occupational health. It was surprising to find a significant increase in role compliance: individuals' belief in their capabilities to comply with the rules and regulations of their work. This was unexpected since another common theme in this workplace is increasing resentment about rules, regulations, paperwork, and compliance standards. The laughter program was a simple and effective way to

enhance compliance with organizational regulations and provided a refreshing adjunct to the punitive and labor-intensive efforts typically employed.

The finding that self competencies increased more than relational competencies is not surprising, may be specific to the population being studied, and is consistent with other findings in the behavioral health literature; namely, that helping professionals typically demonstrate stronger relational/helping competencies than self competencies. Note the common expressions "doctors make the worst patients" and "physician, heal thyself." This may help explain why participants not only began the study with relatively lower self competencies but also achieved greater gains in these areas. This is significant as it relates to organizational wellness in terms of helping people build resilience against burnout, set healthier boundaries, and focus on selfcare. For example, one social worker commented that during the second week of the program, she began noticing a different attitude toward the piles of paperwork on her desk and found the motivation to begin a methodical effort to complete the work. A nurse who participated in the study was taken off all of his blood pressure medication during the third week of the program, and, one year later, he is still managing his blood pressure by daily use of the laughter exercises on his way to work.

Hays et al. (2003) have defined ranges of scores on the CAP that have clinical significance for interpretation based on the analysis of over 2,000 CAP profiles from clinical and non-clinical populations. Standard scores between 60-79 are categorized as "Growth Challenges" and suggest that a person may lack confidence in his or her abilities and function ineffectively in that area at least some of the time, especially under conditions of elevated stress. Scores between 80-99 are called "Growth Potentials" and indicate caution, as a person may tend to show some inconsistencies in perceived competence and effective functioning for that domain of self-efficacy. Growth Potentials are fertile areas for growth and development. Scores ranging from 100-120 are considered "Growth Assets" and suggest a person will be able to engage

in effective to enhanced functioning most of the time and will seek out opportunities to utilize this area of competency.

Examination of Figures 1-3 show that in all subscales except for empathy, participants began the study in the Growth Potential range and ended the study, even at 90-day follow-up, in the Growth Assets range. This clinically significant shift would be expected to manifest in daily workplace behaviors in four areas outlined by Bandura (1986): the choices people make, the effort they put forth in working toward a goal, how long they persist when confronted with obstacles, and how they feel in the process of working toward goals. Although not specifically assessed, anecdotal reports from participants and their colleagues supported this expectation.

This study had several limitations. First, the lack of a control group makes it difficult to rule out history and maturation effects, and the lack of adequate comparison groups makes it difficult to determine whether it was laughter specifically that led to the positive changes in self-efficacy, or whether it might have been some other aspect of the program (e.g., engaging in aerobic activity, engaging in a respiratory act, socializing with coworkers, finding humor in the experience, taking a break from the workday, etc.). Related to this was the fact that a single laughter leader led all of the groups, so it is difficult to differentiate specific intervention effects from the impact of the group leader's personal characteristics (warmth, charisma, or energy). A second limitation was that there were gains across all domains of self-efficacy, which makes it difficult to pinpoint any specific mechanisms of action that account for the success of the laughter program. However, the program was designed specifically to have maximum broad-ranging positive impact on internal (self) and social (relational) factors that impact workplace functioning and productivity.

A third limitation was potential bias in the sample due to the self-selection of study participants. For example, individuals with low personal efficacy may have refrained from volunteering for the laughter program because of a perceived lack of

benefits, and this may have biased the sample toward individuals who were more amenable to the intervention. A fourth limitation was the use of a self-report measure as the predominant outcome measure. This makes it difficult to sort out whether the demonstrated increases in personal efficacy were attributable to the intervention or, at least in part, to the expectations of the research team. Future studies should consider incorporating third party ratings, such as supervisor ratings of self, relational, and role competencies.

A strength of this study was the measurement of self-efficacy at 90 days after completion of the program. Positive findings at follow-up suggest that a time-limited intervention can have a lasting impact on self-efficacy. However, ongoing workplace laughter groups would likely have a stronger and more sustained impact.

A follow-up study that utilizes appropriate comparison groups, provides the intervention to several different workplace populations, and accounts for the impact of different group leaders would enhance scientific rigor and add substantially to the knowledge regarding the impact of such programs on occupational wellness and self-efficacy. A follow-up study should also consider whether actual changes in work behavior occur (i.e., changes in objective measures of productivity, health outcomes, benefit utilization) as a result of a laughter intervention. Nevertheless, this study presents the first step in looking at the impact of purposeful, non-humor dependent laughter on self-efficacy in the workplace.

The positive outcomes seen in this study lead to the preliminary conclusion that a workplace laughter group can appeal to a diverse range of employees, can be effective with minimal investment of time, and may have sustained positive effects on self-beliefs that have been shown to correlate with positive workplace behaviors.

#### Author Notes and Acknowledgments

#### References

Bandura, A., (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control.* New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Cogan, R., Cogan, D., Waltz, W., & McCue, M. (1987). Effects of laughter and relaxation on discomfort thresholds. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 10,* 139-144.
- Dillon, K. M., Minchoff, B., & Baker, K. H. (1985). Positive emotional states and enhancement of the immune system. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, *15*, 13-17.
- Fry, W. F. (1992). The physiological effects of humor, mirth, and laughter. *JAMA The Journal of the American Medical Association, 267,* 1857-1858.
- Goleman, D., McKee, A., & Boyatzis, R. E. (2002). *Primal leadership: Realizing the power of emotional intelligence.* Boston: Harvard Business School Publishing.
- Hayashi, K., Hayashi, T., Iwanaga, S., Kawai, K., Ishii, H., Shoji, S., et al. (2003). Laughter lowered the increase in postprandial blood glucose. *Diabetes Care, 26,* 1651-1652.
- Hays, L. W., Simmering, J. A., & Roth, S. (2003). *The CAP manual: Attributes of the Capabilities Awareness Profile.* Newton, Kansas: Prairie View, Inc.

Kataria, M. (1999). Laugh for no reason. India: Madhuri International.

Kimata, H. (2001). Effect of humor on allergen-induced wheal reactions. *JAMA, The Journal of the American Medical Association, 285,* 738.

Labott, S. M., Ahleman, S., Wolever, M. E., & Martin, R. B. (1990). The physiological

and psychological effects of the expression and inhibition of emotion. *Behavioral Medicine, 16,* 182-189.

- Lefcourt, H. M., Davidson-Katz, K., & Kueneman, K. (1990). Humor and immunesystem functioning. *Humor, 3,* 305-321.
- Mahony, D. L., Burroughs, W. J., & Lippman, L. G. (2002). Perceived attributes of health-promoting laughter: A cross-generational comparison. *The Journal of Psychology*, *136*, 171-181.
- Martin, R. A. (2001). Humor, laughter, and physical health: Methodological issues and research findings. *Psychological Bulletin, 127,* 504-519.
- Miller, M. (2005, March). *Laughter helps blood vessels function better*. Presentation conducted at the meeting of the American College of Cardiology Scientific Session, Orlando, Florida.

Provine, R. R. (2000). Laughter: A scientific investigation. New York: Penguin Books.

- Rotton, J., & Shats, M. (1996). Effects of state humor, expectancies, and choice on postsurgical mood and self-medication: A field experiment. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 26,* 1775-1794.
- Salovey, P., Rothman, A. J., Detweiler, J. B., & Steward, W. T. (2000). Emotional states and physical health. *American Psychologist*, *55*, 110-121.

Saper, B. (1988). Humor in psychiatric healing. *Psychiatric Quarterly, 59,* 306-319.

- Solomon, J. C. (1996). Humor and aging well: A laughing matter or a matter of laughing? *American Behavioral Scientist, 39,* 249-271.
- Stajkovic, A. D., & Luthans, F. (1998). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin, 124,* 240-261.
- Weisenberg, M., Raz, T., & Hener, T. (1998). The influence of film-induced mood on pain perception. *Pain, 76,* 365-375.

# Table 1

Mean Raw Scores (Standard Deviations) for Subscales of the Capabilities Awareness Profile (CAP) at Pre-Test (N = 37), Post-Test (N = 33), and 90-day Follow-Up (N = 22)

CAP Subscale	Pre-Test Score	Post-Test Score	Follow-Up Score
Self Competencies:			
Self-Awareness	63.19 (13.34)	70.37 (14.42)	68.30 (15.68)
Self-Acceptance	64.56 (16.49)	73.41 (14.87)	69.20 (15.38)
Self-Actualization	63.86 (18.32)	71.30 (16.38)	68.56 (14.46)
Self-Regulation	54.88 (16.22)	65.62 (13.71)	62.84 (12.18)
Adaptability	60.30 (16.78)	68.11 (14.96)	64.77 (12.02)
Motivation	58.81 (17.33)	67.80 (15.05)	65.52 (13.53)
Optimism	62.05 (20.09)	72.63 (18.05)	68.18 (17.54)
Assertiveness	52.53 (17.40)	64.27 (14.36)	65.34 (11.16)
Relational Competencie	es:		
Social Identification	65.22 (15.31)	73.00 (14.89)	71.48 (14.04)
Empathy	71.13 (15.60)	77.27 (14.69)	75.00 (14.65)
Positive Emotions	63.36 (17.01)	74.59 (16.73)	71.69 (13.45)
Role Competency:			
Role Compliance	74.03 (16.81)	79.44 (14.43)	77.59 (13.91)

# Table 2

Effect Sizes for Pairwise Comparisons on Subscales of the Capabilities Awareness Profile (CAP). \* = t-test for comparison of means significant to .05. \*\* = t-test for comparison of means significant to .01 \*\*\* = t-test for comparison of means significant to .001.

CAP Subscale	Pre-Post (N = 33)	Post-Follow-Up (N = 22)	Pre-Follow-Up (N = 22)	
Self Competencies:				
Self-Awareness	.75***	26	.59*	
Self-Acceptance	.80***	45*	.50*	
Self-Actualization	.62***	14	.46*	
Self-Regulation	1.03***	28	1.15***	
Adaptability	.70***	21	.58**	
Motivation	.88***	19	.83***	
Optimism	.88***	28	.85***	
Assertiveness	.91***	09	1.08***	
Relational Competencies:				
Social Identification	.84***	34	.50*	
Empathy	.59**	15	.38	
Positive Emotions	.91***	40	.64**	
Role Competency:				
Role Compliance	.77***	41	.53*	

# **Figure Captions**

Figure 1. Standardized scores for self, relational, and role competency at pre-test,

post-test, and 90-day follow-up.

Figure 2. Standardized scores for self competency subscales at pre-test, post-test,

and 90-day follow-up.

*Figure 3.* Standardized scores for relational competency subscales at pre-test, post-test, and 90-day follow-up.

## Figure 1



Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.



*Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.* 



*Note: Scale scores are standardized to account for norm differences and allow comparison across scales. All standard scores have a mean of 100, standard deviation of 10.* 

## Appendix A

## Subscales of the Capabilities Awareness Profile (CAP)

## Self Competencies:

- Self-Awareness: This scale assesses your awareness of your beliefs, values, expectations, needs, and feelings. It reflects your awareness of your limits and weaknesses, and your perceived ability to accept responsibility for your mistakes.
- Self-Acceptance: This scale describes your ability to accept both positive and negative aspects of yourself. Not being critical of yourself, experiencing confidence in yourself, feeling good about yourself, and believing in yourself are characteristics of this scale.
- 3. Self-Actualization: This scale measures your ability to live up to your potential through the pursuit of challenging goals, setting high personal standards, and pursuing tasks that take you out of your comfort zone. It is associated with seeking activities and challenges that lead to a more meaningful and full life.
- Self-Regulation: This scale describes your perceived competence in controlling thoughts and feelings under stress. It involves the capacity to remain calm and to work effectively under pressure.

- 5. Adaptability: This scale describes your ability to solve problems by being flexible, creative, and translating ideas into action. It is the ability to see the big picture, to look at situations from different viewpoints, and to prioritize problems based on their importance.
- 6. Motivation: This scale indicates the strength of your ability to begin and sustain behaviors to accomplish goals. An important part of coping with stress involves perseverance, and the ability to stick with difficult situations and tasks.
- 7. **Optimism**: This scale measures your ability to be positive and hopeful about the future even in the face of stress, setbacks, or disappointments. It reflects your capacity to look at the future with confidence and to maintain a positive attitude.
- Assertiveness: This scale measures your ability to express your thoughts and feelings in a nondestructive manner. It reflects your capacity to communicate ideas and feelings in straightforward ways.

## Relational Competencies:

- Social Identification: This scale assesses your perceived capacity to feel connected with others. This is manifested through a sense of belonging, acceptance, and feeling secure with others.
- Empathy: This scale reflects your ability to be aware of, sensitive to, and appreciative of others' thoughts and feelings. It reflects your ability to respond to others in an understanding and caring manner.

3. Positive Emotions: This scale assesses your capacity to experience positive emotions. The ability to experience and sustain positive emotions is associated with greater satisfaction and contentment in your work and personal life. People who are able to experience and sustain positive emotional experiences tend to be healthier and live longer.

# Role Competency:

1. **Role Compliance:** This scale describes your capacity to comply with the rules and expectations of your work or school environment.

We are so pleased to have been accepted for publication by The Journal of Primary Prevention. Please note the following reference:

Article reference: Beckman, H., Regier, N., & Young, J. (2007). Effect of workplace laughter groups on personal efficacy beliefs. <u>The Journal of Primary Prevention, 28,</u> 167-182. The original publication is available at www.springerlink.com.



# Thank You

www.laughteryoga.org